
           

AGENDA

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL
City of Garland

REMOTE MEETING 

Tuesday, April 20, 2021
7:00 p.m.

 
 
The City Council extends to each visitor a sincere welcome. We value your interest in
your community and your participation in the meetings of this governing body. Regular
meetings of the City Council are held the 1st and 3rd Tuesdays of each month, beginning
at 7:00 p.m.; the City Council meets regularly in work sessions at 6:00 p.m. the Monday
preceding each regular meeting.

NOTICE: Due to the COVID-19 emergency and, pursuant to Section 551.125 of the Texas
Government Code and the executive orders of Governor Greg Abbott suspending
provisions of the Texas Government Code and other applicable laws of the State
regarding normal open meetings, the City Council will hold this meeting by
internet/telephonic remote means.

The meeting will be broadcast by webinar or telephone at the following URL:

https://garlandtx.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_cdbzE7z-Saa2PWxKF-1YSA

Registration for the online meeting is required.  The meeting will be recorded and will be
available for viewing the next day at www.garlandtx.gov.

For those without internet access to the meeting, a dial-in option is available.  The
numbers are:

Additionally, the meeting may be accessed by phone at the following number:

346-248-7799
470-250-9358
470-381-2552

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 1 

https://garlandtx.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_cdbzE7z-Saa2PWxKF-1YSA


The Meeting ID is: 919 9854 4714

For participants (online and by phone) who wish to speak on an item on the agenda, you
must use the "raise hand" feature in order to be recognized.  Similarly, if you wish to
provide a comment at the end of the agenda during the open public comments portion of
the meeting, you must use the "raise hand" feature.

You are invited to offer a comment or make a statement on any item on the agenda as
that item is called.  Your comments must relate to an item on this agenda - non-germane
comments are not in order.  Time limits will be imposed by the Mayor as appropriate to
the nature of the agenda item.  Generally, public speakers are given three minutes.  Due
to legal restrictions, the City Council is not able to answer questions during the public
comments portion of the agenda. 

If the City Council adjourns into Executive Session during this meeting, the Executive
Session will be conducted by teleconference between and among the members of the
City Council and relevant City staff.  Public access to that call is prohibited by State law.  
 

 

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 2 



COUNCIL HOUSE RULES
1. Decisions based on issues, goals
and vision.

9. Follow goals, principles and action agenda.

2. Do not take things personal. 10. Decide, vote and move on.
3. Project a positive attitude. 11. Avoid ambushes - Council or staff.
4. Focus on issues, not on the person. 12. Talk to staff before meetings.
5. Be prepared to discuss issues. 13. Vote our convictions, but be willing to

compromise "What is best for Garland."
6. Maintain decorum. 14. Follow Roberts Rules of Order consistently. 
7. Keep your sense of humor. 15. Agree to disagree.
8. Honor and respect each other;
accept each other as individuals.

16. Be open and honest. 

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 3 



           

LEGISLATIVE PRAYER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

It is the custom and tradition of the members of the City Council to have an
invocation and recital of the Pledge of Allegiance prior to the beginning of the
meeting.  Members of the audience are invited to participate.  However, members of
the audience are not required to participate.  The decision to participate is strictly a
matter of personal choice and has no bearing on matters to be considered by the
City Council and will not affect the decisions to be made during the meeting. 

 
MAYORAL PROCLAMATIONS,

RECOGNITIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor may present proclamations and recognize attendees or award winners,
and may make announcements regarding upcoming City events and matters of
interest to citizens. There will be no Council deliberations or votes on these matters.

 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All items under this section are recommended for approval by a single motion of
Council, without discussion. Council has had the opportunity to review each of
these items at a previous work session and approval of the consent agenda
authorizes the City Manager to implement each item. The Mayor will announce the
agenda and provide an opportunity for members of the audience and the City
Council to request that an item be removed and considered separately.

 
 

1. Consider approval of the minutes of the April 6, 2021 Regular Meeting.
 

2. Consider approval of the following bids:   
 

a. Design Services for Watson Park
Improvements

  Bid No. 0632-21

     
MHS Planning & Design $193,800.00  

This request is to obtain professional services for the design and construction
administration of improvements at Watson Park.

 

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 4 



           
b. Professional Services for Tuckerville Park

Development
  Bid No. 0697-21

     
MHS Planning & Design $641,250.00  

This request is to provide professional design services for the development of a new
tennis complex at Tuckerville Park.

 

c. Common Area Paving at Skatepark   Bid No. 1113-17
     
SPA Skateparks $108,225.00  

This request is to approve a Change Order for SPA Skateparks to include 6,000
square feet of additional paving into the skatepark scope for common area paving
through the skatepark and Rick Oden Park.

 

d. Construction Material Testing for Shiloh Road
from IH 635 to Kingsley Road 

  Bid No. 0314-19

     
Alliance Geotechnical Group, Inc. $97,550.00  

This request is to approve a Change Order to provide additional Construction
Material Testing (CMT) services for the Shiloh Road – I.H. 635 to Kingsley Paving,
Drainage and Utilities Improvements project. 

 

e. GP&L Lookout Substation Capacitor Banks   Bid No. 0514-21
     
Texas Electric Cooperatives, Inc. $233,950.00  
Optional Contingency 23,995.00  
TOTAL: $257,945.00  

This request is for the purchase of two (2) 138kV, 60 MVAR 3-phase capacitor
banks for the GP&L Lookout Substation.  An Optional Contingency is included for
any additional work that may be required.

 

f. Commercial Corridor Design Services   Bid No. 0705-21
     
Teague Nall and Perkins, Inc. $791,500.00  

This request is to obtain professional services for the design of the corridor
revitalization elements for First Street from Miller Road to Main Street/Lavon Drive. 

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 5 



 

g. Transportation Maintenance & Operations
Facility Renovation Construction Services

  Bid No. 0469-21

     
Hill & Wilkinson General Contractors - Base
Bid

$1,477,171.00  

Hill & Wilkinson General Contractors -
Alternate 1

29,263.00  

TOTAL: $1,506,434.00  

This request is to procure general construction services for renovations to the
Transportation Maintenance & Operations Facility located at 409 Forest Gate Drive.

 

h. Access Controls for Police Property and
Evidence Building

  Bid No. 0706-21

     
Entech Sales and Service $156,288.00  

This request is for the purchase and installation of access controls at the new Police
Property and Evidence Building.

 

i. Landfill Bulldozer Rebuild   Bid No. 0716-21
     
Holt Cat $650,000.00  

This request is to provide emergency repair services to a D8T bulldozer used at the
Landfill.

 

j. Replacement Vehicles for Parks and EWS
Department 

  Bid No. 0728-21

     
Caldwell Country Ford $181,255.00  

This request is for the purchase of replacement vehicles to be utilized by Parks and
Environmental Waste Services.

 

k. Replacement Vehicles for GP&L and Parks
Department

  Bid No. 0727-21

     
Silsbee Ford $130,713.75  

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 6 



This request is for the purchase of three replacement vehicles and one new vehicle
to be utilized by GP&L and Parks. 

 

l. Gale Fields Recreation Center Construction
Services

  Bid No. 1130-20

     
Core Construction $887,432.00  

This request is for the construction of the improvements at Gale Fields Recreation
Center.

 

m. Downtown Garland Pedestrian Crossing
Improvements

  Bid No. 0734-21

     
Kansas City Southern Railway Company
(KCS) 

$508,338.00  

Maximum Contingency 76,251.00  
TOTAL: $584,589.00  

This request is to improve the Downtown Garland pedestrian crossings in an effort
to further promote pedestrian connectivity.

 

n. Roof Replacements for Gale Fields Recreation
Center and Head Start Child Care Center

  Bid No. 0726-21

     
Supreme Roofing $547,562.00  

This request is for the replacement of roofs that have reached end of life at the Gale
Fields Recreation Center and the Head Start Child Care Center.

 

o. TMPA Keith Switch to Steep Hollow
Transmission Line Conductor

  Bid No. 0531-21

     
KBS Electrical Distributors, Inc. $420,542.00  
Optional Contingency 42,054.20  
TOTAL: $462,596.20  

This request is to provide conductor and guy wire for the rebuild of the TMPA Keith
Switch to Steep Hollow Transmission Line.  An Optional Contingency is included for
any additional materials that may be required.

 

3. A public hearing was previously conducted for the following zoning case.   

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 7 



3. A public hearing was previously conducted for the following zoning case.
Council approved the request and instructed staff to bring forth the
following ordinance for consideration.

  

 

a. Zoning File No. Z 20-42, II Stephens Development, LLC (District 5)

Consider an ordinance amending the Garland Development Code of the City of
Garland, Texas, by approving 1) a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-10 (SF-10)
District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Single-Family-5 (SF-5) Uses, and
2) a Detail Plan for Single-Family Detached Homes on a 15.265-acre property
located at 2040 West Miller Road; providing for conditions, restrictions, and
regulations; providing a penalty under the provisions of Sec. 10.05 of the Code of
Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas; providing a Notice of Conditions of
Compliance Clause; a Savings Clause and a Severability Clause; and providing an
effective date.

 

4. Request for Development Assistance from Micropac Industries Inc. 

Council is requested to approve the staff recommendations for a partial rebate of the
applicable RE tax and certain City development fees.

 

5. Use of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding for the
Demolition of 1922 Castle Drive in Partnership with the Garland Housing
Finance Corporation

At the April 19, 2021 Work Session, Council considered authorizing the City
Manager to execute an agreement to provide CDBG funding in the amount of
$211,000 for the demolition of a blighted, abandoned structure located at 1922
Castle Drive. 

 

6. Partnership Agreement between the Garland Housing Finance Corporation
(GHFC) and the City of Garland to Administer Donated GHFC Funding

At the April 19, 2021 Work Session, Council considered authorizing the City
Manager to enter into a Partnership Agreement to administer new GHFC grant
programs. 

 

7. Consider by minute action the approval of two purchase and relocation
assistance agreements negotiated to date with the property owners and
tenants in the aggregate amount of $208,000.

At the April 5, 2021 Executive Session, Council reviewed and discussed several
purchase and relocation assistance agreements. 

 

8. Council is requested to consider by minute action the approval of two

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 8 



8. Council is requested to consider by minute action the approval of two
purchase agreements negotiated to date with the property owners in the
aggregate amount of $416,100.

At the April 5, 2021 Executive Session, Council reviewed and discussed several
purchase and relocation assistance agreements regarding Fire Station 1 Land
Acquisition. 

 

9. Consider by minute action authorizing the Mayor to execute and convey the
easement tract to Farmers Electric Cooperative in the amount of $32,090.

At the April 5, 2021 Work Session, Council considered approving the easement tract
as requested by Farmers Electric Cooperative. 

 

10. Consider by minute action approving the easements related to the Hinton
Landfill Gas-To-Energy Project

At the April 19, 2021 Work Session, Council considered two easements related to
the Hinton Landfill Gas-To-Energy Project. 

 

11. Consider an ordinance of the City of Garland, Texas, approving and
authorizing the issuance of General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes,
Series 2021, in an aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not
to exceed $50,000,000 to provide interim financing to pay project costs for
eligible projects and to refund obligations issued in connection with an
eligible project; authorizing such short term obligations to be issued, sold and
delivered in various forms, including Commercial Paper Notes and a Bank
Note, and prescribing the terms, features and characteristics of such
instruments; approving and authorizing certain authorized officers and
employees of the City to act on behalf of the City in the selling and delivery of
such short term obligations, within the limitations and procedures specified
herein; making certain covenants and agreements in connection therewith;
providing for the levy, assessment and collection of a tax sufficient to pay the
interest on Commercial Paper Notes and a Bank Note and to create a Sinking
Fund for the redemption of a Bank Note; resolving other matters incident and
related to the issuance, sale, security and delivery of Commercial Paper
Notes, including the approval of an issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, a
Reimbursement Agreement, a Fee Letter and a Dealer Agreement; approving
the use of an Offering Memorandum in connection with the sale from time to
time of such short term obligations; and providing an effective date. 

Council is requested to approve a termination of the General Obligation Commercial
Paper Program, Series 2015 and establish the General Obligation Commercial
Paper Program, Series 2021.

 

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 9 



ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 

Speaker Regulations:

Anyone wishing to speak for, against, or on agenda items must fill out a speaker 
card and give it to the City Secretary before speaking (cards are located at the
entrance to the Council Chambers). The Mayor will recognize speakers; he may
impose a time limit and may provide for rebuttal. All comments and testimony are to
be presented from the podium.

 
 

12. Consider a resolution of the City of Garland, Texas, authorizing the use of
eminent domain for the acquisition of property rights for the construction and
operation of a municipal fire complex in Garland, Dallas County, Texas;
providing authorizations to acquire such property rights by condemnation
and making certain findings pertaining thereto; providing further
authorizations as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of the
resolution; and providing an effective date.

This matter was submitted to the Council by written briefing on the April 5,
2021 Work Session.  Garland Voters approved Proposition B, an authorization for
the City to issue obligation bonds for, among other things, the acquisition of property
for the location of, and the construction of, a new fire station #1 complex.  The new
fire station will be located on an area of land east of First Street, north of Avenue D
and south of Avenue B.  The City has been able to successfully negotiate with most
property owners to acquire the necessary property interests.  However, the City has
not been able to successfully negotiate a final purchase price with the final three
remaining property owners named in the proposed resolution. For the remaining
tracts, public convenience and necessity require the acquisition of property rights by
condemnation.

 

13. Consider a resolution of the City of Garland, Texas, authorizing the use of
eminent domain for the acquisition of property rights for the construction and
expansion of a public right-of-way, Naaman School Road, in Garland, Dallas
County, Texas; providing authorizations to acquire such property rights by
condemnation and making certain findings pertaining thereto; providing
further authorizations as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of the
resolution; and providing an effective date.

This matter was submitted to the Council by written briefing on the April 5,
2021 Work Session.  Naaman School Road (from Brand to S.H. 78 / Lavon Drive) is
currently a two-lane asphalt street. It is being reconstructed to a four-lane divided
roadway with curbs.  Because the City does not already own all the property upon
which the project will be constructed, the City has engaged in an effort to acquire 
certain property interests. The City has been able to successfully negotiate with
most property owners to acquire the necessary property interests.  However, the
City has not been able to successfully negotiate a final purchase price with the
property owner named in the proposed resolution. For the remaining tract, public

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 10 



convenience and necessity require the acquisition of property rights by
condemnation.

 

14. Hold public hearings on:   
 

a. Consider a Zoning [Planned Development] request by Rodolfo V. Herrera
Elizalde to allow an approximately 700 square-foot Guest House to be located
behind the primary house. This site is located at 1544 Flores Drive in District
5.

Consideration of the application of Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde, requesting approval
of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned
Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses. This property is located
at 1544 Flores Drive. (File No. Z 21-02, District 5)

 

b. Consider a Specific Use Provision request by Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde to
allow an approximately 700 square-foot Guest House to be located behind the
primary house. This site is located at 1544 Flores Drive in District 5.

Consideration of the application of Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde, requesting approval
of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7
(SF-7) District. This property is located at 1544 Flores Drive. (File No. Z 21-02,
District 5)

 

c. Consider a Detail Plan request by Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde to allow an
approximately 700 square-foot Guest House to be located behind the primary
house. This site is located at 1544 Flores Drive in District 5.

Consideration of the application of Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde, requesting approval
of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7)
District This property is located at 1544 Flores Drive. (File No. Z 21-02, District 5)

 

d. Consider a Specific Use Provision request by Alliance Architects, Inc. to
receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer in an existing 216,335 square-foot
building. This property is located at 1600 South Jupiter Road in District 6.

Consideration of the application of Alliance Architects, Inc., requesting approval of a
Specific Use Provision for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN)
District. This property is located at 1600 South Jupiter Road. (File No. Z 21-03,
District 6)

 

e. Consider a Site Plan request by Alliance Architects, Inc. to receive, store, and

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 11 



e. Consider a Site Plan request by Alliance Architects, Inc. to receive, store, and
distribute hand sanitizer in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This
property is located at 1600 South Jupiter Road in District 6.

Consideration of the application of Alliance Architects, Inc., requesting approval of a
Site Plan for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District. This
property is located at 1600 South Jupiter Road. (File No. Z 21-03, District 6)

 

f. Consider a request by MVAH Partners to re-zone the property to allow an
apartment complex. This property is located at 1102 North Shiloh Road in
District 8. 

Consideration of the application of MVAH Partners, requesting approval of a Change
in Zoning from Community Office (CO) District and Industrial (IN) District to
Multi-Family (MF) District. This property is located at 1102 North Shiloh Road. (File
No. Z 21-04, District 8) (The applicant requests postponement to the May 18,
2021 Regular City Council Meeting.)

 

15. Citizen comments.

Persons wishing to address issues not on the agenda may have three minutes to
address Council at this time. Council is prohibited from discussing any item not
posted according to the Texas Open Meetings Act.

  

 

16. Adjourn. 

All Regular Council meetings are broadcast live on CGTV, Time Warner Cable
Channel 16, and Frontier FIOS TV 44. Meetings are rebroadcast at 9:00 a.m.
and 7:00 p.m. on Wednesday-Sunday and at 7:30 p.m. on Thursday. Live
streaming and on-demand videos of the meetings are also available online at 
www.garlandtx.gov. Copies of the meetings can be purchased through the City
Secretary’s Office – audio CD’s are $1 each and DVD’s are $3 each.
 

  

 

  

City Council Agenda
April 20, 2021
Page 12 

http://www.garlandtx.gov


GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 1.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Minutes April 6
Submitted By: Rene Dowl, City Secretary 

Summary of Request/Problem
Consider approval of the minutes of the April 6, 2021 Regular Meeting.

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification

Attachments
Minutes April 6 



MINUTES
 

 
 The City Council of the City of Garland convened in regular session at 7 p.m. on Tuesday, April 6,
pursuant to Section 551.045, by telephone or internet in Garland, Texas, with the following members
present:

Present:  Mayor Scott LeMay   
   Mayor Pro Tem Jerry A. Nickerson   
   Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Deborah Morris   
   Council Member Ricky McNeal   
   Council Member B. J. Williams   
   Council Member Rich Aubin   
   Council Member Robert Vera   
   Council Member Dylan Hedrick   
   Council Member Robert John Smith   

Staff Present: City Manager Bryan Bradford
Deputy City Manager Mitch Bates
Assistant City Manager John Baker
Assistant City Manager Judson Rex
City Attorney Brad Neighbor
City Secretary Eloyce René Dowl

 

 

               



           

LEGISLATIVE PRAYER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

It is the custom and tradition of the members of the City Council to have an invocation and
recital of the Pledge of Allegiance prior to the beginning of the meeting.  Members of the
audience are invited to participate.  However, members of the audience are not required to
participate.  The decision to participate is strictly a matter of personal choice and has no
bearing on matters to be considered by the City Council and will not affect the decisions to
be made during the meeting. 

 
MAYORAL PROCLAMATIONS,

RECOGNITIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Mayor may present proclamations and recognize attendees or award winners, and may
make announcements regarding upcoming City events and matters of interest to citizens.
There will be no Council deliberations or votes on these matters.

 
Amy Dunphy, Community Outreach Coordinator, presented the Pet of the Month.

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All items under this section are recommended for approval by a single motion of Council,
without discussion. Council has had the opportunity to review each of these items at a
previous work session and approval of the consent agenda authorizes the City Manager to
implement each item. The Mayor will announce the agenda and provide an opportunity for
members of the audience and the City Council to request that an item be removed and
considered separately.

Motion was made by Council Member Hedrick to approve the Consent agenda as presented,
seconded by Deputy Mayor Pro Tem Morris.  Council Member Aubin was present for this meeting,
but not present at the time the vote.  Motion carried:

Vote 8 - 0
 

1. APPROVED
 

Consider approval of the minutes of the Mach 16, 2021 Regular Meeting.   

 
2.   Consider approval of the following bids:
 

a. APPROVED
 

GP&L As-Needed Emergency Spill Response   Bid No. 0667-21
     
TAS Environmental Services (Primary) $195,000.00  
Spur Environmental Services (Secondary) 40,000.00  
TOTAL: $235,000.00  

This request is for emergency spill response services for GP&L Production,
Distribution, Transmission and Substations.  This approval is for a Term
Agreement with two optional renewals.

  



 
b. APPROVED

 
First Street/Southwood Water and Rilla
Drive Alley Wastewater Main Replacements

  Bid No. 0397-21

     
Tri-Con Services, Inc. $1,046,515.00  
Optional Contingency 104,651.50  
TOTAL: $1,151,166.50  

This request is to provide construction services for the replacement of
approximately 1,760 linear feet of water lines along First Street from Miller to
Southwood and 960 linear feet of sanitary sewer lines in the Rilla Drive alley
from Broadway to Keen.  An Optional Contingency is included for any
additional work that may be required.

  

 
c. APPROVED

 
Modification of Single Stream Recyclable
Materials Transport, Processing and
Marketing Agreement

  Bid No. 1268-19

     
Formento De Construcciones Y Contratas,
Inc. (FCC)

$290,000.00  

This request is to approve a Change Order to extend our current recycling
contract through September 30, 2021. 

  

 
d. APPROVED

 
McCree Substation Autotransformer   Bid No. 1058-19
     
Texas Electric Cooperatives, Inc. $77,750.00  

This request is to approve a Change Order for the additional cost of
mobilization and storage fees resulting from delays in delivery of the McCree
Substation Autotransformer. 

  

 
e. APPROVED

 
Term Agreement for Traffic Loops   Bid No. 0401-21
     
Durable Specialties, Inc. $150,325.00  

This request is to provide services required to install, repair, or replace vehicle
detection loops for traffic signals on an as-needed basis.  This approval is for a
Term Agreement with four optional renewals.

  

 



           
f. APPROVED

 
GP&L 200-Amp Underground Loop
Replacements 

  Bid No. 0452-21

     
Infratech Corporation $694,637.33  

This request is for the replacement of four underground loops on the GP&L
Distribution system.

  

 
g. APPROVED

 
GP&L Shiloh Road to McCree Transmission
Line Underbuild Reconstruction
Engineering Services

  Bid No. 0587-21

     
R-Delta Engineers $132,500.00  
Optional Contingency 13,200.00  
TOTAL: $145,700.00  

This request is to obtain surveying, electrical, civil and structural engineering
services for the reconstruction of the GP&L Shiloh Road to McCree
Transmission Line underbuild.  An Optional Contingency is included for any
additional services that may be required. 

  

 
h. APPROVED

 
GP&L and TMPA Substation Utility
Equipment Maintenance

  Bid No. 0529-21

     
National Field Services $150,000.00  

This request is to provide as-needed substation utility equipment maintenance,
testing, inspection and repair services for the GP&L and TMPA substations. 
This approval is for a Term Agreement with four optional renewals. 

  

 
i. APPROVED

 
Engineering Consulting Services for Landfill
Permit Amendment 

  Bid No. 1305-20

     
Weaver Consultants Group $500,00.00  

This request is to obtain professional engineering consulting services to assist
the City with TCEQ permit modifications to expand the Hinton Landfill site
boundary. 

  

 
j. APPROVED

 
Microsoft Solutions Services   Bid No. 0245-21
     
Planet Technologies, Inc. $1,000,000.00  

This request is to procure comprehensive Microsoft solutions services for the
purpose of developing and enhancing digital services on the Microsoft
platform.  This approval is for a Term Agreement with four optional renewals. 

  

 



k. APPROVED
 

Forest Ridge Water & Wastewater Mains
Replacement

  Bid No. 0387-21

     
GRod Construction, LLC $1,383,477.25  
Optional Contingency 138,347.73  
TOTAL: $1,521,824.98  

This request is to provide construction services to replace approximately 6,740
linear feet of sanitary sewer and 1,150 linear feet of water lines among various
alleyways and streets in the Forest Ridge subdivision.  An Optional
Contingency is included for any additional work that may be required.

  

 
l. APPROVED

 
Design Services for Lon Wynne Park
Improvements

  Bid No. 0633-21

     
MHS Planning & Design $115,620.00  

This request is to obtain professional services for the design and construction
administration of improvements at Lon Wynne Park.

  

 
m. APPROVED

 
Single Stream Recyclable Materials
Transport, Processing and Marketing
Agreement

  Bid No. 0212-20

     
Formento De Construcciones Y Contratas,
Inc. (FCC) 

$2,850,000.00  

This request is to provide transportation, processing and marketing of
recyclable materials that are gathered through typical citywide EWS routes. 
This approval is for a three year fixed-rate Term Agreement with two optional
one year renewals.

  

 
n. APPROVED

 
Replacement Equipment for Parks
Department

  Bid No. 0641-21

     
Kubota Tractor Corporation $127,585.85  

This request is for the replacement purchase of various tractors and mowers to
be utilized by the Parks Department.

  

 
o. APPROVED

 
Replacement Buses for Parks & Recreation   Bid No. 0642-21
     
Creative Bus Sales $146,671.22  

This request is for the replacement purchase of two buses to be utilized by the
Senior Activity Center.

  

 
p. APPROVED   



p. APPROVED
 

Various Replacement Equipment for Parks
Department

  Bid No. 0644-21

     
Professional Turf Products, LP $169,064.22  

This request is for the replacement purchase of aerators, mowers and sprayers
to be utilized by the Parks Department.

  

 
q. APPROVED

 
Side-Loader Cab and Chassis   Bid No. 0645-21
     
Bond Equipment Company, Inc. $1,297,804.00  

This request is for the purchase of seven replacement side-loader cab and
chassis for EWS. 

  

 
r. APPROVED

 
Replacement Front-Loader Chassis for EWS   Bid No. 0648-21
     
Chastang Enterprises, Inc. $380,224.00  

This request is for the purchase of two replacement front-loader chassis to be
used by EWS.

  

 
s. APPROVED

 
Side-Loader and Front-Loader Bodies   Bid No. 0646-21
     
Reliance Truck And Equipment $1,400,686.69  

This request is for the purchase of nine (9) replacement side-loader and
front-loader bodies for EWS.

  

 
t. APPROVED

 
Heavy Duty Trucks   Bid No. 0643-21
     
Freightliner of Austin $317,683.00  

This request is for the purchase of two Heavy Duty Trucks to be utilized by the
EWS and Water Departments.

  

 
u. APPROVED

 
ADA Transition Plan   Bid No. 0606-21
     
Kimley-Horn & Associates, Inc. $120,000.00  

This request is to obtain engineering services to expand the ADA Transition
Plan for the City in order to recognize the efforts that the City has made and is
making with regard to accessibility for all citizens and in order to be in
compliance with federal law.

  

 



           
v. APPROVED

 
Landfill Equipment   Bid No. 0649-21
     
Caterpillar, Inc. $1,456,568.75  

This request is for the purchase of one replacement excavator and one new
bulldozer to be used at the Hinton Landfill.

  

 
w. APPROVED

 
GP&L Newman Substation Phase II
Distribution Feeder Duct Line Installation

  Bid No. 0478-21

     
Kiewit Infrastructure South Co. $323,332.00  
Optional Contingency 57,970.76  
TOTAL: $381,302.76  

This request is for the labor and equipment needed for the installation of new
feeder duct bank facilities at the Newman 138kv Substation.  An optional
contingency is included for any additional work that may be required.

  

 
x. APPROVED

 
Roll-Off Trucks   Bid No. 0664-21
     
Lonestar Freightliner Group, LLC $335,372.00  

This request is for the purchase of one replacement and one new roll-off truck
to be used by EWS.

  

 
y. APPROVED

 
Spencer Cooling Tower #4 Repair   Bid No. 0671-21
     
MasterTech Services, Inc. $329,644.00  
Optional Contingency 32,964.00  
TOTAL: $362,608.40  

This request is to provide emergency repair of the Spencer Plant Unit #4
cooling tower.  An Optional Contingency is included for any additional work
that may be required.

  

 
3.   Public hearings were previously conducted for the following zoning

cases. Council approved the requests and instructed staff to bring forth
the following ordinances for consideration.

 
a. APPROVED

 
Zoning File No. Z 20-29, Masterplan (District 2)

Ordinance No. 7209 amending the Garland Development Code of the City of
Garland, Texas, by approving 1) an Amendment to Planned Development
(PD) District 14-23 for Downtown District Uses and Mixed Uses; 2) a Specific
Use Provision to allow a Drive-Through Service; and 3) a Detail Plan for
Downtown District Uses and Mixed Uses on a 4.646-acre property located at
111 and 217 South Garland Avenue; 1413 West Avenue B; and 1412 and

  



1413 Rodando Drive; providing for conditions, restrictions, and regulations;
providing a penalty under the provisions of Sec. 10.05 of the Code of
Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas; providing a Notice of Conditions of
Compliance Clause; a Savings Clause and a Severability Clause; and
providing an effective date.

 
b. APPROVED

 
Zoning File No. Z 20-41, Armando Palacios (District 4)

Ordinance No. 7210 amending the Garland Development Code of the City of
Garland, Texas, by approving 1) an amendment to Planned Development (PD)
District 80-42 for Community Retail Uses; 2) a Specific Use Provision to allow
a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use and 3) a Detail Plan on a property located at
5621 Broadway Boulevard; providing for conditions, restrictions, and
regulations; providing a penalty under the provisions of Sec. 10.05 of the Code
of Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas; providing a Notice of Conditions
of Compliance Clause; a Savings Clause and a Severability Clause; and
providing an effective date. 

  

 
c. APPROVED

 
Zoning File No. Z 20-46, JDJR Engineers & Consultants, Inc. / Jim
Dewey, Jr. (District 3)

Ordinance No. 7211 amending the Garland Development Code of the City of
Garland, Texas, by approving 1) a Change of Zoning from Community Retail
(CR) District to a Planned Development (PD) District to allow deviations for an
existing pole sign and a new pylon sign; 2) a Specific Use Provision renewal to
continue a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use and a Fuel Pumps, Retail Use and
3) a Detail Plan for Community Retail Uses on a property located at 801 East
Interstate 30; providing for conditions, restrictions, and regulations; providing a
penalty under the provisions of Sec. 10.05 of the Code of Ordinances of the
City of Garland, Texas; providing a Notice of Conditions of Compliance
Clause; a Savings Clause and a Severability Clause; and providing an
effective date.

  

 
4. APPROVED

 
Ordinance No. 7212 amending Chapter 30, "Building Inspection," of the Code
of Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas, repealing Article VI, "Sign
Regulations," of the Garland Code of Ordinances; providing a Savings Clause;
providing a penalty under the provision of Section 10.05 of the Code of
Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas; providing a Severability Clause; and
setting an effective date. 

At the March 15, 2021 Work Session, Council considered approving the repeal
of Article VI, Chapter 30, "Sign Regulations," of the Code of Ordinances. 
Article VI, Chapter 30 of the Code of Ordinances is a duplication of the sign
ordinance provisions fo the GDC under which the City has been operating. 

  

 



           
5. APPROVED

 
Ordinance No. 7213 amending Chapter 33, "Transportation," of the Code of
Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas to provide a parking offense for
certain parking on public property; providing a penalty under the provisions
of Sec. 10.05 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Garland, Texas;
providing a Savings Clause and a Severability Clause; and providing an
effective date.

At the March 1, 2021 Work Session, Council considered an ordinance to
prohibit the parking of a vehicle on public property, other than a roadway, in
a place other than in a designated parking place.

  

 
6. APPROVED

 
Resolution No. 10483 of the City of Garland, Texas, authorizing the City
Manager to enter into a Master Agreement for Major Capital Improvement
Program Projects with Dallas County; and providing an effective date. 

Council approved a resolution authorizing the City Manager to execute the
attached Master Agreement with the County for MCIP projects.

  

 
7. APPROVED

 
Resolution No. 10482 approving and authorizing publication of Notice of
Intention to Issue Certificates of Obligation

At the April 5, 2021 Work Session, Council considered authorizing the
publication of a Notice of Intent to Issue Certificates of Obligation in an
amount of approximately $24 million to fund a portion of the CIP.

  

 

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION 

Speaker Regulations:

Anyone wishing to speak for, against, or on agenda items must fill out a speaker
card and give it to the City Secretary before speaking (cards are located at the 
entrance to the Council Chambers). The Mayor will recognize speakers; he may
impose a time limit and may provide for rebuttal. All comments and testimony are 
to be presented from the podium.

 

 
8. PUBLIC

HEARING
HELD:  

Hold a Public Hearing Related to the 2021-2022 CDBG, HOME and ESG
Grants 

At the April 5, 2021 Work Session, Council considered background
information regarding anticipated 2021-2022 Community Development
Block Grant (CDBG), HOME Infill Partnership Grant (HOME) and
Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) entitlement funding, along with
summaries of submitted applications. 

Mayor LeMay opened the public hearing at 7:10 p.m.

Mona Woodard, Neighborhood Services Administrator, gave the staff
presentation.

Speakers on this item were:  Cheryl Jones Jobe, VNA Meals on Wheels,

  



Christina Coultas, Hopes Door-New Beginnings Center, Suzanna Sulfstede,
Senior Source, Susan Hennum, Counseling Institute of Texas, Mark King,
Hope Clinic, Andrew Mlcak, Achievement Center of Texas, Captain Shelley
Hood, Salvation Army of Garland and Pastor Robert Shepherd, Restoration
Community Fellowship Church.

Mayor LeMay closed the public hearing at 7:45 p.m.
 

9.   Hold public hearings on:
 

a. APPROVED
 

Consider a Zoning request by II Stephens Development, LLC to re-zone
property to allow for 74 single-family homes with trails and open
spaces. This property is located at 2040 West Miller Road in District 5.

Consideration of the application of II Stephens Development, LLC,
requesting approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-10 (SF-10)
District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Single-Family-5 (SF-5)
Uses. This property is located at 2040 West Miller Road. (File No. Z 20-42,
District 5)

Mayor LeMay requested to consider all related items in one action, Council
Member Aubin concurred.

The staff report was presented by Will Guerin, Director of Planning.  Council
Member Aubin requested Brad Neighbor, City Attorney, explain the authority
on the property and the effect on the City; he confirmed it is not the City's
role to adjudicate the ownership issue.  Also presenting staff reports were: 
Paul Luedtke, Director of Transportation, Andy Hesser, Managing Director,
Parks and Recreation and Michael Polocek, Director of Engineering. 
Applicants speaking on this item were:  Casey McGinnis, Eugene Middleton
and Rick Ellis.

There was discussion by the Council.

Other speakers on this item were:  Mathukutty Geevarughese and Anita
George.

Motion was made by Council Member Aubin to approve the Zoning Request
(9a), Detail Plan (9b) and Development Agreement (9c), seconded by
Council Member McNeal.  Additionally, Council Member Aubin presented
comments on the item. Motion carried:

Vote 9 - 0

  

 
b. APPROVED

 
Consider a Detail Plan request by II Stephens Development, LLC to
allow the construction of 74 single-family homes with trails and open
spaces. This property is located at 2040 West Miller Road in District 5.

Consideration of the application of II Stephens Development, LLC,
requesting approval of a Detail Plan for Single-Family Detached Homes.
This property is located at 2040 West Miller Road. (File No. Z 20-42, District
5)

  

 



c. APPROVED
 

Consider a Development Agreement regarding Zoning File No. Z 20-42. 

Consider a Development Agreement between II Stephens Development,
LLC and the City of Garland. This Development Agreement relates to Zoning
Case Z 20-42 for a proposed single-family development at 2040 West Miller
Road. The agreement addresses the dedication of parks and trails, tree
mitigation fees, and building materials.

  

 
10.   Citizen comments:  Jennifer Ernst
 

11.   Adjourn:  There being no further business to come before the City Council,
Mayor LeMay adjourned the meeting at 9:31 p.m.

 

Submitted By:

____________________________________
Scott LeMay, Mayor

____________________________________
Eloyce René Dowl, City Secretary



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. a.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Design Services for Watson Park Improvements
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 
Bid Number: 0632-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is to obtain professional services for the design and construction administration of
improvements at Watson Park.  The services include planning, engineering, landscape
architecture, surveying and construction administration to facilitate the development and/or
rehabilitation of a new soccer field, walking paths, picnic areas, restroom building, splash pad,
futsal court, pavilion, parking and park signage.  This project will be coordinated with the
playground replacement design currently in progress.  This scope of this project is part of the
2019 Bond Program and approved in the 2021 CIP.

Evaluation:
MHS Planning & Design was selected as the Most Qualified firm for this project based on their
prior experience providing design and construction services in the Playground Replacement
Program.  MHS Planning & Design is a short-listed firm through RFQ 0141-20.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

MHS Planning & Design All $193,800.00
     
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$193,800.00

Basis for Award: Most Qualified  
Purchase Requisition #: 45084

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $200,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 3,995
Balance: $196,005



Balance: $196,005
This Item: 193,800
Proposed Balance: $2,205
Account #: 654-1429-1837219-710120
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Park CIP / Aquatics Program - Splash Pads / Watson Park                                                      
                                     

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 83   

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/08/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/07/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Design Services for Watson Park $193,800.00 $193,800.00

Improvements

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $193,800.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $193,800.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: $0.00 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: $0.00 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

MHS Planning & Design

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:   
REQ. NO.   PR 45084
BID NO.      0632-21
PAGE:        1 of 1
BUYER:     D. Gamero

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. b.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Professional Services for Tuckerville Park Development
Submitted By: Andy Hesser, Managing Director 
Bid Number: 0697-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is to provide professional design services for the development of a new tennis
complex at Tuckerville Park.  At the February 1, 2021, Work Session, Council provided direction
to staff to advance detailed design services towards an overall project budget of $5,300,000 in
accordance with the approved concept plan, which provides for future phasing of additional
courts as funding allows.

Evaluation:
MHS Planning & Design was selected as the Most Qualified firm for this project based on their
prior experience providing design and construction services in the Playground Replacement
Program.  MHS Planning & Design is a short-listed firm though RFQ 0141-20.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

MHS Planning & Design All $641,250.00
     
     
  TOTAL: $641,250.00

Basis for Award: Most Qualified  
Purchase Requisition #: 45159

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $794,430 *
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 153,180
Balance: $641,250
This Item: 641,250
Proposed Balance: $0



Account #: 614-2499-1832904-7101
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Park CIP / Tuckerville Park Development

* Design services for Tuckerville Park Development will continue into 2022,
   and additional 2004 Bond funding is included in 2022.

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  Page 65  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/07/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/05/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Professional Services for $641,250.00 $641,250.00

Tuckerville Park Development

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $641,250.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $641,250.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: $0.00 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: $0.00 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

MHS Planning & Design

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:   
REQ. NO.   PR 45159
BID NO.      0697-21
PAGE:        1 of 1
BUYER:     D. Gamero

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. c.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Common Area Paving at Skatepark
Submitted By: Andy Hesser, Managing Director 
Bid Number: 1113-17

Purchase Justification:
This request is to approve a Change Order for SPA Skateparks to include 6,000 square feet of
additional paving into the skatepark scope for common area paving through the skatepark and
Rick Oden Park.  This Change Order also includes four (4) custom ADA rails, two (2) stair sets,
guard rail, curbs, and integral color concrete with specialized reinforcement to match the
skatepark paving.  The skatepark contractor's agreement includes construction of a 40,000 SF
skatepark as approved by Council.  The design and layout of the skatepark needs to integrate
with the circulation and paving of the overall Rick Oden Park development, and this common
area paving facilitates pedestrian circulation through the skatepark and Rick Oden Park, which
is in addition to the 40,000 SF threshold that is part of the base contract.  The common area
paving provides ADA access to shaded pavilions within the skatepark for spectating and is not
designated to be skateable portions of the park.  However, in the event that the common area
paving is utilized by skateboarders, the pavement of the common areas should match the
pavement material, texture, and aesthetic of the skatepark to mitigate safety hazards associated
with differences in pavement types with standard concrete construction.  This Change Order
utilizes 2019 Bond funds from the Rick Oden Park development that is currently earmarked for
the same purpose regarding connectivity through the park.

Evaluation:
SPA Skateparks was awarded the original PO 31428 in the amount of $1,830,000 at the
February 16, 2021, City Council Meeting.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

SPA Skateparks All $108,225.00
     
     
  TOTAL: $108,225.00

Basis for Award: Change Order  



Purchase Requisition #: 45167

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $6,194,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 3,538,741
Balance: $2,655,259
This Item: 108,225
Proposed Balance: $2,547,034
Account #: 654-2499-1858419-7101
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Park CIP / Rick Oden Park Improvements

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  Page 74  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/07/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/05/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Change Order #1 $108,225.00 $108,225.00

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $108,225.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $108,225.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: $0.00 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: $0.00 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

SPA Skateparks

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:   
REQ. NO.   PR 45167
BID NO.      1113-17
PAGE:        1 of 1
BUYER:     D. Gamero

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. d.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Construction Material Testing for Shiloh Road from I.H. 635 to Kingsley Road 
Submitted By: Michael Polocek, Engineering Director 
Bid Number: 0314-19

Purchase Justification:
This request is to approve a Change Order to provide additional Construction Material Testing
(CMT) services for the Shiloh Road – I.H. 635 to Kingsley Paving, Drainage and Utilities
Improvements project.  The original CMT contract was based on an estimate of testing needed
for concrete paving, drainage pipe, and water and sewer utilities.  Additional testing was needed
for signal bridge structure coatings and welds, the KCS Railroad culvert construction, as well as
unforeseen underground conditions experienced on the site.  In addition, TxDOT would not
permit the City to open cut more than one lane of traffic at one time while constructing utility
improvements across S.H. 78 right-of-way, resulting in multiple phases of construction and
requiring additional testing.

Evaluation:
Alliance Geotechnical Group, Inc., was awarded the original PO 28057 in the amount of
$99,515.00.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Alliance Geotechnical Group, Inc. All $97,550.00
     
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$97,550.00

Basis for Award: Change Order  
Purchase Requisition #: 45166

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $26,028,035
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 22,928,077



Balance: $3,099,958
This Item: 97,550
Proposed Balance: $3,002,408
Account #: 624-1409-1428804-9011, 220-4049-3019200-9214,

230-4149-3215700-9305, 261-4621-6051
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Street/Transportation CIP / Shiloh Road - I.H. 635 to Kingsley  $85,064
Water CIP / Relocation of Mains Prior to Paving  7,316
Wastewater CIP / Relocation of Mains Prior to Paving 4,877
Operating Budget / Stormwater Management Fund  293

Total $97,550

Attachments
Bid Recap 
Location Map 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  Operating Budget

CIP  

Fiscal Year:  2020-21  
Document Location:  Oper. Budget - Page 262 / CIP - Pages 99, 236, 263  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/07/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/05/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 C/O#1 for PO 28057 $97,550.00 $97,550.00

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $97,550.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $97,550.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: # IonWave Notifications

LOW: # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Allicance Geotechnical 
Group, Inc.

.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:         
REQ. NO.     PR 45166
BID NO.       0314-19
PAGE:         1 of  1        
BUYER:      D. Gamero

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



NA
TIO

NA
L

GA
RL

AN
D

LBJ

KINGSLEY

LBJ SERVICE

SH
ILO

H

CO
U R

T

BR
OW

NE HO
LM

TOWN

LEON

SCOTSW
O OD

CRANFORD

DE
NT

ON

LEE

STANFORD

WI MBL EDO
N

LBJ GARLAND
BA

LL
IN

GE
R

WALL

LBJ NORTHWEST

MA
RK

ET

HUSKEY

TOWNGATE

MILLAY

OAKLAND

MC CREE

SHILOH RD 
IH 635 TO KINGSLEY RD

Scale:   NTS

File: ShilohRd.mxd

Date: 6/20/2018
Drawn:    JW

Not to Scale

Sheet
1
of
1

KINGSLEYLOCATION

.

±



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. e.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: GP&L Lookout Substation Capacitor Banks
Submitted By: Steve Martin, Transmission Director 
Bid Number: 0514-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is for the purchase of two (2) 138kV, 60 MVAR 3-phase capacitor banks for the
GP&L Lookout Substation.  This is part of the approved Lookout Substation Capacitor Bank CIP
project.  An Optional Contingency is included for any additional work that may be required.

Evaluation:
A request for bids was issued in accordance with Purchasing procedures.  Six (6) bids were
received and evaluated based on price and adherence to the bid specifications.  Texas Electric
Cooperatives, Inc., submitted the Straight Low Bid.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Texas Electric Cooperatives, Inc. All $233,950.00
Optional Contingency   23,995.00
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$257,945.00

Basis for Award: Straight Low Bid  
Purchase Requisition #: 44927

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $26,796,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 2,120,991
Balance: $24,675,009
This Item: 257,945
Proposed Balance: $24,417,064
Account #: 210-3799-3178301-6051



Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Electric CIP / Substations Upgrades Program 

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 290  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/08/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/08/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 2 ea. Capacitor Banks $113,000.00 $226,000.00 $116,512.00 $233,024.00 $134,987.50 $269,975.00 $146,750.00 $293,500.00 $143,821.00 $287,642.00 $185,440.00 $370,880.00

2 1 ea. Lifting Device $3,500.00 $3,500.00 $3,750.00 $3,750.00 Included in Price Included in Price Included in Price Included in Price

3 1 ea. Bonds $4,450.00 $4,450.00 Included in Price Included in Price Included in Price Included in Price Included in Price

4 12 ea. Spare Low Voltage Capacitor Unit Included in Price Included in Price $1,000.00 $12,000.00 Included in Price $1,000.00 $12,000.00 Included in Price

5 1 ea. Spare Reactor Coil Included in Price Included in Price $4,000.00 $4,000.00 Included in Price $4,000.00 $4,000.00 Included in Price

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $233,950.00 $236,774.00 $285,975.00 $293,500.00 $303,642.00 $370,880.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $233,950.00 $236,774.00 $285,975.00 $293,500.00 $303,642.00 $370,880.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: $236,774.00 531 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: $233,950.00 62 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $2,824.00 5 # Direct Contact HUBS

0 # HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVEREDDELIVERED

Texas Electric Cooperatives, 
Inc.

Anixter, Inc. KBS Electrical Distributors
.

Wesco Distribution Inc.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:     March 11, 2021         
REQ. NO      PR 44927
BID NO.        0514-21      
PAGE:          1 of 1             
BUYER:       Teresa Smith

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.

Irby Utilities Arteche USA Inc.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. f.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Commercial Corridor Design Services
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 
Bid Number: 0705-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is to obtain professional services for the design of the corridor revitalization
elements for First Street from Miller Road to Main Street/Lavon Drive.  The project consists of
design of improvements to paving, landscaping, irrigation, illumination, traffic signal pole
relocations and other associated improvements with an emphasis on beautification and
enhancing vehicular and pedestrian views.  The services include design documents,
right-of-way (ROW) acquisition, subsurface utility engineering, public outreach support, utility
coordination support, and construction administration services to facilitate the construction of
the improvements.  This project is part of the 2004 and 2019 Bond Program and approved in the
2021 CIP.

Evaluation:
Teague Nall and Perkins, Inc., was selected as the Most Qualified firm for this project.  TNP is
currently working on the design of the Bottleneck Improvements Program (BIP), which includes
First Street intersections at Miller Road, Lavon/Main, Avenue B, and Avenue D.  The
improvements planned with the Commercial Corridor Revitalization project (First Street from
Miller Road to Lavon Drive/Main Street) need to be coordinated and integrated with the
aforementioned bottleneck improvements; therefore, based upon TNP’s performance to date on
the BIP and their qualifications to provide landscape design services, they were selected for this
project.  Teague Nall and Perkins, Inc., is a short-listed firm through RFQ 0212-19. 

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Teague Nall and Perkins, Inc. All $791,500.00
     
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$791,500.00

Basis for Award: Most Qualified  



Purchase Requisition #: 45179

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $1,033,700 *
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 242,200
Balance: $791,500
This Item: 791,500
Proposed Balance: $0
Account #: 643-1429-1004904-710120
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Economic Development CIP / Commercial Corridor Revitalization 

* Design services for Commercial Corridor Revitalization will continue into 2022,
   and additional 2004 Bond funding is included in 2022. 

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  Page 177  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/07/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/06/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Commercial Corridor Design $791,500.00 $791,500.00

Services

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $791,500.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $791,500.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: $0.00 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: $0.00 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Teague Nall & Perkins

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:   
REQ. NO.   PR 45179
BID NO.      0705-21
PAGE:        1 of 1
BUYER:     D. Gamero

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. g.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Transportation Maintenance & Operations Facility Renovation Construction

Services
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 
Bid Number: 0469-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is to procure general construction services for renovations to the Transportation
Maintenance & Operations Facility located at 409 Forest Gate Drive.  The scope of the project
includes a complete interior renovation of the building with a new floor plan, all new finishes
throughout the building and new restrooms.  This project is part of the 2019 Bond Program and
approved in the 2021 CIP.

Evaluation:
A Request for Competitive Sealed Proposals was issued in accordance with Purchasing
procedures.  Fourteen (14) proposals were received and evaluated based on published criteria. 
Hill & Wilkinson General Contractors received the highest evaluated score, offering the Best
Value for the City.  An alternate price for epoxy flooring is included due to construction cost
savings.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Hill & Wilkinson General Contractors - Base Bid All $1,477,171.00
Hill & Wilkinson General Contractors - Alternate 1   29,263.00
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$1,506,434.00

Basis for Award: Best Value  
Purchase Requisition #: 45183

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $2,500,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 367,215



Balance: $2,132,785
This Item: 1,506,434
Proposed Balance: $626,351
Account #: 657-1429-1610619-9002
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Facilities & Misc. Tax Supported / Transportation Maintenance and Operations Facility
Renovation 

Attachments
Bid Recap 1 of 3 
Bid Recap 2 of 3 
Bid Recap 3 of 3 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 192  

Budget Director Approval:  Ron Young Approval Date:  04/09/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/08/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Transportation Maintenance & 1,477,171.00$    1,477,171.00$    1,242,496.00$    1,242,496.00$    1,333,333.00$    1,333,333.00$    1,391,000.00$    1,391,000.00$    1,191,900.00$    1,191,900.00$    1,157,000.00$    1,157,000.00$    

Operations Facility Renovation

Construction Services

Evaluation Criteria:

Price Maximum = 35 27.41 32.59 30.37 29.11 33.98 35.00

General Info Maximum = 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Exerience & Reputation Maximum = 10 9.50 9.50 8.50 6.75 5.75 6.50

Proposed Personnel Maximum = 20 17.25 15.00 14.25 14.00 13.50 13.00

Project Approach Maximum = 15 13.00 10.00 10.75 11.75 10.00 9.75

Quality of Goods & Services Maximum = 10 8.25 8.00 6.50 7.25 3.50 4.25

References Maximum = 5 5.00 4.80 5.00 4.73 5.00 1.53

Safety Record Maximum = 5 5.00 4.00 4.00 5.00 3.00 4.00

Total Score: Maximum = 100 85.41 83.89 79.37 78.59 74.73 74.03

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $1,477,341.82 $1,242,663.78 $1,333,491.74 $1,391,157.18 $1,192,049.46 $1,157,148.06

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $1,477,341.82 $1,242,663.78 $1,333,491.74 $1,391,157.18 $1,192,049.46 $1,157,148.06

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: # IonWave Notifications

LOW: # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVEREDDELIVEREDDELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Hill & Wilkinson General 
Contractors

AUI Partners, LLC Gilbert May Inc..
Big Sky Construction Co., 

Inc.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:             
REQ. NO      PR 45183
BID NO.        0469-21     
PAGE:          1 of  3             
BUYER:        J. Wilson

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.

Mart, Inc.
Nouveau Construction and 
Technology Services, LP



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Transportation Maintenance & 1,321,562.00$    1,321,562.00$    1,355,000.00$    1,355,000.00$    1,267,777.00$    1,267,777.00$    1,230,000.00$    1,230,000.00$    1,591,260.00$    1,591,260.00$    1,444,900.00$    1,444,900.00$    

Operations Facility Renovation

Construction Services

Evaluation Criteria:

Price Maximum = 35 30.64 29.89 31.94 32.92 25.45 28.03

General Info Maximum = 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Exerience & Reputation Maximum = 10 6.00 5.25 7.50 4.50 5.50 5.25

Proposed Personnel Maximum = 20 12.00 10.00 9.00 7.25 9.00 6.00

Project Approach Maximum = 15 7.50 9.00 4.50 6.00 6.25 2.00

Quality of Goods & Services Maximum = 10 6.50 5.75 2.75 5.00 4.50 4.75

References Maximum = 5 5.00 5.00 4.60 5.00 5.00 4.87

Safety Record Maximum = 5 5.00 4.00 4.00 3.00 5.00 4.00

Total Score: Maximum = 100 72.64 68.89 64.29 63.67 60.70 54.90

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $1,321,707.28 $1,355,137.78 $1,267,905.58 $1,230,127.34 $1,591,381.40 $1,445,009.80

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $1,321,707.28 $1,355,137.78 $1,267,905.58 $1,230,127.34 $1,591,381.40 $1,445,009.80

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: # IonWave Notifications

LOW: # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVEREDDELIVERED

SDB Conracting Services
Construction Zone of DFW, 

LLC J.C. Commercial, Inc.
CMC Development & 

Construction Corporation 
LLC

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:             
REQ. NO      PR 45183
BID NO.        0469-21     
PAGE:          2 of 3              
BUYER:        J. Wilson

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.

The Trevino Group, Inc. 
(North Texas Division)

J.B. & Co. LLC



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Transportation Maintenance & 1,372,982.22$    1,372,982.22$    1,300,000.00$    1,300,000.00$    

Operations Facility Renovation

Construction Services

Evaluation Criteria:

Price Maximum = 35 29.49 31.15

General Info Maximum = 0 0.00 0.00

Exerience & Reputation Maximum = 10 3.25 1.25

Proposed Personnel Maximum = 20 3.50 1.25

Project Approach Maximum = 15 1.50 2.00

Quality of Goods & Services Maximum = 10 2.25 0.00

References Maximum = 5 5.00 0.00

Safety Record Maximum = 5 4.00 0.00

Total Score: Maximum = 100 48.99 35.65

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $1,373,080.20 $1,300,071.30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $1,373,080.20 $1,300,071.30 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: # IonWave Notifications

LOW: # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVEREDDELIVEREDDELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

JM Management LLC JM 

Construction Solutions
Perry Construction

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:             
REQ. NO      PR 45183
BID NO.        0469-21     
PAGE:          3 of 3              
BUYER:        J. Wilson

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. h.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Access Controls for Police Property and Evidence Building
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 
Bid Number: 0706-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is for the purchase and installation of access controls at the new Police Property
and Evidence Building.  Construction of the building is currently underway, and this system will
be installed prior to completion of construction.  This project is part of the 2019 Bond Program
and approved in the 2021 CIP.

Evaluation:
The equipment and installation are being provided by Entech Sales and Service through the
BuyBoard Cooperative Purchasing Contract 574-18.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Entech Sales and Service All $156,288.00
     
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$156,288.00

Basis for Award: Cooperative Purchase  
Purchase Requisition #: 45190

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $17,702,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 11,172,346
Balance: $6,529,654
This Item: 156,288
Proposed Balance: $6,373,366
Account #: 652-1429-1302619-9002



Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Public Safety CIP / Police Property and Evidence Building 

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 154  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/08/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/07/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Police Property and Evidence $156,288.00 $156,288.00

Building - Access Controls

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $156,288.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $156,288.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: # IonWave Notifications

LOW: # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Entech Sales and Service
.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:         
REQ. NO.     PR 45190 
BID NO.       0706-21
PAGE:         1 of  1        
BUYER:      D. Gamero

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. i.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Landfill Bulldozer Rebuild
Submitted By: Christopher Hoofnagle, EWS Disposal Operations Director 
Bid Number: 0716-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is to provide emergency repair services to a D8T bulldozer used at the Landfill.  An
immediate repair is required to bring the unit back into service in order to meet current demands
of the waste disposal operation.  The rebuilt machine will carry a four (4) year 10,000-hour
Powertrain and Hydraulic warranty.

Evaluation:
Holt Cat will be performing the repairs as an Emergency purchase.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Holt Cat All $650,000.00
     
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$650,000.00

Basis for Award: Emergency  
Purchase Requisition #: 45196

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $4,439,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 3,390,996
Balance: $1,048,004
This Item: 650,000
Proposed Balance: $398,004
Account #: 692-1609-1715400-9009
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:



Landfill CIP / Replacement of Landfill Equipment
This request is for the rebuilding of one (1) bulldozer, which is used at the Hinton Landfill.  The
bulldozer has reached the end of its useful life.  

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 219  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/08/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/07/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 1 ea. Emergency rebuild of D8T $650,000.00

Bulldozer at Landfill

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $650,000.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $650,000.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: n/a n/a # IonWave Notifications

LOW: n/a n/a # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: n/a n/a # Direct Contact HUBS

n/a # HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Holt Cat .

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:    N/A    
REQ. NO.    PR 45196   
BID NO.       0716-21
PAGE:         1 of 1      
BUYER:      Teresa Smith  

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. j.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Replacement Vehicles for Parks and EWS Department 
Submitted By: Terry Anglin, Fleet Services Director 
Bid Number: 0728-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is for the purchase of replacement vehicles to be utilized by Parks and
Environmental Waste Services.

Evaluation:
The vehicles are available from Caldwell Country Ford through the BuyBoard Cooperative
Purchasing Contract 601-19.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Caldwell Country Ford All $181,255.00
     
     
 

TOTAL: $181,255.00

Basis for Award: Cooperative Purchase  
Purchase Requisition #: 45191

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $810,115
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 409,387
Balance: $400,728
This Item: 181,255 
Proposed Balance: $219,473
Account #: 444-2351-9009, 444-2361-9009, 444-4313-9009
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Equipment Replacement Fund



Equipment Replacement Fund
Parks Department - $101,885 - Replacement of three units - #200-650, #200-0169,
                                                                                                   and #200-0059
EWS Delivery - $79,370 - Replacement of two units - #430-0035 and #430-0166

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  Operating Budget  
Fiscal Year:  2020-21  
Document Location:  Oper. Budget - Page 275  

Budget Director Approval:  Ron Young Approval Date:  04/09/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/08/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 2 ea 2021 Ford Transit T150, Low roof $33,330.00 $66,660.00

passenger wagon kit

2 1 ea 2021 Ford F-150 Super Crew $35,225.00 $35,225.00

4x4, 6.5' bed, white exterior

3 2 ea 2022 Ford F-350 Regular Cab $39,485.00 $78,970.00

4x2

4 1 ea BuyBoard Fees $400.00

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $181,255.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $181,255.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: n/a # IonWave Notifications

LOW: n/a # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 n/a # Direct Contact HUBS

n/a # HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Caldwell Country Ford 

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:    N/A      
REQ. NO.    PR  45191                    
BID NO.       0728-21
PAGE:         1 of  1       
BUYER:       T. Dabney

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. k.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Replacement Vehicles for GP&L and Parks Department
Submitted By: Terry Anglin, Fleet Services Director 
Bid Number: 0727-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is for the purchase of three (3) replacement vehicles and one (1) new vehicle to be
utilized by GP&L and Parks. 

Evaluation:
The vehicles are available from Silsbee Ford through the TIPS Cooperative Purchasing
Contract 200206.  

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Silsbee Ford  All $130,713.75
     
     
 

TOTAL: $130,713.75

Basis for Award: Cooperative Purchase  
Purchase Requisition #: 45193

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $4,227,606
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 2,239,190
Balance: $1,988,416
This Item: 130,714
Proposed Balance: $1,857,702
Account #: 100-2361-9009, 444-2431-9009, 444-3621-9009,

444-3421-9009
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:



General Fund 
Parks Department - $36,016 - Additional unit 

Equipment Replacement Fund 
Parks Department - $32,632 - Replacement of Unit #200-0222 
Electric Utility - $62,066 - Replacement of two units - #360-026 and #340-0164 

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  Operating Budget  
Fiscal Year:  2020-21  
Document Location:  Oper. Budget - Pages 131 and 275  

Budget Director Approval:  Ron Young Approval Date:  04/09/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/08/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 1 ea. 2021 Ford F-250, crew cab $32,631.75 $32,631.75

6.2L-V8 6-spd Auto (replacement)

per COG specs/quote

2 1 ea. 2021 Ford F-250, crew cab, , $36,016.00 $36,016.00

6.2L-V8 6 spd Auto (New)

camper package rear suspension

Tommy gate Brand 1,300lb lift gate

per COG specs/quote

3 1 ea. 2021 Ford F-150, crew cab, $33,031.50 $33,031.50

5.0L-V8,10spd Auto(Replacement)

per COG specs/quote

4 1 ea. 2021 Ford F-250, Super Cab 4X2 $29,034.50 $29,034.50

5.0L-V8,10spd Auto(replacement)

per COG specs/quote

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $130,713.75

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $130,713.75

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: n/a n/a # IonWave Notifications

LOW: n/a n/a # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: n/a n/a # Direct Contact HUBS

n/a # HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Silsbee Ford
.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:     N/A   
REQ. NO.     PR  45193
BID NO.        00727-21
PAGE:          1 of 1      
BUYER:       T.  Dabney

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. l.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Gale Fields Recreation Center Construction Services
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 
Bid Number: 1130-20

Purchase Justification:
This request is for the construction of the improvements at Gale Fields Recreation Center.  The scope provides for
select interior renovations including new finishes and a new outdoor patio with a shade structure.  This project is
part of the 2004 Bond Program and approved in the 2021 CIP.

Evaluation:
A Request for Proposals for Construction Manager at Risk (CMAR) services was issued in accordance with
Purchasing procedures.  Five (5) proposals were received and evaluated based on the published criteria.  Core
Construction received the highest evaluated score, offering the Best Value for the City.  They have submitted a
Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) of $887,432 for this phase of the project.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Core Construction All $887,432.00
     
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$887,432.00

Basis for Award: Best Value  
Purchase Requisition #: 45192

Fiscal Impact

Total Project/Account: $1,138,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 155,932
Balance: $982,068
This Item: 887,432
Proposed Balance: $94,636
Account #: 614-1429-1832704-9002 and 692-2499-1832700-9002
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:

Parks 2004 Bond Fund / Gale Fields Recreation Center Expansion $749,432
Tax-Supported CO Fund / Gale Fields Recreation Center Expansion 138,000



Total $887,432

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  Page 64  

Budget Director Approval:  Ron Young Approval Date:  04/09/2021 

Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/09/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Gale Fields Construction (GMP) $887,432.00 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Evaluation Criteria:

Price Maximum = 10 9.12 10.00 6.65 8.01 6.28

General Info Maximum = 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Experience Maximum = 15 13.40 11.60 12.80 11.60 13.80

Pre-Construction Services Maximum = 25 21.60 21.00 20.40 20.20 20.80

Construction Services Maximum = 20 18.00 17.00 18.00 16.00 18.20

Post-Construction Services Maximum= 5 4.20 3.20 3.90 3.20 4.80

Client References Maximum = 5 4.60 4.93 5.00 5.00 4.93

Interview Maximum = 20 20.00 11.40 0.00 0.00 12.20

Total Score: Maximum = 100 90.92 79.13 66.75 64.01 81.01

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $887,432.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $887,432.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: 0 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: 0 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 0 # Direct Contact HUBS

0 # HUBS Responded

DELIVEREDDELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Core Construction AUI Partners, LLC
Hill & Wilkinson Geneeral 

Contractors 
W.B. Kibler Construction 

Co., LTD.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:             
REQ. NO.     PR 45192
BID NO.        1130-20        
PAGE:          1 of  1             
BUYER:       J. Wilson

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.

Adolfson & Peterson 
Construction



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. m.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Downtown Garland Pedestrian Crossing Improvements
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 
Bid Number: 0734-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is to improve the Downtown Garland pedestrian crossings in an effort to further
promote pedestrian connectivity.  The Kansas City Southern Railway Company (KCS) has
agreed to improve the two (2) railway crossings located at the south side of Main Street
between 5th and 4th Streets and at the south side of Avenue A at 5th Street, incorporating
pedestrian panels at each crossing.  The City will reimburse KCS for the actual cost of the
improvements not to exceed 115% of the preliminary estimate of $508,338.  This project is part
of the 2004 and 2019 Bond Programs.

Evaluation:
Kansas City Southern Railway Company (KCS) will perform improvements as a Sole Source as
the crossings are in the KCS right-of-way.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Kansas City Southern Railway Company (KCS) All $508,338.00
Maximum Contingency   76,251.00
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$584,589.00

Basis for Award: Sole Source  
Purchase Requisition #: 45205

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $1,347,000 * 
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 330,045
Balance: $1,016,955



This Item: 584,589
Proposed Balance: $432,366
Account #: 624-1799-1557904-9011
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Street/Transportation CIP - Railroad Crossing Improvements 

* A Budget Amendment to the 2021 Capital Improvement Program will be brought to City
   Council for consideration at a future date to appropriate an additional $585,000 to the
   Railroad Crossing Improvements capital program for this request, utilizing 2004 and
   2019 Bond Funds.  The City will issue Commercial Paper as expenditures are incurred,
   and at a future date, General Obligation Bonds will be issued to refinance the outstanding
   Commercial Paper.

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 121  

Budget Director Approval:  Ron Young Approval Date:  04/09/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/08/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Downtown Garland Pedestrian $508,338.00 $508,338.00

Crossing Improvements

1 ea 1 Contingency $76,251.00 $76,251.00

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $584,589.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $584,589.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: $0.00 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: $0.00 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Kansas City Southern 
Railway Company (KCS)

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:   
REQ. NO.   PR 45205
BID NO.      0734-21
PAGE:        1 of 1
BUYER:     J. Wilson

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. n.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Roof Replacements for Gale Fields Recreation Center and Head Start Child Care

Center
Submitted By: Ginny Holliday, Facilities Management Director 
Bid Number: 0726-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is for the replacement of roofs that have reached end of life at the Gale Fields
Recreation Center and the Head Start Child Care Center.

Evaluation:
The services are being provided by Supreme Roofing through the TIPS Cooperative Purchasing
Contract 180702. 

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

Supreme Roofing All $547,562.00
     
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$547,562.00

Basis for Award: Cooperative Purchase  
Purchase Requisition #: 45203

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $3,570,444
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 83,395
Balance: $3,487,049
This Item: 547,562
Proposed Balance: $2,939,487
Account #: 692-4749-1603800-9002
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:



Facilities & Misc. Tax Supported CIP / Roof Replacement Program 

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 186  

Budget Director Approval:  Allyson Bell Steadman Approval Date:  04/08/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/07/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 ea 1 Roof Reoplacements for Gale $547,562.00 $547,562.00

Fields Recreation Center 

and Head Start Clind Care Center

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $547,562.00

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $547,562.00

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: # IonWave Notifications

LOW: # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $0.00 # Direct Contact HUBS

# HUBS Responded

DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

Supreme Roofing
.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:         
REQ. NO.     PR 45203
BID NO.       0726-21
PAGE:         1 of  1        
BUYER:      A. Arellano

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of 
a bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.



GARLAND
PURCHASING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 2. o.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: TMPA Keith Switch to Steep Hollow Transmission Line Conductor
Submitted By: Steve Martin, Transmission Director 
Bid Number: 0531-21

Purchase Justification:
This request is to provide conductor and guy wire for the rebuild of the TMPA Keith Switch to
Steep Hollow Transmission Line.  This is part of the approved TMPA Keith Switch to Steep
Hollow Transmission Line Rebuild CIP project and will be reimbursed at 100%.  An Optional
Contingency is included for any additional materials that may be required.

Evaluation:
A request for bids was issued in accordance with Purchasing procedures.  Five (5) bids were
received and evaluated based on price with KBS Electrical Distributors, Inc., submitting the
Straight Low Bid.

Award Recommendation:
Vendor Item Amount

KBS Electrical Distributors, Inc. All $420,542.00
Optional Contingency   42,054.20
     
 

TOTAL:
--------------------------------------

$462,596.20

Basis for Award: Straight Low Bid  
Purchase Requisition #: 44931

Fiscal Impact
Total Project/Account: $12,800,000
Expended/Encumbered to Date: 2,557,460
Balance: $10,242,540
This Item: 462,596
Proposed Balance: $9,779,944



Account #: 215-3542-3127101-6051
Fund/Dept/Project – Description and Comments:
Electric CIP / TMPA Transmission Lines Program 

Attachments
Bid Recap 

Fiscal Reference:   
Budget Type:  CIP  
Fiscal Year:  2021  
Document Location:  CIP - Page 284  

Budget Director Approval:  Ron Young Approval Date:  04/09/2021 
Purchasing Director Approval:  Gary L. Holcomb Approval Date:  04/08/2021 



                

 

  

 

I

T

E

M QTY

U

N

I

T DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 1 Lt. Conductor and guy wire for $420,542.00 $421,186.00 $429,217.00 $448,755.00 $451,060.60

TMPA Keith Switch to Steep

Hollow Transmission Line rebuild

TOTAL GROSS PRICE $420,542.00 $421,186.00 $429,217.00 $448,755.00 $451,060.60

CASH DISCOUNT

TOTAL NET PRICE $420,542.00 $421,186.00 $429,217.00 $448,755.00 $451,060.60

F.O.B.

DELIVERY

NEXT LOW: $421,186.00 247 # IonWave Notifications

LOW: $420,542.00 28 # IonWave HUBS

SAVINGS: $644.00 4 # Direct Contact HUBS

0 # HUBS Responded

DELIVEREDDELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED DELIVERED

KBS Electrical Distributors, 
Inc.

American Wire Group Techline, Inc. Texas Electric Cooperatives, 
Inc.

CITY OF GARLAND - BID RECAP SHEET
OPENED:    March 9, 2021      
REQ. NO.    PR 44931      
BID NO.       0531-21          
PAGE:         1 of 1          
BUYER:      Teresa Smith 

All bids submitted for the designated project are reflected on this bid tab sheet. However, the listing of a 
bid on this sheet should not be construed as a comment on the responsiveness of such bid or as any 
indication that the city accepts such bid as responsive.  The City will notify the successful bidder upon 
award of the contract and, according to the law, all bids received will be available for inspection at that 
time.

Irby Utilities



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 3. a.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Z 20-42 II Stephens Development, LLC (District 5)
Submitted By: Will Guerin, Planning Director 

Summary of Request/Problem
Zoning Ordinance Z 20-42 II Stephens Development, LLC

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Consider adoption of attached ordinance.

Attachments
Z 20-42 Ordinance 
Z 20-42 Exhibit A 
Z 20-42 Exhibit B 
Z 20-42 Exhibit C 
Z 20-42 Exhibit D 
Z 20-42 Exhibit E 
Z 20-42 Exhibit F 



 
ZONING FILE NO. Z 20-42 

 

 
ORDINANCE NO. ____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE GARLAND DEVELOPMENT CODE OF THE 

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS, BY APPROVING 1) A CHANGE IN ZONING 

FROM SINGLE-FAMILY-10 (SF-10) DISTRICT TO A PLANNED 

DEVELOPMENT (PD) DISTRICT FOR SINGLE-FAMILY-5 (SF-5) USES, 

AND 2) A DETAIL PLAN FOR SINGLE-FAMILY DETACHED HOMES ON A 

15.265-ACRE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2040 WEST MILLER ROAD; 

PROVIDING FOR CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS, AND REGULATIONS; 

PROVIDING A PENALTY UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SEC. 10.05 OF 

THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS; 

PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE AND A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 

PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, at its regular meeting held on the 8th day of 

March, 2021, the Plan Commission did consider and make 

recommendations on a certain request for 1) a Change in 

Zoning from Single-Family-10 (SF-10) District to a Planned 

Development (PD) District for Single-Family-5 (SF-5) Uses, 

and 2) a Detail Plan for Single-Family Detached Homes by II 

Stephens Development, LLC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council, after determining all legal 

requirements of notice and hearing have been met, has further 

determined the following amendment to the Garland Development 

Code would provide for and would be in the best interest of 

the health, safety, morals, and general welfare: 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

 

Section 1 

 

The Garland Development Code is hereby amended by approving 

of 1) a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-10 (SF-10) 

District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Single-

Family-5 (SF-5) Uses, and 2) a Detail Plan for Single-Family 

Detached Homes on a 15.265-acre property located at 2040 West 

Miller Road and being more particularly described in Exhibit 

A, attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

 

Section 2 

 



 
ZONING FILE NO. Z 20-42 

 

 

Development shall be in conformance with the conditions, 

restrictions, and regulations set forth in Exhibit B, 

attached hereto and made a part hereof. 

 

 

Section 3 

 

That a violation of this Ordinance shall be a misdemeanor 

punishable in accordance with Section 10.05 of the Code of 

Ordinances, City of Garland, Texas. 

 

 

Section 4 

 

NOTICE OF CONDITIONS OF COMPLIANCE:  Notwithstanding the 

provisions of any other ordinance of the City, the full, 

complete, and continuing compliance with all the conditions, 

restrictions, and regulations of Exhibit B of this Ordinance 

is a condition to the issuance and continuation of any permit, 

approval, authorization or consent by the City, including 

without limitation the issuance or continuation of any 

certificate of occupancy for any building or structure 

located on any portion of the property described in Exhibit 

A. All promises, representations, obligations and 

undertakings made or assumed by the applicant to the City 

Council at any public presentation in connection with the 

granting of this Ordinance are hereby incorporated into and 

made a part of this Ordinance as if expressly set forth herein 

at length. No substantial deviation from any material portion 

of the conditions, restrictions, and regulations contained 

within Exhibit B of this Ordinance are allowed except as may 

be provided by the City Council after a public hearing. 

 

 

Section 5 

 

That the Garland Development Code, as amended, shall be and 

remain in full force and effect save and except as amended by 

this Ordinance. 

 

 

Section 6 

 

 

That the terms and provisions of this Ordinance are severable 

and are governed by Sec. 10.06 of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Garland, Texas. 



 
ZONING FILE NO. Z 20-42 

 

 

Section 7 

 

 

That this Ordinance shall be and become effective immediately 

upon and after its passage and approval. 

 

 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ________day of_____________, 2021. 

 

 

      CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 

 

 

     

 ______________________________ 

      Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________ 

City Secretary 

 

       Published: 



EXHIBIT “A” 

 
FIELD NOTE DESCRIPTION 
 
STATE OF TEXAS 
COUNTY OF DALLAS 
 
 
BEING all of that certain lot, tract, or parcel of land, being part of the W.H. Bennett Survey, Abstract No. 
62, City of Garland, Dallas County, Texas, and being all of that tract described in a deed to Indian 
Pentecostal Church recorded in Instrument No. 201800093672, Official Public Records, Dallas, County, 
Texas and being more completely described as follows, to-wit: 
 
BEGINNING at a corner in the centerline of West Miller Road (a variable width right-of-way); 
 
THENCE with the centerline of West Miller Road North 88°42'33" East a distance of 467.80 feet to a 
corner; 
 
THENCE South 1°15'09" East, passing a ½ inch iron rod found at 30.00 feet for the northeast corner of 
the Indian Pentecostal Church tract and the west right-of-way line of Sherwood Drive (a 50 foot right-of-
way) and passing a ½ inch iron rod found at 1343.85 feet in the west line of Lot 42, Block B of Third 
Installment Westchester  Estates, an addition to the City of Garland recorded in Volume 16, Page 135 of 
the Map Records of Dallas County, Texas (MRDCT), for a total distance of 1,441.20 feet to a corner in 
the centerline of a creek; 
 
THENCE with the centerline of a creek as follows: 
 
North 73°11'09" West a distance of 210.90 feet to a corner; 
 
South 69°43'51" West a distance of 150.00 feet to a corner; 
 
South 84°12'24" West a distance of 132.36 feet to a corner in the east line of Lot 1, Block 15 of 
Ridgecrest Park Estates No. 2, an addition to the City of Garland recorded in Volume 421, Page 1532 
(MRDCT); 
 
THENCE with the east line of Ridgecrest Park Estates No. 2 North 0°59'41" West, passing a ½ inch iron 
rod found at 260.95 feet for the southeast corner of the remainder of Block 9 of Ridgecrest  Park Estates, 
an addition to the City of Garland recorded in Volume 37, Page 133 (MRDCT), with the east line of 
Block 9 of Ridgecrest Park Estates and passing a ½ inch iron rod found at 1404.85 feet for the northeast 
corner of Block 9 of Ridgecrest Park Estates and the northwest corner of the Indian Pentecostal Church 
tract for a total distance of 1434.85 feet to the Place of Beginning, containing 15.265 acres or 664,942 
square feet of land. 
 
Bearings oriented to Grid North of the Texas State Plane Coordinate System, NAD 83, North Central 
Zone, 4202. 
 
 



EXHIBIT B 

EXHIBIT B 
 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS  
 
 

ZONING FILE Z 20-42 
 

2040 West Miller Road 
 
 

I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Planned 
Development (PD) District is to approve a Detail Plan 

for seventy-four (74) Single-Family Detached Homes. 
 

II.  Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development (PD) 
District shall not affect any regulation found in the 
Garland Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as 

amended prior to adoption of this ordinance, except as 
specifically provided herein. 

 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Single-

Family-5 (SF-5) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 
the Garland Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are 

included by reference and shall apply, except as 
otherwise specified by this ordinance. 

 
IV. Development Plans:  

A. Detail Plan: Development shall be in general 

conformance with the site plan and landscape plan 
plans respectively labeled Exhibit C and Exhibit D. 

In the event of conflict between the conditions and 
development plans, the conditions listed below are 

to apply.  
 

V. Specific Conditions: 
 

A. Permitted Uses: Only Dwelling, Single-Family-5 (SF-
5) detached uses are permitted. 

 

B. Maximum Number of Lots: A maximum of seventy-four 

(74) single-family lots and five (5) open space lot 

are permitted. 

 

C. Minimum Lot Area: The smallest minimum lot area is 
4,000 square feet and as shown on the Detail Plan.  

 

D. Minimum Lot Width: The minimum lot width is forty 

(40) feet; 35 feet minimum eyebrow on lot number 25, 
26, and 28 of Block A; and 30 feet minimum on Lot 2 

Block C, all as shown on Exhibit C 

 

E. Minimum Lot Depth: The minimum lot depth is one-

hundred (100) feet. 

 

F. Maximum Lot Coverage: The maximum lot coverage is 



PD Requirements 
Zoning File 20-42 

Page 4 

 

EXHIBIT B 

sixty-five (65) percent. 

 

G. Minimum Setbacks: The minimum setbacks are as 

follows: 

 

Front Setback Adjacent to Street: 

10 feet with a maximum 5-foot encroachment for 

architectural features such as stoops, 

overhangs, courtyard walls, masonry chimneys, 

and bay windows, and 20 feet from the garage 

 

Side Setback Adjacent to Street 

 10 feet 

 

Rear Setback Adjacent to Street 

 20 feet 

 

Side Setback not Adjacent to Street 

5 feet on each side 

 

Rear Setback not Adjacent to Street 

 10 feet from the rear façade of the residence 

(excluding porches and projecting architectural 

features), and 20 feet from the garage 

 

H. Building Height: The maximum building height is 

forty (40) feet; the dwelling units may have two 

stories within this forty (40) foot height limit. 

 

I. Trees on Individual Lots: Lots fronting onto open 

space are allowed to place the required front yard 

tree into the open space in front of the respective 

individual lot. 

 

J. Garages:  

• Front entry garages shall be allowed. 

• Offset front entry with the garage door set back 

at least five (5) feet behind the front of 

building face is not required. 

• Regardless of other setbacks, a street-facing 

garage door shall have a minimum of twenty (20) 

feet from the applicable street right of way line. 

• "J" and "Swing" drives are not required. 

 

K. Garage Setbacks: All garages shall be setback a 
minimum of twenty (20) feet from the property line.  

 



PD Requirements 
Zoning File 20-42 

Page 4 

 

EXHIBIT B 

L. Alleys, Streets, and Mews Alley: 

 

1. Alleys are not required for the lots in Block A 
located along the west and south sides of the 

proposed public street shown on Exhibit C. 

2. A mews is allowed to provide alley access to 
the all other lots shown on Exhibit C. 

3. Lot 1 in Block C, and Lots 1-21 in Block B will 
have street frontage access onto the mews alley 

as shown on Exhibit C and Exhibit F. 

 

M. Roof Pitch: Each dwelling unit must be constructed 
with a minimum roof pitch of 8:12.  

 

N. Screening and Landscaping: Screening and landscaping 

shall be in conformance with the Landscape Plan set 

forth in Exhibit D. 

 

O. Open Space Amenities:  Benches and barbeque 

locations shall be provided as shown on Exhibit C. 

Additionally, a minimum of two picnic tables shall 

be provided in the open space area of the 

development and shall be located within reasonable 

proximity to the barbeque locations. 

 

P. Variation of Elevations: Elevations are allowed such 
that there will be no duplication of elevations on 

the three (3) adjacent houses on the same side of 

the street or on the three (3) houses directly 

across the street. 

 

Q. Architectural Elements: Architectural elements shall 
include: 

1. Multiple pane windows featuring either divided 
light or simulated divided light windows; 

2. Minimum 8:12 roof pitch; and 
3. Front covered porch with at least thirty (30) 

square feet of usable space, and a minimum 

depth of five feet (a deviation from the 

required forty (40) square feet of usable 

space, and minimum depth of five feet). 

 

R. Windows and Doors: A minimum twenty-five (25) 

percent of the wall area of the front building face 

of a dwelling to be windows and doors is not 

required. 

 

S. Signage: All signs shall meet the Garland 



PD Requirements 
Zoning File 20-42 

Page 4 

 

EXHIBIT B 

Development Code requirements.  

 

T. Homeowners Association: A Homeowners Association 

shall be incorporated, and each lot/homeowner shall 

be a mandatory member. The bylaws and/or declaration 

of this association shall establish a system of 

payment of dues; a system of enforcement of its 

rules and regulations; shall establish a clear and 

distinct definition of the responsibility of each 

member; shall obligate the association, through 

assessment of homeowners, to maintain all open space 

areas; and other provisions as deemed appropriate to 

secure a sound and stable association. 

 

U. Maintenance of Open/Common Space and Landscaped 

Areas, Entry Features, Access Easements, and 

Amenities in HOA Lots: Pursuant to the declaration 

for the Homeowner’s Association, the Homeowners 

Association shall be obligated to repair and 

maintain all common areas of the community 

(including open/common space, landscaped areas, 

entry features, access easements, and amenities in 

HOA lots) and the bylaws and/or declaration for the 

association shall authorize the association to pay 

for the cost thereof through the assessment of 

homeowners within the community. 

 

V. Development Agreement: The development is required 

to be constructed and developed in accordance with 

the terms and conditions of that certain development 

agreement between the City, Property Owner, and 

Developer. 



EXHIBIT C



EXHIBIT C



MILLER ROAD

6' BRICK WALL

6' BRICK WALL
3 gal.

JUN BAR (6)

1 gal.
SAL GRE (9)

7 gal.
MYR PUS (7)

7 gal.
MUH LIN (3)

3 gal.
JUN BAR (6)

1 gal.
SAL GRE (9)

7 gal.
MYR PUS (7)

7 gal.
MUH LIN (3)

3 gal.
JUN BAR (6)

1 gal.
SAL GRE (9)

7 gal.
MYR PUS (7)

7 gal.
MUH LIN (3)

3" Cal.
QUE VIR (10)

3" Cal.
ULM CRA (8)

3" Cal.
QUE SHU (2)

3" Cal.
(3) ACE CDD 3" Cal.

ACE CDD (3)

3" Cal.
QUE MAC (4)

3" Cal.
(8) ULM CRA

3" Cal.
(6) QUE MAC

3" Cal.
(3) ACE CDD

3" Cal.
ULM CRA (6)

3" Cal.
(2) QUE SHU

3" Cal.
QUE SHU (3)

3" Cal.
(8) QUE SHU

3" Cal.
(2) ULM CRA

(3) PIS CHI

45 gal.
(3) CER CAN

3" Cal.
(1) PIS CHI

3" Cal.
(4) ACE CDD

C

UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE LOCATED
IN THIS AREA.  48 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES, CONTACT
LINE LOCATES FOR FRANCHISE UTILITY
INFO.  CALL BEFORE YOU DIG: TEXAS
EXCAVATION SAFETY SYSTEM (TESS)
1-800-344-8377 TEXAS ONE CALL SYSTEMS
1-800-245-4545 LONE STAR NOTIFICATION
CENTER 1-800-669-8344 EXT. 5

CAUTION!!!

BEFORE
YOU DIG...

TURF IN ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITHOUT A PERMANENT
TEMPORARY IRRIGATION WILL BE REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH

IRRIGATION SYSTEM.  INSTALL SOD TO ESTABLISH TURF IN 

EROSION CONTROL PLANS.
ALL DISTURBED AREAS  AS IDENTIFIED ON GRADING AND 

LANDSCAPE, SHEET L-3

SITE

VICINITY MAP
N.T.S.

MATCHLINE A

SCALE: 1" = 30'

0' 15' 30' 60'

PLANTING NOTES:
1. PLANT SIZE, TYPE, AND CONDITION SUBJECT TO APPROVAL OF OWNER'S

REPRESENTATIVE.
2. ALL PLANT MATERIAL TO BE NURSERY GROWN STOCK.
3. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTENANCE OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL UNTIL PROJECT

ACCEPTANCE.
4. ALL CONTAINER GROWN PLANTS TO HAVE FULL, VIGOROUS ROOT SYSTEM, COMPLETELY

ENCOMPASSING CONTAINER.
5. ALL PLANTS WELL ROUNDED AND FULLY BRANCHED. ALL TREES WITH SPREAD 2/3 OF

HEIGHT.
6. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE OWNER WITH PREFERRED MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE OF ALL

PLANTS AND LAWNS.
7. MAINTAIN/PROTECT VISIBILITY TRIANGLE WITH PLANT MATERIAL PER CITY STANDARDS AT

ALL ENTRANCES TO SITE.
8. PREP ENTIRE WIDTH OF ALL DEFINED PLANTING BEDS WITH MIX AS OUTLINED IN SPECS.

WHERE SHRUBS ARE LOCATED ALONG CURB, SET SHRUBS BACK FROM CURB 3 FT.
9. SEE DETAIL SHEET FOLLOWING FOR PLANTING DETAILS.
10. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES, INCLUDING BUT NOT

LIMITED TO TELEPHONE, TELECABLE, ELECTRIC, GAS, WATER AND SEWER. ANY DAMAGE
TO UTILITIES TO BE REPAIRED BY CONTRACTOR AT NO COST TO OWNER.

11. IF EXISTING TREES ARE SHOWN TO REMAIN, CONTRACTOR SHALL PRUNE AS DIRECTED BY
OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. WORK TO INCLUDE REMOVAL OF ALL SUCKER GROWTH; DEAD
AND DISEASED BRANCHES AND LIMBS; VINES, BRIARS AND OTHER INVASIVE GROWTH; AND
ALL INTERFERING BRANCHES. MAKE ALL CUTS FLUSH TO REMAINING LIMB. RETAIN
NATURAL SHAPE OF PLANT. ALL WORK SUBJECT TO APPROVAL OF OWNER'S
REPRESENTATIVE.

12. QUANTITIES ARE PROVIDED AS A COURTESY AND NOT INTENDED FOR BID PURPOSES.
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY PRIOR TO PRICING.

13. INSTALL EDGING BETWEEN LAWN AND PLANTING BEDS. REFER TO SPECIFICATIONS. FILE
ALL CORNERS SMOOTH.

14. INSTALL CURLEX BLANKET (OR EQUAL) PER MANUFACTURES INSTRUCTIONS ON ALL
GROUNDCOVER/SHRUB BEDS WITH A SLOPE OF 4;1 OR GREATER.

15. AT TIME OF PLAN PREPARATION, SEASONAL PLANT AVAILABILITY CANNOT BE DETERMINED.
IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO SECURE AND RESERVE ALL B&B
PLANTS WHEN AVAILABLE IN CASE ACTUAL INSTALLATION OCCURS DURING THE
OFF-SEASON. PURCHASE AND HOLD B&B PLANTS FOR LATE SEASON INSTALLATION.

16. PRIOR TO PLANTING, CONTRACTOR SHALL STAKE TREE LOCATIONS FOR APPROVAL BY
OWNER.

2 TREES PER LOT2 TREES PER LOT

REQUIRED PROVIDED

CITY OF GARLAND RESIDENTIAL LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

REQUIRED PROVIDED

RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT
LANDSCAPING

TWO LARGE CANOPY TREES ARE REQUIRED ON ALL SINGLE FAMILY
DETACHED AND AND AT LEAST ONE OF WHICH MUST BE LOCATED WITHIN
THE FRONT YARD

PERIMETER SCREENING
BETWEEN RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT AND
THOROUGHFARES

A MASONRY WALL IS REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 4.39 (A)
(1) WITH TREES 50' O.C. MAX. THE TREES AND SCREENING WALL MUST BE
WITHIN A MINIMUM 8' WIDE BUFFER STRIP DEDICATED TO THE
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION FOR MAINTENANCE

SCREENING MASONRY WALL +
TREES 50' O.C.

SCREENING MASONRY WALL +
TREES 50' O.C.

REF. SHEET L-7 FOR PLANT LEGEND
City Case No. 200702-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
RKR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAR 03, 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARLAND, TEXAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DFL GROUP LLC. 2011, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE DESIGN, DETAIL AND IRRIGATION DRAWINGS FOR THIS PROJECT AND/OR OVERALL PROJECT ARE THE LEGAL PROPERTY OF DFL GROUP LLC. THEIR USE FOR REPRODUCTION, CONSTRUCTION, OR DISTRIBUTION IS PROHIBITED UNLESS AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY DFL GROUP LLC..

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIBILITY FOR ANY MODIFICATION TO OR USE OF THIS DRAWING FILE THAT IS INCONSISTENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECTURAL EXAMINERS.  NO PERSON MAY MAKE MODIFICATIONS TO THIS ELECTRONIC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING FILE WITHOUT THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT'S EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT REGISTRATION NUMBER 2672 ON 03/03/21, WHO MAINTAINS THE ORIGINAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE IS RELEASED UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF GREG CUPPETT, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE.  THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE MAY BE USED AS A BACKGROUND DRAWING.  PURSUANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXAMINERS, THE USER OF THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE AGREES TO ASSUME ALL RESPON-

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO RULE 3.103(F) OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
03/03/21

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILLER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-5

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEFORE YOU DIG

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



3" Cal.
QUE VIR (13)

3" Cal.
ULM CRA (9)

3" Cal.
QUE SHU (2)

3" Cal.
(2) ACE CDD

3" Cal.
(1) ACE CDD

3" Cal.
(2) QUE SHU

3" Cal.
(6) ULM CRA

3" Cal.
(4) ULM CRA

3" Cal.
(6) QUE SHU

3" Cal.
(1) QUE MAC

3" Cal.
QUE MAC (1)

3" Cal.
(4) ACE CDD

3" Cal.
(8) QUE MAC

3" Cal.
ULM CRA (8)

3" Cal.
QUE SHU (3)

45 gal.
(1) CER CAN

45 gal.
(3) CER CAN

3" Cal.
(3) PIS CHI

3" Cal.
ACE CDD (1)

City Case No. 200702-2

C

SITE

VICINITY MAP
N.T.S.

MATCHLINE A

MATCHLINE B

LANDSCAPE, SHEET L-4

LANDSCAPE, SHEET L-2

NOTE:
NO LANDSCAPE PLANTINGS
WITHIN 18" OF PARKING
LOT CURBS.

UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE LOCATED
IN THIS AREA.  48 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES, CONTACT
LINE LOCATES FOR FRANCHISE UTILITY
INFO.  CALL BEFORE YOU DIG: TEXAS
EXCAVATION SAFETY SYSTEM (TESS)
1-800-344-8377 TEXAS ONE CALL SYSTEMS
1-800-245-4545 LONE STAR NOTIFICATION
CENTER 1-800-669-8344 EXT. 5

CAUTION!!!

BEFORE
YOU DIG...

TURF IN ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITHOUT A PERMANENT
TEMPORARY IRRIGATION WILL BE REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH

IRRIGATION SYSTEM.  INSTALL SOD TO ESTABLISH TURF IN 

EROSION CONTROL PLANS.
ALL DISTURBED AREAS  AS IDENTIFIED ON GRADING AND 

SCALE: 1" = 30'

0' 15' 30' 60'

PLANTING NOTES:
1. PLANT SIZE, TYPE, AND CONDITION SUBJECT TO APPROVAL OF OWNER'S

REPRESENTATIVE.
2. ALL PLANT MATERIAL TO BE NURSERY GROWN STOCK.
3. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTENANCE OF ALL PLANT MATERIAL UNTIL PROJECT

ACCEPTANCE.
4. ALL CONTAINER GROWN PLANTS TO HAVE FULL, VIGOROUS ROOT SYSTEM, COMPLETELY

ENCOMPASSING CONTAINER.
5. ALL PLANTS WELL ROUNDED AND FULLY BRANCHED. ALL TREES WITH SPREAD 2/3 OF

HEIGHT.
6. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE OWNER WITH PREFERRED MAINTENANCE SCHEDULE OF ALL

PLANTS AND LAWNS.
7. MAINTAIN/PROTECT VISIBILITY TRIANGLE WITH PLANT MATERIAL PER CITY STANDARDS AT

ALL ENTRANCES TO SITE.
8. PREP ENTIRE WIDTH OF ALL DEFINED PLANTING BEDS WITH MIX AS OUTLINED IN SPECS.

WHERE SHRUBS ARE LOCATED ALONG CURB, SET SHRUBS BACK FROM CURB 3 FT.
9. SEE DETAIL SHEET FOLLOWING FOR PLANTING DETAILS.
10. CONTRACTOR RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES, INCLUDING BUT NOT

LIMITED TO TELEPHONE, TELECABLE, ELECTRIC, GAS, WATER AND SEWER. ANY DAMAGE
TO UTILITIES TO BE REPAIRED BY CONTRACTOR AT NO COST TO OWNER.

11. IF EXISTING TREES ARE SHOWN TO REMAIN, CONTRACTOR SHALL PRUNE AS DIRECTED BY
OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE. WORK TO INCLUDE REMOVAL OF ALL SUCKER GROWTH; DEAD
AND DISEASED BRANCHES AND LIMBS; VINES, BRIARS AND OTHER INVASIVE GROWTH; AND
ALL INTERFERING BRANCHES. MAKE ALL CUTS FLUSH TO REMAINING LIMB. RETAIN
NATURAL SHAPE OF PLANT. ALL WORK SUBJECT TO APPROVAL OF OWNER'S
REPRESENTATIVE.

12. QUANTITIES ARE PROVIDED AS A COURTESY AND NOT INTENDED FOR BID PURPOSES.
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY PRIOR TO PRICING.

13. INSTALL EDGING BETWEEN LAWN AND PLANTING BEDS. REFER TO SPECIFICATIONS. FILE
ALL CORNERS SMOOTH.

14. INSTALL CURLEX BLANKET (OR EQUAL) PER MANUFACTURES INSTRUCTIONS ON ALL
GROUNDCOVER/SHRUB BEDS WITH A SLOPE OF 4;1 OR GREATER.

15. AT TIME OF PLAN PREPARATION, SEASONAL PLANT AVAILABILITY CANNOT BE DETERMINED.
IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR TO SECURE AND RESERVE ALL B&B
PLANTS WHEN AVAILABLE IN CASE ACTUAL INSTALLATION OCCURS DURING THE
OFF-SEASON. PURCHASE AND HOLD B&B PLANTS FOR LATE SEASON INSTALLATION.

16. PRIOR TO PLANTING, CONTRACTOR SHALL STAKE TREE LOCATIONS FOR APPROVAL BY
OWNER.

TO BE PROVIDED2 TREES PER LOT

REQUIRED PROVIDED

CITY OF GARLAND RESIDENTIAL LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS

REQUIRED PROVIDED

RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT
LANDSCAPING

TWO LARGE CANOPY TREES ARE REQUIRED ON ALL SINGLE FAMILY
DETACHED AND AND AT LEAST ONE OF WHICH MUST BE LOCATED WITHIN
THE FRONT YARD

PERIMETER SCREENING
BETWEEN RESIDENTIAL
DEVELOPMENT AND
THOROUGHFARES

A MASONRY WALL IS REQUIRED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 4.39 (A)
(1) WITH TREES 50' O.C. MAX. THE TREES AND SCREENING WALL MUST BE
WITHIN A MINIMUM 8' WIDE BUFFER STRIP DEDICATED TO THE
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION FOR MAINTENANCE

SCREENING MASONRY WALL +
TREES 50' O.C.

SCREENING MASONRY WALL +
TREES 50' O.C.

REF. SHEET L-7 FOR PLANT LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
RKR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAR 03, 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARLAND, TEXAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DFL GROUP LLC. 2011, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE DESIGN, DETAIL AND IRRIGATION DRAWINGS FOR THIS PROJECT AND/OR OVERALL PROJECT ARE THE LEGAL PROPERTY OF DFL GROUP LLC. THEIR USE FOR REPRODUCTION, CONSTRUCTION, OR DISTRIBUTION IS PROHIBITED UNLESS AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY DFL GROUP LLC..

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIBILITY FOR ANY MODIFICATION TO OR USE OF THIS DRAWING FILE THAT IS INCONSISTENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECTURAL EXAMINERS.  NO PERSON MAY MAKE MODIFICATIONS TO THIS ELECTRONIC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING FILE WITHOUT THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT'S EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT REGISTRATION NUMBER 2672 ON 03/03/21, WHO MAINTAINS THE ORIGINAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE IS RELEASED UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF GREG CUPPETT, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE.  THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE MAY BE USED AS A BACKGROUND DRAWING.  PURSUANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXAMINERS, THE USER OF THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE AGREES TO ASSUME ALL RESPON-

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO RULE 3.103(F) OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
03/03/21

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILLER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEFORE YOU DIG

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



3" Cal.
QUE VIR (6)

3" Cal.
QUE SHU (1)

3" Cal.
ULM CRA (3)

3" Cal.
ACE CDD (3)

3" Cal.3" Cal.

3" Cal.
ULM CRA (2)

3" Cal.
(2) PIS CHI

3" Cal.
(3) QUE MAC

3" Cal.
ULM CRA (2)

3" Cal.
(2) PIS CHI

3" Cal.
(1) QUE VIR

3" Cal.
ACE CDD (1)

MATCHLINE B

C

SCALE: 1" = 30'

0' 15' 30' 60'

SITE

VICINITY MAP
N.T.S.

UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ARE LOCATED
IN THIS AREA.  48 HOURS PRIOR TO ANY
CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES, CONTACT
LINE LOCATES FOR FRANCHISE UTILITY
INFO.  CALL BEFORE YOU DIG: TEXAS
EXCAVATION SAFETY SYSTEM (TESS)
1-800-344-8377 TEXAS ONE CALL SYSTEMS
1-800-245-4545 LONE STAR NOTIFICATION
CENTER 1-800-669-8344 EXT. 5

CAUTION!!!

BEFORE
YOU DIG...

TURF IN ALL DISTURBED AREAS WITHOUT A PERMANENT
TEMPORARY IRRIGATION WILL BE REQUIRED TO ESTABLISH

IRRIGATION SYSTEM.  INSTALL SOD TO ESTABLISH TURF IN 

EROSION CONTROL PLANS.
ALL DISTURBED AREAS  AS IDENTIFIED ON GRADING AND 

LANDSCAPE, SHEET L-2

TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE HEIGHT SPACING REMARKS

ACE CDD 24 Acer saccharum `Caddo` Caddo Sugar Maple 3" Cal. 12` Height Min As Shown B&B/ Single straight trunk

CER CAN 7 Cercis canadensis Eastern Redbud 45 gal. 8`-10` Ht. As Shown B&B/ Single straight trunk

PIS CHI 8 Pistacia chinensis Chinese Pistache 3" Cal. 10` Min. As Shown Single Straight Trunk

QUE MAC 23 Quercus macrocarpa Burr Oak 3" Cal. 12` Height Min As Shown B&B/ Single straight trunk

QUE SHU 30 Quercus shumardii Shumard Red Oak 3" Cal. 12` Height Min As Shown B&B/ Single straight trunk

QUE VIR 30 Quercus virginiana Southern Live Oak 3" Cal. 12` Height Min As Shown B&B/ Single straight trunk

ULM CRA 58 Ulmus crassifolia Cedar Elm 3" Cal. 12` Height Min As Shown B&B/ Single straight trunk

SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE HEIGHT SPACING REMARKS

JUN BAR 13 Juniperus horizontalis `Bar Harbor` Bar Harbor Creeping Juniper 3 gal. 48" O.C.

MUH LIN 9 Muhlenbergia lindheimeri Lindheimer`s Muhly 7 gal. 24"-36" 36" O.C.

MYR PUS 21 Myrica pusilla Dwarf Southern Wax Myrtle 7 gal. 24"-36" 36" O.C.

SAL GRE 27 Salvia greggii Autumn Sage 1 gal. 24" O.C.

GROUND COVERS CODE QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE HEIGHT SPACING SPACING REMARKS

CYN DAC 75,232 sf Cynodon dactylon Bermuda Grass Hydro-Mulch

NAS PON 44 sf Nassella tenuissima `Pony Tails` Mexican Feathergrass 1 gal. 18" O.C.

PLANT SCHEDULE

City Case No. 200702-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
RKR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAR 03, 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARLAND, TEXAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DFL GROUP LLC. 2011, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE DESIGN, DETAIL AND IRRIGATION DRAWINGS FOR THIS PROJECT AND/OR OVERALL PROJECT ARE THE LEGAL PROPERTY OF DFL GROUP LLC. THEIR USE FOR REPRODUCTION, CONSTRUCTION, OR DISTRIBUTION IS PROHIBITED UNLESS AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY DFL GROUP LLC..

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIBILITY FOR ANY MODIFICATION TO OR USE OF THIS DRAWING FILE THAT IS INCONSISTENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECTURAL EXAMINERS.  NO PERSON MAY MAKE MODIFICATIONS TO THIS ELECTRONIC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING FILE WITHOUT THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT'S EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT REGISTRATION NUMBER 2672 ON 03/03/21, WHO MAINTAINS THE ORIGINAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE IS RELEASED UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF GREG CUPPETT, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE.  THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE MAY BE USED AS A BACKGROUND DRAWING.  PURSUANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXAMINERS, THE USER OF THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE AGREES TO ASSUME ALL RESPON-

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO RULE 3.103(F) OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
03/03/21

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILLER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-7

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEFORE YOU DIG

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



C

SHRUB PLANTING
SCALE: NOT TO SCALE

MIX.  WATER & TAMP
TO REMOVE AIR 

SPECIFIED PLANTING

POCKETS

FORM SAUCER WITH
3" CONTINUOUS RIM 3" MULCH

6"
MIN.

PREP, ENTIRE BED AS SHOWN

NOTE: 6" WIDTH IS MINIMUM.
IF PLANTED IN DEFINED BED,

ON DRAWINGS.

RETAINING SHAPE OF PLANT.
THIN BRANCHES BY 1/3

(DO NOT CUT LEADER.)

SPECIFIED PLANTING MIX

REMOVE AIR POCKETS
WATER & TAMP TO

THIN BRANCHES BY 1/3

(DO NOT CUT LEADER.)
RETAINING SHAPE OF PLANT.

SCALE:  NOT TO SCALE

SAFETY STAKE BY TREE STAKE SOLUTIONS

FINISHED GRADE

- FLAG GUYING WIRES WITH

- PAINT ALL CUTS OVER I" DIA.

SURVEYOR TAPE

BALL IS 2" ABOVE THE
- PLANT SO THAT TOP OF ROOT

ALL TREES

TR
U

N
K 

H
T.

SP
EC

IF
IE

D
 C

L.

FORM SAUCER

3" MULCH

O
VE

R
AL

L 
H

T.

ROOTBALL ANCHOR RING

48" NAIL STAKE ACCOMODATE
ROOTBALL AND PENETRATE
UNDISTURBED GROUND

NAIL STAKE

NAIL STAKE

"U" BRACKET

SPREAD

JEFF TOULEY
www.treestakesolutions.com

903.676.6143

Contact Information:

SCALE: NOT TO SCALE

BED PREP

BEFORE PLANTING

BEDDING PLANTS/
EDGING DETAIL

PLANTS/SPACING

3" MULCH INSTALLED 

STAKE ON INSIDE OF BED
4" STEEL EDGING

ABOVE FINISH GRADE
EDGING 1" 

PER PLAN

PER SPECS

City Case No. 200702-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL SECTION S-1 Scale: 1/2"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE VENEER.  EXACT STONE TYPE &  TO MATCH EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLID BRICK WALL.  EXACT TYPE &  PATTERN TO MATCH EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMU BLOCK 8X8X16, HOLLOW STRETCHER, GROUT SOLID 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL SECTION S-2  Scale: 1/2"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLID BRICK WALL.  EXACT TYPE &  PATTERN TO MATCH EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK VENEER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO MATCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
L6X3 1/2X3/8 (LLV), EXTEND GROUT CORE AS SHOWN TYP.

AutoCAD SHX Text
9 GAUGE WIRE TIE IN TOP THREE MORTAR JOINTS, BOTTOM THREE MORTAR JOINTS, AND EVERY THIRD JOINT BETWEEN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUT CORE, MORTAR NOT ALLOWED

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-4" TO 6'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE PIERS.  REF STRUCTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE BEAM  CONFIRM W/ STRUCTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMU BLOCK 4X8X16,  HOLLOW CMU 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROWLOCK BRICK CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK VENEER 

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO MATCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMN SECTION S-3,  Scale: 1/2"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL TIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMU BLOCK 8X8X16,  HOLLOW STRETCHER, GROUT SOLID 

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE VENEER TO MATCH EXISTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL TIES

AutoCAD SHX Text
3/4" PLYWOOD BASE PLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE PIERS.  REF STRUCTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE BEAM -  REF STRUCTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMN SECTION S-4,  Scale: 1/2"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW LOCK BRICK MATCH EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW LOCK BRICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROW LOCK BRICK MATCH EXISTING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEEP RAKE JOINTS TO MATCH EXISTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEEP RAKE JOINTS TO MATCH EXISTING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLDIER TOP COURSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
24"

AutoCAD SHX Text
30"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: BOTTOM OF WALL TO FOLLOW GRADE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINGLE BRICK WIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK ROWLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
6' TALL SOLID BRICK PANELS IN LOCATIONS  SHOWN ON PLANS

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-6" EQ

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-6" EQ

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPICAL WALL ELEVATION  Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL PLAN  Scale: 1/4"=1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" DIA. WEEPHOLE APPROX. CENTERED IN EACH PANEL.  INSTALL AT MORTER JOINT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK ROWLOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL SHALL STEP AT COLUMNS ONLY, 6" CONSISTENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-3

AutoCAD SHX Text
30"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
S-4

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF. STRUCTURAL DRAWINGS

AutoCAD SHX Text
RKR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAR 03, 2021

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
Revisions

AutoCAD SHX Text
Drawn By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Checked By

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet No.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARLAND, TEXAS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
DFL GROUP LLC. 2011, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE DESIGN, DETAIL AND IRRIGATION DRAWINGS FOR THIS PROJECT AND/OR OVERALL PROJECT ARE THE LEGAL PROPERTY OF DFL GROUP LLC. THEIR USE FOR REPRODUCTION, CONSTRUCTION, OR DISTRIBUTION IS PROHIBITED UNLESS AUTHORIZED IN WRITING BY DFL GROUP LLC..

AutoCAD SHX Text
X

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
.

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIBILITY FOR ANY MODIFICATION TO OR USE OF THIS DRAWING FILE THAT IS INCONSISTENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCHITECTURAL EXAMINERS.  NO PERSON MAY MAKE MODIFICATIONS TO THIS ELECTRONIC 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWING FILE WITHOUT THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT'S EXPRESS WRITTEN PERMISSION.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT REGISTRATION NUMBER 2672 ON 03/03/21, WHO MAINTAINS THE ORIGINAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE IS RELEASED UNDER THE AUTHORITY OF GREG CUPPETT, 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILE.  THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE MAY BE USED AS A BACKGROUND DRAWING.  PURSUANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXAMINERS, THE USER OF THIS ELECTRONIC DRAWING FILE AGREES TO ASSUME ALL RESPON-

AutoCAD SHX Text
TO RULE 3.103(F) OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TEXAS BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
03/03/21

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILLER ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
L-8

AutoCAD SHX Text
2 X BALL DIA.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETAILS

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



4

Options

Elevation A

Luxury Master Suite | Walk-in Shower with Luxury Master Suite
4th Bath | 5th Bedroom | Fireplace

4 – 5 Beds	 2-Car Garage
3 – 4 Baths	 2-Story Home

2,710 Approx. Square Feet

VERNE

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



5

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 08.03.20

ELEVATION OPTIONS

Elevation C

Elevation B

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



8

Options

Elevation A

Island | Remove Pocket Office | 2-Story Family Room | 4th Bedroom 
Walk-in Shower | Extended Family Room | Fireplace

3 – 4 Beds	 2-Car Garage 
2.5 Baths	 2-Story Home 
	

2,400 Approx. Square Feet

ORWELL

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



9

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 08.03.20

ELEVATION OPTIONS

Elevation C

Elevation B

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



12

Options

Elevation A

Island | Walk-in Shower | Extended Covered Patio | Fireplace

2,340 Approx. Square Feet
3 Beds		  2 – 3-Car Garage 
2.5 Baths	 2-Story Home 
	

HEMINGWAY

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



13

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 08.03.20

ELEVATION OPTIONS

Elevation C

Elevation B

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



16

Options

Elevation B

Elevation A

Study | Luxury Master Suite | Walk-in Shower | Fireplace
4th Bedroom and 3rd Bath with Game Room

3 – 4 Beds	 2-Car Garage 
2 – 3 Baths	 1 – 2-Story Home 
	

1,900 Approx. Square Feet

DICKENS

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



17

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 08.03.20

ELEVATION OPTIONS

Elevation D

Elevation C

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



20

Options

Elevation B

Elevation A

CARROLL
1,860 Approx. Square Feet
3 Beds		  2-Car Garage 
2 Baths		  1-Story Home 
	

Luxury Master Suite | Walk-in Shower with Luxury Master Suite
Pantry | Storage | Enlarged Dining Room | Fireplace

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



4 5

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 10.14.19

2,230 Approx. Square Feet
Master Bath Layouts | Island | Covered Patio4 Bedrooms		  2-Car Garage 

2.5 Bathrooms		  2-Story Home 
	

POLARIS

Elevation A Elevation G

Elevation B Elevation H

Elevation D Elevation I

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



8 9

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 10.14.19

2,100 Approx. Square Feet
Master Bath Layouts | Islands | 4th Bedroom | 4th Bedroom with 3rd Bath
Game Room | Covered Patio

3 – 4 Bedrooms		 2-Car Garage 
2.5 – 3.5 Bathrooms	 2-Story Home 
	

MERIDIAN

Elevation A Elevation G

Elevation B Elevation H

Elevation D Elevation I

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



12 13

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 10.14.19

Master Bath Layouts | Islands | 4th Bedroom with 3rd Bath | Patio | Covered Patio3 – 4 Bedrooms		 2-Car Garage 
2.5 – 3.5 Bathrooms	 2-Story Home 
	

1,990 Approx. Square Feet

LEGEND

Elevation A Elevation G

Elevation B Elevation H

Elevation D Elevation I

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



16 17

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 10.14.19

1,750 Approx. Square Feet
3 – 4 Bedrooms		 2-Car Garage 
2.5 – 3.5 Bathrooms	 2-Story Home 
	

Master Bath Layouts | 2nd Bath Vanity Sink | Islands | 4th Bedroom with 3rd Bath
4th Bedroom | Game Room | Covered Patio

LATITUDE

Elevation A Elevation G

Elevation B Elevation H

Elevation D Elevation I

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



20 21

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 10.14.19

Kitchen | Island | Master Bath Layouts | Master Box-Out Window
4th Bedroom | Covered Patio

3 – 4 Bedrooms		 2-Car Garage 
2 Bathrooms		  1-Story Home 
	

1,600 Approx. Square Feet

NAVIGATOR

Elevation A Elevation G

Elevation B Elevation H

Elevation D Elevation I

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



25
REL 06.01.20

24

Options

 HEMISPHERE  |  FLOOR PLAN

1,590 Approx. Square Feet
Master Bath Layouts | Master Box-Out Window | Pocket Office3 Bedrooms		  2-Car Garage 

2 Bathrooms		  1-Story Home 
	

HEMISPHERE

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.  |  REL 10.14.19

Elevation GElevation A

Elevation HElevation B

Elevation IElevation D

the Hemisphere | 1590

Architectural dimensions shown are nominal interior dimensions; room sizes, window placement and other dimensions may vary from these drawings. 
This brochure is for illustration purposes; it is not part of a legal contract. We reserve the right to change product features, brand names, architectural design and details.

Gray Point Homes Copyright Information. The �oorplans and elevations of all Gray Point Homes are copyrighted. We have enforced and will continue to enforce our Federal Copyrights to protect the investment of our homebuyers. 

graypointhomes.com UPDATED 05/11/20

MASTER
BEDROOM

13’ x 16’

DINING
ROOM
10’ x 8’

DINING
ROOM
10’ x 8’

FAMILY ROOM
15’ x 16’

BEDROOM #2
10’ x 10’

2-CAR GARAGE
18’ x 20’

BEDROOM #3
10’ x 10’

MASTER
BATH

MASTER
BATH

W.I.C.
W.I.C. W.I.C.

W.I.C.

STORAGE

BATH
#2

FOYER

UTILITY

PANTRY

KITCHEN

ENTRY

PATIO

ENTRY

PATIO

POCKET
OFFICE

Opt. Box-Out Window

O
pt

. S
in

k

Opt.
DoorOpt.

Door

Opt.
DoorOpt.

Door

Opt.
DoorOpt.

DoorW
in

do
w

 O
pt

io
n 

A
va

ila
bl

e

W
in

do
w

 O
pt

io
n 

A
va

ila
bl

e

SEAT

DESK

 Opt. Master 
Shower Seat

 Opt. Pocket Of�ce

 Opt. Master 
Tub/Shower

O
pt

. S
in

k

M
A

ST
E

R
B

A
TH

O
pt

. S
in

k

 Opt. 42” Wide 
Master Shower

MASTER
BATH

Opt.
Sink

Opt.
DoorOpt.

Door

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



26 27

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 10.14.19

1,520 Approx. Square Feet
Kitchen | Kitchen with Island | Master Bath Layouts | Pocket Office | Covered Patio3 Bedrooms		  2-Car Garage 

2 Bathrooms		  1-Story Home 
	

HORIZON

Elevation A Elevation G

Elevation B Elevation H

Elevation D Elevation I

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



30 31

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 10.14.19

1,400 Approx. Square Feet
3 Bedrooms		  2-Car Garage 
2 Bathrooms		  1-Story Home 
	

Kitchen, Family and 2nd Bath Layout | Master Bath Layouts | Covered Patios

COMPASS

Elevation A Elevation G

Elevation B Elevation H

Elevation D Elevation I

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



34 35

Options

ELEVATION OPTIONS

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 02.08.19

1,300 Approx. Square Feet
3 Bedrooms		  2-Car Garage 
2 Bathrooms		  1-Story Home 
	

Master Vanity | Master Box-Out Window | Covered Patio

AVIATOR

Elevation A

Elevation B

Elevation D

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



21

 Availability of elevation options vary by community and are subject to additional charge.   |  REV 08.03.20

ELEVATION OPTIONS

Elevation D

Elevation C

kwauwie
Text Box
EXHIBIT E



EX
H

IB
IT

 F



GARLAND
POLICY REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 4.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Request for Development Assistance from Micropac Industries Inc.
Submitted By: David Gwin, Economic Development Director 
Strategic Focus Areas: 

ISSUE
Consider a development incentive request from Micropac Industries, Inc. (Micropac) for a partial
rebate of applicable to Real Estate Property (RE) taxes for a specific period and a rebate of
applicable Development Fees up to a maximum amount, in regards to a proposed new
expansion project

OPTIONS
Approve the staff recommendation for a partial rebate of the applicable RE tax and certain
City development fees

1.

Not approve a partial rebate of the applicable RE tax and certain City development fees2.

RECOMMENDATION
The City would provide a rebate of ad valorem tax attributed to new RE value for 8 years, a fifty
percent (50%) rebate from 2023 through 2026 and a forty percent (40%) from 2027 through
2030.  Additionally, City would provide $50,000 rebate on development fees paid to the City
upon the company realizing the following performance requirements: 

Add and maintain a minimum of $3 million in new Real Estate Improvement valuation to
the city’s tax roll; and

1.

Maintain and operate the project in situ for sixteen (16) years  2.

BACKGROUND
Micropac was founded in 1963 and has over 55 years history in Garland.   The company
manufactures electronic components for space probes, satellites, aircrafts, robotics, and more;
their products support four (4) major industries, such as Space, Medical, Military and Industrial. 
 
The City purchased the subject 10-acre property located at 1655 State Hwy 66, from TXDoT in
2016.  Micropac purchased the land in open bid in 2017.

CONSIDERATION
Micropac has long history in Garland.  The DCAD certified value for 2020 shows $1.5 million in



Micropac has long history in Garland.  The DCAD certified value for 2020 shows $1.5 million in
RE value and $8.2 million taxable BPP market value at their five (5) properties on Walnut
Street.  The company currently employs 142 people with a total payroll of $8.6 million. 
Micropac commits to invest over $17 million to build a 76,000 square feet HQ and
manufacturing facility, in order to consolidate and expand current operations.  This new HQ and
manufacturing facility is designed to support doubling the company’s current operation.
 
Along with the nearby Fire Department Administration building and a new Animal Shelter and
Adoption Facility on State Hwy 66, Micropac’s project will be a great addition to the area.

Attachments
Proposed Economic Development Incentive Agreement 



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

This Economic Development Incentive Agreement ("Agreement") is made by and between the 
City of Garland, a Texas home-rule municipality ("City"), and Micropac Industries, Inc, a 

Delaware corporation, and its successors and assigns ("Developer") acting by and through their 
respective authorized officers. The City and Developer are referred to individually in this 
Agreement as a "Party" and together they are referred to as the "Parties." 

ARTICLE I 

RECITALS 

The City and Developer each acknowledge and agree that the following recitals are true 
and correct and that the same are incorporated herein and are a material part of this Agreement: 

WHEREAS, the City desires to further the public interest and welfare and to induce the 
investment of private resources in productive business enterprises located in certain areas of the 
City in order to increase tax revenue for real property and business personal property within the 
City, and promote or develop new business enterprises; and 

WHEREAS, Developer intends to construct, occupy and operate a new corporate 
headquarters and manufacturing facility at 1655 State Highway 66, on a certain tract of land 
consisting of approximately 9.217 acres located within the City of Garland, Dallas County, Texas 
("Property"), being further described in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference for all purposes; and 

WHEREAS, Developer, over the course of eight years, proposes to invest approximately 
$16,500,000.00 in new real property improvement value and approximately $500,000.00 in new 
business personal property value at the Property ("Project"); and 

WHEREAS, the Project will result in new economic development in the City, including 
increases in the number of new jobs; will serve as a catalyst for further, perhaps related 
development in the area; and will increase tax revenues because of investments in real property, 
business personal property, and taxable sales within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Project will have a direct and positive economic benefit to the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Developer has advised the City that a contributing factor of inducing the 
Developer to develop the Property is an agreement by the City to provide an economic 
development grant to the Developer as set forth herein; and 

WHEREAS, the City is authorized by Article 52-a of the Texas Constitution and Chapter 
380 of the Texas Local Government Code to provide a program for economic development grants 

Page I of24 

















































GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 5.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Use of CDBG Funding for the Demolition of 1922 Castle Drive in Partnership with

GHFC
Submitted By: Mona Woodard, Neighborhood Services Administrator 

Summary of Request/Problem
The Housing and Community Services Department, working in partnership with the Garland
Housing Finance Corporation (GHFC) is seeking Council approval to authorize the City
Manager to execute an agreement to provide Community Development Block Grant (CDBG)
funding in the amount of $211,000 for the demolition of a blighted, abandoned structure located
at 1922 Castle.  Council discussed this item previously during the April 19, 2021 Work Session. 

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Staff recommends approval to execute an Agreement with the GHFC for the demolition of 1922
Castle Drive for $211,000.

Attachments
Castle Drive CDBG Agreement 



1 
 

City of Garland 
CDBG DISBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on this the 21st day of April, by and between 
the GARLAND HOUSING FINANCE CORPORATION ("GHFC"), a Texas housing finance 
corporation created and operating under the provisions of Chapter 394, tex. Local gov’t code 
and CITY OF GARLAND, a Texas home rule municipality. 
 
            Section 1.       Scope of Services    CDBG funding will be used for the Demolition of 
1922 Castle Drive  in a manner satisfactory to the City and consistent with any standards 
required by HUD as a condition of providing these funds.  Future use of the sight will be to 
provide affordable housing units.  Such program will include the following activities:  
 

Project: 
A. Activity   

GHFC will enter into a contract for the demolition of a 23,433 sqft. commercial 
building originally constructed 1970 according to Dallas County Appraisal District 
records.  Legal description of the property is as follows:   
 

A 2.52 acre tract of land situated in the W. Carter survey, Abstract No. 324 
according to Special Warranty Deed recorded in Instrument number 
201400133931 Official Public Records of Dallas County, Texas, and being Lot 1 
Block A, of Northlake Estates No. 6, Second Section, and addition to the City of 
Garland, Dallas County Texas, according to the plat recorded in Volume 73147 
Page 1060 of Deed of Records of Dallas County, Texas. 

 
Environmental Requirements 
• Compliance with TDSHS, EPA and OSHA regulations for asbestos abatement. 

Certified Asbestos supervisor overseeing the project and asbestos certified 
workers. 

• GHFC to make available the Phase I Environmental Review to the City to be 
provided as part of the HUD required Environment Assessment. 

                                               
B. Level of Accomplishment  

2021-2022 Proposed Accomplishments 
1) Demolition of 1 commercial blighted structure 

 
Section 2.     Budget .     $211,000 
            Total                                             $211,000 
 

           Section 4.     Agreement to Disburse Funds for Program.  Upon the terms and 
conditions hereinafter stated, The City agrees to disburse Program Funds, in an amount not 
to exceed $211,000 to GHFC for the proposed project ("Project") in accordance with the 
statement of work.  In exchange for the consideration herein expressed, GHFC agrees to 



2 
 

pursue and perform the Project according to the statement of work and further agrees as 
follows. 
 
            Section 5.     Consideration Furnished by The City and Limit of the City’s 
Disbursement.  In consideration for such services, The City shall disburse to an amount not 
to exceed $211,000 for allowable costs, documentation and invoices.  Any 2014 CDBG 
Reprogrammed Funds allocated by the City for this Project which have not been expended 
or invoiced by GHFC on or before August 1, 2021 (or such other date marking the 
termination of this Agreement) will revert to the City and will be reallocated for other activities 
unless otherwise approved by the City.  The sole source of funds for this Agreement is the 
Reprogrammed CDBG FY 2014 funding and this Agreement shall not obligate any other 
funds of the City. 
 
            Section 6.     Term of Agreement.           The Term of Agreement (“Term”)shall be 
from April 21, 2021 and shall run until August 1, 2021 unless otherwise approved by the City.  
The parties acknowledge that allowable costs incurred by GHFC during the Term may be 
reimbursed under this Agreement.  
 
            Section 7.     Intended Beneficiaries.     The intended beneficiaries of this 
Agreement are persons within the City of Garland, Texas, who will benefit from the removal of 
a blighted, abandoned structure as well as the future reuse of providing affordable housing 
units to eligible low-income households. GHFC shall establish, maintain and submit to the City 
records that are acceptable to the City showing the use of Project expenditures.  For 
purposes of this Agreement, the definition of low and moderate income shall be specified by 
the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development, and is subject to change.  (Exhibit A)  
Family Income for each participant’s household shall be determined based on 24 CFR 5.609 
(Exhibit B).   
 
            Section 8.     Uniform Administrative Requirements 
 
                        (A)       Financial Management 
                    
                                    (1)       Audit.  All subrecipient records with respect to any matters 

covered by this agreement shall be made available to the City, 
grantor agency, their designees or the Federal Government, at any 
time during normal business hours, as often as the City deems 
necessary, to audit, examine and make excerpts or transcripts of 
all relevant data.  Any deficiencies noted in the audit reports must 
be fully cleared by the subrecipient within 30 days after receipt by 
the subrecipient.  Failure to comply with the above audit 
requirements will constitute a violation of this contract and may 
result in the withholding of future payments.   

 
                        (B)       Documentation and Record-Keeping 
                                    (1)       Records to be Maintained            GHFC shall maintain all 

records required by the City, and that are pertinent to the activities 



3 
 

to be funded under this Agreement.  Such records shall include but 
not be limited to:   

 
(a) Records providing a full description of the  

activity undertaken; 
(b) Records required determining the eligibility of 

activities; 
(c) Records required to document the acquisition, 

improvement, use or disposition of real property acquired or 
improved assistance; and 

(d) Other records necessary to document compliance with the 
program. 

 
                                    (2)   Retention      GHFC shall retain all records pertinent to 

expenditures incurred under this contract for a period of five (5) 
years after the termination of all activities funded under this 
agreement, or after the resolution of all audit findings, which ever 
occurs later.  Records for non-expendable property acquired with 
funds under this contract shall be retained for five (5) years after 
final disposition of such property.  Records for any displaced 
person must be kept for five (5) years after he/she has received 
final payment.  Notwithstanding the above, if there is litigation, 
claims, audits, negotiations or other actions that involve any of the 
records must be retained until completion of the actions and 
resolution of all issues, or the expiration of the five-year period, 
whichever occurs later.  

 
                                    (3)  Disclosure    GHFC understands that client information collected 

under this contract is private and the use or disclosure of such 
information, when not directly connected with the administration of 
the subrecipient’s responsibilities with respect to services provided 
under this contract, is prohibited unless written consent is obtained 
from such person receiving services and in the case a minor, that 
of a responsible parent/guardian.  

 
            Section 9.     Nonperformance, Suspension and Termination.      In the event that 
the City makes a determination that GHFC has not performed the provisions of this 
Agreement, the City may terminate this Agreement by notice in writing. 
 
Either party may terminate this contract at any time by giving written notice to the other party 
of such termination and specifying the effective date thereof at least 30 days before the 
effective date of such termination.   Partial terminations of Scope of Services may only be 
undertaken with the prior approval of the City.  In the event of any termination for 
convenience, all finished or unfinished documents, data, reports or other material prepared by 
the subrecipient under this agreement shall, at the option of the City, become the property of 
the City, and GHFC shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for any 
satisfactory work completed on such documents or materials prior to the termination.  



4 
 

 
            Section 10.   Compensation and Method of Payment.         Payment shall be made 
upon submission of proper invoices, provided that services by GHFC have been satisfactory 
to City, and that all service delivery information requested by City has been furnished.   
 
            Section 11.   Depository.  Disbursed funds shall be deposited in a depository having 
federal depository insurance.  The City or any of their duly authorized representatives, shall 
have access to any books, documents, papers and records of the Project for the purpose of 
making audit examination, excerpts and transcriptions.   
 
             Section 12.   Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action.      GHFC agrees that in 
performing under this Agreement, it shall not discriminate against any worker, employee or 
applicant for employment, on the basis of race, color, creed, religion, age, sex, national origin, 
handicap status nor otherwise commit an unfair employment practice. 
 
          Section 13.   Nondiscrimination Clause.          The services provided under this 
Agreement shall be available to all otherwise eligible applicants without regard to race, color, 
creed, religion, age, sex, national origin or handicap status. GHFC agrees that it shall take 
affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated 
during employment, without regard to race, color, creed, religion, age, sex, national origin or 
handicap status.  Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following:  employment, 
upgrading, demotion or transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, lay-off or termination, 
rates of pay or other forms of compensation, selection for training, as well as access to all 
facilities necessary for any of the above.  Subrecipient agrees to post in conspicuous places, 
available to employees and applicants for employment, notice setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 
 
            Section 14.   Reversion of Assets.         Upon the termination or expiration of this 
Agreement, GHFC shall transfer to the City any GHFC Program funds then on hand, less any 
funds necessary to compensate for authorized expenditures invoiced but not yet paid,  and 
any accounts receivable attributable to the use of GHFC Program funds.  
  
            Section 15.   No Assignment.      Neither party shall have the right to assign that 
party's interest in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. 
 
            Section 16.   Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be 
illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining terms or 
provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and in lieu of each such illegal, 
invalid or unenforceable term or provision, there shall be added automatically to this 
Agreement a legal, valid or enforceable term or provision as similar as possible to the term or 
provision declared illegal, invalid or unenforceable. 
 
            Section 17.   Waiver.          Either the City or GHFC shall have the right to waive any 
requirement contained in this Agreement, which is intended for the waiving party's benefit, 
but, except as otherwise provided herein, such waiver shall be effective only if in writing 
executed by the party for whose benefit such requirement is intended. 
   



5 
 

            Section 18.   Governing Law.      This Agreement and all of the transactions 
contemplated herein shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Texas.  Exclusive venue for any action arising out of this Agreement shall be in 
Dallas County, Texas. 
             
            Section 19.  Paragraph Headings.        The paragraph headings contained in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall in no way enlarge or limit the scope or meaning 
of the various and several paragraphs hereof. 
 
            Section 20.   Binding Effect.        Except as limited herein, the terms and provisions 
of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective heirs, devisees, personal and legal representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
             Section 21.   Gender.         Within this Agreement, words of any gender shall be held 
and construed to include any other gender, and words in the singular number shall be held 
and construed to include the plural, unless the context otherwise requires. 
 
             Section 22.   Counterparts.          This Agreement has been executed in multiple 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall constitute but 
one and the same instrument. 
 
             Section 23.   Exhibits.        All exhibits to this Agreement are incorporated herein by 
reference for all purposes wherever reference is made to the same. 
 
            Section 24.   Entire Agreement.  It is understood and agreed that this Agreement 
contains the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes any and all prior 
agreements, arrangements or understandings between the parties relating to the subject 
matter.  No oral understandings, statements, promises or inducements contrary to the terms 
of this Agreement exist.  This Agreement cannot be changed or terminated orally. 
 
            Section 25.  Amendments.  GHFC must submit any amendments to this executed 
agreement in writing to the City’s Housing and Community Services Department.  The City 
must approve any amendments or changes to the agreement prior to implementation.  
 
            Section 26.  Notices.  Communications and details concerning this contract shall be 
directed to the following contact representatives:  
 
City of Garland                                                             Subrecipient  
 
Mona Woodard, Manager        David Gibbons 
Grants Manager      Executive Director 
800 Main Street                                                             Garland Housing Finance Corporation 
972-205-2141                                                                469-716-4629 
                                                   
Email:mwoodard@garlandtx.gov                   Email:david.gibbons@garlandhfc.org 
 
 

mailto:mwoodard@garlandtx.gov


6 
 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEROF, the parties have executed this contract as of the 
April 21, 2021. 
 
 
City of Garland                                           Garland Housing Finance Corporation 
 
 
By:____________________________     By: ____________________________ 
                                                                                     
Title:__________________________     Title: ___________________________ 
 

 
 

 



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 6.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Partnership Agreement between GHFC and the City of Garland to Administer

Donated GHFC Funding
Submitted By: Mona Woodard, Neighborhood Services Administrator 

Summary of Request/Problem
The Garland Housing Finance Corporation (GHFC) is prepared to make $500,000 available for
programs that benefit homeowners in the City of Garland.  Staff is seeking Council approval for
the City Manager to enter into a Partnership Agreement to administer new GHFC grant
programs.  This item was brought before Council on April 19, 2021, during the scheduled work
session. 

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Staff recommends approval of the execution of a Partnership Agreement with GHFC for new
program funding. 

Attachments
GHFC Partnership Agreement 2021 



1 
 

 
 
 

GARLAND HOUSING FINANCE CORPORATION 
ADDRESSING GARLAND PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM 

DISBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into on this the ____ day of________________, 
2021, by and between the Garland Housing Finance Corporation (the “GHFC”), a Texas public 
instrumentality and nonprofit corporation, and the City of Garland, Texas (“City”), a Texas home-
rule municipality (collectively, the “Parties”). 

 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Garland Housing Finance Corporation is a Texas public instrumentality 
and nonprofit corporation organized and operating pursuant to the Texas Housing Finance 
Corporations Act, Tex., Loc. Gov’t Code §§ 394.001 et seq.; and  
 

WHEREAS, the GHFC was created to provide quality affordable housing for the residents 
of Garland, Texas; and 
 

WHEREAS, the GHFC’s mission is to provide affordable housing in Garland through 
down payment and closing cost assistance, neighborhood awards, affordable senior & multifamily 
housing, issuance of bonds, and direct ownership opportunities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the GHFC also administers grant programs designed to enhance the quality 
of life for residents of Garland; and 
 

WHEREAS, the GHFC desires to partner with the City to fund the GHFC Addressing 
Garland Partnership Program (“Program”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the Program will help eligible low-income persons, elderly, veteran, or 
disabled homeowners in Garland or to homeowners residing in a low-income area by providing 
funds for emergency and other repairs to homes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the GHFC agrees to periodically fund the Program and monitor its 
application in Garland; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City agrees to administer the Program and perform certain activities in 
connection with the Program. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants and 
agreements of the Parties hereto, to be by them kept and performed as hereafter set forth, the Parties 
do agree as follows: 
 



2 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
Article I.  Definitions 
 
  
 Unless context clearly suggests a different meaning, the words and phrases set forth in this 
Article I shall have the following meanings: 
 
1.01 Business Day.  Any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or official City holiday in which 
Garland's City Hall offices are closed for business. 
 
1.02 Disabled Homeowner.  For the purposes of this Agreement, a homeowner who receives 
monthly disability insurance payments from the United States Social Security Administration and 
who owns their primary residence. 
 
1.03 Elderly Homeowner.  For the purpose of this Agreement, a homeowner who is at or above 
the age of 62 and owns their primary residence. 
 
1.04 Family Income.  The self-reported income for a Participant’s household as determined by 
24 C.F.R. § 5.609. 
   
1.05 Low Income Homeowner.  A homeowner whose self-reported monthly income meets the 
definition of low income as specified by then current United States Department of Housing & 
Urban Development regulations.  This definition is subject to change. 
 
1.06 Participant.  An eligible homeowner receiving funds administered by this Agreement for 
making repairs to the homeowner’s primary residence. 
 
1.07 Participant Data.  Documents and data reflecting a Participant’s eligibility for services 
funded by a Partnership Program, including, but not limited to, the participant’s name, address, 
age, sex, ethnic background, size of household, income level or other basis for determining 
eligibility, and description of the services funded by a Partnership Program.  
  
1.08 Partnership Program.  One of the four Partnership Programs funded by the GHFC and 
administered by the City pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
1.09 Veteran Homeowner. A homeowner who has served in and was honorably discharged by 
any branch of the United States military. 
 
 
Article II.  Partnership Programs  
 
2.01 The four categories of Partnership Programs governed by this Agreement are: 
 

(a) The GHFC Emergency Minor Repair Partnership Program.  This Partnership 
Program will provide the Program money to help Participants with emergency home 



3 
 

repairs.  Examples of “emergency home repairs” include burst water pipes, failed electrical 
breakers, damaged or clogged wastewater or drainage lines, or other similar issues.  The 
Program may approve repair costs for the Participants of up to $5,000 per property.  If an 
emergency repair requires more than $5,000, the City must obtain the GHFC’s approval.   

 
(b) The GHFC Minor Repair Partnership Program.  This Partnership Program shall 
provide the Program money to help Participants with minor home repairs.  Each Participant 
may receive repair services of up to $5,000 per property.  If a minor repair requires more 
than $5,000, the City must obtain the GHFC’s approval. 

 
(c) The GHFC Substantial Repair Partnership Program.  This Partnership Program 
shall provide the Program money to help Participants with substantial home repairs.  The 
Program  may provide funding of up to $25,000 per property.  If a repair requires more 
than $25,000, the City must obtain the GHFC’s approval. 

 
(d) The GHFC Exterior Repair Partnership Program.  This Partnership Program shall 
provide the Program money to help Participants with minor exterior home repairs, 
particularly those conditions that violate City ordinances. Examples of qualifying repairs 
include painting, fence repairs, or minor property modifications necessary to bring the 
home in compliance with City ordinances.  The Program may obtain funding of up to 
$5,000 per property.  If an exterior repair requires more than $5,000, the City must obtain 
the GHFC’s approval. 
 

2.02 Funding under any of the Partnership Programs may be combined federal grant funding 
accessible to the City, if eligible.  In cases of combined funding sources for a single property, the 
City shall maintain separate contracts and invoices to prevent commingling of funds. 
 
2.03 Partnership Program funds are to be used primarily to help low to moderate income 
homeowners within the city limits of Garland, Texas.  The City shall give preference to applicants 
who are low income; the City shall give additional preference to low income Disabled 
Homeowners, Elderly Homeowners, and Veteran Homeowners.  The City shall have the discretion 
to allow applicants who do are not Participants in the Partnership Program(s). 
 
 
Article III. City’s Duties 
 
3.01 The City shall administer each Partnership Program. The City’s duties shall include 
 
 (a) Client application intake and processing;  
 
 (b) Project management of all construction activities; 
 
 (c) Approval and payment of invoices for approved projects; 
 
 (d) Case file management; and 
 



4 
 

 (e) Quarterly reporting the grant status to the GHFC. 
 
3.02 The City shall maintain all records required by the GHFC that are pertinent to the projects 
to be funded under this Agreement.  City shall establish, maintain and submit to the GHFC records 
acceptable to the GHFC showing the use of Partnership Program expenditures to benefit 
Participants.  These records shall include, but are not limited to 
 
 (a) Documents providing a full description of each project funded; 
 

(b) Documents necessary to determine a project’s eligibility for Partnership Program 
funds; 
 
(c) Documents necessary to establish a Participant’s eligibility for Partnership Program 
funds (applicants shall self-report income and certify that information on the application is 
true and correct); 

  
(d) Documents necessary to reflect any improvement to real property funded by 
Partnership Program funds;  

 
 (e) Participant Data; and 
 
 (f) All other documents necessary to reflect compliance with the Partnership Program. 
 
3.03 The City shall retain all records pertinent to expenditures incurred pursuant to this 
Agreement for five (5) years after the termination of all activities funded under this Agreement, or 
after the resolution of all audit findings, whichever is later.  Records relating to any Participant 
must be kept for five (5) years after he or she has received final payment.  Notwithstanding the 
above, if there is litigation, claims, audits, negotiations or other actions that involve any of the 
records, the City must retain the records until all issues and actions are resolved, or the expiration 
of the five-year period, whichever occurs later.  
 
3.04 The City shall make Participant Data available to the GHFC or its designee upon written 
request. 
 
3.05 Audit.  
 

(a) All City records with respect to any matters covered by this agreement shall, upon 
reasonable written notice to the City, be made available to the GHFC, the grantor agency, 
their designees or the United States government, at any time during normal business hours, 
as often as the GHFC deems necessary, to audit, examine and make excerpts or transcripts 
of all relevant data. Any deficiencies noted in the audit reports must be fully cleared by the 
City within 30 days after receipt by the City. Failure to comply with the above audit 
requirements will constitute a violation of this Agreement and may result in the 
withholding of future payments or termination. 

 
 (b) The agency or entity requesting the audit shall bear the costs of any audit activities. 



5 
 

 
3.06 Confidentiality of Participant Data.  City acknowledges that Participant information 
collected pursuant to this contract is private and the use or disclosure of such information, when 
not directly connected with the administration of the City’s responsibilities with respect to services 
provided under this contract, is prohibited unless the City obtains written consent from the 
Participant or the Participant’s parent/guardian if the Participant is unable to consent.  
 
3.07 Progress Reports.  The City shall submit written quarterly progress reports to the GHFC in 
the form and content required by the GHFC. The report shall consist of the following information:  
 

(a) A spreadsheet identifying the homeowners assisted in the preceding quarter that 
includes name, address, household income level, family size, whether the homeowner is a 
veteran, elderly or disabled, and the amount of Program funds awarded; and 

 
 (b) A spreadsheet identifying all administrative expenses. 
 
The GHFC may require additional relevant information, which the City shall also provide. 
 
3.08 Equal Opportunity and Affirmative Action. City agrees that in performing under this 
Agreement, it shall not discriminate against any worker, employee or applicant for employment, 
on the basis of race, color, creed, religion, age, sex, national origin, disability status nor otherwise 
commit an unfair employment practice. 
 
3.09 Nondiscrimination Clause. The City shall administer the Partnership Programs without 
regard to an applicant’s race, color, creed, religion, age, sex, national origin or disability status.  
 
3.10 The City may use ten percent (10%) of the funds  expended for administrative purposes 
related to program operations.  The City may earmark ten percent of the GHFC funds for 
administrative purposes; however, at the end of the Term, the Parties shall reconcile the amount 
of earmarked funds against ten percent of sum of GHFC money actually expended plus any monies 
necessary to fund any Project approved but not yet funded. Any positive difference shall be 
refunded to the GHFC in accordance with Section 5.05 of this Agreement.  
 
 
Article IV The GHFC’s Duties 
 
4.01 In consideration for the City’s duties, the GHFC agrees to disburse up to $500,000 during 
the Term of this Agreement for the Partnership Programs.  
 
4.02 The GHFC shall disburse funds for the Partnership Programs as follows: 
 

a. The GHFC shall disburse $200,000 to the City within ten (10) days of final 
execution of this Agreement. 

 
b. The GHFC shall distribute the remaining $300,000 in two additional installments 
of $150,000, payable on July 1, 2021, and October 1, 2021. These disbursements shall take 



6 
 

place regardless of whether the Partnership Program projects have exhausted funds for any 
or all of the Partnership Programs. 

 
4.03 The GHFC shall cooperate with the City in providing any information the City requires to 
obtain additional funding from any other source to help Partnership Program Participants. 
 
 
Article V Partnership Program budgets 
 
5.01 Each Partnership Program’s initial annual budget is as follows: 
 
 a. the GHFC Emergency Minor Repair Program .............................................$50,000 
 
 b. the GHFC Minor Repair Partnership Program ...........................................$200,000 
 
 c. the GHFC Substantial Repair Partnership Program....................................$200,000 
 
 d. the GHFC Exterior Repair Partnership Program ..........................................$50,000 
 
5.02 The GHFC reserves the right to adjust budget categories as necessary.  Any such 
adjustment must be presented as an Addendum to this Agreement, and must be both in writing and 
executed by both Parties.  The Parties may not reduce Partnership Program’s budget below the 
amount of funds already disbursed or earmarked for existing projects at the time of the adjustment. 
 
5.03 Upon written approval from the GHFC on a case-by-case basis, the City may use funds 
from the GHFC Emergency Minor Repair Partnership Program to assist eligible applicants to pay 
emergency repairs costs arising due to the extremely low temperatures impacting the City in 
February 2021, even if such repair costs were incurred prior to the Term of this Agreement.  
Approval of any such costs shall be within the sole discretion of the GHFC. 
 
5.04 Any Partnership Program funds allocated by the GHFC pursuant to this Agreement which 
the City has not awarded by the end of the Term shall revert back to the GHFC. 
 
5.05  Upon the termination or expiration of this Agreement, City shall transfer to the GHFC any 
GHFC Program funds then on hand, less any monies necessary to fund any Project approved but 
not yet funded, and any accounts receivable attributable to the use of the GHFC Program funds. 
In addition, the City shall refund to the GHFC any administrative funds due and owing after the 
reconciliation process set forth in Section 3.10 of this Agreement. 
 
5.06 The sole source of funds for this Agreement is the GHFC Addressing Garland Partnership 
Program. This Agreement shall not obligate or encumber any other funds of the GHFC.  
 
5.07 Any Partnership Program funds the City has not awarded by the end of a given quarter 
shall be carried over to the next quarter. 
 
 



7 
 

Article VI Term; Quarter 
 
6.01 The Term of Agreement shall begin upon execution by both parties _______________ and 
shall run until the 31st day of December, 2021. 
 
6.02 A Quarter begins on the first day of January, April, July, and October. 
 
 
Article VII Nonperformance, Suspension, and Termination 
 
7.01 Termination for nonperformance.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party if it 
determines the other party has not met the obligations imposed by this Agreement.  The party 
seeking termination must provide written notice of termination stating what obligations have not 
been met.  The nonperforming party shall have thirty (30) days to perform the duties described in 
the notice.  If it fails to do so, this Agreement is terminated. 
 
7.02 Termination for convenience.  Either party may terminate this contract at any time by 
giving written notice to the other party of such termination and specifying the effective date thereof 
at least 30 days before the effective date of such termination.  In the event of any termination for 
convenience, all finished or unfinished documents, data, reports or other material prepared by the 
City under this agreement shall, at the option of the GHFC, become the property of the GHFC, 
and the City shall be entitled to receive just and equitable compensation for any satisfactory work 
completed on such documents or materials prior to the termination.  
 
 
Article VIII Miscellaneous Provisions 
 
8.01 No Assignment. Neither party shall have the right to assign that party's interest in this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the other party. 
 
8.02 Severability. If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable, the legality, validity or enforceability of the remaining terms or provisions of this 
Agreement shall not be affected thereby, and in lieu of each such illegal, invalid or unenforceable 
term or provision, there shall be added automatically to this Agreement a legal, valid or enforceable 
term or provision as similar as possible to the term or provision declared illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable. 
 
8.03 Waiver. Either the GHFC or City shall have the right to waive any requirement contained 
in this Agreement, which is intended for the waiving party's benefit, but, except as otherwise 
provided herein, such waiver shall be effective only if in writing executed by the party for whose 
benefit such requirement is intended. 
 
8.04 Governing Law. This Agreement and all of the transactions contemplated herein shall be 
governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas. Exclusive venue for 
any action arising out of this Agreement shall be in Dallas County, Texas. 
 



8 
 

8.05 Paragraph Headings. The paragraph headings contained in this Agreement are for 
convenience only and shall in no way enlarge or limit the scope or meaning of the various and 
several paragraphs hereof. 
 
8.06 Binding Effect. Except as limited herein, the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall 
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, devisees, 
personal and legal representatives, successors and assigns. 
 
8.07 Interpretation of terms. Within this Agreement, words of any gender shall be held and 
construed to include any other gender, and words in the singular number shall be held and 
construed to include the plural, unless the context otherwise requires. 
 
8.08 Counterparts. This Agreement has been executed in multiple counterparts, each of which 
shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
  
8.09 Exhibits. All exhibits and amendments to this Agreement are incorporated herein by 
reference for all purposes wherever reference is made to the same. 
 
8.10 Entire Agreement. It is understood and agreed that this Agreement contains the entire 
agreement between the parties and supersedes any and all prior agreements, arrangements or 
understandings between the parties relating to the subject matter. No oral understandings, 
statements, promises or inducements contrary to the terms of this Agreement exist. This 
Agreement cannot be changed or terminated orally. 
 
8.11 Amendments. The Parties may amend this Agreement at any time provided the amendment 
is made in writing and signed by both Parties. 
 
8.12 Notices. Communications and details concerning this contract shall be directed to the 
following contact representatives:  
 
City of Garland 
 
Ms. Mona Woodward 
City of Garland 
Department of Housing and Community Services 
800 Main Street 
Garland, TX 75040 
 
Garland Housing Finance Corporation 
1675 West Campbell Rd. 
Garland, TX 75044 
 

[         THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK          ]  



9 
 

 
EXECUTED this ____ day of ______________________, 2021. 
 
        CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
 
        By: 
 
        ____________________________ 
        Bryan Bradford 
        City Manager 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Stephen M. Hines 
Sr. Asst. City Attorney 
 
 
 
EXECUTED this ____ day of ______________________, 2021. 
 
        GARLAND HOUSING  
        FINANCE CORPORATION 
 
        By: 
 
        ____________________________ 



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 7.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Naaman School Road Right of Way (ROW) and Land Acquisitions
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 

Summary of Request/Problem
Naaman School Road (from Brand to S.H. 78 / Lavon Drive) is currently a two-lane asphalt
street.  It is being reconstructed to a four-lane divided roadway with curbs, which requires
additional land/right-of-way.  The Council reviewed and discussed several purchase and
relocation assistance agreements in Executive Session on April 5, 2021.

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Council is requested to consider by minute action the approval of two purchase and relocation
assistance agreements negotiated to date with the property owners and tenants
in the aggregate amount of $208,000.



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 8.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Fire Station 1 - Land Acquisition
Submitted By: Rick Galceran, Capital Project Management Director 

Summary of Request/Problem
Fire Station 1 is being rebuilt in a new location, necessitating the acquisition and assemblage of
land.  The Council reviewed and discussed several purchase and relocation assistance
agreements in Executive Session on April 5, 2021.

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Council is requested to consider by minute action the approval of two purchase agreements
negotiated to date with the property owners in the aggregate amount of $416,100.



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 9.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Request from Farmers Electric Cooperative for Utility Easement at 2900 Elm Grove

Road
Submitted By: Michael Polocek, Engineering Director 

Summary of Request/Problem
In November 2020, Council authorized the conditional sale of a 3.0 acre tract to Rayburn
Electric Cooperative.  The tract is located near the intersection of Elm Grove and Vinson Road,
which is in the vicinity of the entrance to the Charles M. Hinton Landfill.   Rayburn’s intention is
to construct an electric substation at the property.  With the conditions of the sale being met
(namely, approval of zoning changes and issuance of an SUP), the transaction was recently
settled.  

Substantial electric facilities already exist in the immediate area.  In order to efficiently connect
to an existing transmission line, Farmers Electric Cooperative (FEC) has requested an
additional easement through remaining City of Garland property.  The shape and alignment of
the requested 27,904 SF easement has been developed in coordination with existing and
proposed GP&L facilities in the area.  

The appraisal of the property just sold to FEC valued land in the area at $2.30 per square foot. 
It is common to use a 50% reduction in value in determining easement values for property. 
 Using this analysis, the value of the requested easement is $32,090.00.
FEC has been notified and is willing to provide that amount.

This item was considered by Council at the April 5, 2021 Work Session.

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Council is requested to consider authorizing the Mayor to execute and convey the easement
tract, by minute action, to FEC for the amount of $32,090.00.

Attachments
Easement Description 
Easement Price Commitment 
Cottonwood Creek Substation - FEC Easement at COG Property - Dedication Form Final 















Page 1 of 6 

 

NOTICE OF CONFIDENTIALITY RIGHTS:  IF YOU ARE A NATURAL PERSON, 

YOU MAY REMOVE OR STRIKE ANY OR ALL OF THE FOLLOWING 

INFORMATION FROM THIS INSTRUMENT BEFORE IT IS FILED FOR RECORDS 

IN THE PUBLIC RECORDS. THIS INFORMATION INCLUDES YOUR SOCIAL 

SECURITY NUMBER OR YOUR DRIVER’S LICENSE NUMBER. 

 

 

EXCLUSIVE RIGHT-OF-WAY, ACCESS, AND UTILITY EASEMENT  
 

 

Date: _______________, 2021 
 

 

 

Grantor: CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS, a Texas home-rule municipality  
 

Grantor's Mailing Address: 

 
CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS  

Attn: Glenn Breysacher 
PO Box 469002 
Garland, Texas 75046-9002 

 
Grantee: FARMERS ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.  

 
Grantee's Mailing Address: 
 

FARMERS ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.  
2000 Interstate 30 East 

Greenville, Texas  75402 
Hunt County 
 

 

Easement Property:  all that property, tract, or parcel of land described in Exhibit A attached 

hereto and made part of for all purposes: 
 
 

Easement Purpose:  Grantee is given the exclusive right to  
 

(a) place; construct; install; inspect; improve; operate; reconstruct; re-phase; repair; mainta in; 
replace; relocate; change the configuration of; modify in size, number, operating capacity 
or otherwise in any manner;  and remove electric power lines and other utility lines 

(overhead and/or underground) consisting of poles, conductors, guy wires, anchors and 
associated overhead appurtenances and/or underground cable, surface mounted equipment, 

associated underground appurtenances, including constructing, operating, maintaining, 
inspecting, rebuilding, replacing, removing and relocating electric lines, distribution 



Page 2 of 6 

 

facilities or equipment, other utility lines, as well as performing any act related to the 
provision of utility service.  Grantee is specifically granted pedestrian and vehicular ingress 

and egress over, across, above, and upon Easement Property 
 

 
(b) cut, clear, trim, remove, or chemically treat with herbicide any trees, brush, shrubbery, 

foliage, or other obstructions within or outside the Easement Property to the extent 

necessary to keep the Easement Property clear, including the removal of any dead, weak, 
leaning or dangerous trees that, in the  sole  judgment of Grantee, might strike, damage, or 

interfere with Grantee’s property even if same are located outside the Easement Property;  
 

(c) prevent the construction or placement within the Easement Property of any buildings, 

materials, structures, or other obstructions which endanger or interfere with Grantee’s use 
of the Easement Property, including but not limited to any buildings, materials, structures, 

or other obstructions that are placed in violation of federal, state, or local laws or 
regulations.  If such buildings, materials, structures, or other obstructions are constructed 
or otherwise placed within the Easement Property by Grantor or any other party, without 

the prior written consent of Grantee, then Grantee shall send written notice to Grantor 
requesting that the Grantor remove the obstructions.  Grantor shall have a commercia l ly 

reasonable period of time during which to remove any obstructions, taking into account all 
applicable federal and state laws and regulations and any demands from state or federal 
regulatory agencies.  In the event that Grantor does not remove the obstructions within a 

commercially reasonable time, Grantee shall have the right to remove same from such 
space and the Grantor agrees to pay Grantee the actual and reasonable cost of such removal;   

 
(d) construct, maintain, and improve roadways; and 

 

(e) any other use related to the receipt or provision of electric energy. 
 

Consideration:  The sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00) and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by Grantor. 
 

Reservations from Conveyance:  The Grantor expressly reserves for Grantor, and Grantor’s 
heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns, all rights to use and enjoy the surface of the 

Easement Property for all purposes so long as Grantor’s use does not interfere with or interrupt the 
use or enjoyment of the Easement Property by Grantee for the purposes stated herein. 
 

Exceptions to Warranty:  None. 
 

Grant of Easement:  Grantor, for the Consideration herein stated, grants, transfers, assigns, sells, 
and conveys to Grantee and Grantee's legal representatives, successors and assigns an easement 
over, on, above, below, and across the Easement Property for the Easement Purpose and pursuant 

to the Terms and Conditions herein stated, together with all and singular the rights and 
appurtenances thereto in any way belonging (collectively, the "Easement"), to have and to hold 

the Easement to Grantee and Grantee's legal representatives, successors, and assigns forever.  
Grantor binds Grantor and Grantor's heirs, successors, legal representatives, and assigns to warrant 



Page 3 of 6 

 

and forever defend the title to the Easement in Grantee and Grantee's legal representatives, 
successors, and assigns against every person whomsoever lawfully claiming or to claim the 

Easement or any part thereof. 
 

 
 

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS,  

a Texas home-rule city 

 

 
 
 

By:______________________________ 
Name:  Scott LeMay 

 Title:  Mayor 
 

 

 
STATE OF TEXAS  § 

    § 
COUNTY OF DALLAS § 
 

 
This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ________________,  
2021, by Scott LeMay, acting in his capacity as Mayor for the City of Garland, Texas.  

 
 

 
 
___________________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Texas 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

After filing, please return to: 
Farmers Electric Cooperative, Inc. 
2000 Interstate 30 East 

Greenville, Texas  75402 
ATTN:  Easements 



Page 4 of 6 

 

 



Page 5 of 6 

 

 



Page 6 of 6 

 

 



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 10.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Easements Related to the Hinton Landfill Gas-To-Energy Project
Submitted By: Christopher Hoofnagle, EWS Disposal Operations Director 

Summary of Request/Problem
In order to facilitate construction and operation of the landfill gas to energy (LFGTE) plant at the
Hinton Landfill, two easements have been prepared and brought for City Council's review and
approval.  One easement grants Oncor Electric Delivery Company permission to construct and
maintain facilities on the landfill property which are necessary to bring power to the gas plant,
such as overhead power lines and transformers.  The second easement grants Atmos Energy
permission to construct facilities on the landfill property which are necessary for the delivery of
gas to market for sale, such as a gas metering station and underground pipeline.  

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Consider by minute action approval of these easements.  These easements were moved for
approval at April 19, 2021 Work Session agenda for final approval on April 20, 2021.



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 11.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: General Obligation Commercial Paper Program, Series 2021
Submitted By: Matt Watson, Finance Director 

Summary of Request/Problem
At the April 5, 2021 Work Session, Council considered termination of the General Obligation
Commercial Paper Program, Series 2015 and establishing the General Obligation Commercial
Paper Program, Series 2021. Commercial paper is a low-cost interim financing tool used to fund
the voter authorized bond programs. 

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Approve termination of the General Obligation Commercial Paper Program, Series 2015 and
establish the General Obligation Commercial Paper Program, Series 2021.

Attachments
General Obligation CP Ordinance 



101704175.3/1001148150 

ORDINANCE  _____ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS, APPROVING AND 
AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION COMMERCIAL 
PAPER NOTES, SERIES 2021, IN AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT AT 
ANY ONE TIME OUTSTANDING NOT TO EXCEED $50,000,000 TO PROVIDE 
INTERIM FINANCING TO PAY PROJECT COSTS FOR ELIGIBLE PROJECTS 
AND TO REFUND OBLIGATIONS ISSUED IN CONNECTION WITH AN 
ELIGIBLE PROJECT; AUTHORIZING SUCH SHORT TERM OBLIGATIONS TO 
BE ISSUED, SOLD AND DELIVERED IN VARIOUS FORMS, INCLUDING 
COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES AND A BANK NOTE, AND PRESCRIBING THE 
TERMS, FEATURES AND CHARACTERISTICS OF SUCH INSTRUMENTS; 
APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN AUTHORIZED OFFICERS AND 
EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY TO ACT ON BEHALF OF THE CITY IN THE 
SELLING AND DELIVERY OF SUCH SHORT TERM OBLIGATIONS, WITHIN 
THE LIMITATIONS AND PROCEDURES SPECIFIED HEREIN; MAKING 
CERTAIN COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; 
PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY, ASSESSMENT AND COLLECTION OF A TAX 
SUFFICIENT TO PAY THE INTEREST ON COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES AND 
A BANK NOTE AND TO CREATE A SINKING FUND FOR THE REDEMPTION 
OF A BANK NOTE; RESOLVING OTHER MATTERS INCIDENT AND RELATED 
TO THE ISSUANCE, SALE, SECURITY AND DELIVERY OF COMMERCIAL 
PAPER NOTES, INCLUDING THE APPROVAL OF AN ISSUING AND PAYING 
AGENT AGREEMENT, A REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT, A FEE LETTER 
AND A DEALER AGREEMENT; APPROVING THE USE OF AN OFFERING 
MEMORANDUM IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALE FROM TIME TO TIME OF 
SUCH SHORT TERM OBLIGATIONS; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

APPROVAL DATE:  APRIL 20, 2021 

 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS ....................................................................................................... 3 

Section 1.01. Definitions ........................................................................................... 3 
Section 1.02. Construction of Terms Utilized in This Ordinance .............................. 6 

ARTICLE 2 AUTHORIZATION OF NOTES ............................................................................ 6 

Section 2.01. General Authorization ......................................................................... 6 
Section 2.02. Terms Applicable to Notes - General .................................................. 7 
Section 2.03. Commercial Paper Notes .................................................................... 9 
Section 2.04. Bank Note ......................................................................................... 10 
Section 2.05. Form of Commercial Paper Notes .................................................... 10 
Section 2.06. Execution - Authentication ................................................................ 12 
Section 2.07. Notes Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen ...................................... 13 
Section 2.08. Negotiability, Registration and Exchangeability ................................ 13 
Section 2.09. Note Clearance Account ................................................................... 14 
Section 2.10. Note Payment Fund .......................................................................... 14 
Section 2.11. Pledge; Payments ............................................................................. 15 
Section 2.12. Note Construction Account ............................................................... 16 
Section 2.13. Cancellation ...................................................................................... 16 
Section 2.14. Fiscal and Other Agents ................................................................... 16 
Section 2.15. Reimbursement Agreement .............................................................. 17 
Section 2.16. Funds Secured ................................................................................. 17 

ARTICLE 3 ISSUE AND SALE OF NOTES .......................................................................... 17 

Section 3.01. Issuance and Sale of Commercial Paper Notes ............................... 17 
Section 3.02. Proceeds of Sale of Commercial Paper Notes ................................. 18 
Section 3.03. Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement .............................................. 18 
Section 3.04. Dealer Agreement ............................................................................. 19 

ARTICLE 4 COVENANTS OF THE CITY.............................................................................. 19 

Section 4.01. Limitation on Issuance ...................................................................... 19 
Section 4.02. RESERVED ...................................................................................... 20 
Section 4.03. Maintenance of Available Credit Facilities Requirement .................. 20 
Section 4.04. Bonds ................................................................................................ 20 
Section 4.05. Punctual Payment ............................................................................. 20 
Section 4.06. Covenants to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status ...................................... 21 
Section 4.07. Allocation of, and Limitation on, Expenditures for Eligible 

Projects ............................................................................................. 24 
Section 4.08. Disposition of Eligible Projects .......................................................... 24 
Section 4.09. Taxable Obligations .......................................................................... 24 
Section 4.10. Supplemental Ordinances ................................................................ 24 
Section 4.11. Opinion of Bond Counsel .................................................................. 25 
Section 4.12. Ongoing Continuing Disclosure Covenant ........................................ 25 

ARTICLE 5 EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF NOTEHOLDERS ...................... 25 

Section 5.01. Events of Default .............................................................................. 25 
Section 5.02. Suits at Law or in Equity and Mandamus ......................................... 26 
Section 5.03. Remedies Not Exclusive ................................................................... 26 



Page 

101704175.3/1001148150 ii 

ARTICLE 6 MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................................ 26 

Section 6.01. Amendments or Modifications Without Consent of Holders of 
Notes ................................................................................................ 26 

Section 6.02. Additional Actions ............................................................................. 27 
Section 6.03. Ordinance to Constitute a Contract; Equal Security ......................... 28 
Section 6.04. Severability of Invalid Provisions ...................................................... 28 
Section 6.05. Payment and Performance on Business Days ................................. 28 
Section 6.06. Defeasance ....................................................................................... 28 
Section 6.07. Limitation of Benefits with Respect to the Ordinance ....................... 29 
Section 6.08. Use of Offering Memorandum .......................................................... 29 
Section 6.09. Approval of Attorney General ........................................................... 29 
Section 6.10. Incorporation of Recitals ................................................................... 29 
Section 6.11. Repeal of 2015 Note Ordinance ....................................................... 29 
Section 6.12. Severability ....................................................................................... 30 
Section 6.13. Public Meeting .................................................................................. 30 
Section 6.14. Effective Date ................................................................................... 30 
 

 

Signature Page 

Exhibit A MASTER NOTE 
Exhibit B REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 
Exhibit C ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT AGREEMENT 
Exhibit D DEALER AGREEMENT 

 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 

ORDINANCE  _____ 

AN ORDINANCE of the City of Garland, Texas, approving and authorizing the 
issuance of General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021, in an 
aggregate principal amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed 
$50,000,000 to provide interim financing to pay Project Costs for Eligible Projects 
and to refund obligations issued in connection with an Eligible Project; authorizing 
such short term obligations to be issued, sold and delivered in various forms, 
including commercial paper notes and a Bank Note, and prescribing the terms, 
features and characteristics of such instruments; approving and authorizing certain 
authorized officers and employees of the City to act on behalf of the City in the 
selling and delivery of such short term obligations, within the limitations and 
procedures specified herein; making certain covenants and agreements in 
connection therewith; providing for the levy, assessment and collection of a tax 
sufficient to pay the interest on commercial paper notes and a Bank Note and to 
create a sinking fund for the redemption of a Bank Note; resolving other matters 
incident and related to the issuance, sale, security and delivery of commercial 
paper notes, including the approval of an Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, a 
Reimbursement Agreement, a Fee Letter and a Dealer Agreement; approving the 
use of an Offering Memorandum in connection with the sale from time to time of 
such short term obligations; and providing an effective date. 

WHEREAS, the City of Garland, Texas (the “City” or the “Issuer”) is a “home-rule 
municipality”, acting as such under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, that adopted 
its charter under Section 5, Article XI of the Texas Constitution, that has a population in excess 
of 50,000, and that has outstanding long-term indebtedness that is rated by a nationally 
recognized rating agency for municipal securities in one of the four highest rating categories for 
a long-term obligation; and 

WHEREAS, the citizens of the City have authorized at elections previously held in the City 
that general purpose bonds of the City may be sold, with the dates of the elections, the authorized 
principal amounts of bonds, the authorized purposes, the amounts heretofore issued and the 
amounts remaining to be issued being as shown below: 

 
Authorized Purpose 

Date 
Authorized 

Amount 
Authorized ($) 

Heretofore 
Issued ($) 

Unissued 
Balance ($) 

Street Improvements 5/4/1991 42,496,500 42,414,612 81,888 
Parks Improvements 5/4/1991 5,144,000 5,118,660 25,340 
Public Safety 
Improvements 

5/4/1991 7,226,086 7,199,376 26,710 

Various Street 
Improvements 

5/31/1997 67,970,000 66,806,633 1,163,367 

Northeast Parkway Street 
Improvements 

5/31/1997 4,240,000 4,240,000 0 

Drainage Improvements 5/31/1997 10,570,000 10,502,789 67,211 
Library Improvements 5/31/1997 5,890,000 5,877,682 12,318 
Parks Improvements 5/31/1997 12,370,000 12,318,398 51,602 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 2 

 
Authorized Purpose 

Date 
Authorized 

Amount 
Authorized ($) 

Heretofore 
Issued ($) 

Unissued 
Balance ($) 

Public Safety 
Improvements 

5/31/1997 19,890,000 19,770,561 119,439 

Municipal Facility 
Improvements 

5/31/1997 1,710,000 1,521,000 189,000 

Street Improvements 5/15/2004 113,370,000 60,687,768 52,682,232 
Drainage Improvements 5/15/2004 28,000,000 21,158,178 6,841,822 
Park and Recreation 
Facilities and 
Improvements 

5/15/2004 21,680,000 11,535,574 10,144,426 

Library Facilities 5/15/2004 9,400,000 9,386,179 13,821 
Public Safety Facilities 5/15/2004 12,950,000 12,488,052 461,948 
Municipal Improvements 5/15/2004 11,180,000 5,476,406 5,703,594 
Economic 
Development/Land 
Acquisition 

5/15/2004 3,420,000 2,557,207 862,793 

Street Improvements 5/4/2019 122,250,000 3,343,927 118,906,073 
Drainage Improvements 5/4/2019 47,350,000 791,774 46,558,226 
Public Safety 
Improvements 

5/4/2019 51,350,000 3,340,865 48,009,135 

Parks and Recreation 
Improvements 

5/4/2019 117,750,000 5,196,076 112,553,924 

Library Improvements 5/4/2019 21,000,000 164,696 20,835,304 
Municipal Facilities 
Improvements 

5/4/2019 6,000,000 188,282 5,811,718 

Animal Shelter 5/4/2019 12,000,000 889,858 11,110,142 
Economic Development 5/4/2019 46,000,000 170,449 45,829,551 

Total 801,206,586 313,145,002 488,061,584 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City hereby determines to issue its short term 
obligations pursuant to the provisions of Texas Government Code, Chapter 1371, as amended 
(the “Act”), to provide interim financing for one or more projects described in the preceding 
paragraph of this Ordinance and to refund obligations issued in connection with such projects; 
and 

WHEREAS, such short term obligations proposed to be issued pursuant to this Ordinance 
constitute bond anticipation notes which the City intends to fund or refund through the issuance 
of obligations of the City payable from ad valorem taxes, including refunding bonds issued 
pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Texas Government Code, Chapter 1207, as 
amended; and 

WHEREAS, arrangements relating to such interim financing have been settled and the 
City Council hereby finds and determines that the issuance of short term obligations, including 
commercial paper notes and a bank note, subject to the terms, conditions and limitations 
hereinafter prescribed, should be approved and authorized at this time; and 

WHEREAS, it is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance was passed was open to the public, and public notice of the time, place and purpose 
of said meeting was given, all as required by Texas Government Code, Chapter 551, as amended; 
now, therefore, 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 3 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GARLAND: 

ARTICLE 1 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01.  Definitions.  Unless otherwise defined in this Ordinance and unless the 
context shall indicate a contrary meaning or intent, the terms below defined, for all purposes of 
this ordinance or any ordinance amendatory or supplemental hereto, shall be construed, are used 
and are intended to have the following meanings, to-wit: 

“Authorized but Unissued Amount of Commercial Paper Notes” shall mean $50,000,000 
of Commercial Paper Notes; provided, that such amount shall be reduced by the principal amount 
of (i) any outstanding Bank Note and (ii) Bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Authority to (A) refund 
Commercial Paper Notes and (B) finance Eligible Projects.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Authorized but Unissued Amount of Commercial Paper Notes shall not be reduced by the amount 
of Bonds issued and described in (ii)(B) of this definition, until the aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds issued pursuant to said (ii)(B) exceeds the difference between total Bond Authority and 
$50,000,000. 

“Authorized Representative” shall mean one or more of the following officers or employees 
of the City, acting in concert or individually, to-wit: the Mayor, the City Manager, any Assistant 
City Manager, the Finance Director, or such other officer or employee of the City designated in 
writing by the City Manager, as approved by the City Council, to act as an Authorized 
Representative. 

“Available Tax Revenues” shall mean the ad valorem taxes collected by the City in a Fiscal 
Year, including ad valorem taxes deposited to the credit of the City’s general fund and cash 
reserves maintained by the City. 

“Bank” shall mean Barclays Bank PLC, or any subsequent or succeeding or replacement 
entity specified in the Reimbursement Agreement. 

“Bank Debt Service” shall have the meaning set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement. 

“Bank Note” shall mean the Bank Note issued and delivered pursuant to the provisions of 
this Ordinance and the Reimbursement Agreement, in evidence of the Drawings made by the 
Bank under the Letter of Credit and Term Loans under the Reimbursement Agreement, having 
the terms and characteristics contained therein and issued in accordance with the terms thereof. 

“Bond Authority” shall mean the authorized but unissued bonds approved at the elections 
and for the purposes described in the preamble to this Ordinance and those bonds authorized to 
be issued by elections held in the City after the date of this Ordinance and described in the 
propositions thereby approved, for projects added as “Eligible Projects,” as defined herein. 

“Bond Counsel” shall mean Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP or such other an attorney or 
firm of attorneys which are nationally recognized as having expertise in the practice of tax-exempt 
municipal finance law, as approved by the City. 

“Bonds” shall mean a series or issue of bonds, notes or similar obligations (other than the 
Notes or the Reimbursement Agreement (including the Bank Note)) issued under the Bond 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 4 

Authority by the City subsequent to the date of passage of this Ordinance, which bonds, notes or 
similar obligations are payable from ad valorem taxes levied and collected by the City; and which 
may be refunding bonds issued pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 1207, as amended. 

“Business Day” means any day of the year on which banks in New York, New York or the 
presentation office of the Bank at which Drawings are presented are not required or authorized to 
remain closed and on which the Issuing and Paying Agent and the New York Stock Exchange, 
Inc. and the Federal Reserve Bank are open. 

“City” or “Issuer” shall mean the City of Garland, Texas. 

“City Council” shall mean the governing body of the City. 

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 

“Commercial Paper Note” shall mean a note or notes issued pursuant to the provisions of 
this Ordinance, having the terms and characteristics specified in Section 2.03 hereof and in the 
form described in Section 2.05 hereof. 

“Dealer” shall mean the entity or entities so designated in a Dealer Agreement, or any 
successor to such Dealer. 

“Dealer Agreement” shall mean the Dealer Agreement approved and authorized to be 
entered into by Section 3.04 hereof, as from time to time amended or supplemented, or any 
subsequent Dealer Agreement approved by the City Council. 

“Designated Office” shall mean the designated office of the Issuing and Paying Agent 
where Commercial Paper Notes must be presented and delivered for receipt of payment of the 
principal amount thereof.  

“Drawing” shall mean a drawing under the Letter of Credit in accordance with its terms to 
pay the principal of and interest on the Commercial Paper Notes. 

“DTC” shall mean The Depository Trust Company or any substitute securities depository 
appointed pursuant to this Ordinance, or any nominee thereof. 

“DTC Participant” shall mean a member of, or participant in, DTC that will act on behalf of 
a Holder. 

“Eligible Investments” shall mean any or all of the authorized investments described in the 
Public Funds Investment Act, Texas Government Code, Chapter 2256, as amended, in which the 
City may purchase, sell and invest its funds and funds under its control; and provided further that 
Eligible Investments shall specifically include, with respect to the investment of proceeds of any 
Commercial Paper Notes, guaranteed investment contracts fully collateralized by direct 
obligations of the United States of America, including obligations the principal of and interest on 
which are unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America. 

“Eligible Project” shall mean any project for which there exists authorized but unissued 
obligations approved by a majority of the voters of the City at the elections held on May 4, 1991, 
May 3, 1997, May 15, 2004 and May 4, 2019, respectively, for the purpose of authorizing the 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 5 

issuance of such obligations, as well as any projects approved at future elections and added to 
this definition pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.01 hereof.  Those projects for which voter 
authorization has been granted are described in the second recital of this Ordinance. 

“Fiscal Year” shall mean any consecutive twelve-month period declared by the City as its 
fiscal year, which currently runs from October 1 through September 30. 

“Holder” or “Noteholder” shall mean any person, firm, association or corporation, including 
the Bank, who is in possession of any Note drawn, issued or endorsed to such person, firm, 
association or corporation or to the order of such person, firm, association or corporation or to 
bearer or in blank. 

“Issuing and Paying Agent”, “Paying Agent/Registrar” or “Registrar” shall mean the agent 
appointed pursuant to Section 2.02 hereof, or any successor to such agent. 

“Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement” shall mean the agreement approved and 
authorized to be entered into by Section 3.03 hereof, and attached hereto as Exhibit C, as from 
time to time amended or supplemented, and any subsequent Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement approved by the City Council. 

“Letter of Credit” shall mean one or more irrevocable, direct-pay, transferable letters of 
credit, initially consisting of a letter of credit issued by the Bank substantially in the form of Exhibit 
A attached to the Reimbursement Agreement as the same may be amended, supplemented or 
extended pursuant to the terms of such Reimbursement Agreement. 

“Master Note” shall mean the “Master Note” as defined in Section 2.02 hereof. 

“Maximum Interest Payable” shall mean, as of any Payment Date, the amount of interest 
to be payable in the Fiscal Year in which the Payment Date occurs, calculated at the Maximum 
Interest Rate, on the principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes outstanding as of the Payment 
Date.  In making this calculation, the principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes outstanding 
as of the Payment Date shall be presumed to remain outstanding throughout the Fiscal Year. 

“Maximum Interest Rate” shall mean the maximum interest rate allowed by Texas 
Government Code, Chapter 1204, as amended. 

“Maximum Maturity Date” shall mean February 15, 20_____. 

“Note” or “Notes” shall mean the evidences of indebtedness authorized to be issued and 
at any time outstanding pursuant to this Ordinance and shall include (i) Commercial Paper Notes 
(including the Master Note), (ii) notes in such form or forms as shall be approved by the City 
Council in an ordinance amending this Ordinance, or (iii) the Bank Note, as appropriate. 

“Note Clearance Account” shall mean the account so designated in Section 2.09 hereof. 

“Note Construction Account” shall mean the account so designated in Section 2.12 
hereof. 

“Note Payment Fund” shall mean the fund so designated in Section 2.10 hereof. 

“Offering Memorandum” shall mean the Offering Memorandum relating to the Notes. 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 6 

“Payment Date” shall mean (i) each date on which principal of and interest on the Notes 
is due and payable under this Ordinance, (ii) each date on which any amounts are due and 
payable to the Bank under the Bank Note or otherwise under the Reimbursement Agreement, 
and (iii) the date of delivery of any Bonds issued for the purpose of refunding outstanding 
Commercial Paper Notes.  

“Project Costs” shall mean all costs and expenses incurred in relation to Eligible Projects, 
including without limitation design, planning, engineering and legal costs, acquisition costs of land, 
interests in land, rights-of-way and easements, construction costs, costs of machinery, 
equipment, and other capital assets incident and related to the operation, maintenance, and 
administration of an Eligible Project, financing costs (including interest on obligations during the 
constitutionally permitted time period, and payments on Reimbursement Agreements during and 
after construction, underwriter’s discount and/or fees for legal, financial, and other professional 
services).  A Project Cost incurred before the issuance of Commercial Paper Notes issued to 
finance the related Eligible Project may be reimbursed from proceeds from the sale of Commercial 
Paper Notes, and such reimbursement shall be a “Project Cost.” 

“Reimbursement Agreement” shall mean the Reimbursement Agreement (including the 
Fee Letter thereto) approved and authorized to be entered into by Section 2.15 hereof, as from 
time to time amended or supplemented, or other credit facility or liquidity facility provided in lieu 
thereof in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.03 hereof. 

“Required Payments” shall have the meaning set forth in the Reimbursement Agreement. 

Section 1.02.  Construction of Terms Utilized in This Ordinance.  If appropriate in the 
context of this Ordinance, words of the singular number shall be considered to include the plural, 
words of the plural number shall be considered to include the singular, and words of the 
masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall be considered to include the other genders.  Certain 
terms not defined herein shall have the meaning given said terms in the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 

ARTICLE 2 
 

AUTHORIZATION OF NOTES 

Section 2.01.  General Authorization.  Pursuant to authority conferred by and in 
accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas, particularly the 
Act, Commercial Paper Notes shall be and are hereby authorized to be issued in an aggregate 
principal amount not to exceed FIFTY MILLION DOLLARS ($50,000,000) at any one time 
outstanding for the purpose of financing Project Costs of Eligible Projects and to refinance, renew 
or refund Notes, including interest thereon, all in accordance with and subject to the terms, 
conditions, and limitations contained herein; and a Bank Note shall be and is hereby authorized 
to be issued in the initial aggregate principal amount of _____ MILLION ____ HUNDRED _____ 
THOUSAND  DOLLARS ($__________) at any one time outstanding for the purpose of 
evidencing the obligation pay principal and interest on Drawings made on the Letter of Credit to 
pay principal and interest on the Commercial Paper Notes and other Required Payments; all in 
accordance with and subject to the terms, conditions and limitations contained herein and, with 
respect to the Letter of Credit and the Bank Note, the Reimbursement Agreement.  For purposes 
of this Section 2.01, any portion of outstanding Notes to be paid from money on deposit in the 
Note Payment Fund and from the available proceeds of Notes or Bonds on the day of calculation 
shall not be considered outstanding.  The authority to issue Commercial Paper Notes from time 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 7 

to time under the provisions of this Ordinance shall exist until the Maximum Maturity Date, 
regardless of whether prior to the Maximum Maturity Date there are at any time no Commercial 
Paper Notes outstanding. 

Anything in this Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, in connection with the 
refinancing or refunding of Notes, such Notes shall qualify as “obligations”, as such term is defined 
in the Act at the time any such refinancing or refunding occurs.  Further, any such refunding or 
refinancing, other than a simultaneous refunding, of Notes, to the extent then required by 
applicable law, shall be by means of a gross defeasance established at the time of the issuance 
of the refunding Commercial Paper Notes or refunding Bonds, as the case may be, and the Notes 
to be so refunded or refinanced shall be selected by the City Council.   

Section 2.02.  Terms Applicable to Notes - General.  Subject to the limitations 
contained herein, Commercial Paper Notes herein authorized shall be dated as of their date of 
issuance or prior thereto, but within 30 days of the date of issuance (the “Note Date”), as 
determined by an Authorized Representative; shall bear interest at such fixed rate or rates per 
annum computed on the basis of actual days elapsed and on a 365- or 366-day year, as 
applicable (but in no event in any case to exceed the Maximum Interest Rate), as may be 
determined by an Authorized Representative, and all Commercial Paper Notes authorized herein 
shall mature on or prior to the Maximum Maturity Date. 

Subject to applicable terms, limitations and procedures contained herein, Commercial 
Paper Notes may be sold in such manner at public or private sale and at par or at such discount 
(within the interest rate and yield restrictions provided herein) as an Authorized Representative 
shall approve at the time of the sale thereof. 

The Commercial Paper Notes shall be issued in registered form, without coupons, 
provided, however, Commercial Paper Notes may be registered to bearer.  The principal of and 
interest on the Commercial Paper Notes shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of 
America, without exchange or collection charges to the Holder of the Commercial Paper Note; 
the principal thereof to be payable upon presentation and surrender of the Commercial Paper 
Note at the Designated Office of the Issuing and Paying Agent and interest thereon to be payable 
to the registered owner thereof (when registered other than to bearer) either (i) by check sent by 
United States Mail, first class postage prepaid, to the address of the registered owner appearing 
on the Registration Books (as hereinafter defined) of the City maintained by the Registrar or (ii) by 
such other method, acceptable to the Issuing and Paying Agent, requested by the Holder, but 
interest on a Commercial Paper Note registered to bearer shall be payable only upon presentation 
of the Commercial Paper Note at the Designated Office of the Issuing and Paying Agent. 

The selection and appointment of U.S. Bank National Association to serve as Issuing and 
Paying Agent, Paying Agent/Registrar and Registrar for the Commercial Paper Notes is hereby 
confirmed, and the City covenants and agrees to keep and maintain with the Registrar at its 
Designated Office and at a place within the State of Texas books and records (the “Registration 
Books”) for the registration, payment, transfer and exchange of the Commercial Paper Notes, all 
as provided herein and such reasonable rules and regulations as the Registrar may prescribe.  
The City covenants to maintain and provide a Registrar at all times while the Commercial Paper 
Notes are outstanding, which shall be a national or state banking association or corporation or 
trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or 
of any state and authorized under such laws to exercise trust powers.  Should a change in the 
Paying Agent/Registrar for the Commercial Paper Notes occur, the City agrees to promptly cause 
a written notice thereof to be sent to each registered owner of the Commercial Paper Notes then 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 8 

outstanding by United States Mail, first class postage prepaid.  Such notice shall give the address 
of the successor Paying Agent/Registrar.  A successor Paying Agent/Registrar may be appointed 
by the City without the consent of the Holders, but with the consent of the Bank.  Prior to the 
successor Paying Agent/Registrar assuming its duties hereunder, (i) the City shall cause all 
moneys held by the then Paying Agent/Registrar to be transferred to the successor thereto and 
(ii) the successor Paying Agent/Registrar shall deliver to the City an instrument accepting the 
duties and responsibilities as Paying Agent/Registrar. 

A copy of the Registration Books and any change thereto shall be provided to the City by 
the Paying Agent/Registrar, by means of telecommunications equipment or such other means as 
may be mutually agreeable thereto, within two Business Days of the opening of such Registration 
Books or any change therein, as the case may be. 

The City and the Paying Agent/Registrar may treat the bearer (in the case of Commercial 
Paper Notes so registered) or the registered payee thereof as the absolute owner of any 
Commercial Paper Note for the purpose of receiving payment thereof and for all purposes, and 
the City and the Paying Agent/Registrar shall not be affected by any notice or knowledge to the 
contrary. 

If an Authorized Representative determines that it is possible and desirable to provide for 
a book-entry-only system of Commercial Paper Note registration with DTC, such Authorized 
Representative, acting for and on behalf of the City, is hereby authorized to approve, execute, 
and deliver a Letter of Representations to DTC and to enter into such other agreements and 
execute such instruments as are necessary to implement such book-entry-only system, such 
approval to be conclusively evidenced by the execution thereof by said Authorized 
Representative.  Under the initial book-entry-only system with DTC, (i) no physical Commercial 
Paper Note certificates will be delivered to DTC and (ii) the City will execute and deliver to the 
Issuing and Paying Agent, as custodian for DTC, a master note relating to the Commercial Paper 
Notes (the “Master Note”) in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit A.  Except as provided 
herein, the ownership of the Commercial Paper Notes shall be registered in the name of Cede & 
Co., as nominee of DTC, which will serve as the initial securities depository for the Commercial 
Paper Notes.  Ownership of beneficial interests in the Commercial Paper Notes shall be shown 
by book-entry on the system maintained and operated by DTC and DTC Participants, and 
transfers of ownership of beneficial interests shall be made only by DTC and the DTC Participants 
by book-entry, and the City and the Issuing and Paying Agent shall have no responsibility therefor.  
DTC will be required to maintain records of the positions of the DTC participants in the 
Commercial Paper Notes, and the DTC Participants and persons acting through the DTC 
participants will be required to maintain records of the purchasers of beneficial interests in the 
Commercial Paper Notes.  During any period when a book-entry-only system is in effect, except 
as provided above in this paragraph, the Commercial Paper Notes shall not be transferable or 
exchangeable, except for transfer to another securities depository or to another nominee of a 
securities depository. 

With respect to Commercial Paper Notes registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, 
neither the City nor the Issuing and Paying Agent shall have any responsibility or obligation to any 
DTC Participant or to any person on whose behalf a DTC Participant holds an interest in the 
Commercial Paper Notes.  Without limiting the immediately preceding sentence, neither the City 
nor the Issuing and Paying Agent shall have any responsibility or obligation with respect to (i) the 
accuracy of the records of DTC or any DTC Participant with respect to any ownership interest in 
the Commercial Paper Notes, (ii) the delivery to any DTC Participant or any other person, other 
than a registered owner of the Commercial Paper Notes, as shown on the Registration Books, of 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 9 

any notice with respect to the Commercial Paper Notes, including any notice of redemption, and 
(iii) the payment to any DTC Participant or any other person, other than a registered owner of the 
Commercial Paper Notes, as shown in the Registration Books, of any amount with respect to 
principal of and interest on the Commercial Paper Notes. 

Whenever, during the term of the Commercial Paper Notes, the beneficial ownership 
thereof is determined by a book entry at DTC, the requirements in this Ordinance of holding, 
registering, delivering, exchanging, or transferring the Commercial Paper Notes shall be deemed 
modified to require the appropriate person or entity to meet the requirements of DTC as to holding, 
registering, delivering, exchanging, or transferring the book-entry to produce the same effect. 

Either the City or DTC may determine to discontinue the book-entry-only system and in 
such case, unless a new book-entry-only system is put in place, physical certificates in the form 
set forth in Section 2.05 shall be provided to the beneficial owners thereof. 

If at any time, DTC ceases to hold the Commercial Paper Notes, all references herein to 
DTC shall be of no further force or effect. 

Whenever the beneficial ownership of the Commercial Paper Notes is determined by a 
book-entry at DTC, delivery of Commercial Paper Notes for payment at maturity shall be made 
pursuant to DTC’s payment procedures as are in effect from time to time and the DTC Participants 
shall transmit payment to those beneficial owners whose Commercial Paper Notes have matured.  
The City and each Issuing and Paying Agent, the Bank, and the Dealer are not responsible for 
the transfer of payment to the DTC Participants or beneficial owners. 

Section 2.03.  Commercial Paper Notes.  Under and pursuant to the authority granted 
hereby and subject to the limitations contained herein, Commercial Paper Notes to be designated 
“City of Garland, Texas, General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021” are hereby 
authorized to be issued and sold and delivered from time to time in such principal amounts as 
determined by an Authorized Representative in denominations of $100,000 or in integral multiples 
of $1,000 in excess thereof, numbered in ascending consecutive numerical order in the order of 
their issuance and to mature and become due and payable on such dates as an Authorized 
Representative shall determine at the time of sale; provided, however, that no Commercial Paper 
Note shall (i) mature after the Maximum Maturity Date or (ii) have a term less than seven (7) days 
or in excess of two hundred seventy (270) calendar days.  Interest, if any, on Commercial Paper 
Notes shall be payable at maturity with principal. 

Section 2.04.  Bank Note.  Under and pursuant to authority granted hereby and subject 
to the limitations contained herein and in the Reimbursement Agreement, a promissory note to 
be designated as the “Bank Note” is hereby authorized and approved in accordance with the 
terms of this Ordinance, the Reimbursement Agreement and the form thereof set forth in the 
Reimbursement Agreement. 

Section 2.05.  Form of Commercial Paper Notes.  The Commercial Paper Notes and 
the Certificate of Authentication to appear on each of the Commercial Paper Notes shall be 
substantially in the forms set forth in this section with such appropriate insertions, omissions, 
substitutions and other variations as are permitted or required by this Ordinance and may have 
such letters, numbers or other marks of identification (including identifying numbers and letters of 
the Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures of the American Bankers 
Association) and such legends and endorsements thereon as may, consistently herewith, be 
approved by an Authorized Representative.  Any portion of the text of any Commercial Paper 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 10 

Notes may be set forth on the reverse thereof, with an appropriate reference thereto on the face 
of the Commercial Paper Notes. 

The Commercial Paper Notes shall be printed, lithographed, engraved or produced in any 
other similar manner, or typewritten, all as determined and approved by an Authorized 
Representative. 

Form of Commercial Paper Note: 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  
STATE OF TEXAS  

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS  
GENERAL OBLIGATION COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTE 

SERIES 2021 

No.:   Note Date:  

Principal Amount:   Maturity Date:  

Interest to Maturity:   Number of Days:  

Due at Maturity:   Interest Rate (%):  

 CUSIP 
No: 

  

 Owner:   

The CITY OF GARLAND (the “City”), in the Counties of Dallas, Collin and Rockwall, State 
of Texas, FOR VALUE RECEIVED, hereby promises to pay to the order of the owner specified 
above on the maturity date specified above, the principal sum specified above and to pay interest, 
if any, on said principal amount at said maturity date, from the above specified note date to said 
maturity date at the per annum interest rate shown above (computed on the basis of actual days 
elapsed and a 365- or 366-day year, as applicable); both principal of and interest on this Note 
being payable in lawful money of the United States of America at the designated office of the 
Issuing and Paying Agent executing the “Certificate of Authentication” endorsed hereon and 
appearing below, or its successor.  No interest will accrue on the principal amount hereof after 
said maturity date. 

This Commercial Paper Note is one of an issue of commercial paper notes (the 
“Commercial Paper Notes”) which, together with other forms of short term obligations, including 
the below referenced Bank Note, has been duly authorized and issued in accordance with the 
provisions of an ordinance passed by the City Council of the City, as such ordinance may be 
amended from time to time as set forth therein (the “Ordinance”), for the purpose of financing 
Project Costs of Eligible Projects and to refinance, renew or refund Commercial Paper Notes, 
including interest thereon, in accordance with the provisions of the Ordinance; all in accordance 
and in strict conformity with the provisions of Texas Government Code, Chapter 1371, as 
amended (the “Act”). 

The principal of and interest on this Commercial Paper Note, together with the principal of 
the other Commercial Paper Notes, is payable from and equally secured by a lien on and pledge 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 11 

of (i) the proceeds from (a) the sale of other Commercial Paper Notes issued for such purpose 
and (b) the sale of a series or issue of Bonds to be issued by the City pursuant to the Bond 
Authority for such purpose, (ii) Drawings under and pursuant to the Letter of Credit issued by the 
Bank in favor of the Issuing and Paying Agent, and (iii) amounts in certain funds established 
pursuant to the Ordinance.  In addition, the interest on the Commercial Paper Notes shall be 
payable from and equally secured by a lien on and pledge of the Available Tax Revenues. 

It is hereby certified and recited that all acts, conditions and things required by law and 
the Ordinance to exist, to have happened and to have been performed precedent to and in the 
issuance of this Commercial Paper Note, do exist, have happened and have been performed in 
regular and in due time, form and manner as required by law and that the issuance of this 
Commercial Paper Note, together with all other Commercial Paper Notes, is not in excess of the 
principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes permitted to be issued under the Ordinance; that 
sufficient and proper provision for the levy and collection of taxes has been made, which, when 
collected, shall be appropriated exclusively to the payment of the principal and interest on this 
Commercial Paper Note, together with the other Commercial Paper Notes and all Required 
Payments; and that the total indebtedness of the City does not exceed any constitutional, statutory 
or charter limitation. 

This Commercial Paper Note has all the qualities and incidents of a negotiable instrument 
under the laws of the State of Texas. 

This Commercial Paper Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Ordinance or 
be valid or become obligatory for any purpose until this Commercial Paper Note shall have been 
authenticated by the execution by the Issuing and Paying Agent of the Certificate of Authentication 
hereon.  Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings 
assigned to such terms in the Ordinance. 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the City Council has caused this Commercial Paper Note to 
be signed with the imprinted facsimile signature of the Mayor, attested by the facsimile signature 
of the City Secretary. 

   
CITY SECRETARY,  
CITY OF GARLAND 

 MAYOR, 
CITY OF GARLAND 

   

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT’S  
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Commercial Paper Note is one of the Commercial Paper Notes delivered pursuant to 
the within-mentioned Ordinance. 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Issuing and Paying Agent 

By: ___________________________________  
Authorized Signatory 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 12 

If Commercial Paper Notes are issued in book-entry-only form pursuant to Section 2.02, 
they shall be issued in the form of a Master Note in substantially the form attached hereto as 
Exhibit A, to which there shall be attached the form of Commercial Paper Note as prescribed 
above, and it is hereby declared that the provisions of the Commercial Paper Note as prescribed 
above are incorporated into and shall be a part of the Master Note.  It is further provided that this 
Ordinance and the form of Commercial Paper Note prescribed above shall constitute the 
“underlying records” referred to in the Master Note.  Notwithstanding the provisions of 
Section 2.06, the Master Note shall be executed on behalf of the City by the manual signature of 
the Mayor or the Mayor Pro-Tem. 

Section 2.06.  Execution - Authentication.  The Commercial Paper Notes (other than 
the Master Note) shall be executed on behalf of the City by the Mayor and attested by the City 
Secretary, as provided in Section 2.05 hereof.  The signature of said officers on the Commercial 
Paper Notes may be manual or facsimile.  Commercial Paper Notes bearing the manual or 
facsimile signatures of individuals who are or were the proper officers of the City on the date of 
passage of this Ordinance shall be deemed to be duly executed on behalf of the City, 
notwithstanding that such individuals or either of them shall cease to hold such offices at the time 
of the initial sale and delivery of Commercial Paper Notes authorized to be issued hereunder and 
with respect to Commercial Paper Notes delivered in subsequent sales, exchanges and transfers, 
all as authorized and provided in the Public Security Procedures Act (Texas Government Code, 
Chapter 1201, as amended). 

No Commercial Paper Note shall be entitled to any right or benefit under this Ordinance, 
or be valid or obligatory for any purpose, unless there appears on such Commercial Paper Note 
a certificate of authentication executed by the Paying Agent/Registrar in the customary manner 
then prevailing for short term obligations such as the Commercial Paper Notes, or, in the case of 
the Master Note, the Paying Agent/Registrar has executed the Master Note, and the execution of 
any Commercial Paper Note (including the Master Note) by the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be 
conclusive evidence, and the only evidence, that such Commercial Paper Note has been duly 
certified or registered and delivered. 

Section 2.07.  Notes Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen.  If any Note shall become 
mutilated, the City, at the expense of the Holder of said Note, shall execute and deliver a new 
Note of like tenor and number in exchange and substitution for the Note so mutilated, but only 
upon surrender to the City of the Note so mutilated.  If any Note shall be lost, destroyed or stolen, 
evidence of such loss, destruction or theft may be submitted to the City and, if such evidence be 
satisfactory to it and indemnity satisfactory to it shall be given, the City, at the expense of the 
owner, shall execute and deliver a new Note of like tenor in lieu of and in substitution for the Note 
so lost, destroyed or stolen.  Neither the City nor the Paying Agent/Registrar shall be required to 
treat both the original Note and any duplicate Note as being outstanding for the purpose of 
determining the principal amount of Notes which may be issued hereunder, but both the original 
and the duplicate Note shall be treated as one and the same. 

Section 2.08.  Negotiability, Registration and Exchangeability.  The obligations issued 
hereunder shall be, and shall have all of the qualities and incidents of, a negotiable instrument 
under the laws of the State of Texas, and each successive holder, in accepting any of the 
obligations, shall be conclusively deemed to have agreed that such obligations shall be and have 
all of the qualities and incidents of a negotiable instrument under the laws of the State of Texas. 

The Registration Books relating to the registration, payment and transfer or exchange of 
the Commercial Paper Notes shall at all times be kept and maintained by the City at the 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 13 

Designated Office of the Registrar, and the Registrar shall obtain, record and maintain in the 
Registration Books the name and address of each registered owner of the Commercial Paper 
Notes, except for Commercial Paper Notes registered to bearer, issued under and pursuant to 
the provisions of this Ordinance, and the Registrar further shall provide such information to the 
City as described in Section 2.02 hereof.  Any Commercial Paper Note may, in accordance with 
its terms and the terms hereof, be transferred or exchanged for Commercial Paper Notes of like 
tenor and character and of other authorized denominations upon the Registration Books by the 
Holder in person or by his duly authorized agent, upon surrender of such Commercial Paper Note 
to the Registrar for cancellation, accompanied by a written instrument of transfer or request for 
exchange duly executed by the Holder or by his duly authorized agent, in form satisfactory to the 
Registrar. 

Upon surrender for transfer of any Commercial Paper Note at the Designated Office of the 
Registrar, the Registrar shall register and deliver, in the name of the designated transferee or 
transferees (or to bearer, as appropriate), one or more new Commercial Paper Notes executed 
on behalf of, and furnished by, the City of like tenor and character and of authorized 
denominations and having the same maturity, bearing interest at the same rate and being of a 
like aggregate principal amount as the Commercial Paper Note or Commercial Paper Notes 
surrendered for transfer. 

Furthermore, Commercial Paper Notes may be exchanged for other Commercial Paper 
Notes of like tenor and character and of authorized denominations and having the same maturity, 
bearing the same rate of interest and of like aggregate principal amount as the Commercial Paper 
Notes surrendered for exchange, upon surrender of the Commercial Paper Notes to be 
exchanged at the Designated Office of the Registrar.  Whenever any Commercial Paper Notes 
are so surrendered for exchange, the Registrar shall register and deliver new Commercial Paper 
Notes of like tenor and character as the Commercial Paper Notes exchanged, executed on behalf 
of, and furnished by, the City to the Holder requesting the exchange. 

The City and the Registrar may charge the Noteholder a sum sufficient to reimburse them 
for any expenses incurred in making any exchange or transfer after the first such exchange or 
transfer.  The Registrar or the City may also require payment from the Holder of a sum sufficient 
to cover any tax, fee or other governmental charge that may be imposed in relation thereto.  Such 
charges and expenses shall be paid before any such new Commercial Paper Note shall be 
delivered. 

New Commercial Paper Notes delivered upon any transfer or exchange shall be valid 
obligations of the City, evidencing the same debt as the Commercial Paper Notes surrendered, 
shall be secured by this Ordinance and shall be entitled to all of the security and benefits hereof 
to the same extent as the Commercial Paper Notes surrendered. 

The City reserves the right to change the above registration and transferability provisions 
of the Commercial Paper Notes at any time on or prior to the delivery thereof in order to comply 
with applicable laws and regulations of the United States in effect at the time of issuance thereof. 

Section 2.09.  Note Clearance Account.  There is hereby created and established with 
the Issuing and Paying Agent a separate account hereby designated as the “City of Garland, 
Texas General Obligation Note Clearance Account” (the “Note Clearance Account”).  By 2:00 
p.m. (New York City time) on each Payment Date, the City shall cause to be credited to the Note 
Clearance Account from proceeds received from the sale of Commercial Paper Notes or Bonds 
and, to the extent needed, Available Tax Revenues an amount necessary (i) first, to reimburse 
the Bank for Drawings under the Letter of Credit to pay the principal of and interest on the 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 14 

Commercial Paper Notes on such date, (ii) second, to repay any Bank Debt Service (to the extent 
not paid in clause (i)), and (iii) third, to pay any other Required Payments to the Bank.  Pending 
transfer to the Note Payment Fund for authorized purposes, Available Tax Revenues so credited 
to the Note Clearance Account may be invested at the direction of the Finance Director or the 
designee thereof in Eligible Investments. 

Section 2.10.  Note Payment Fund.  There is hereby created and established with the 
Issuing and Paying Agent a separate and special fund to be designated as the “City of Garland, 
Texas General Obligation Note Payment Interest and Sinking Fund” (the “Note Payment Fund”).  
Moneys transferred into the Note Payment Fund shall be used to pay principal of and interest on 
Commercial Paper Notes at the respective interest payment, maturity or redemption dates (if any) 
of each issue thereof as provided herein.  All proceeds of Drawings shall be deposited into the 
Note Payment Fund and shall be used to pay the principal of and interest on the Commercial 
Paper Notes then due and payable.  Pending the expenditure of moneys in the Note Payment 
Fund for authorized purposes, such moneys in the Note Payment Fund shall be held uninvested, 
and any moneys deposited in the Note Payment Fund and not used for such purposes shall be 
transferred to the Note Clearance Account and then returned to the Bank. 

Section 2.11.  Pledge; Payments.  The Notes are obligations of the City payable from 
and secured solely by the funds pledged therefor pursuant to this Ordinance.  The City agrees to 
make payments into the Note Payment Fund at such times and in such amounts as are necessary 
to provide for the full payment of the principal of and the interest on the Notes when due. 

To provide security for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes and any 
other amounts due the Bank under the Reimbursement Agreement as the same become due and 
payable, there is hereby granted a lien on and pledge of, subject only to the provisions of this 
Ordinance permitting the application thereof for purposes and on the terms and conditions set 
forth herein, (i) the proceeds from (a) the sale of Bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Authority for 
such purpose and (b) the sale of Notes (other than the Bank Note) issued pursuant to this 
Ordinance for such purpose, (ii) Drawings under the Letter of Credit and (iii) the Note Payment 
Fund and the Note Clearance Account (together with all funds and Eligible Investments credited 
thereto), and (iv) the amounts remaining on deposit in the Note Construction Account after the 
payment of all Project Costs, provided, however, amounts in the Note Payment Fund shall be 
used first to pay the principal of and interest, if any, then due on any Commercial Paper Notes 
(such payment made free and clear of the lien created hereunder), and amounts in the Note 
Clearance Account shall be used (z) first, to pay to the Bank (1) any amounts due to reimburse 
the Bank for a Drawing and (2) to pay any other Required Payments due to the Bank, and it is 
hereby resolved and declared that to the extent of funds remaining in the Note Clearance Account 
after payment in full of the amounts due Bank under the foregoing clause (z), the principal of and 
interest on Notes due but remaining unpaid following the application of all funds held in the Note 
Payment Fund and any other amounts due the Bank under the Reimbursement Agreement shall 
be and are hereby equally and ratably secured by and payable from a lien on and pledge of such 
funds remaining in the Note Construction Account, the Note Payment Fund and the Note 
Clearance Account.. 

During each Fiscal Year while any of the Commercial Paper Notes are outstanding and 
unpaid, the City shall timely transfer from the Note Clearance Account such amounts as shall be 
necessary to pay or reimburse the Bank for all amounts described in Section 2.09 when due.  The 
City does hereby levy and shall assess and collect an ad valorem tax in each Fiscal Year at a 
rate sufficient to generate an amount which, together with the projected Available Tax Revenues 
budgeted for such Fiscal Year and the amount then on deposit in the Note Clearance Account, 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 15 

shall be necessary to pay the Maximum Interest Payable on the Commercial Paper Notes 
projected to come due in that Fiscal Year.  Ad valorem taxes so assessed and collected shall be 
deposited to the credit of the Note Clearance Account. 

Additionally, to provide security for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Bank 
Note and other amounts due under the Reimbursement Agreement as the same shall become 
due and payable, the City Council agrees that if a Drawing is made under the Letter of Credit and 
the City incurs an obligation to pay principal of and interest on the Bank Note as a result of the 
Drawing having been made, during each year while the Bank Note is outstanding and unpaid, the 
City Council shall compute and ascertain the rate and amount of ad valorem tax, based upon the 
latest approved tax rolls of the City, with full allowances being made for tax delinquencies and 
costs of tax collections, which will be sufficient to raise and produce the money required to pay 
the interest on the Bank Note as such interest comes due, and to provide a sinking fund to pay 
the principal (including sinking fund redemptions of principal) of the Bank Note as such principal 
matures, but never less than 2% of the original principal amount of the Bank Note as a sinking 
fund each year.  Said rate and amount of ad valorem tax is hereby ordered to be levied and is 
hereby levied against all taxable property in the City for each year while the Bank Note is 
outstanding and unpaid, and said ad valorem tax shall be assessed and collected each such year 
and deposited to the credit of the Note Clearance Account.  Said ad valorem taxes necessary to 
pay the interest on and principal (including sinking fund redemptions of principal) of the Bank 
Note, as such interest comes due, and as such principal matures or comes due, are hereby 
pledged for such purpose, within the limitations prescribed by law. 

Unless the Bank Note is paid from the proceeds of Commercial Paper Notes or Bonds 
issued for such purposes, or amounts available in the Note Payment Fund, all as described above, 
such payments are to be made from ad valorem taxes on deposit in the Note Clearance Account. 

Section 2.12.  Note Construction Account.  There is hereby created and established on 
the books of the City a separate account hereby designated as the “City of Garland, Texas 
General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021 Note Construction Account” (the “Note 
Construction Account”).  Moneys deposited in the Note Construction Account shall remain therein 
until from time to time expended to pay for Project Costs, and shall not be used for any other 
purposes whatsoever, except as otherwise provided below, and pending such expenditure, 
moneys in the Note Construction Account may be invested at the direction of the Finance Director 
or the designee thereof in Eligible Investments. 

Any amounts remaining in the Note Construction Account after the payment of all Project 
Costs shall be paid into the Note Clearance Account and used first for the payment of any 
amounts due on any Bank Note that has been issued to evidence the repayment of an Drawing 
and second to the payment of such maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes coming due at such 
times as may be selected by an Authorized Representative.  In the event no Commercial Paper 
Notes are outstanding and there are no unreimbursed Drawings or other amounts owed the Bank 
under the Reimbursement Agreement, any amounts in the Note Construction Account not 
anticipated to be needed to pay Project Costs shall be transferred to the general fund of the City 
and may be used for any lawful purpose not inconsistent with the Bond Authority of the City 
authorizing the issuance of obligations secured by ad valorem taxes. 

Section 2.13.  Cancellation.  All Commercial Paper Notes which at maturity are 
surrendered to the Paying Agent/Registrar for the collection of the principal of and interest thereon 
or are surrendered for transfer or exchange pursuant to the provisions hereof shall, upon payment 
or issuance of new Commercial Paper Notes, be canceled by the Paying Agent/Registrar, and 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 16 

the Paying Agent/Registrar forthwith shall transmit to the City a certificate identifying such 
Commercial Paper Notes and certifying that such Commercial Paper Notes have been duly 
canceled and destroyed. 

Section 2.14.  Fiscal and Other Agents.  In furtherance of the purposes of this 
Ordinance, the Finance Director of the City is hereby authorized from time to time to appoint and 
provide for the payment of such additional fiscal, paying or other agents or trustees as it may 
deem necessary or appropriate in connection with the Notes. 

Section 2.15.  Reimbursement Agreement.  The Reimbursement Agreement, 
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, with such changes as approved by any 
Authorized Representative, is hereby approved, and shall be entered into with the Bank.  The 
form of the Bank Note substantially in the form contained in the Reimbursement Agreement is 
approved with the interest rate payable thereon to be determined as set forth therein.  Any 
Authorized Representative is hereby authorized to approve all final changes and execute and 
deliver the Reimbursement Agreement, and the City Secretary is authorized to attest the 
Reimbursement Agreement.  Execution of the Reimbursement Agreement by the Authorized 
Representative shall evidence the approval of such changes 

Section 2.16.  Funds Secured.  Moneys in all Funds created under this Ordinance, to the 
extent not invested as permitted hereunder, shall be secured in the manner prescribed by law for 
securing funds of the City. 

ARTICLE 3 
 

ISSUE AND SALE OF NOTES 

Section 3.01.  Issuance and Sale of Commercial Paper Notes. 

(a) The Commercial Paper Notes shall be completed and delivered by the Issuing and 
Paying Agent in accordance with telephonic, computer or written instructions of an Authorized 
Representative and in the manner specified below and in the Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement.  To the extent such instructions are not written, they shall be confirmed in writing by 
an Authorized Representative within 24 hours.  Said instructions shall specify such principal 
amounts, dates of issue, maturities, rates of discount or interest, or the formula or method of 
calculating interest and the basis upon which it is to be computed, and other terms and conditions 
which are hereby authorized and permitted to be fixed by an Authorized Representative at the 
time of sale of the Commercial Paper Notes.  Such instructions shall include the purchase price 
of the Commercial Paper Notes, and a request that the Issuing and Paying Agent authenticate 
such Commercial Paper Notes by countersignature of its authorized officer or employee and 
deliver them to the named purchaser or purchasers thereof upon receipt of payment in 
accordance with the custom then prevailing in the New York financial market in regard to such 
Commercial Paper Notes.  The rules of the New York Clearinghouse shall apply thereto.  Such 
instructions shall also contain provisions representing that all action on the part of the City 
necessary for the valid issuance of the Commercial Paper Notes then to be issued has been 
taken, that all provisions of Texas and federal law necessary for the valid issuance of such 
Commercial Paper Notes with provision for interest exemption from federal income taxation have 
been complied with and that such Commercial Paper Notes in the hands of the Holders thereof 
will be valid and enforceable obligations of the City according to their terms, subject to the exercise 
of judicial discretion in accordance with general principles of equity and bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 17 

enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable and that, based upon the advice of Bond Counsel, 
the stated interest on the Commercial Paper Notes is exempt from federal income taxation.  Such 
instructions shall also certify that: 

(i) no Event of Default under Section 5.01 hereof or Event of Default under 
Article ___ of the Reimbursement Agreement has occurred and is continuing as of the 
date of such Commercial Paper Note and that the Issuing and Paying Agent has not 
received a [Notice of No Issuance] or a [Final Drawing Notice] (as such terms are defined 
in the Reimbursement Agreement); 

(ii) (A) each project to be financed with the proceeds of the Commercial Paper 
Notes will constitute an Eligible Project and (B) the aggregate principal amount of Bonds 
and Commercial Paper Notes issued or incurred by the City to finance such project does 
not exceed the amount identified by an Authorized Representative as available under the 
Bond Authority to finance such project as an Eligible Project; 

(iii) the City is in compliance with the covenants set forth in Article IV hereof 
as of the date of such instructions; 

(iv) the City has been advised by Bond Counsel that the proposed expenditure 
of the proceeds of such Commercial Paper Notes for such projects and refunding, as 
described by the City, will not cause the City to be in violation of its covenants set forth in 
Section 4.06 hereof; and 

(v) the sum of the interest payable on such Commercial Paper Note will not 
exceed a yield (calculated on the principal amount of the Commercial Paper Note on the 
basis of a 365- or 366-day year, as applicable, and actual number of days elapsed) to the 
maturity date of such Commercial Paper Note in excess of the Maximum Interest Rate. 

(b) The Bank Note shall be or has been delivered to the Bank and indebtedness may 
be incurred thereunder in accordance with the terms of the Reimbursement Agreement. 

(c) In making the determination described in Section 3.01(a)(ii) hereof, the City shall 
aggregate the then outstanding Bonds and Notes issued or incurred to finance any such Eligible 
Project. 

Section 3.02.  Proceeds of Sale of Commercial Paper Notes.  The proceeds of the sale 
of any Commercial Paper Notes (net of all expenses and costs of sale and issuance) shall be 
applied for any or all of the following purposes as directed by an Authorized Representative: 

(i) Proceeds to be used for the payment and redemption of outstanding 
Commercial Paper Notes at or before maturity and for the repayment of any Drawing 
(evidenced by the Bank Note) or other amounts due under the Reimbursement 
Agreement; and 

(ii) Proceeds not used as provided in subparagraph (i) above shall be 
transferred and deposited to the Note Construction Account and used and applied in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.12 hereof. 

Section 3.03.  Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement.  The Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement by and between the City and the Issuing and Paying Agent relating to the Commercial 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 18 

Paper Notes, in substantially the form attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit C, is hereby 
approved, with such changes as approved by any Authorized Representative, and such 
Authorized Representative is hereby authorized and directed to approve all final changes and 
execute the same for and on behalf of the City and the City Secretary is authorized to attest such 
signature.  Execution of the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement by the Authorized 
Representative shall evidence the approval of such changes.  Any Authorized Representative is 
hereby authorized to enter into any supplemental agreements with the Issuing and Paying Agent 
or with any successor Issuing and Paying Agent in order to implement the functions of the Issuing 
and Paying Agent or Registrar with respect to the Commercial Paper Notes. 

Section 3.04.  Dealer Agreement.  The Dealer Agreement to be entered into with the 
Dealer pertaining to the sale, from time to time, of Commercial Paper Notes or the purchase of 
Commercial Paper Notes from the City, all for a fee to be set forth in the Dealer Agreement, in 
substantially the form attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit D, with such changes as approved 
by the Authorized Representative, is hereby approved, and any Authorized Representative is 
hereby authorized and directed to approve all final changes and execute the same for and on 
behalf of the City and the City Secretary is authorized to attest such signature.  Execution of the 
Dealer Agreement by the Authorized Representative shall evidence the approval of such 
changes.   

ARTICLE 4 
 

COVENANTS OF THE CITY 

Section 4.01.  Limitation on Issuance.  Unless this Ordinance is amended and modified 
by the City Council in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.01 hereof, the City covenants 
that there will not be issued and outstanding at any time under this Ordinance more than 
$50,000,000 in principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes.  For purposes of this Section 4.01, 
any portion of outstanding Commercial Paper Notes to be paid on a particular day from moneys 
on deposit in the Note Payment Fund and available proceeds of Notes or Bonds shall not be 
considered outstanding on such day.  In addition to the foregoing, (i) no Commercial Paper Notes 
shall be issued for any project other than an Eligible Project, (ii) no Commercial Paper Notes shall 
be issued if the Commercial Paper Notes then outstanding after such issuance would exceed the 
Authorized but Unissued Amount of Commercial Paper Notes, and (iii) no Commercial Paper 
Notes shall be issued for an Eligible Project if the aggregate principal amount of Bonds and 
Commercial Paper Notes issued or incurred by the City (including the Commercial Paper Notes 
to be issued) to finance such Eligible Project exceeds the amount available under the Bond 
Authority to finance such Eligible Project. 

Additionally, the City covenants and agrees that the total principal amount of all 
Commercial Paper Notes and Drawings outstanding at any one time (after taking into account 
any Commercial Paper Notes to be paid on such proposed issuance date) and the total amount 
of interest accrued or to accrue thereon shall not exceed the Stated Amount (as defined in the 
Reimbursement Agreement). 

The City further agrees that, anything in this Ordinance to the contrary notwithstanding, 
on any date the sum of (i) the principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes then outstanding, 
(ii) the principal amount of any Drawings then outstanding and (iii) the principal amount of Bonds 
issued pursuant to Bond Authority, shall not exceed the Bond Authority. 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 19 

Furthermore, the City covenants and agrees that with regard to principal and interest due 
on any Notes, it shall only make a Drawing to pay principal and interest due on Commercial Paper 
Notes (and not interest due on any obligation evidenced by the Bank Note).  Any Drawing to pay 
the interest due on Commercial Paper Notes shall be repaid to the Bank on the same business 
day from revenues received from the sale of Commercial Paper Notes, Available Tax Revenues 
or other available funds of the City sufficient to make such payment. 

Section 4.02.  RESERVED.   

Section 4.03.  Maintenance of Available Credit Facilities Requirement.  The City 
agrees and covenants that at all times up to and including the Maximum Maturity Date, unless 
the Commercial Paper Notes are no longer outstanding, it will maintain credit or liquidity facilities 
with banks in amounts such that, assuming that all then outstanding Commercial Paper Notes 
were to become due and payable immediately, the amount available for borrowing under such 
facilities would be sufficient at that time to pay principal of and interest on all Commercial Paper 
Notes.  No Commercial Paper Note shall be issued if, after giving effect to the issuance thereof 
and, if, after the immediate application of the proceeds thereof to retire other Commercial Paper 
Notes supported by the credit or liquidity facility, the aggregate principal amount of all Commercial 
Paper Notes secured by or payable from the credit or liquidity facility would exceed the amount 
of the commitment thereunder.  The availability for borrowing of such amounts under such 
facilities may be subject to reasonable conditions precedent, including but not limited to, 
bankruptcy of the City.  In furtherance of the foregoing covenant, the City agrees that it will not 
issue any Commercial Paper Notes or make any borrowing which will result in a violation of such 
covenant, will not amend the Reimbursement Agreement in a manner which will cause a violation 
of such covenant and, if and to the extent necessary to maintain compliance with such covenant, 
will arrange for new credit or liquidity facilities prior to, or contemporaneously with, the expiration 
of the Reimbursement Agreement.  The City shall provide written notice to the Dealer, the Issuing 
and Paying Agent and DTC (if the Commercial Paper Notes are then outstanding in book-entry-
only form) at least ten (10) Business Days prior to any change in the bank providing a credit facility 
or a liquidity facility in respect to the Commercial Paper Notes.  Prior to the effective date of the 
new credit or liquidity facility, all Commercial Paper Notes issued that are supported by the then 
existing Reimbursement Agreement shall have matured or appropriate provisions have been 
made for their payment at maturity.  

Section 4.04.  Bonds.  The City hereby acknowledges that the Commercial Paper Notes 
are being issued as bond anticipation notes, and therefore the City in good faith shall endeavor 
to sell a sufficient principal amount of the Bonds authorized by the Bond Authority in order to have 
funds available, together with other moneys available therefor, to pay the Notes and the interest 
thereon, or any renewals thereof, or any obligations created under the Reimbursement 
Agreement, as the same shall become due, and such Bonds may be issued as refunding bonds 
issued pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of Texas Government Code, Chapter 
1207, as amended.  Because such refunding bonds have not yet been issued, and thus the 
applicable interest rates cannot at this time be determined, the assumed applicable interest rate 
is the maximum rate allowed by law, 15.00% per annum. 

Section 4.05.  Punctual Payment.  The City will punctually pay or cause to be paid the 
principal of and interest, if any, on the Notes and other Required Payments (but only from the 
sources pledged herein), in conformity with the Notes, this Ordinance and the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 20 

Section 4.06.  Covenants to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status. 

(a) Definitions.  When used in this Section, the following terms shall have the following 
meanings: 

“Closing Date” means the date on which the Commercial Paper Notes are first 
authenticated and delivered to the initial purchasers against payment therefor. 

“Code”  means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended by all legislation, 
if any, effective on or before the Closing Date. 

“Computation Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the 
Regulations. 

“Gross Proceeds” means any proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(b) of the 
Regulations, and any replacement proceeds as defined in Section 1.148-1(c) of the 
Regulations, of the Commercial Paper Notes. 

“Investment” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the Regulations. 

“Nonpurpose Investment” means any investment property, as defined in Section 
148(b) of the Code, in which Gross Proceeds of the Commercial Paper Notes are invested 
and which is not acquired to carry out the governmental purposes of the Commercial 
Paper Notes. 

“Rebate Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-1(b) of the 
Regulations. 

“Regulations” means any proposed, temporary, or final Income Tax Regulations 
issued pursuant to Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Code, and 103 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1954, which are applicable to the Commercial Paper Notes.  Any 
reference to any specific Regulation shall also mean, as appropriate, any proposed, 
temporary or final Income Tax Regulation designed to supplement, amend or replace the 
specific Regulation referenced. 

“Yield” of 

(1) any Investment has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-5 of the 
Regulations; and 

(2) the Commercial Paper Notes has the meaning set forth in Section 1.148-4 
of the Regulations. 

(b) Not to Cause Interest to Become Taxable.  The City shall not use, permit the use 
of, or omit to use Gross Proceeds or any other amounts (or any property the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of which is to be financed directly or indirectly with Gross Proceeds) 
in a manner which if made or omitted, respectively, would cause the interest on any Commercial 
Paper Note to become includable in the gross income, as defined in Section 61 of the Code, of 
the owner thereof for federal income tax purposes.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
unless and until the City receives a written opinion of counsel nationally recognized in the field of 
municipal bond law to the effect that failure to comply with such covenant will not adversely affect 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 21 

the exemption from federal income tax of the interest on any Commercial Paper Note, the City 
shall comply with each of the specific covenants in this Section. 

(c) No Private Use or Private Payments.  Except as permitted by Section 141 of the 
Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall at all times prior to the last Stated 
Maturity of Commercial Paper Notes: 

(1) exclusively own, operate and possess all property the acquisition, 
construction or improvement of which is to be financed or refinanced directly or indirectly 
with Gross Proceeds of the Commercial Paper Notes and not use or permit the use of 
such Gross Proceeds (including all contractual arrangements with terms different than 
those applicable to the general public) or any property acquired, constructed or improved 
with such Gross Proceeds in any activity carried on by any person or entity (including the 
United States or any agency, department and instrumentality thereof) other than a state 
or local government, unless such use is solely as a member of the general public; and 

(2) not directly or indirectly impose or accept any charge or other payment by 
any person or entity who is treated as using Gross Proceeds of the Commercial Paper 
Notes or any property the acquisition, construction or improvement of which is to be 
financed or refinanced directly or indirectly with such Gross Proceeds other than taxes of 
general application within the City or interest earned on investments acquired with such 
Gross Proceeds pending application for their intended purposes. 

(d) No Private Loan.  Except to the extent permitted by Section 141 of the Code and 
the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not use Gross Proceeds of the Commercial 
Paper Notes to make or finance loans to any person or entity other than a state or local 
government.  For purposes of the foregoing covenant, such Gross Proceeds are considered to 
be “loaned” to a person or entity if: (1) property acquired, constructed or improved with such Gross 
Proceeds is sold or leased to such person or entity in a transaction which creates a debt for federal 
income tax purposes; (2) capacity in or service from such property is committed to such person 
or entity under a take-or-pay, output or similar contract or arrangement; or (3) indirect benefits, or 
burdens and benefits of ownership, of such Gross Proceeds or any property acquired, constructed 
or improved with such Gross Proceeds are otherwise transferred in a transaction which is the 
economic equivalent of a loan. 

(e) Not to Invest at Higher Yield.  Except to the extent permitted by Section 148 of the 
Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not at any time prior to the final 
Stated Maturity of the Commercial Paper Notes directly or indirectly invest Gross Proceeds in any 
Investment (or use Gross Proceeds to replace money so invested), if as a result of such 
investment the Yield from the Closing Date of all Investments acquired with Gross Proceeds (or 
with money replaced thereby), whether then held or previously disposed of, exceeds the Yield of 
the Commercial Paper Notes. 

(f) Not Federally Guaranteed.  Except to the extent permitted by Section 149(b) of the 
Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder, the City shall not take or omit to take any action 
which would cause the Commercial Paper Notes to be federally guaranteed within the meaning 
of Section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder. 

(g) Information Report.  The City shall timely file the information required by Section 
149(e) of the Code with the Secretary of the Treasury on Form 8038-G or such other form and in 
such place as the Secretary may prescribe. 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 22 

(h) Rebate of Arbitrage Profits.  Except to the extent otherwise provided in Section 
148(f) of the Code and the Regulations and rulings thereunder: 

(1) The City shall account for all Gross Proceeds (including all receipts, 
expenditures and investments thereof) on its books of account separately and apart from 
all other funds (and receipts, expenditures and investments thereof) and shall retain all 
records of accounting for at least six (6) years after the day on which the last outstanding 
Commercial Paper Note is discharged.  However, to the extent permitted by law, the City 
may commingle Gross Proceeds of the Commercial Paper Notes with other money of the 
City, provided that the City separately accounts for each receipt and expenditure of Gross 
Proceeds and the obligations acquired therewith. 

(2) Not less frequently than each Computation Date, the City shall calculate 
the Rebate Amount in accordance with rules set forth in Section 148(f) of the Code and 
the Regulations and rulings thereunder.  The City shall maintain such calculations with its 
official transcript of proceedings relating to the issuance of the Commercial Paper Notes 
until six (6) years after the final Computation Date. 

(3) The City shall pay to the United States out of the Note Payment Fund or its 
general fund, as permitted by applicable Texas statute, regulation or opinion of the 
Attorney General of the State of Texas, the amount that when added to the future value 
of previous rebate payments made for the Commercial Paper Notes equals (i) in the case 
of a Final Computation Date as defined in Section 1.148-3(e)(2) of the Regulations, one 
hundred percent (100%) of the Rebate Amount on such date; and (ii) in the case of any 
other Computation Date, ninety percent (90%) of the Rebate Amount on such date.  In all 
cases, the rebate payments shall be made at the times, in the installments, to the place 
and in the manner as is or may be required by Section 148(f) of the Code and the 
Regulations and rulings thereunder, and shall be accompanied by Form 8038-T or such 
other forms and information as is or may be required by Section 148(f) of the Code and 
the Regulations and rulings thereunder. 

(4) The City shall exercise reasonable diligence to assure that no errors are 
made in the calculations and payments required by paragraphs (2) and (3), and if an error 
is made, to discover and promptly correct such error within a reasonable amount of time 
thereafter (and in all events within one hundred eighty (180) days after discovery of the 
error), including payment to the United States of any additional Rebate Amount owed to 
it, interest thereon, and any penalty imposed under Section 1.148-3(h) of the Regulations. 

(i) Elections.  The City hereby directs and authorizes the Mayor, Mayor Pro Tem, City 
Manager, any Assistant City Manager and Finance Director, either or any combination of them, 
to make elections permitted or required pursuant to the provisions of the Code or the Regulations, 
as they deem necessary or appropriate in connection with the Commercial Paper Notes, in the 
Certificate as to Tax Exemption or similar or other appropriate certificate, form or document. 

Section 4.07.  Allocation of, and Limitation on, Expenditures for Eligible Projects.  
The City covenants to account for on its books and records the expenditure of proceeds from the 
sale of the Commercial Paper Notes and any investment earnings thereon to be used for Eligible 
Projects by allocating proceeds to expenditures within 18 months of the later of the date that 
(a) the expenditure on a Eligible Project is made or (b) each Eligible Project is completed.  The 
foregoing notwithstanding, the City shall not expend such proceeds or investment earnings more 
than sixty (60) days after the later of (a) the fifth anniversary of the date of delivery of the 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 23 

Commercial Paper Notes or (b) the date the Commercial Paper Notes are retired, unless the City 
obtains an opinion of Bond Counsel substantially to the effect that such expenditure will not 
adversely affect the tax-exempt status of the Commercial Paper Notes.  For purposes of this 
Section, the City shall not be obligated to comply with this covenant if it obtains an opinion of 
Bond Counsel to the effect that such failure to comply will not adversely affect the excludability of 
the interest on the Commercial Paper Notes from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

Section 4.08.  Disposition of Eligible Projects.  The City covenants that the property 
constituting an Eligible Project will not be sold or otherwise disposed in a transaction resulting in 
the receipt by the City of cash or other compensation, unless the City obtains an opinion of Bond 
Counsel substantially to the effect that such sale or other disposition will not adversely affect the 
tax-exempt status of the Commercial Paper Notes.  For purposes of this Section, the portion of 
the property comprising personal property and disposed of in the ordinary course of business 
shall not be treated as a transaction resulting in the receipt of cash or other compensation.  For 
purposes of this Section, the City shall not be obligated to comply with this covenant if it obtains 
an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that such failure to comply will not adversely affect the 
excludability of the interest from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 

Section 4.09.  Taxable Obligations.  The provisions of Section 4.06 of this Ordinance 
notwithstanding, the City reserves the ability to issue other commercial paper notes (but not the 
Commercial Paper Notes authorized under this Ordinance) in a manner such that such obligations 
are not obligations described in Section 103(a) of the Code or are obligations which constitute 
“private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 141(b) of the Code.  If such other 
commercial paper notes are so issued, an Authorized Representative is authorized to designate 
such other commercial paper notes in such a manner as to distinguish such other commercial 
paper notes from those Commercial Paper Notes that are issued as obligations described in 
Section 103(a) of the Code. 

Section 4.10.  Supplemental Ordinances.  The City will not adopt any supplemental 
ordinances to this Ordinance without the written consent of the Bank. 

Section 4.11.  Opinion of Bond Counsel.  The City shall cause the legal opinion of Bond 
Counsel as to the validity of the Notes and as to the exemption of interest on the Commercial 
Paper Notes from federal income taxation to be furnished to any Noteholder without cost.  In 
addition, a copy of said opinion may be printed on or attached to each of the Commercial Paper 
Notes. 

Section 4.12.  Ongoing Continuing Disclosure Covenant.  To the extent required by 
the provisions of Rule 15c2-12, promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 
the City agrees to enter into an agreement to file financial information and operating data with 
respect to the Commercial Paper Notes with such entities as are designated pursuant to the terms 
of said Rule 15c2-12.  Under the provisions of said Rule 15c2-12, as they exist on the date this 
Ordinance is adopted, the City is exempted from complying with the undertaking described in the 
first sentence of this Section 4.12, as the Notes are to be issued in the form of Commercial Paper 
Notes. 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 24 

ARTICLE 5 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF NOTEHOLDERS 

Section 5.01.  Events of Default.  If one or more of the following events shall occur: 

(a) if default shall be made in the due and punctual payment of any installment of 
principal of any Commercial Paper Note when and as the same shall become due and payable, 
whether at maturity as therein expressed, by declaration or otherwise; 

(b) if the City shall fail to make due and punctual payment of any installment of interest 
on any Commercial Paper Note when and as such interest installment shall become due and 
payable and such failure shall continue for five (5) Business Days; 

(c) if the City shall fail to make due and punctual payment of the principal of the Bank 
Note (or interest accrued thereon) when due, or such principal and interest shall become due and 
payable prior to the maturity thereof under the Bank Note and the Reimbursement Agreement; 

(d) if default shall be made by the City in the performance or observance of any other 
of the covenants, agreements or conditions on its part contained in this Ordinance or in the 
Commercial Paper Notes, and such default shall continue for a period of sixty (60) days after 
written notice thereof; provided, however, that if such default cannot be cured within the sixty (60) 
day period but corrective action to cure such default is commenced and diligently pursued until 
the default is corrected, no such Event of Default shall be deemed to have occurred; or 

(e) if there shall occur the dissolution (without a successor being named to assume 
the rights and obligations) or liquidation of the City or the filing by the City of a voluntary petition 
in bankruptcy, or adjudication of the City as a bankrupt, or assignment by the City for the benefit 
of its creditors, or the entry by the City into an agreement of composition with its creditors, or the 
approval by a court of competent jurisdiction with its creditors, or the approval by a court of 
competent jurisdiction of a petition applicable to the City in any proceeding for its reorganization 
instituted under the provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, as amended, or under any similar act in 
any jurisdiction which may now be in effect or hereafter enacted; then such-event as described 
above shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this Ordinance. 

Section 5.02.  Suits at Law or in Equity and Mandamus.  In case one or more Events 
of Default shall occur, then and in every such case the Holder of any Note at the time outstanding 
shall be entitled to proceed to protect and enforce such Holder’s rights by such appropriate judicial 
proceeding as such Holder shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any such right, either 
by suit in equity or by action at law, whether for the specific performance of any covenant or 
agreement contained in this Ordinance, or in aid of the exercise of any power granted in this 
Ordinance, or to enforce any other legal or equitable right vested in the Holders of Notes by this 
Ordinance or the Notes or by law.  The provisions of this Ordinance shall be a contract with each 
and every Holder of Notes and the duties of the City shall be enforceable by any Noteholder by 
mandamus or other appropriate suit, action or proceeding in any court of competent jurisdiction. 

Section 5.03.  Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 
to the Holders of Notes is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and every such remedy 
shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or 
hereafter existing, at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise, and may be exercised at any time 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 25 

or from time to time, and as often as may be necessary, by the Holder of any one or more of the 
Notes. 

ARTICLE 6 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 6.01.  Amendments or Modifications Without Consent of Holders of Notes.  
This Ordinance and the rights and obligations of the City and of the Holders of Notes may be 
modified or amended at any time by a supplemental ordinance, without notice to or the consent 
of any Noteholders, but only to the extent permitted by law, and, subject to the rights of the Holders 
of the Notes, only for any one or more of the following purposes: 

(a) to add to the covenants and agreements of the City contained in this Ordinance, 
other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed, or to surrender any right or power 
herein reserved to or conferred upon the City; 

(b) to cure any ambiguity or inconsistency, or to cure or correct any defective provision 
contained in this Ordinance, upon receipt by the City of an approving opinion of Bond Counsel 
selected by the City, that the same is needed for such purpose, and will more clearly express the 
intent of this Ordinance; or 

(c) to supplement the security for the Notes, replace or provide additional credit 
facilities, make such changes, modifications or amendments as may be necessary or desirable in 
order to obtain the approval of this Ordinance by the Attorney General of Texas, or to obtain or 
maintain the granting of a rating on the Notes by a nationally recognized municipal bond rating 
agency, or change the form of the Notes, or to amend the definition of “Eligible Projects” to include 
obligations approved by the voters of the City at any election held for such purpose after May 19, 
2019, or make such other changes in the provisions hereof as the City may deem necessary or 
desirable and which shall not materially adversely affect the interests of the Holders of the Notes; 
provided, however, that in the event the City desires to amend the definition of "Eligible Projects" 
to include obligations approved by voters of the City at an election held for such purpose after 
May 4, 2019, and the proceedings related to such additional election have not theretofore been 
approved by the Attorney General of Texas, then the City shall submit such election proceedings 
to the Attorney General and obtain the Attorney General's approval of such proceedings prior to 
issuing any Notes to pay the costs of additional Eligible Projects added as a result of such election; 
and 

provided further, however, that nothing contained herein shall permit or be construed to permit 
the amendment of the terms and conditions of this Ordinance or of the Commercial Paper Notes 
so as to: 

(i) make any change in the maturity of any of the outstanding Commercial 
Paper Notes; 

(ii) reduce the rate of interest borne by any of the outstanding Commercial 
Paper Notes; 

(iii) reduce the amount of the principal payable on any of the outstanding 
Commercial Paper Notes; 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 26 

(iv) modify the terms of payment of principal of or interest on the outstanding 
Commercial Paper Notes, or impose any conditions with respect to such payment; 

(v) affect the rights of the Holders of less than all of the outstanding 
Commercial Paper Notes; or 

(vi) reduce or restrict the pledge made pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof for 
payment of the Commercial Paper Notes; 

and provided further that no such change, modification or amendment shall be made in this 
Ordinance or become valid and effective without the written consent of the Bank. 

Section 6.02.  Additional Actions.  Any Authorized Representative, the City Secretary, 
and the other officers of the City, each are hereby authorized and directed, jointly and severally, 
to do any and all things and to execute and deliver any and all documents which they may deem 
necessary or advisable in order to consummate the issuance, sale and delivery of the Notes and 
otherwise to effectuate the purposes of this Ordinance, the Reimbursement Agreement, the 
Dealer Agreement, the Offering Memorandum and the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement.  
Specifically, by the adoption of this Ordinance, the City Council hereby authorizes the payment of 
the fees and expenses incurred and to be paid by the City in connection with the issuance, sale 
and delivery of the Notes and the execution and delivery of the Reimbursement Agreement, the 
Dealer Agreement and the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement.  In addition, the Mayor, City 
Secretary, City Manager, and Finance Director, any one or more of said persons, are hereby 
authorized and directed to approve any technical changes or corrections to this Ordinance or to 
any of the instruments authorized and approved by this Ordinance necessary in order to (i) correct 
any ambiguity or mistake or properly or more completely document the transactions contemplated 
and approved by this Ordinance and as described in the Offering Memorandum, (ii) obtain a rating 
from any of the national bond rating agencies, or (iii) obtain the approval of the Reimbursement 
Agreement and this Ordinance by the Attorney General’s office. 

Section 6.03.  Ordinance to Constitute a Contract; Equal Security.  In consideration 
of the acceptance of the Notes, the issuance of which is authorized hereunder, by those who shall 
hold the same from time to time, this Ordinance shall be deemed to be and shall constitute a 
contract between the City and the Holders from time to time of the Notes and the pledge made in 
this Ordinance by the City, and the covenants and agreements set forth in this Ordinance to be 
performed by the City shall be for the equal and proportionate benefit, security and protection of 
all Holders of the Notes, without preference, priority or distinction as to security or otherwise of 
any of the Notes authorized hereunder over any of the others by reason of time of issuance, sale 
or maturity thereof or otherwise for any cause whatsoever, except as expressly provided in or 
permitted by this Ordinance or, with respect to the Bank Note, the Reimbursement Agreement. 

Section 6.04.  Severability of Invalid Provisions.  If any one or more of the covenants, 
agreements or provisions herein contained shall be held contrary to any express provisions of law 
or contrary to the policy of express law, though not expressly prohibited, or against public policy, 
or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, then such covenants, agreements or provisions 
shall be null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining covenants, agreements 
or provisions and shall in no way affect the validity of any of the other provisions hereof or of the 
Notes issued hereunder. 

Section 6.05.  Payment and Performance on Business Days.  Whenever under the 
terms of this Ordinance or the Commercial Paper Notes, the performance date of any provision 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 27 

hereof or thereof, including the payment of principal of or interest on the Commercial Paper Notes, 
shall occur on a day other than a Business Day, then the performance thereof, including the 
payment of principal of and interest on the Commercial Paper Notes, need not be made on such 
day but may be performed or paid, as the case may be, on the next succeeding Business Day 
with the same force and effect as if made on the date of performance or payment. 

Section 6.06.  Defeasance.  If, when all or any portion of the Commercial Paper Notes 
shall have become due and payable in accordance with their terms or otherwise as provided in 
this Ordinance, the entire principal and interest so due and payable upon said Commercial Paper 
Notes shall be paid, or if at or prior to the date said Commercial Paper Notes have become due 
and payable, (i) sufficient moneys, or (ii) direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the 
United States of America, the principal of and interest on which will provide sufficient moneys for 
such payment, or (iii) noncallable and non-prepayable obligations of an agency or instrumentality 
of the United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed or 
insured by the agency or instrumentality and are rated as to investment quality by a nationally 
recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, the principal of and interest 
on which will provide sufficient moneys for such payment, or (iv) noncallable and non-prepayable 
obligations of a state or an agency or a county, municipality, or other political subdivision of a 
state that have been refunded and that are rated as to investment quality by a nationally 
recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, the principal of and interest 
on which will provide sufficient moneys for such payment, shall be held in trust by the Issuing and 
Paying Agent, and provision shall also be made for paying all other sums payable hereunder by 
the City with respect to said Commercial Paper Notes and all other amounts payable under the 
Reimbursement Agreement, the pledge herein created with respect to said Commercial Paper 
Notes and the amounts payable under the Reimbursement Agreement shall thereupon cease, 
terminate and become discharged, and said Commercial Paper Notes shall no longer be deemed 
outstanding for purposes of this Ordinance, and all the provisions of this Ordinance relating to the 
Commercial Paper Notes, including all covenants, agreements, liens and pledges made herein 
for the benefit thereof, shall be deemed duly discharged, satisfied and released. 

Section 6.07.  Limitation of Benefits with Respect to the Ordinance.  With the 
exception of the rights or benefits herein expressly conferred, nothing expressed or contained 
herein or implied from the provisions of this Ordinance or the Notes is intended or should be 
construed to confer upon or give to any person other than the City, the Holders of the Notes, the 
Issuing and Paying Agent and the parties to the Dealer Agreement and the Reimbursement 
Agreement, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of or in respect to 
this Ordinance or any covenant, condition, stipulation, promise, agreement or provision herein 
contained.  This Ordinance and all of the covenants, conditions, stipulations, promises, 
agreements and provisions hereof are intended to be and shall be for and inure to the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the City, the Holders of the Notes, the Issuing and Paying Agent and the 
parties to the Dealer Agreement and the Reimbursement Agreement as herein and therein 
provided. 

Section 6.08.  Use of Offering Memorandum.  The use by the Dealer of the Offering 
Memorandum, prepared on behalf of the City in connection with the sale of Commercial Paper 
Notes, and the distribution of the Offering Memorandum by the Dealer, is approved, subject to 
the approval thereof by an Authorized Representative.  The Offering Memorandum shall be 
updated (i) annually on any date which is not more than six (6) months after the end of the City’s 
Fiscal Year and (ii) as often as necessary to reflect information regarding the City and its finances 
which, in the reasonable judgment of the Dealer, may be material to investors in the Notes.  Any 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 28 

Authorized Representative is hereby authorized to provide to the Dealer such information as may 
be reasonably requested by the Dealer. 

Section 6.09.  Approval of Attorney General.  No Notes herein authorized to be issued 
shall be sold or delivered by an Authorized Representative until the Attorney General of the State 
of Texas shall have approved this Ordinance, the Reimbursement Agreement, and other 
agreements and proceedings as may be required in connection therewith, all as is required by 
the Act. 

Section 6.10.  Incorporation of Recitals.  The Issuer hereby finds that the statements 
set forth in the recitals of this Ordinance are true and correct, and the Issuer hereby incorporates 
such recitals as a part of this Ordinance. 

Section 6.11.  Repeal of 2015 Note Ordinance.  The City has authorized the Notes to 
replace the City’s previous general obligation commercial paper program, which program has 
been evidenced by the issuance of the City of Garland, Texas General Obligation Commercial 
Paper Notes, Series 2015 (the “Series 2015 Notes”) which were authorized by Ordinance 6758, 
passed and adopted by the City Council of the City on February 17, 2015 (“Ordinance 6758”).  
Upon the passage and adoption of this Ordinance and the effective termination of the letter of 
credit issued under the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2015, 
between the City and Citibank, N.A., Ordinance 6758 shall be and is hereby repealed and the 
authority of the City to issue any new Series 2015 Notes shall be terminated. 

Section 6.12.  Severability.  If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof 
to any circumstance shall be held to be invalid, the remainder of this Ordinance and the application 
thereof to other circumstances shall nevertheless be valid, and this governing body hereby 
declares that this Ordinance would have been enacted without such invalid provision. 

Section 6.13.  Public Meeting.  It is officially found, determined, and declared that the 
meeting at which this Ordinance is adopted was open to the public, and public notice of the time, 
place, and subject matter of the public business to be considered at such meeting, including this 
Ordinance, was given, all as required by Texas Government Code, Chapter 551, as amended. 

Section 6.14.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its passage on the date shown below and it is so ordained. 

 

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally] 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 S-1 

PASSED AND ADOPTED, this April 20, 2021. 

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
 

Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 

City Secretary 

 

(City Seal) 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 A-1 

Exhibit A 
 

MASTER NOTE 

 

 

 



The Depository Trust Company 
A subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation 

MUNICIPAL COMMERCIAL PAPER – TECP MASTER NOTE 

       ____________________________________ 
(Date of Issuance) 

______________________________________________ (“Issuer”), for value received, hereby promises 

to pay to Cede & Co., as nominee of the Depository Trust Company, or to registered assigns (i) the 

principal amount, together with unpaid accrued interest thereon, if any, on the maturity date of each 

obligation identified on the records of Issuer (the “Underlying Records”) as being evidenced by this 

Master Note, which Underlying Records are maintained by _____________________________________ 

(“Paying Agent”); (ii) interest on the principal amount of each such obligation that is payable in 

installments, if any, on the due date of each installment, as specified on the Underlying Records; and (iii) 

the principal amount of each such obligation that is payable in installments, if any, on the due date of each 

installment, as specified on the Underlying Records. Interest shall be calculated at the rate and according 

to the calculation convention specified on the Underlying Records.  Payments shall be made soley from 

the sources stated on the Underlying Records by wire transfer to the registered owner from Paying Agent 

without the necessity of presentation and surrender of this Master Note. 

 REFERENCE IS HEREBY MADE TO THE FURTHER PROVISIONS OF THIS MASTER NOTE 

SET FORTH ON THE REVERSE HEREOF. 

 This Master Note is a valid and binding obligation of Issuer. 

Not Valid Unless Countersigned for Authentication by Paying Agent. 

__________________________________   ________________________________ 
             (Paying Agent)       (Issuer) 

By:  __________________________________ By:  ________________________________ 
         (Authorized Countersignature)         (Authorized Signature) 

City of Garland, Texas

U.S. Bank National Association

U.S. Bank National Association City of Garland, Texas



(Reverse Side of Note) 

At the request of the registered owner, Issuer shall promptly issue and deliver one or more 
separate note certificates evidencing each obligation evidenced by this Master Note.  As of the 
date any such note certificate or certificates are issued, the obligations which are evidenced 
thereby shall no longer be evidenced by this Master Note. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns, and transfers unto

______________________________________________________________
(Name, Address, and Taxpayer Identification Number of Assignee) 

the Master Note and all rights thereunder, hereby irrevocably constituting and appointing 

___________________________ attorney to transfer said Master Note on the books of issuer with full 

power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:       ______________________________________ 
Signature(s) Guaranteed         (Signature) 

Notice:  The signature on this assignment must 
correspond with the name as written upon the face of 
this Master Note, in every particular, without 
alteration or enlargement or any change whatsoever. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________

Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of the Depository Trust Company, a 
New York corporation (“DTC”), to issuer or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange or payment, 
and any certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such other name as is requested by 
an authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to Cede & Co. or to such other entity as is 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE 
HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the 
registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an interest herein. 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 B-1 

Exhibit B 
 

REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 



McDermott Draft 3/31/21 

 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

 

LETTER OF CREDIT REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

By and among 

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 

and 

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, 

Relating to 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Dated as of April __, 2021 

 

 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

i 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

ARTICLE I  DEFINITIONS ...........................................................................................................1 

Section 1.01. Definitions ...............................................................................................1 
Section 1.02. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference ...............................13 
Section 1.03. Accounting Matters ...............................................................................14 
Section 1.04. Computation of Time Periods ...............................................................14 
Section 1.05. New York City Time Presumption .......................................................14 
Section 1.06. Relation to Other Documents ................................................................14 
Section 1.07. Interpretation .........................................................................................14 

ARTICLE II  REIMBURSEMENT, FEES AND PAYMENT PROVISIONS .............................14 

Section 2.01. Reimbursement of Drawings ................................................................15 
Section 2.02. Default Interest ......................................................................................16 
Section 2.03. Payment of Interest Amounts ................................................................16 
Section 2.04. Prepayment ............................................................................................17 
Section 2.05. Fees .......................................................................................................18 
Section 2.06. Costs, Expenses and Taxes ...................................................................19 
Section 2.07. Change in Law ......................................................................................20 
Section 2.08. Payments Generally ..............................................................................21 
Section 2.09. Maintenance of Accounts ......................................................................22 
Section 2.10. Cure .......................................................................................................22 
Section 2.11. Pledge ....................................................................................................22 

ARTICLE III  CONDITIONS PRECEDENT ...............................................................................22 

Section 3.01. Closing Conditions ................................................................................22 
Section 3.02. Conditions Precedent to Amortization ..................................................25 

ARTICLE IV  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES .....................................................26 

Section 4.01. Representations of the City ...................................................................26 

ARTICLE V  AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS .............................................................................32 

Section 5.01. Compliance With Laws and Regulations ..............................................32 
Section 5.02. Reporting Requirements........................................................................32 
Section 5.03. Notices ..................................................................................................34 
Section 5.04. Further Assurances ................................................................................36 
Section 5.05. Right of Entry; Communication with Accountant ................................36 
Section 5.06. Payment of Obligations; Removal of Liens ..........................................37 
Section 5.07. Incorporation of Covenants ...................................................................37 
Section 5.08. Reserved ................................................................................................38 
Section 5.09. Alternate Letter of Credit ......................................................................38 
Section 5.10. Disclosure to Participants ......................................................................38 
Section 5.11. Maintenance of Existence .....................................................................38 
Section 5.12. Use of Proceeds .....................................................................................38 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(contd.) 

Page 

ii 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Section 5.13. Issuance of Notes ..................................................................................39 
Section 5.14. Reserved ................................................................................................39 
Section 5.15. CUSIP Numbers ....................................................................................39 
Section 5.16. Rating Maintenance ..............................................................................39 
Section 5.17. Rating Reduction ................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Section 5.18. Budget ...................................................................................................39 
Section 5.19. [Reserved.] ............................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Section 5.20. [Reserved.] ............................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 
Section 5.21. Dealer ....................................................................................................39 
Section 5.22. Compliance with Contracts ...................................................................40 

ARTICLE VI  NEGATIVE COVENANTS AND COVENANTS ANCILLARY THERETO ....40 

Section 6.01. Amendments .........................................................................................40 
Section 6.02. Preservation of Existence, Etc...............................................................40 
Section 6.03. Certain Information ...............................................................................41 
Section 6.04. Paying Agent; Dealer ............................................................................41 
Section 6.05. Accounting Methods; Fiscal Year; Entity Classification ......................41 
Section 6.06. Exempt Status .......................................................................................41 
Section 6.07. Defeasance ............................................................................................41 
Section 6.08. Reserved ................................................................................................41 
Section 6.09. Reserved ................................................................................................41 
Section 6.10. No Sovereign Immunity; Waiver of Related Defenses .........................41 
Section 6.11. Material Contracts .................................................................................42 
Section 6.12. Incurrence of Bonds and Contracts .......................................................42 
Section 6.13. Reserved ................................................................................................42 
Section 6.14. Investment of Funds ..............................................................................42 
Section 6.15. Hedge Agreements ................................................................................42 
Section 6.16. Transactions with Affiliates ..................................................................42 
Section 6.17. Investment Policy ..................................................................................43 
Section 6.18. [Reserved] .............................................................................................43 
Section 6.19. Tax Covenants .......................................................................................43 

ARTICLE VII  EVENTS OF DEFAULT .....................................................................................44 

Section 7.01. Events of Default...................................................................................44 
Section 7.02. Rights and Remedies .............................................................................46 
Section 7.03. No Waiver; Remedies ...........................................................................48 

ARTICLE VIII  NATURE OF OBLIGATIONS; INDEMNIFICATION ....................................48 

Section 8.01. Obligations Absolute .............................................................................48 
Section 8.02. Continuing Obligation ...........................................................................49 
Section 8.03. Liability of the Bank .............................................................................49 
Section 8.04. Indemnification; Taxes, Etc ..................................................................50 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(contd.) 

Page 

iii 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Section 8.05. Facsimile Documents ............................................................................51 

ARTICLE IX  TRANSFER, REDUCTION OR REINSTATEMENT OF  LETTER OF 
CREDIT .........................................................................................................................................51 

Section 9.01. Transfer, Reduction and Reinstatement ................................................51 

ARTICLE X  MISCELLANEOUS ...............................................................................................52 

Section 10.01. Right of Setoff .......................................................................................52 
Section 10.02. Amendments and Waivers; Remedies Cumulative ...............................52 
Section 10.03. Counterparts ..........................................................................................52 
Section 10.04. Notices ..................................................................................................52 
Section 10.05. Severability ...........................................................................................54 
Section 10.06. GOVERNING LAW .............................................................................54 
Section 10.07. Service of Process .................................................................................54 
Section 10.08. Headings ................................................................................................54 
Section 10.09. Participations .........................................................................................55 
Section 10.10. Successors and Assigns .........................................................................55 
Section 10.11. Complete and Controlling Agreement ..................................................55 
Section 10.12. Waiver of Rule of Construction ............................................................55 
Section 10.13. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL .................................................................55 
Section 10.14. Payments Set Aside ...............................................................................56 
Section 10.15. Usury .....................................................................................................56 
Section 10.16. Extension ...............................................................................................56 
Section 10.17. Electronic Signature; Electronically Signed Document ........................57 
Section 10.18. No Advisory or Fiduciary Responsibility .............................................57 

 

EXHIBIT A FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT 
EXHIBIT B FORM OF PAYING AGENT LETTER 
EXHIBIT C COMPLIANCE WITH LAW DISCLOSURES 
EXHIBIT D COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 
EXHIBIT E BANK NOTE 

 

 



 

 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

LETTER OF CREDIT REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

This LETTER OF CREDIT REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) 
dated as of April __, 2021, by and among CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS, a political subdivision 
and home rule municipal corporation of the State of Texas (the “City”), and BARCLAYS BANK 
PLC, a Public Limited Company under the laws of England and Wales (the “Bank”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the City intends to issue its Commercial Paper Notes designated as the 
General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021 (the “Notes”), in the aggregate principal 
amount of up to $50,000,000 for purposes permitted by the CP Ordinance (as hereinafter defined); 

WHEREAS, the 2021 Notes will be issued pursuant to the Texas Government Code, 
Chapter 1371, as amended (the “Act”), and the Ordinance adopted by the City on April __, 2021, 
as the same may be amended and supplemented (the “CP Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, in order to secure the payment of the 2021 Notes as the same shall become 
due and payable pursuant to the provisions of the CP Ordinance, the City has requested that the 
Bank issue in favor of the Paying Agent (as hereinafter defined), for the account of the City and 
for the benefit of the holders from time to time of the 2021 Notes, an irrevocable transferable letter 
of credit (the “Letter of Credit”) in the stated amount of $55,547,946, which letter of credit is to 
be issued with such terms as are required to provide funds for the payment of the principal amount 
of and interest on the 2021 Notes when the same shall become due and payable by the City pursuant 
to the CP Ordinance; 

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Bank to issue the Series 2021 Letter of Credit, the City 
has agreed to reimburse the Bank for all amounts advanced by it under the Series 2021 Letter of 
Credit and to pay interest on such amounts as well as certain costs, fees and expenses, all as 
provided herein; and  

WHEREAS, the Bank has agreed to issue the Letter of Credit pursuant to the terms hereof 
and the parties have entered into this Agreement in order to provide for the issuance of the Letter 
of Credit and the other matters set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable 
consideration, including the covenants, terms and conditions hereinafter contained, and to induce 
the Bank to issue the Letter of Credit, the Bank and the City agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.01. Definitions.  In addition to terms defined at other places in this Agreement, 
the following defined terms are used throughout this Agreement with the following meanings: 



 

2 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Accountant” means an independent certified public accountant or a firm of independent 
certified public accountants, selected by the City and satisfactory to the Bank. 

“Act” has the meaning as set forth in the recitals hereof. 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly 
controlling or controlled by or under common control with such Person.  For purposes of this 
definition, “control” (including “controlled by” and “under common control with”), when used 
with respect to any specified Person, means the power to direct the management and policies of 
such Person, directly or indirectly, whether through the ownership of voting rights, membership, 
the power to appoint members, trustees or directors, by contract or otherwise.  Without limiting 
the foregoing, the definition of “Affiliate” of any Person shall include any subsidiary of such 
Person. 

“Agreement” means this Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement, including such 
amendments, modifications or supplements permitted pursuant to the terms hereof 

“Alternate Letter of Credit” means any replacement Letter of Credit meeting the 
requirements of an Alternate Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 4.03 of the CP Ordinance. 

“Amortization End Date” means, with respect to any Principal Drawing, the first to occur 
of (i) the date which is sixty (60) months after the date of the earliest outstanding Principal 
Drawing, (ii) an Early Expiration Date, and (iii) the date upon which (A) an Event of Default shall 
occur or (B) any date during the Term Amortization upon which any representation or warranty of 
the City made in this Agreement or in any certificate or document delivered in connection with 
this Agreement shall no longer be accurate and complete, as deemed made on and as of such date. 

“Applicable Law(s)” means, collectively, the Constitutions of the United States and the 
State of Texas, all applicable common law and principles of equity and all international, foreign, 
federal, state and local laws, statutes, treaties, codes, acts, rules, regulations, guidelines, 
ordinances, resolutions, orders, judgments, decrees, injunctions, and administrative or judicial 
precedents or authorities, including the interpretation or administration thereof by any 
Governmental Authority charged with the enforcement, interpretation or administration thereof, 
and all administrative orders, directed duties, requests, licenses, certificates, authorizations and 
permits of, and agreements with, any Governmental Authority, in each case whether or not having 
the force of law, that are applicable now or are applicable at any time hereafter to (a) the City or 
(b) the assets, property, operations or facilities (including the Project) of the City or (c) the 
Transactions. 

“Authorized Representative” means in the case of the City, the Mayor, the City Manager, 
any Assistant City Manager, the Finance Director or such other person or persons of the City 
designated in writing by the City Manager to act as an Authorized Representative. 

“Authorized Denominations” means denominations of $100,000 or integral multiples of 
$1,000 in excess thereof. 

“Bank” means Barclays Bank PLC, a Public Limited Company under the laws of England 
and Wales, and its successors and assigns. 



 

3 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Bank Agreement” means any credit agreement, letter of credit, reimbursement agreement, 
direct purchase agreement, bond purchase agreement, liquidity agreement or other agreement or 
instrument (or any amendment, supplement or modification thereto) entered into by the City with 
any Person, directly or indirectly, or otherwise consented to by the City, under which any Person 
or Persons undertakes to make loans, extend credit or liquidity to the City or to purchase securities 
pursuant to such agreement. 

“Bank Debt Service” means the principal of and interest on the Bank Note and includes all 
obligations of the City to reimburse the Bank for Drawings under the Letter of Credit and all 
obligations to repay the Term Amortization and, in each case, all interest accruing thereon. 

“Bank Disclosure” means the information provided by the Bank and included in the 
Offering Memorandum as Exhibit B under the caption “Certain Information Regarding Barclays 
Bank PLC” 

“Bank Note” means the note executed by the City in favor of the Bank in the form of Exhibit 
E hereto properly completed, including any renewals, amendments, modifications and 
supplements thereto permitted by the terms hereof. 

“Bank Rate” means, for each date of determination, a fluctuating rate per annum equal to 
(i) for any day commencing on the date such Drawing is made up to and including the sixtieth 
(60th) day next succeeding the date such Drawing was made, the Base Rate from time to time in 
effect, (ii) for any day commencing on the sixty-first (61st) day next succeeding the date such 
Drawing was made up to and including the one hundred eightieth (180th) day next succeeding the 
date such Drawing was made, the sum of the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus one percent 
(1.00%) (provided that if the Base Rate for any day is 150% of the yield on 30-year United States 
Treasury Bonds, the Bank Rate for such day shall be the Base Rate) and (iii) for any day 
commencing on the one hundred eighty-first (181st) day next succeeding the date of such Drawing 
and at all times thereafter, the Base Rate from time to time in effect plus two percent (2.00%) 
(provided that if the Base Rate for any day is 150% of the yield on 30-year United States Treasury 
Bonds, the Bank Rate for such day shall be the Base Rate); provided, however from and after the 
earlier of (i) the date amounts are owed hereunder but are not paid when due and (ii) the occurrence 
of an Event of Default (and without any notice given with respect thereto) and during the 
continuance of such Event of Default, the “Bank Rate” shall mean the Default Rate. 

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a fluctuating rate of interest per annum equal to the 
greatest of (i) the Prime Rate in effect at such time plus two and one-half percent (2.50%), (ii) the 
Federal Funds Rate in effect at such time plus two and one-half percent (2.50%), (iii) one hundred 
fifty percent (150%) of the yield on the 30-year U.S. Treasury Bond in effect from time to time, 
and (iv) eight percent (8.00%).  

“Bonds” means the Bonds, as such term is defined in the CP Ordinance, the payments of 
which are secured by the Pledge. 

“Book Entry Notes” means the Notes so long as the book entry system with the Securities 
Depository is used for determining beneficial ownership of the Notes. 



 

4 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Business Day” means any day other than (a) a day on which banks located in any of the 
cities in which the principal office of any of the Paying Agent, the Dealer or the Bank is located 
are required or authorized by law to close, (b) a day on which the New York Stock Exchange is 
closed, or (c) a day on which the payment system of the Federal Reserve System is not operational.  
For purposes of this definition, the Bank’s principal office shall be that office of the Bank at which 
Drawings are to be presented under the Letter of Credit and the Paying Agent’s principal office 
shall be its respective office as designated in the Paying Agent Agreement. 

“Capital Lease Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay 
rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or 
personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and 
accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount of 
such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP. 

“City” means the City of Garland, a political subdivision and home rule municipal 
corporation of the State of Texas. 

“Closing Date” means April __, 2021, or such later date on which this Agreement is fully 
executed and delivered. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or any successor provision 
or provisions thereto or any successor Federal tax code, and any regulations (including temporary 
and proposed regulations relating to the matters governed by this Agreement) thereunder or under 
any such provision or successor Federal tax code. 

“Commercial Paper Fund” has the meaning assigned to such term in the CP Ordinance. 

“Commercial Paper Program” means the commercial paper program established pursuant 
to the CP Ordinance by the City. 

“Contracts” means this Agreement and any amendments and supplements hereto, all 
contracts, (including Hedge Agreements) of the City authorized and executed by the City, the 
installment payments under which are secured by the Pledge. 

“Counsel” means an attorney, or firm of attorneys, who is, or who are, duly admitted to 
practice law before the highest court of any state. 

“CP Ordinance” has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals hereto. 

“Date of Determination” means the second London Banking Day prior to the first day of 
each calendar month for which a Bank Rate is determined. 

“Date of Issuance” means April __, 2021, on which date the Bank will issue the Letter of 
Credit. 

“Dealer” means Barclays Capital Inc. or any replacement firm which is acting as a dealer 
in the Notes and is appointed as such by the City. 



 

5 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Dealer Agreement” means the Dealer Agreement, dated as of [April 1, 2021] executed 
and delivered by the City and the Dealer pursuant to the CP Ordinance, including a Dealer 
Agreement with a substitute Dealer entered into in accordance with the CP Ordinance and with 
the prior written consent of the Bank. 

“Debt” means with respect to any Person, all items that would be classified as a liability in 
accordance with GAAP, including, without limitation, (a) indebtedness or liability for borrowed 
money including amounts drawn under a letter of credit or other credit facility, or amounts 
advanced under a commercial paper program, or for the deferred purchase price of property or 
services (including trade obligations); (b) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person; (c) current 
liabilities in respect of unfunded benefits under employee benefit, retirement or pension plans; (d) 
obligations issued for the account of any other Person; (e) all obligations arising under acceptance 
facilities; (f) all Guarantees and other contingent obligations to purchase, to provide funds for 
payment, to supply funds to invest in any other Person or otherwise to assure a creditor against 
loss; (g) obligations secured by full faith and credit or by any mortgage, lien, pledge, security 
interest or other charge or encumbrance on property, whether or not the obligations have been 
assumed; (h) all unfunded amounts under a loan agreement, letter of credit, or other credit facility 
for which such Person would be liable, if such amounts were advanced under the credit facility; 
(i) obligations of such Person under Bonds or Contracts; (j) all amounts required to be paid by 
such Person as a guaranteed payment to partners or members or as a preferred or special dividend, 
including any mandatory redemption of shares or interests; and, in each case, whether such Person 
is liable contingently or otherwise, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, or in respect of which 
obligations such Person otherwise assures a creditor against loss and (k) obligations under Bank 
Agreements. 

“Debtor Relief Laws” means the Bankruptcy Code of the United States, and all other 
liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, 
rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, or similar debtor relief laws and 
regulations of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and 
affecting the rights of creditors generally. 

“Default” means the occurrence of any event or the existence of any condition which 
constitutes an Event of Default or the occurrence of any event or the existence of any condition 
which with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default. 

“Default Premium” means a per annum rate equal to four hundred basis points (4.00%). 

“Default Rate” means a per annum rate of interest equal to the Base Rate plus the Default 
Premium. 

“Drawing” means a Drawing under the Letter of Credit to pay amounts due with respect to 
Notes at maturity. 

“Early Expiration Date” means any occurrence of the Expiration Date described in any of 
subparts (b), (c) or (d) of the definition of “Expiration Date” in Paragraph 1 of the Letter of Credit. 



 

6 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Event of Default,” in relation to this Agreement, shall have the meaning assigned to such 
term in Article VII, and in relation to any Related Document, shall have the meaning set forth 
therein. 

“Event of Insolvency” means, with respect to any Person, the occurrence of one or more of 
the following events: 

(a) the Person shall (i) commence a voluntary case or other proceeding seeking 
liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, dissolution, 
composition or other similar relief with respect to itself or its indebtedness under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other similar law for the relief of debtors now or 
hereafter in effect or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian 
or other similar official for it or a substantial part of its property, (ii) consent to any such 
relief or to the appointment of or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary 
case or other proceeding commenced against it, (iii) make a general assignment for the 
benefit of creditors, (iv) fail generally to pay or admit in writing its inability to pay its 
indebtedness as it becomes due, or (v) take (through an authorized officer or representative) 
any official action to authorize any of the foregoing; or 

(b) any of the following shall occur with respect to such Person: (i) an 
involuntary case or other proceeding shall be commenced against such Person seeking 
liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its debts under any 
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect or seeking the 
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any 
substantial part of its property and either (A) such Person shall consent in writing to such 
action or (B) such case shall not be dismissed within sixty (60) days, (ii) an order for relief 
shall be entered against such Person under the federal bankruptcy laws as now or hereafter 
in effect or pursuant to any other State or federal laws concerning insolvency or of similar 
purpose, (iii) a final and non-appealable debt moratorium, debt adjustment, debt 
restructuring or comparable extraordinary restriction with respect to the payment of 
principal or interest on the indebtedness of such Person shall be declared or imposed 
pursuant to a finding or ruling by such Person, the United States of America, the State, any 
instrumentality thereof or any other Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction 
over such Person, or (iv) the issuance, under the laws of any state or under the laws of the 
United States of America, of an order of rehabilitation, liquidation or dissolution of such 
Person; or 

(c) the commencement by or against such Person of a case or other proceeding 
seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to the such Person or its 
debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar state or federal law now or 
hereafter in effect, including, without limitation, the appointment of a trustee, receiver, 
liquidator, custodian or other similar official for such Person or any substantial part of its 
property or there shall be appointed or designated with respect to it, an entity such as an 
organization, board, commission, authority, agency or body to monitor, review, oversee, 
recommend or declare a financial emergency or similar state of financial distress with 
respect to it or there shall be declared or introduced or proposed for consideration by it or 



 

7 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

by any legislative or regulatory body with competent jurisdiction over it, the existence of 
a state of financial emergency or similar state of financial distress in respect of it. 

“Excess Interest Amount” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.03(b). 

“Excluded Notes” means (i) any Notes issued after the Expiration Date or maturing after 
the fifth calendar day prior to the Stated Expiration Date, (ii) any Notes issued after the Bank gives 
a No Issuance Notice or a Final Drawing Notice, and prior to the Bank giving written notice that 
such No Issuance Notice or Final Drawing Notice, as applicable, is rescinded and (iii) any Notes 
issued in a principal amount in excess of the principal amount of Notes maturing on the date such 
Notes are issued after the Bank gives a Restricted Issuance Notice and prior to the Bank giving 
written notice that such Restricted Issuance Notice is rescinded. 

“Expiration Date” has the meaning given to such term in Paragraph 1 of the Letter of 
Credit. 

“Exposure” means, for any date with respect to a Person and any Hedge Agreement, the 
amount of any Settlement Amount that would be payable by such Person if such Hedge Agreement 
were terminated as of such date.  Exposure shall be determined in accordance with the standard 
methods of calculating such Exposure under similar arrangements as prescribed from time to time 
by the Bank, taking into account the methodology for calculating amounts due upon early 
termination as set forth in the related Hedge Agreement and the notional principal amount, term 
and other relevant provisions thereof. 

“Facility Fee” has the meaning assigned to that term in the Fee Letter. 

“Federal Funds Rate” means, for any day a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal to 
the weighted average (rounded to the next higher 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on overnight Federal 
funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds 
brokers, as published for such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, for the next preceding 
Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for 
any day which is a Business Day, the average (rounded to the next higher 1/100 of 1%) of the 
quotations for such day on such transactions received by the Bank from three Federal funds brokers 
of recognized standing selected by the Bank.  Each determination of the Federal Funds Rate by 
the Bank shall be conclusive and binding on the City. 

“Fee Letter” means the Fee Letter, dated the date hereof, by and between the City and the 
Bank. 

“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the City ending on September 30 of each calendar 
year. 

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc., or any successor thereto. 

“Fund(s)” means, collectively, all of the Funds (other than the Rebate Fund) established 
under and pursuant to the CP Ordinance. 



 

8 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“GAAP” means accounting principles generally accepted and consistently applied to 
governmental entities in the United States, as set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the 
Accounting Principles Board, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the 
Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other entity as may be 
in general use by significant segments of the accounting profession as in effect on the date hereof. 

“Governmental Approvals” means an authorization, consent, approval, permit, license, 
certificate of occupancy or an exemption of, a registration or filing with, or a report to, any 
Governmental Authority. 

“Governmental Authority” means any national, supra national, state or local government 
(whether domestic or foreign), any political subdivision thereof or any other governmental, quasi-
governmental, judicial, administrative, public or statutory instrumentality, authority, body, agency, 
department, commission, bureau, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, 
legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory, fiscal, monetary or administrative powers or functions of 
or pertaining to government, or any arbitrator, mediator or other Person with authority to bind a 
party at law. 

“Guarantee” of or by any Person (the “guarantor”) means any obligation, contingent or 
otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Debt 
or other obligation of any other Person (the “primary obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or 
indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay 
(or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Debt or other obligation or to 
purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, 
(b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of 
such Debt or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital 
or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the 
primary obligor to pay such Debt or other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any 
letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Debt or obligation; provided, that the 
term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of 
business. 

“Hedge Agreement” means any rate swap transaction, basis swap, forward rate transaction, 
commodity swap, commodity option, equity or equity index swap, equity or equity index option, 
bond option, interest rate option, foreign exchange transaction, cap transaction, floor transaction, 
collar transaction, currency swap transaction, cross-currency rate swap transaction, currency 
option, total return swap, credit default swap or any other similar transaction (including any option 
with respect to any of these transactions) and any other agreement or option involving, or settled 
by reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or 
securities, or economic, financial or pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing 
risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions. 

“Interest Drawing” means that portion of each Drawing used to pay interest accrued on 
Notes at maturity. 

“Interest Payment Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.03. 



 

9 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Investment Policy” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 6.17. 

“Letter of Credit” means the Irrevocable Letter of Credit issued by the Bank on the Date 
of Issuance, including such amendments, modifications or supplements permitted pursuant to its 
terms and the terms hereof, substantially in the form of Exhibit A hereto. 

“Lien” on or with respect to any asset means any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, 
charge, security interest, hypothecation, assignment, deposit arrangement or encumbrance of any 
kind in respect of such asset, whether or not filed, recorded or otherwise perfected or effective 
under applicable law, as well as the interest of a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale 
agreement, capital or finance lease or other title retention agreement relating to such asset and, in 
the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such 
securities. 

“Margin Stock” shall have the meaning assigned to that term in Regulation U promulgated 
by the Board of Directors of the Federal Reserve System, as now and hereafter from time to time 
in effect. 

“Material Adverse Change” means the occurrence of any event or change which, in the 
sole reasonable discretion of the Bank, results in a material and adverse change in the business, 
condition (financial or otherwise), operations or prospects of the City, or which in the sole 
reasonable discretion of the Bank materially and adversely affects (a) the enforceability of this 
Agreement or any of the other Related Documents, (b) the ability of the City to perform its 
obligations hereunder or thereunder or (c) the rights of, or benefits or remedies available to, the 
Bank under the CP Ordinance, this Agreement or any other Related Document. 

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a materially adverse effect upon the City’s business, 
assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), results of operations or business prospects of 
the City, (b) with respect to this Agreement or any of the other Related Documents or any of the 
City’s obligations arising under this Agreement or any of the other Related Documents, an adverse 
effect upon the binding nature, validity or enforceability of such agreement or obligation, (c) an 
adverse effect on the exclusion of interest on the Notes from gross income for purposes of federal 
income taxation or (d) a materially adverse effect (i) on the authority or ability of the City to 
perform any of its obligations under any Related Document or the ability of the City to complete 
the Transactions or (ii) on the rights of or remedies of the Bank hereunder or under the other 
Related Documents or on the Pledge or on the priority of the Liens created thereby 

“Material Contract(s)” means each any contract, agreement or other arrangement, now 
existing or hereafter entered into and relating to the operations of the City, the termination, 
cancellation, non renewal, impairment, invalidation or modification of which could (i) in any 
manner impair or adversely affect the ability of the City to pay any Bonds, Contracts or other Debt 
or (ii) otherwise have a Material Adverse Effect on the City. 

“Material Litigation” shall have the meaning assigned in Section 4.01(f). 

“Maximum Bank Interest Rate” means the Maximum Lawful Rate. 



 

10 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Maximum Lawful Rate” means the respective maximum, non-usurious, lawful rate of 
interest that may be contracted for, charged or received in connection with the Required Payments 
under this Agreement, under Applicable Law presently in effect or, to the extent permitted by law, 
under Applicable Law that may hereafter be in effect and that allows a higher maximum and non-
usurious rate of interest than Applicable Law now allows. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or any successor thereto. 

“No Issuance Notice” shall have the meaning assigned in Section 7.02. 

“Note” and “Notes” means the City of Garland, Texas General Obligation Commercial 
Paper Notes, which shall be commercial paper notes having a maturity of not less than 7 days and 
not more than 270 days, and not expiring later than the Expiration Date, issued pursuant to and in 
accordance with the provisions of the CP Ordinance, and authenticated and delivered by the Paying 
Agent under and pursuant to the CP Ordinance. 

“Note Clearance Account” means the fund of that name established under the CP 
Ordinance and the Paying Agent Agreement. 

“Note CUSIP Number” means the CUSIP numbers assigned by Standard & Poor’s CUSIP 
Service to the Notes. 

“Obligor Rating” shall mean any rating by a Rating Agency on the long-term general 
obligation Debt of the City that is not guaranteed by any other Person or subject to any third-party 
credit enhancement. 

“Offering Memorandum” means the Offering Memorandum relating to the Notes 
(including the cover page and all summary statements, appendices and other materials included or 
incorporated by reference or attached thereto), as amended or supplemented and any other 
preliminary or final Offering Memorandum of the City or prospectus used with respect to the 
remarketing of the Notes or supplement to the Offering Memorandum. 

“Other Obligation” means any indenture, contract, mortgage, deed of trust, guaranty, note 
or agreement (other than this Agreement), other contractual restriction, lease, instrument, 
certificate of incorporation, charter or by law. 

“Other Taxes” means any and all present or future stamp or documentary taxes or any other 
excise or property taxes, charges or similar levies arising from any payment made hereunder or 
from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, the Letter of Credit 
or this Agreement. 

“Outstanding Notes” means, as of the time in question, all Notes authenticated and 
delivered under the CP Ordinance and outstanding thereunder. 

“Owner” or “Holder” means the registered owner of a Note or, if the Notes are Book Entry 
Notes, the beneficial owner of such Note and has the meaning assigned to the term “Noteowner” 
in the CP Ordinance. 



 

11 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Participant(s)” means any bank(s) or other financial institution(s) which may purchase a 
participation interest from the Bank in the Letter of Credit, this Agreement and certain of the 
Related Documents pursuant to a participation agreement between the Bank and the Participant(s). 

“Paying Agent” means ____________ or any replacement entity which is acting as Paying 
Agent under the Paying Agent Agreement and any successor thereto as shall be appointed pursuant 
to the Paying Agent Agreement. 

“Paying Agent Agreement” means the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, dated as of 
[April 1, 2021], executed between the City and the Paying Agent relating to the Notes, as the same 
may be amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and 
hereof. 

“Paying Agent Letter” means the letter from the Paying Agent to the Bank, substantially in 
the form of Exhibit B. 

“Pension Plan” means any “employee pension benefit plan” which is maintained by the 
City or to which the City contributes or has an obligation to contribute, or has made contributions 
at any time during the immediately preceding six (6) plan years. 

“Permitted Investments” has the meaning assigned to “Eligible Investments” in the CP 
Ordinance. 

“Person” means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint venture, 
a trust, a business trust, a limited liability company or any other entity or organization, including 
a governmental or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality thereof. 

“Pledge” has the meaning assigned in Section 2.11 hereof and the pledge of the City 
provided under the CP Ordinance. 

“Prime Rate” means the rate established by the Bank, from time to time as its prime rate, 
with each change in the Prime Rate being effective from and including the date such change is 
publicly announced as being effective; provided, however, the Bank may lend to its customers at 
rates that are at, above or below the Prime Rate. 

 “Principal Drawing” means that portion of each Drawing used to pay the principal of 
Notes at maturity. 

“Principal Portion” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Letter of Credit. 

“Project” means any capital improvement funded from proceeds of the Notes and 
consistent with tax-exempt uses of such proceeds. 

“Rating Agency” means S&P, Moody’s, Fitch or any successor or additional rating agency 
that rates the Notes or Bonds at the written request of the City and with the written consent of the 
Bank. 



 

12 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Related Documents” means, collectively, this Agreement, the Letter of Credit, the Notes, 
the Bank Note, the Paying Agent Agreement, the CP Ordinance, the Dealer Agreement, the Tax 
Certificate, the Offering Memorandum and any exhibits, instruments or agreements relating 
thereto, as the same may be amended from time to time in accordance with their respective terms 
and the terms hereof. 

“Required Payments” means (a) all required payments in reimbursement of Drawings 
(including without limitation any Term Amortization) under the Letter of Credit for payment of 
the unpaid principal amount of, and accrued interest on, the Notes, (b) all required payments of 
interest under this Agreement at the Bank Rate, (c) all required payments of the Facility Fee, (d) 
all payments of principal and interest on the Bank Note and (e) all other amounts, charges, costs, 
fees (including reasonable attorneys’ fees as set forth), expenses and sums due the Bank under this 
Agreement, the Bank Note and the other Related Documents, whether in the form of a direct, 
reimbursement, or indemnity, payment obligation, and including all payment obligations of the 
City to the Bank, whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assumption), absolute or 
contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising and including interest and fees 
that accrue after the commencement by or against the City of any proceeding under any Debtor 
Relief Laws naming such Person as the debtor in such proceeding, regardless of whether such 
interest and fees are allowed claims in such proceeding. 

“Restricted Issuance Notice” means a notice given by the Bank pursuant to Section 7.02 in 
the form of Schedule II to the Letter of Credit. 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, or any successor thereto. 

“Sale Price” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04(b). 

“Securities Depository” means The Depository Trust Company or such other securities 
depository which may be designated by the City pursuant to the CP Ordinance, subject to the 
consent of the Bank, not to be unreasonably withheld. 

“Securities Depository Disclosure” means the disclosure provided by the Securities 
Depository and included in the Offering Memorandum under the caption “Book-Entry Only 
System”. 

“Settlement Amount” means, with respect to a Person and any Hedge Agreement, any 
amount payable by such Person under the terms of such Hedge Agreement in respect of, or 
intended to compensate the other party for, the value of such Hedge Agreement upon early 
termination thereof. 

“State” means the State of Texas. 

“Stated Amount” has the meaning given to such term in Paragraph 2 of the Letter of Credit. 

“Stated Expiration Date” has the meaning assigned to that term in subpart (a) of the 
definition of “Expiration Date.” 



 

13 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

“Tax Certificate” means the tax certificate executed and delivered by the City in connection 
with the initial issuance of Notes by the City. 

“Taxes” has the meaning assigned to that term in Section 2.06(b). 

“Term Amortization” means the amortization period the City is deemed to have requested 
the Bank to extend on and subject to the terms and conditions described in Section 2.01(b). 

“Termination Date” means the first to occur of any Expiration Date. 

“Termination Fee” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Fee Letter. 

“To the best knowledge of” (or any similar knowledge qualifier) means, when modifying a 
representation, warranty or other statement of any Person, that the fact or situation described 
therein is known by the Person (or, in the case of a Person other than a natural Person, known by 
an authorized representative of such Person) making the representation, warranty or other 
statement, or with the exercise of reasonable due diligence under the circumstances (in accordance 
with the standard of what a reasonably prudent Person in similar circumstances would have done) 
would have been known by the Person (or, in the case of a Person other than a natural Person, by 
such Person’s authorized representative). 

“Transactions” means the issuance, sale and delivery of the Notes by the City, the 
execution and delivery by the City of this Agreement and the other Related Documents, the 
performance by the City of its obligations (including payment obligations) hereunder and 
thereunder, the advance of the Drawings under the Letter of Credit and the use of the proceeds 
thereof. 

“Unfunded Pension Liability” means the excess of a Pension Plan’s benefit liabilities over 
the current value of that Pension Plan’s assets, determined in accordance with the assumptions 
used for funding the Pension Plan for the applicable plan year. 

“Verification Report” means, with respect to the deemed payment of the Notes pursuant to 
Section 6.06 of the CP Ordinance, a report of an Accountant verifying that the securities and cash, 
if any, deposited in connection with such deemed payment satisfy the requirements of the CP 
Ordinance. 

“Voluntary Termination” means any election by the City to terminate the Letter of Credit 
in connection with (i) an optional prepayment of all Outstanding Notes or (ii) the replacement of 
the Letter of Credit with an Alternate Letter of Credit. 

“Written” or “in writing” means any form of written communication, a communication by 
means of facsimile device and as described in Section 10.16. 

Section 1.02. Incorporation of Certain Definitions by Reference.  Each capitalized 
term used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning provided therefor in the 
CP Ordinance and the Notes, as applicable, unless the context requires otherwise. 



 

14 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Section 1.03. Accounting Matters.  All accounting terms used herein without definition 
shall be interpreted in accordance with GAAP, and except as otherwise expressly provided herein 
all accounting determinations required to be made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in 
accordance with GAAP. 

Section 1.04. Computation of Time Periods.  In this Agreement, in the computation of 
a period of time from a specified date to a later specified date, unless otherwise specified herein, 
the word “from” means “from and including” and the words “to” and “until” each mean “to but 
excluding.” 

Section 1.05. New York City Time Presumption.  All references herein to times of the 
day shall be presumed to refer to New York City time unless otherwise specified. 

Section 1.06. Relation to Other Documents.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed 
to amend, or relieve the City of any of its obligations under, any Related Document.  To the extent 
that the City undertakes in any provision of this Agreement representations, covenants or 
obligations which conflict with, or are more exacting than, a provision of any other Related 
Document to which the City is a party, such provisions of this Agreement shall control for all 
purposes of this Agreement. 

Section 1.07. Interpretation.  All words used herein shall be construed to be of such 
gender as the circumstances require.  Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise clearly 
requires, references to the plural include the singular, the singular includes the plural and the part 
includes the whole.  Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the 
corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms.  The words “include”, “includes” and 
“including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation”.  The word “will” 
shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”.  Unless otherwise 
specified (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein 
shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to 
time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such 
amendments, supplements or modifications set forth in such document or herein), (b) any reference 
herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s permitted successors and assigns, 
(c) the words “herein”, “hereof’ and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed 
to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not be limited to any particular provision of this 
Agreement, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be 
construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and 
(e) the words “asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and, 
when used in connection with any Person, to refer to all rights, title and interests of such Person in 
and to any and all property whether real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible, and wherever 
situated, including cash, securities, investment property, accounts, land, buildings, general 
intangibles, chattel, intellectual property, contract rights and other property and assets. 

ARTICLE II 
 

REIMBURSEMENT, FEES AND PAYMENT PROVISIONS 



 

15 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

The City shall pay and reimburse the Bank for all amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit 
and shall pay such other amounts as are set forth in this Article II and the other provisions of this 
Agreement, all on and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement: 

Section 2.01. Reimbursement of Drawings.  The City agrees to repay to the Bank all 
amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit pursuant to a Principal Drawing or an Interest Drawing, 
payable without any requirement of notice or demand by the Bank, on the day on which such 
Drawing is paid by the Bank; provided, however, if on the date of any Principal Drawing the 
conditions set forth in Section 3.02 are satisfied, the City shall be deemed to have requested the 
Bank to extend a Term Amortization of the Principal Drawing to the City on the terms set forth in 
Section 2.01(b) and the City shall be required to repay to the Bank such Term Amortization and 
the amounts accruing in respect thereof in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.01, as 
follows: 

(a) The City shall pay to the Bank, without any requirement of notice or 
demand by the Bank, an amount equal to the Principal Drawing together with any accrued 
unpaid interest thereon (i) if the conditions to the Term Amortization are not satisfied, on 
the day such Principal Drawing is paid by the Bank and thereafter on demand, and (ii) 
during a Term Amortization, upon the occurrence of an Amortization End Date. 

(b) Term Amortization. 

(i) The Bank shall extend a Term Amortization to the City on the date 
of any Principal Drawing if, as of such date, the requirements of Section 3.02 are 
met. 

(ii) Subject to the provisions of subpart (iii) of this Section 2.01(b), the 
amount of the Principal Drawing shall amortize in eighteen (18) quarterly principal 
installments (the “Principal Payments”) with the initial Principal Payment being 
due and payable by the City 180 days after the date of such Principal Drawing and 
each successive Principal Payment being due three (3) months after the prior such 
Principal Payment, with the final Principal Payment in an amount equal to the entire 
remaining unpaid amount of the Principal Drawing, with accrued interest thereon, 
due on the Amortization End Date, together with all Excess Interest Amount due 
and owing as of such date.  Each Principal Payment shall be that amount of principal 
which will result in equal (as nearly as possible) Principal Payments assuming a 
Term Amortization ending on the date which is sixty (60) months after the date of 
the Principal Drawing. 

(iii) If as of any date during the Term Amortization, the Amortization 
End Date shall occur, then the Term Amortization shall be terminated and the entire 
unpaid principal amount of the Principal Drawing shall be paid in a single principal 
payment, with accrued interest with respect thereto, together with all Excess 
Interest Amount due and owing as of such date, on such Amortization End Date; 
notwithstanding the foregoing, upon any issuance of Notes, the amount owed to the 
Bank pursuant to this Section shall be immediately paid to the Bank by mandatory 
prepayment as further provided in Section 2.04(b); and provided, further, that the 



 

16 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

amount owed to the Bank under this Section shall be due and payable in full on the 
date of delivery to the Paying Agent of any Alternate Letter of Credit (as provided 
in the CP Ordinance) in substitution for the Letter of Credit. 

(iv) The City shall be deemed to have made on and as of each day during 
a Term Amortization each of the representations and warranties of the City made 
in this Agreement and in any certificate or document delivered in connection with 
this Agreement and each such representation and warranty shall continue to be 
accurate and complete on and as of such date. 

(c) The City shall pay to the Bank interest on any and all amounts drawn under 
the Letter of Credit pursuant to a Principal Drawing, such interest to accrue from the date 
of such Drawing until payment thereof in full, payable on the first Business Day of each 
month or, if earlier, the date on which all or a portion of such principal amount is paid or 
required to be paid, to the extent of such principal repayment, at a fluctuating interest rate 
per annum equal to the Bank Rate from time to time in effect, provided that (i) if any such 
amount is not paid when due and (ii) upon the occurrence and during the continuance of 
any Event of Default, amounts owed hereunder shall thereafter bear interest at the Default 
Rate. 

(d) In any event, an amount equal to any Interest Drawing shall be due and 
payable by the City to the Bank on the date of any such Drawing. 

(e) Each time the Paying Agent makes a Drawing, the City shall be deemed to 
represent and warrant on the date of such Drawing that (i) the conditions set forth in Section 
3.02 have been satisfied, and (ii) the representations and warranties made by the City herein 
are true and correct in all material respects on and as of such date, as made on and as of 
such date. 

Section 2.02. Default Interest.  The City agrees to pay to the Bank, upon demand, interest 
on any and all amounts owed by the City under this Agreement from the earlier of (a) the date such 
amounts are due and payable but not paid until payment thereof in full and (b) a date on which an 
Event of Default occurs, at a fluctuating interest rate per annum equal to the Default Rate, to the 
extent not prohibited by Applicable Law.  The obligations of the City under this Section 2.02 shall 
survive the termination of this Agreement. 

Section 2.03. Payment of Interest Amounts.  The amount of interest required to be paid 
on any date under Sections 2.01 or 2.02, or under any other provision of this Article II (each, an 
“Interest Payment Date”) shall be due and payable by the City on such date at the Bank Rate or 
the Default Rate, as applicable, in accordance with the following provisions: 

(a) Interest at the Bank Rate is due and payable by the City to the Bank 
hereunder on each Interest Payment Date as a contractual obligation in respect of the 
advances made by the Bank hereunder. 

(b) (i) If the amount of interest required to be paid on any Interest Payment 
Date calculated in accordance with the terms hereof (together with any fees, charges, and 
other amounts which are treated as interest on amounts advanced hereunder under 



 

17 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Applicable Law (collectively, the “Charges”)) exceeds the amount of interest that would 
have been payable for the applicable period had interest for such period been calculated at 
the Maximum Bank Interest Rate, then the required interest for such period (together with 
any Charges payable with respect thereto) shall be payable in an amount of interest 
calculated on the basis of the Maximum Bank Interest Rate. 

(ii) Any interest or Charges that would have been due and payable under 
any provision hereof but for the operation of subparagraph (b)(i) immediately 
above, shall accrue and be payable as provided in this subparagraph (b)(ii) and shall 
constitute, less interest actually paid to the Bank on such Interest Payment Date, 
excess interest (the “Excess Interest Amount”).  If there is any accrued and unpaid 
Excess Interest Amount as of any Interest Payment Date, then, on the current and 
each subsequent Interest Payment Date, interest shall be paid at the Maximum Bank 
Interest Rate rather than the otherwise applicable rate until the earlier of (x) 
payment to the Bank of the entire accrued Excess Interest Amount or (y) the date 
on which no principal amount hereunder remains unpaid. 

(iii) Notwithstanding the foregoing and to the extent not required to be 
paid earlier in accordance with the terms hereof, all unpaid Excess Interest Amount 
shall be, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, due and payable by the 
City as a fee on the earlier of the Amortization End Date or the date that such 
amount is due and payable under this Agreement. 

Section 2.04. Prepayment. 

(a) Optional Prepayment.  On any Business Day upon not less than three (3) 
Business Days’ notice, the City may prepay or cause to be prepaid, without penalty, any 
Term Amortization either in whole or in part in a principal amount equal to $100,000 or 
any multiple thereof by paying to the Bank (i) the principal amount of the Term 
Amortization, or portion thereof, being prepaid plus (ii) accrued and unpaid interest on 
such principal amount including any Excess Interest Amount. 

(b) Mandatory Prepayment by Reason of Sales of Commercial Paper Notes.  
Simultaneously with the sale of any Notes while any Drawings or Term Amortizations are 
outstanding, the City shall be obligated (i) to prepay all outstanding Drawings and Term 
Amortizations in a principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes sold and (ii) to 
pay accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount of such Drawings or Term 
Amortizations being prepaid; provided that the prepayment requirement by reason of sales 
of Notes imposed by this sentence shall not apply to the principal portion of newly issued 
Notes used to pay the principal of maturing Notes or to reimburse the Bank for amounts 
drawn under the Letter of Credit to repay such maturing Notes.  In order to effectuate such 
prepayment, prior to or simultaneously with the sale of any Notes, (i) the City shall use its 
best efforts to cause the Dealer to deliver to the Bank a written notice to the effect that (A) 
it is selling on the Business Day of such notice a specified principal amount of Notes, (B) 
it is delivering to the Paying Agent for the account of the Bank on such Business Day by 
wire transfer a specified amount of immediately available funds which is equal to the 
principal amount of such Notes plus accrued interest thereon (the “Sale Price”) and which 



 

18 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

constitutes proceeds of such sale and (C) such specified principal amount of Notes is being 
delivered to or upon the order of the Dealer in accordance with the Paying Agent 
Agreement, (ii) the City shall use its best efforts to cause the Dealer to pay to the Paying 
Agent for the account of the Bank, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, the 
proceeds of the sale of such Notes in an amount equal to the Sale Price which shall be 
applied first, to the prepayment of principal of Term Amortizations in an amount equal to 
the principal amount of Notes sold, second, to the extent sufficient therefor, to the payment 
of interest accrued on such principal amount of Term Amortizations prepaid, and third, to 
the extent sufficient therefor, to the payment of the principal of and interest accrued on all 
outstanding Drawings, and (iii) the City shall pay to the Bank, by wire transfer of 
immediately available funds, the amount, if any, by which the sum of the amounts referred 
to in clauses first, second and third of subpart (ii) exceeds the amount of the Sale Price 
received by the Bank.  Effective upon the actual receipt by the Bank in immediately 
available funds of the Sale Price and any transfer of funds from the City sufficient to repay 
the Drawings or Term Amortizations to be repaid, the Principal Portion shall automatically 
be reinstated by an amount equal to the principal amount of the Notes being sold and/or 
amounts received by the Bank directly from the City.  In the event that the proceeds of any 
sale of Notes are not received from the Dealer or are received in an amount less than the 
Sale Price thereof, the City shall pay to the Bank, within one (1) Business Day after such 
amounts were due, an amount equal to the amount of such proceeds or such deficiency; 
provided, however, that all amounts due to the Bank shall bear interest as set forth herein 
until paid in full; and provided further that the Principal Portion shall reinstate only in the 
amount of funds actually received by the Bank. 

Section 2.05. Fees. 

(a) Facility Fee.  The City hereby agrees to pay to the Bank a Facility Fee 
determined and payable in accordance with the provisions of the Fee Letter (which shall 
be fully earned when due and non-refundable when paid) with respect to the commitment 
of the Bank hereunder and all other fees set forth in the Fee Letter.  The terms of the Fee 
Letter shall be deemed incorporated by reference into this Agreement and all references 
herein to this “Agreement” shall be deemed to include the Fee Letter. 

(b) Drawing Fee; Transfer and Amendment Fee. 

(i) Upon each Drawing hereunder, the City agrees to pay to the Bank a 
non-refundable drawing fee of $350, payable without any requirement of notice or 
demand by the Bank on the day on which such Drawing is paid by the Bank. 

(ii) Upon each transfer or assignment of the Letter of Credit or this 
Agreement in accordance with its terms and upon any amendment of this 
Agreement or the Letter of Credit, the City agrees to pay to the Bank a non-
refundable fee of $3,500 plus the Bank’s actual costs and expenses associated with 
such transfer, assignment or amendment (including, without limitation, the 
reasonable fees and expenses of Bank Counsel). 



 

19 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(c) Reduction or Termination of Commitment.  Subject to the provisions of 
subsection (ii) of this Section 2.05(c), the City at any time may reduce the Stated Amount 
of the Letter of Credit or terminate the Stated Amount; provided that all Required 
Payments, including without limitation, all principal and interest owing in connection with 
any Drawings or Term Amortizations, any Termination Fee and all other amounts payable 
hereunder and under the Fee Letter shall be paid to the Bank at or prior to the time of such 
reduction or termination. 

Section 2.06. Costs, Expenses and Taxes. 

(a) The City agrees to pay on demand all costs and expenses incurred by the 
Bank and its Counsel in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and 
delivery of this Agreement, the Related Documents and any other documents and 
certificates which may be delivered in connection with this Agreement and the other 
Related Documents, including, without limitation, the fees, expenses and disbursements of 
Counsel for the Bank as provided in Section 3.01(b).  In addition, the City shall pay or 
cause to be paid on demand, upon not less than twenty-one (21) days prior written notice 
to the City, the necessary and reasonable out-of-pocket expenses and disbursements of the 
Bank and the necessary and reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of Counsel to the 
Bank in connection with (i) the administration of this Agreement including any waiver or 
consent under this Agreement or any Related Document or other document or certificate 
delivered in connection with the Transactions or any amendment or requested amendment 
hereof or thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated thereby shall be 
consummated) or any Default or alleged Default hereunder, (ii) the preparation, execution, 
delivery, administration and enforcement or preservation of rights in connection with a 
workout, refinancing, restructuring or waiver with respect to this Agreement, or any of the 
Related Documents and (iii) the occurrence of an Event of Default and collection and other 
enforcement proceedings resulting therefrom. 

(b) Any and all payments to the Bank by or on behalf of the City hereunder 
shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, any and all taxes, levies, 
imposts, deductions, charges or withholdings imposed, including but not limited to as a 
result of a change in, law, rule, treaty, or regulation, or any policy, guideline, or directive 
of, or any change in the interpretation, implementation, or administration thereof by, any 
Governmental Authority, and all liabilities with respect thereto, excluding only taxes 
imposed on or measured by the net income or capital of the Bank by any jurisdiction or 
any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein solely as a result of a 
connection between the Bank and such jurisdiction or political subdivision, other than a 
connection resulting solely from executing, delivering or performing its obligations or 
receiving a payment under, or enforcing, this Agreement (all such non excluded taxes, 
levies, imposts, deductions, charges, withholdings and liabilities being hereinafter referred 
to as “Taxes”).  If the City is required by law to withhold or deduct any sum from payments 
required under this Agreement, the City shall, to the maximum extent permitted by 
Applicable Law, increase the amount paid by it to the Bank so that, after all withholdings 
and deductions, the amount received by the Bank shall equal the amount the Bank would 
have received without any such withholding or deduction.   



 

20 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(c) In addition, the City shall pay or cause to be paid on demand, upon not less 
than twenty-one (21) days prior written notice to the City, any present or future stamp, 
recording, or Other Taxes and fees payable or determined to be payable under Applicable 
Law in connection with the execution, delivery, filing and recording of this Agreement, the 
Related Documents and such other documents and certificates and agrees to defend, 
indemnify and hold the Bank harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect 
to or resulting from any failure to pay, or any delay in paying, such taxes and fees. 

Section 2.07. Change in Law. 

(a) If the Bank shall have determined that the adoption or implementation of, 
or any change in, any law, rule, treaty, regulation, policy, guideline, supervisory standard 
or directive of, or any change in the interpretation, implementation, or administration 
thereof by, any Governmental Authority (in each case, whether or not having the force of 
law), or compliance by the Bank with any request by or directive of any Governmental 
Authority (in each case, whether or not having the force of law), including but not limited 
to any such law, rule, regulation, policy, guideline, standard, directive, interpretation or 
application implementing, invoking or in any way related to any provision (as now or 
hereafter amended) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 
(or any other statute referred to therein or amended thereby) or any rules, guidelines, 
standards, policies, regulations, or directives promulgated by the Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision or the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) (or any successor or 
similar organizations), shall (i) change the basis of taxation of payments to the Bank of any 
amounts payable hereunder (except for taxes on the overall net income of the Bank), (ii) 
impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, liquidity, special deposit, insurance 
premium, fee, financial charge, monetary burden or similar requirement against issuing the 
Letter of Credit or honoring draws under the Letter of Credit, or complying with any term 
of this Agreement, or against assets held by, or deposits with or for the account of, the 
Bank or (iii) impose on the Bank any other condition, expense or cost regarding this 
Agreement or the Letter of Credit, and the result of any event referred to in clause (i), (ii) 
or (iii) above shall be to increase the cost to the Bank of issuing the Letter of Credit or 
honoring draws under the Letter of Credit or complying with any term of this Agreement 
or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Bank hereunder, then, 
upon demand by the Bank, the City shall pay to the Bank for its own account such 
additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Bank for such increased costs or 
reductions in amount. 

(b) If the Bank shall have determined that the adoption or implementation of, 
or any change in, any law, rule, treaty, regulation, policy, guideline, supervisory standard 
or directive of, or any change in the interpretation, implementation, or administration 
thereof by, any Governmental Authority (in each case whether or not having the force of 
law), or compliance by the Bank with any request by or directive of any Governmental 
Authority (in each case, whether or not having the force of law), including but not limited 
to any such law, rule, regulation, policy, guideline, standard, directive, interpretation or 
application implementing, invoking or in any way related to any provision (as now or 
hereafter amended) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act 
(or any other statute referred to therein or amended thereby) or any rules, guidelines, 



 

21 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

standards, or directives promulgated by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision or 
the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) (or any successor or similar organizations), 
shall impose, modify or deem applicable any capital (including but not limited to 
contingent capital) adequacy, reserve, insurance, liquidity or similar requirement 
(including, without limitation, a request or requirement that affects the manner in which 
the Bank allocates capital resources or reserves to its commitments (including its 
obligations under letters of credit)) that either (i) affects or would affect the amount of 
capital or reserves to be maintained by the Bank or (ii) reduces or would reduce the rate of 
return on the Bank’s capital or reserves to a level below that which the Bank could have 
achieved but for such circumstances (taking into consideration the policies of the Bank 
with respect to capital adequacy or the maintenance of reserves) then, upon demand by the 
Bank, the City shall pay to the Bank for its own account such additional amount or amounts 
as will compensate the Bank for such event. 

(c) All payments of amounts referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above shall be 
paid by the City to the Bank within fifteen Business Days of such demand.  A certificate 
as to such increased cost, increased capital or reserves or reduction in return incurred by 
the Bank as a result of any event mentioned in clause (a) or (b) of this subsection setting 
forth, in reasonable detail, the basis for calculation and the amount of such calculation shall 
be submitted by the Bank to the City simultaneously with such demand for payment and 
shall be conclusive as to the amount thereof absent manifest error.  The obligations of the 
City under this Section shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

Section 2.08. Payments Generally. 

(a) Except as may be otherwise provided herein, all fees hereunder and interest 
on amounts owed hereunder or under the Bank Note shall be computed on the basis of a 
year of 360 days, and the actual number of days elapsed.  All payments by or on behalf of 
the City to the Bank hereunder shall be fully earned when due and nonrefundable when 
paid and made in lawful currency of the United States of America and in immediately 
available funds.  Amounts payable to the Bank hereunder, unless otherwise directed by the 
Bank in writing, shall be paid by wire transfer to the Bank’s account at Barclays Bank PLC, 
ABA# 026002574, Credit to Account No.: 050019104, Reference: City of Garland CP (or 
to such other account of the Bank as the Bank may specify by written notice to the City or 
the Paying Agent) not later than 4:00 p.m. New York, New York time, on the date payment 
is due.  Any payment received by the Bank after 4:00 p.m., New York, New York time, 
shall be deemed to have been received by the Bank on the next Business Day.  If any 
payment hereunder is due on a day that is not a Business Day, then such payment shall be 
due on the next succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of the computation of the interest 
or fees hereunder, such extension of time shall, in such case, be included in the computation 
of the payment due hereunder. 

(b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Bank 
to pay fully all amounts of principal, interest and fees then due hereunder, such funds shall 
be applied first, to payment of that portion of the Required Payments constituting fees, 
indemnities, expenses and other amounts (including fees, charges and disbursements of 
counsel to the Bank and amounts payable under Section 2.08) payable to the Bank, second, 



 

22 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

to payment of that portion of the Required Payments constituting accrued and unpaid 
interest on any Drawing or other amount unpaid hereunder or under the Bank Note (and, 
in any such case, first to past due interest and second to current interest), and third, to 
payment of that portion of the Required Payments constituting unpaid principal of any 
Drawing or Term Amortization. 

Section 2.09. Maintenance of Accounts.  The Bank shall maintain in accordance with its 
usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the payment obligations of the City under this 
Agreement and the amounts payable and paid from time to time hereunder.  In any legal action or 
proceeding in respect of this Agreement, the entries made in such account or accounts shall be 
presumptive evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations of the City therein recorded.  
The failure to record any such amount shall not, however, limit or otherwise affect the obligations 
of the City to repay all amounts owed under this Agreement, together with all interest accrued 
thereon as provided herein. 

Section 2.10. Cure.  The City agrees to pay to the Bank on demand, any amounts 
advanced by or on behalf of the Bank, to the extent required to cure any Default or Event of Default 
under this Agreement or any Related Document.  The Bank shall give the City reasonably prompt 
notice of any such advances.  The Bank shall have the right, but not the obligation, to cure any 
such Default or Event of Default. 

Section 2.11. Pledge.  The Funds and ad valorem tax revenues of the City referenced in 
Section 2.11 of the CP Ordinance are pledged for the punctual payment of the principal of and 
interest on, the Notes and the Required Payments as the same become due and payable.  The City 
hereby irrevocably pledges, to and for the benefit of the Bank, the Funds and the ad valorem tax 
revenues of the City, as described in Section 2.11 of the CP Ordinance, to and for the payment and 
reimbursement of each Drawing, the payment of interest accruing thereon as provided herein, and 
to pay Bank Debt Service and the Required Payments (the “Pledge”).  This Pledge shall constitute 
a lien on the Funds and the ad valorem tax revenues of the City as described in Section 2.11 of the 
CP Ordinance.  The City shall neither create nor permit or suffer to exist any pledge of or Lien 
upon the Note Clearance Account, and the other funds and accounts created under the CP 
Ordinance, or any portion of any of the foregoing, which is prior or superior to the Lien in favor 
of the Bank hereunder and as Holder of the Bank Note and the Holders of the Notes. 

ARTICLE III 
 

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 

Section 3.01. Closing Conditions.  On the Date of Issuance, and subject to satisfaction 
of the conditions precedent set forth in this Section 3.01, the Bank shall issue the Letter of Credit 
in the Stated Amount, effective on the Date of Issuance and expiring on the Expiration Date.  As 
conditions precedent to the issuance of the Letter of Credit, the Bank shall have received the 
following items on or before the Date of Issuance, each in form and substance satisfactory to the 
Bank and its Counsel and the City shall satisfy the Bank that the following conditions have been 
fulfilled: 



 

23 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(a) (i) an opinion dated the Date of Issuance of Bond Counsel as to the due and 
valid execution and delivery, and tax exempt status of the Notes, and that the Notes are 
entitled to the benefits of the CP Ordinance, satisfaction of legal requirements and 
securities matters and related matters, together with (ii) an opinion dated the Date of 
Issuance of Bond Counsel which shall expressly include this Agreement and the delivery 
and acceptance of the Letter of Credit under the CP Ordinance and cover such other matters 
as the Bank shall reasonably request including without limitation an opinion to the effect 
that all conditions necessary to create a valid pledge in favor of the Bank have been 
accomplished, and covering such other matters relating to the Agreement and any of the 
other Related Documents or the proceedings of the City as the Bank may request, including 
due authority, due execution and delivery, enforceability, no conflict, no consent, no 
litigation and related opinions; and each of the opinions under (i) and (ii) shall be addressed 
to the Bank or a reliance letter shall be provided to the Bank expressly stating that the Bank 
is entitled to rely upon said opinion as if such opinion were addressed to the Bank; 

(b) the executed Paying Agent Letter; 

(c) a certificate of the Paying Agent (i) certifying as to the authority, 
incumbency and specimen signatures of certain officers of the Paying Agent authorized to 
sign the Paying Agent Agreement and the Paying Agent Letter and (ii) attaching a true, 
correct and complete copy of an extract of the bylaws of the Paying Agent evidencing the 
authority of certain officers to sign such documents; 

(d) an incumbency certificate of the City certifying as to the name and true 
signature of the Authorized City Representative(s) authorized to execute this Agreement, 
the Related Documents and any other document to be delivered by the City hereunder or 
under the other Related Documents; 

(e) certified copies of (i) all approvals, authorizations or consents of, or notices 
to or filings or registrations with, any governmental body, agency or official required for 
the City to execute, deliver or perform this Agreement or any of the other Related 
Documents to which the City is a party and (ii) audited financial statements of the City for 
the Fiscal Year concluding on September 30, 2020; 

(f) in final form, the Offering Memorandum in the form reviewed by the Bank 
and dated the Date of Issuance; 

(g) (i) a specimen original of a Note, 

(ii) the duly executed Bank Note, and 

(iii) executed originals (or, when the Bank is not a party thereto, 
duplicates thereof) of this Agreement, each other Related Document and of each 
other agreement, document, instrument, certificate or opinion required to be 
delivered by any Person pursuant to the Related Documents, each of which shall be 
in form and substance satisfactory to the Bank and, in the case of each such opinion, 
either addressed to the Bank or accompanied by a letter addressed to the Bank from 



 

24 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

the counsel rendering such opinion stating that the Bank is entitled to rely upon 
such opinion as if such opinion were addressed to it; 

(h) such other agreements, documents, instruments, certificates (and, if 
requested by the Bank, certified duplicates of executed copies thereof) and opinions as the 
Bank may reasonably request; and 

(i) Reserved. 

(j) The following statements shall be true and correct on the Date of Issuance 
and the Bank shall have received a certificate signed by an Authorized City Representative 
dated the Date of Issuance, stating that: 

(i) the representations and warranties contained (or incorporated by 
reference) in Article IV hereof are correct on and as of the Date of Issuance as 
though made on and as of such date; 

(ii) No Material Litigation has been filed since the Fiscal Year ending 
September 30, 2020; 

(iii) No Material Adverse Change has occurred since the Fiscal Year 
ending September 30, 2020; and 

(iv) No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or 
would result from the issuance of the Letter of Credit. 

(k) On or before the Date of Issuance: 

(i) the City shall have duly adopted the CP Ordinance authorizing the 
execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement and each of the 
other Related Documents to which the City is a party and approving each such 
Related Document and this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby 
and thereby; 

(ii) the Bank shall have received a copy of the CP Ordinance, certified 
by an Authorized Representative as being in full force and effect on the Date of 
Issuance, as not having been amended or supplemented through the date thereof 
and as being the only ordinance or resolutions adopted by the City relating to the 
execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement and each of the 
Related Documents to which the City is a party or the transactions contemplated 
hereby and thereby; 

(iii) all conditions to the acceptance of the Letter of Credit under the CP 
Ordinance shall have been satisfied and each of the Related Documents shall have 
been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the parties thereto; 

(iv) (A) the fees and expenses of counsel to the Bank payable in 
connection with the delivery of the Letter of Credit and the preparation and 



 

25 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

negotiation of the Related Documents shall be paid and (B) all other amounts 
payable on the Date of Issuance pursuant to this Agreement shall have been 
received; 

(v) the Bank shall have received satisfactory evidence that (i) the Notes 
shall have been assigned short-term ratings of A-1 by S&P and F-1 by Fitch after 
giving effect to the Letter of Credit, (ii) the Obligor Ratings have been assigned 
[AA+] by S&P and [AAA] by Fitch and (iii) the Bank Note shall have received a 
long-term rating of at least [AAA] by Fitch. 

(l) CUSIP and DTC.  The Bank shall have received written evidence 
satisfactory to the Bank that (A) the Note CUSIP Number has been obtained for the Notes 
and a CUSIP Number has been obtained for the Bank Note, in each case from Standard & 
Poor’s CUSIP Service and (B) that the Notes are eligible for inclusion in DTC’s FAST 
automated transfer program. 

(m) Other Documents.  The Bank shall have received such other documents, 
certificates, approvals, filings, and opinions as the Bank shall have reasonably requested. 

(n) Credit Requirements.  Prior to the Date of Issuance, the Bank shall have 
determined, in its sole discretion, based in part upon the information and reports submitted 
by the City, that (i) the City has met the Bank’s credit requirements, (ii) the Bank has not 
discerned any adverse change in the financial condition, manner of operation, properties or 
prospects of the City or any material inaccuracy in the information, representations and 
materials submitted to the Bank by the City in connection with the issuance of the Letter 
of Credit, (iii) there has been no change in any law, rule or regulation (or their interpretation 
or administration) nor is there any pending or threatened litigation, that, in each case, may 
adversely affect the consummation of the Transactions and (iv) all legal requirements 
provided herein or by Applicable Law incident to the execution and delivery of the Notes 
and the execution, delivery and performance of the Letter of Credit and the other Related 
Documents, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, shall have been 
satisfied. 

Section 3.02. Conditions Precedent to Amortization.  All amounts drawn under the 
Letter of Credit as a Principal Drawing are due and payable on the date drawn unless on such date 
the following conditions are satisfied: 

(a) No Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; 

(b) No Early Expiration Date shall have occurred; 

(c) No Material Litigation shall be pending; 

(d) No Material Adverse Change shall have occurred; and 

(e) The City shall be deemed to have made on and as of the date of such 
Drawing each of the representations and warranties of the City made in this Agreement 
and in any certificate or document delivered in connection with this Agreement and each 



 

26 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

such representation and warranty shall continue to be accurate and complete in all material 
respects on and as of such date. 

The City shall be deemed to represent and warrant that the conditions described in this 
Section 3.02 have been satisfied on the date of such Drawing and on the date of any 
commencement (or purported commencement) of a Term Amortization. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 4.01. Representations of the City.  In order to induce the Bank to issue the Letter 
of Credit, the City represents, warrants and covenants to and with the Bank as of the Closing Date, 
as of each date on which the Bank honors a Drawing under the Letter of Credit and as of each day 
during any Term Amortization, as follows: 

(a) Due Organization; Power and Authority.  The City (i) is duly organized and 
validly existing as a municipal corporation under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 
Texas; (b) has all corporate powers required to carry on its business as now conducted; (c) 
has full power and authority to issue the Notes and to use the proceeds of the Notes as 
contemplated in the CP Ordinance and (d) has full power and authority to execute, deliver, 
and perform its obligations under this Agreement and the other Related Documents and to 
borrow and obtain extensions of credit hereunder and under the Letter of Credit. 

(b) Authorization and Validity of Agreement, Related Documents and 
Borrowing.  The execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement and 
the other Related Documents to which it is a party have been duly authorized by all 
necessary action of the governing body of the City.  Each of this Agreement and the Related 
Documents to which the City is a party constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of 
the City, enforceable against the City in accordance with its terms, except as such 
enforceability may be limited by applicable reorganization, insolvency, liquidation, 
readjustment of debt, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of the 
rights of creditors generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such 
enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).  The Notes, when issued, 
will be duly executed and delivered under the Act and other Applicable Law and in 
conformity with the CP Ordinance.  The Bank Note has been duly executed, delivered and 
issued by the City, and the Bank Note constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of 
the City and is enforceable in accordance with its terms.  The obligation of the City to make 
payments on the Notes and the Bank Note is absolute and unconditional and is an obligation 
imposed by law.  The Letter of Credit is a “credit facility” and a “liquidity facility,” as such 
terms are used in the CP Ordinance. 

(c) Compliance of Agreement, Related Documents with Applicable Law, 
Organizational Documents, Etc.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement and each of the other Related Documents in accordance with its and their 
respective terms, the Pledge under the CP Ordinance and the consummation of the 
Transactions has not and will not (i) contravene or conflict with the City’s charter, by laws 



 

27 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

or other organizational documents or with any provision of the Act, (ii) require any consent 
or approval of any creditor of the City, (iii) violate any Applicable Law (including, without 
limitation, Regulations T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 
or any successor regulations), (iv) conflict with, result in a breach of or constitute a default 
under any Other Obligation to which the City is a party or by which any of its properties 
or assets may be bound or (v) result in or require the creation or imposition of any charge, 
pledge, security interest, encumbrance or other Lien upon or with respect to any assets now 
owned or hereafter acquired by the City, except such Liens, if any, created under and 
pursuant to this Agreement and the CP Ordinance.  The CP Ordinance has been adopted in 
compliance with all requirements of Applicable Law. 

(d) Governmental Approvals.  All authorizations, consents, and other 
Governmental Approvals necessary for the City (i) to enter into this Agreement and the 
other Related Documents and perform the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby 
have been obtained and remain in full force and effect and are subject to no further 
administrative or judicial review and (ii) to perform the transactions contemplated by the 
other Related Documents remain in full force and effect and are subject to no further 
administrative or judicial review.  No other authorization or approval or other action by, 
and no notice to or filing with, any Governmental Authority is required for the due 
execution, delivery and performance by the City of this Agreement or the due execution, 
delivery or performance by the City of the Related Documents to which it is a party. 

(e) Compliance with Law. 

(i) Other than as set forth on Exhibit C attached hereto, the City is in 
compliance with all Applicable Laws, including all Governmental Approvals, 
except for noncompliance that, singly or in the aggregate with all other instances of 
noncompliance, has not had and will not have a Material Adverse Effect or an 
adverse effect on the City’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement 
and under the other Related Documents. 

(ii) Except for a violation or failure to comply that, singly or in the 
aggregate with all other violations or failures to comply, has not had and cannot 
have a Material Adverse Effect or an adverse effect on the City’s ability to perform 
its obligations under this Agreement and under the other Related Documents, the 
City has not received any complaint or other notice alleging a violation of or failure 
to comply with, any judgment, order, writ, injunction or decree of any 
Governmental Authority applicable to the City, or any statute, law, rule or 
regulation applicable to the City.  The collection of tax revenues and the accounting 
and recordkeeping therefor are in material compliance with all Applicable Law and 
all applicable resolutions, ordinances and rules of the City. 

(f) Litigation.  There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at 
law or in equity or before or by any court, arbitrator, public board or any other 
Governmental Authority pending or, to the best knowledge of the City after due inquiry, 
threatened against or affecting the City (i) wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or 
finding could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) which seeks 



 

28 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

to restrain or enjoin any of the Transactions, or (iii) which could adversely affect (A) the 
status of the City as a municipal corporation, created and validly existing under the laws 
of the State of Texas, (B) the exclusion of interest on the Notes from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes, (C) the validity, enforceability or perfection of the Pledge, or 
(D) the ability of the City to perform its obligations under this Agreement, the CP 
Ordinance or any other Related Document (any such action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or 
investigation being herein referred to as “Material Litigation”). 

(g) Absence of Defaults and Events of Default. 

(i) No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. 

(ii) The City is not in material default under (A) any order, writ, 
injunction or decree of any court or governmental body, agency or other 
instrumentality applicable to the City, or (B) any law or regulation applicable to the 
City, or (C) any Bonds or Contracts, or (D) any Other Obligation, default under 
which would have an adverse effect on the properties, business, condition (financial 
or other), results of operations or prospects of the City or the Transactions, or which 
would have an adverse effect on the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or 
any of the other Related Documents, or on the authority or ability of the City to 
perform its obligations under this Agreement or any of the other Related 
Documents to which the City is a party.  The City is not in breach of any financial 
covenant or any other material provision of any Other Obligation entered into in 
connection with any Debt. 

(h) Financial Statements.  The balance sheet of the City and the related 
statement of revenues and expenses and changes in financial position for the Fiscal Years 
reported and the auditors’ reports with respect thereto, copies of which have heretofore 
been furnished to the Bank, are complete and correctly and fairly present the financial 
condition, changes in financial position and results of operations of the City at such dates 
and for such periods, and were prepared in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, 
except as stated in the notes thereto.  Except as described in the Offering Memorandum, 
since September 30, 2020, there has been no Material Adverse Change, no increase in the 
City’s Debt, no material contingent liabilities nor other material contracts or commitments 
which are not reflected in the Offering Memorandum. 

(i) Accuracy and Completeness of Information.  All information, reports and 
other papers and data furnished by the City to the Bank were, at the time the same were so 
furnished, complete and correct in all material respects, to the extent necessary to give the 
recipient a true and accurate knowledge of the subject matter and were provided in 
expectation of the Bank’s reliance thereon in issuing the Letter of Credit.  No fact is known 
to the City which has had or, so far as the City can now reasonably foresee, may in the 
future have a Material Adverse Effect, which has not been set forth in the financial 
statements referred to in Section 4.01(i) or in such other information, reports or other data 
disclosed in writing to the Bank prior to the Closing Date.  Any financial, budget and other 
projections furnished to the Bank by the City or its agents were prepared in good faith on 
the basis of the assumptions stated therein, which assumptions were fair and reasonable in 



 

29 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

light of the conditions existing at the time of delivery of such financial, budget or other 
projections, and represented, and as of the date of this representation, represent the City’s 
best estimate of its future financial performance.  No document furnished nor any 
representation, warranty or other written statement made to the Bank in connection with 
the negotiation, preparation or execution of this Agreement or the Related Documents 
contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will omit (as of 
the date made or furnished) to state any material fact necessary in order to make the 
statements contained herein or therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they 
were or will be made, not misleading. 

(j) Offering Memorandum.  The information concerning the City, the 
Commercial Paper Program and any of the Related Documents (but not including the Bank 
Disclosure and any Securities Depository Disclosure, as to which no representation is 
made) contained in the Offering Memorandum is, and any supplement or amendment 
thereto shall be, true and correct in all material respects for the purposes for which its use 
is, was or shall be, authorized. 

(k) Sovereign Immunity.  Under the laws of the State of Texas, the City, and its 
revenues, assets and property is not exempt or immune from, whether on the basis of 
sovereign immunity or any similar legal or equitable principle, doctrine or rule of law and 
whether now or at any time hereafter arising, (i) jurisdiction, (ii) liability, suit or other legal 
or equitable remedy for the amounts due and payable under the Notes, the Bank Note, this 
Agreement or any of the other Related Documents or the performance of any of its other 
obligations hereunder or thereunder, and (iii) enforcement of any judgment, order or decree 
to which the City or its or their revenues, assets and property may be made subject. 

(l) Incorporation of Representations and Warranties.  The City hereby makes 
and remakes to the Bank, as of the date hereof, each of the representations and warranties 
made by the City in each Related Document to which it is a party, which representations 
and warranties, together with the related definitions of terms contained therein, are 
incorporated herein by this reference with the same effect as if each and every such 
representation and warranty and definition were set forth herein in its entirety.  No 
amendment to or waiver of such representations, warranties or definitions made pursuant 
to the relevant Related Document shall be effective to amend such representations and 
warranties and definitions as incorporated by reference herein without the prior written 
consent of the Bank. 

(m) Notes.  The City will duly and validly issue and deliver each Note under and 
pursuant to the CP Ordinance and each shall be entitled to the benefits thereof.  The Notes 
constitute “Notes” as such term is defined and used in the CP Ordinance and the other 
Related Documents. 

(n) Pension Plans.  The City does not maintain its own Pension Plan.  The City 
has no funding deficiency with respect to any employee benefit plan and is otherwise in 
compliance with terms of any such plan in which the City or any of its employees 
participate in. 



 

30 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(o) Interest.  None of the Related Documents to which the City is a party 
(including this Agreement and the Bank Note) or the Notes provide for any payments that 
would violate any Applicable Law regarding permissible maximum rates of interest or the 
calculation or collection of interest upon interest.  In particular, and not in limitation of the 
foregoing, under the laws of the State of Texas, the obligation of the City under this 
Agreement to pay interest at the Bank Rate (i) is a valid, binding and enforceable 
contractual obligation and is not subject to any limitation, restriction or cap on the per 
annum rate of interest that may be charged or received by the Bank or paid by the City, 
other than as described in this Agreement and (ii) constitutes Bank Debt Service. 

(p) Investment Company Act.  The City is not an “investment company” or a 
company “controlled” by an “investment company,” as such terms are defined in the 
Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. §80a-1 et seq.), as amended. 

(q) Federal Reserve Board Regulations.  The City is not engaged principally, 
or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of 
purchasing or carrying Margin Stock.  The City will not use any part of the proceeds of the 
Notes or the funds advanced hereunder and has not incurred any Debt to be reduced, retired 
or purchased by the City out of such proceeds, for the purpose of purchasing or carrying 
any Margin Stock. 

(r) No Proposed Legal Changes.  There is no amendment, or to the best 
knowledge of the City, proposed amendment certified for placement on a statewide ballot, 
to the Constitution of the State or any State law or any published administrative 
interpretation of the Constitution of the State or any State law, or any proposition or 
referendum (or proposed proposition or referendum) or other ballot initiative or any 
legislation that has passed either house of the legislature of the State, or any published 
judicial decision interpreting any of the foregoing, the effect of which could reasonably be 
expected to affect adversely (i) the execution or delivery of, or security for any of the Notes, 
(ii) the rights or remedies of the Bank or of any Owner of the Notes, or (iii) the existence 
of the City or the City’s power or ability to perform its obligations hereunder or under any 
of the other Related Documents including without limitation the City’s ability to repay 
when due its obligations under this Agreement and the Bank Note. 

(s) Security.  The Funds and ad valorem tax revenues of the City referenced in 
Section 2.11 of the CP Ordinance are pledged for the punctual payment of the principal of 
and interest on, the Notes and the Required Payments as the same become due and payable.   
The Pledge shall constitute a lien on the Funds and the ad valorem tax revenues of the City 
as described in Section 2.11 of the CP Ordinance and is on a parity with or senior to all 
other debt of the City secured by the ad valorem tax revenues of the City. 

(t) No Existing Right to Accelerate.  As of the Date of Issuance, no Person, 
including, without limitation, a credit facility provider or a liquidity provider, either of 
which provides credit enhancement or liquidity support to any Bonds or other Debt secured 
by the Pledge has a right under any indenture or any supplemental indenture relating to any 
such Bonds or Debt or any other document or agreement relating to any such Bonds or 



 

31 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Debt to direct the Trustee or any other Person to declare the principal of and interest on 
any such Bonds or Debt to be immediately due and payable. 

(u) Anti-Terrorism Representation. 

(i) The City is not in violation of any laws relating to terrorism or 
money laundering (“Anti-Terrorism Laws”), including Executive Order No. 13224 
on Terrorist Financing, effective September 24, 2001 (the “Executive Order”), and 
the USA Patriot Act, Title III of Pub. L. 107-56, 115 Stat. 272 (the “Patriot Act”); 

(ii) The City is not any of the following: 

(A) a Person that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject 
to the provisions of, the Executive Order; 

(B) a Person owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf 
of, any Person that is listed in the annex to, or is otherwise subject to the 
provisions of, the Executive Order; 

(C) a Person with which the Bank is prohibited from dealing or 
otherwise engaging in any transaction by any Anti-Terrorism Law; 

(D) a Person that commits, threatens or conspires to commit or 
supports “terrorism” as defined in the Executive Order; or 

(E) a Person that is named as a “specially designated national 
and blocked person” on the most current list published by the Office of 
Foreign Asset Control (“OFAC”) or any list of Persons issued by OFAC 
pursuant to the Executive Order at its official website or any replacement 
website or other replacement official publication of such list; 

(iii) The City does not (A) conduct any business or engages in making 
or receiving any contribution of funds, goods or services to or for the benefit of any 
Person described in subsection (ii)(B) above, (B) deal in, or otherwise engages in 
any transaction relating to, any property or interests in property blocked pursuant 
to the Executive Order or (C) engage in or conspires to engage in any transaction 
that evades or avoids, or has the purpose of evading or avoiding, or attempts to 
violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in any Anti-Terrorism Law. 

(v) Valid Pledges and Liens. 

(i) The Pledge to and for the payment of the debt service payments for 
the Bank Note and the Notes, in each case, as authorized under and in accordance 
with Applicable Law, is valid and binding as of the Date of Issuance. 

(ii) The Pledge requires no act, instrument, approval, filing, registration, 
recording or publication of the CP Ordinance, this Agreement or any other Related 
Document or instrument nor any prior separation or physical delivery of funds or 



 

32 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

revenues or notice to any Person, other than the filings and registrations 
accomplished by the City as of the Closing Date, to validly establish the Pledge. 

(iii) Neither the execution and delivery of the Notes, nor the making of 
the Pledge, requires any vote, approval of taxpayers or act of appropriation for the 
application thereof to the purposes for which executed, delivered and pledged, 
respectively. 

(w) CP Ordinance.  The provisions of the CP Ordinance, including without 
limitation the CP Ordinance, constitute a contract by the City for the direct and intended 
benefit of the owners of the Bonds and the Bank.  The Bank, subject to the provisions of 
this Agreement, may at law or in equity, by suit, action, mandamus or other proceedings, 
enforce and compel the performance of all duties required to be performed by the City 
under this Agreement, and the other Related Documents. 

ARTICLE V 
 

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS 

The City covenants and agrees that until the principal of and interest on the Notes and all 
Required Payments have been indefeasibly paid in full and all other obligations of the City under 
this Agreement or with respect to the Bank Note have been paid and performed and the Bank shall 
have no further obligation or liability under or in respect of the Letter of Credit: 

Section 5.01. Compliance With Laws and Regulations.  The City shall comply with all 
Applicable Laws to which it or its property may be subject; provided, however, that the City may 
contest the validity or application thereof and appeal or otherwise seek relief therefrom, so long as 
the City continues to perform all of its obligations hereunder and under the Related Documents 
and provided such acts do not affect the City’s power and authority to execute this Agreement and 
the Related Documents to which it is a party or to perform its obligations and pay all amounts 
payable by it hereunder and thereunder, or otherwise result in a Default or Event of Default 
hereunder (including without limitation Section 7.01(k)) or under any of the other Related 
Documents. 

Section 5.02. Reporting Requirements.  The City shall keep proper books of record and 
account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all dealings or transactions of or in 
relation to the affairs, operations, transactions and activities of the City in accordance with GAAP 
consistently applied.  The City shall furnish to the Bank two copies of each of the following, 
provided, that, except with respect to the certificates specified in subsection (b) below, the City 
may satisfy its obligation to provide to the Bank copies of any items identified in this Section by 
posting an electronic copy of such item on the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board’s 
Electronic Municipal Market Access System, www.emma.msrb.org (“EMMA”), or on the City’s 
website (provided that the City gives the Bank notice of such posting) within the timeframe for 
delivery identified below: 

(a) Financial Statements.  (i) As soon as available, and in any event within 210 
days after the close of each Fiscal Year of the City, the complete audited financial 



 

33 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

statements of the City including the balance sheet as of the end of such Fiscal Year and the 
related statements of revenues, expenses and cash flows and changes in fund balance for 
such Fiscal Year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the corresponding figures 
for the preceding Fiscal Year, all in reasonable detail, all as certified to by the City’s 
independent certified auditors as having been prepared in accordance with GAAP, 
consistently applied, such audit having been conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 

(ii)  At any time that the City’s Obligor Rating is below A+ or A1 by any two Rating 
Agencies, as soon as available, and in any event within forty-five (45) days after the 
last day of each fiscal quarter of the City, the unaudited financial statements of the City 
including the balance sheet as of the end of such quarter and a statement of income and 
expenses, all in reasonable detail and certified, subject to year end adjustment, by the 
an Authorized City Representative. 

(b) Annual Certificate of Compliance.  Simultaneously with the delivery of 
each set of financial statements referred to in Section 5.02(a), a certificate substantially in 
the form attached hereto as Exhibit D signed by the Authorized City Representative: 
certifying that (A) under his/her supervision the City has made a review of its activities 
during the preceding Fiscal Year for the purpose of determining whether or not the City 
has complied with all of the terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement and the 
other Related Documents, (B) that to the best of his/her knowledge the City is not in Default 
(and no Event of Default has occurred) in the performance or observance of any of the 
terms, covenants, provisions or conditions of this Agreement or any of the other Related 
Documents, or if the City shall be in Default (or an Event of Default has occurred), such 
certificate shall specify each such Default or Event of Default, the nature and status thereof 
and any remedial steps taken or proposed to correct each such Default or Event of Default 
and (C) whether any change in GAAP or in the application thereof has occurred since the 
date of the audited financial statements referred to in Section 4.01(i) and, if any such 
change has occurred, specifying the effect of such change on the financial statements 
accompanying such certificate. 

(c) Auditors.  Concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under 
clause (a) above, a copy of any management letter or audit report provided to the City by 
such auditors. 

(d) Other Reports.  Promptly upon request by the Bank, copies of any financial 
statement or report furnished to any other holder of any Bonds or Contracts pursuant to the 
terms of any Other Obligation and not otherwise required to be furnished to the Bank 
pursuant to any other clause of this Section 5.02. 

(e) Budget.  As near as practicable to the beginning of each Fiscal Year, an 
annual budget of the City for such upcoming Fiscal Year which shall include, among other 
items, projected operating results for such Fiscal Year. 



 

34 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(f) Material Event Notices.  Immediately following any dissemination, 
distribution or provision thereof to any Person, a copy of any Material Event Notice 
disseminated, distributed or provided in satisfaction of or as may be required by the 
provisions of Rule 15c2-12 promulgated pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (17 C.F.R. Sec. 240-15c2-12), or any successor or similar legal requirement. 

(g) EMMA Filings.  Copies of all filings made by the City with any Nationally 
Recognized Municipal Securities Information Repository (including EMMA) promptly 
after such filings are made. 

(h) Certain Financial Matters.  Promptly upon request of the Bank, 
confirmation (by the City or by the Paying Agent at the written request of the City) of the 
amount of funds on deposit in any fund or account established or continued under the CP 
Ordinance or this Agreement and, promptly after the occurrence thereof, written notice of 
any material change in accounting policies or financial reporting practices by the City. 

(i) Additional Bonds and Contracts.  Promptly following the date of execution 
and delivery of any Bond or Contract, written notice of the change in the aggregate 
principal amount of Bonds and Contracts outstanding, together with a copy of the final 
official statement or other final disclosure statement prepared with respect to such 
additional Bond or Contract. 

(j) Monthly Reports.  The City shall provide, or cause the Paying Agent to 
provide, to the Bank a monthly report, on the first Business Day of each month, showing 
the amount and maturity of all outstanding Notes secured by the Letter of Credit. 

(k) Other Information.  Such other information respecting the business, 
properties or the condition or operations, financial or otherwise, of the City as the Bank 
may from time to time reasonably request. 

Section 5.03. Notices. 

(a) Notice of Default.  The City shall provide to the Bank immediate notice by 
telephone, promptly confirmed in writing, of any Default or Event of Default or any other 
development that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Material 
Adverse Effect. 

(b) Pension Plan Notices.  If and to the extent the City establishes its own 
Pension Plan, as soon as practicable, notice of the occurrence of (i) any “prohibited 
transaction” (as such term is defined in Section 503 of the Code) in connection with any 
Pension Plan or any trust created thereunder; (ii) the adoption of, or commencement of 
contributions to, any defined benefit Pension Plan by the City, or (iii) the adoption of any 
amendment to a Pension Plan, if such amendment results in a material increase in Unfunded 
Pension Liability, (and in any such case, the City shall provide to the Bank telephonic 
notice specifying the nature thereof, and, no more than five Business Days after such 
telephonic notice, written notice again specifying the nature thereof and specifying what 
action the City is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto, and, when known, any 
action taken by the IRS or other Governmental Authority with respect thereto); and 



 

35 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(c) Litigation and other Notices.  The City shall provide to the Bank in writing, 
promptly upon learning thereof, notice of: 

(i) any Material Litigation and any other action, suit, proceeding, 
inquiry or investigation that is commenced or threatened (A) which seeks an 
injunction or temporary restraining order against the City, or (B) which alleges 
criminal misconduct by the City or any officer, board member, employee or agent 
of the City; and 

(ii) (A) any criminal investigation or proceeding by a Governmental 
Authority involving the City, or any officer, board member or managerial employee 
of the City; (B) written notice of a communication from any labor union, if 
applicable, of an intent to strike the City at a future date with such notice to include 
a description of the action or actions that the City propose to take with respect 
thereto; (C) the proposal of a bill or other legislation or the filing of any initiative 
or referendum which challenges the validity or enforceability of any of the Related 
Documents, the Act, or otherwise could annul, amend, modify or replace the Act 
or which could lead to a material diminution or reallocation of the Revenues or any 
portion thereof; and (D) any material development in any legal proceeding or other 
action affecting the City which the City has, or should have, provided notice of to 
the Bank pursuant to Section 5.03(b) or clause (i) of this Section 5.03(c). 

(d) Certain Notices under or in connection with the Related Documents.  The 
City shall furnish to the Bank a copy of any notice, certification, demand or other writing 
or communication given by the Dealer or the Paying Agent to the City or by the City to the 
Dealer or the Paying Agent under or in connection with any of the Related Documents, in 
each case promptly after the receipt or giving of the same. 

(e) Amendments.  The City will not consent to or permit any amendment or 
supplement to or modification or waiver of any of the provisions of the Related Documents 
without the prior written consent of the Bank.  The City will give the Bank notice as 
promptly as practicable (but in no event less than ten (10) Business Days) of any proposed 
amendments or supplements to or modifications or waivers of any provisions of any of the 
Related Documents and of any meeting of the City Council of the City at which any of the 
foregoing will be discussed or considered. 

(f) Paying Agent Agreement Information; Identity of Owners.  The City shall 
provide to the Bank copies of all notices, certificates, opinions and other reports or 
documents required to be filed pursuant to the Paying Agent Agreement. 

(g) Rating Agencies.  The City shall provide to the Bank promptly after any 
Rating Agency then maintaining an Obligor Rating shall have announced a change in, or 
suspension, removal, withdrawal or placement on ratings review or watch of, an Obligor 
Rating, written notice of such action. 

(h) Governmental Authority Filings.  The City shall furnish to the Bank 
promptly following receipt, copies of all reports and other materials filed or delivered by 



 

36 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

the City to or with any Governmental Authority, if applicable, which is a creditor of the 
City or which issues debt on behalf of the City. 

(i) Legislation or Proposed Legislation.  The City shall provide to the Bank 
copies of (i) any amendments or modifications to the Act and (ii) any other legislation of 
which the City has knowledge which could reasonably be expected to adversely impact the 
City’s ability to perform its obligations under the Related Documents or the Pledge. 

(j) Notices of Dispute.  The City shall promptly give written notice to the Bank 
of any material dispute which may exist between the City and any of the Dealer or the 
Paying Agent or any dispute of which the City has actual knowledge in connection with 
any transaction contemplated under this Agreement or any Related Document. 

Section 5.04. Further Assurances.  The City will from time to time promptly execute 
and deliver to the Bank (or as directed by the Bank) all further financing statements, amendments, 
confirmation statements and will register, record and file and re-register, re-record and re-file all 
such documents and instruments, at such time or times, in such manner and at such place or places, 
and shall take any and all other actions as may be necessary or reasonably required by the Bank to 
(a) perfect and protect, any lien, pledge or security interest or other right or interest given, or 
purported to be given to the Bank or any Owner under or in connection with the CP Ordinance, 
this Agreement or the other Related Documents, (b) enable the Bank to exercise and enforce its 
rights under this Agreement and its rights and the rights of the Owners of the Notes, as and in the 
manner provided in the CP Ordinance, this Agreement and the other Related Documents and (c) 
further and more fully vest in the Bank all rights, interests, powers, benefits, privileges, and 
advantages conferred or intended to be conferred upon them by any of the Related Documents.  
Except to the extent it is exempt therefrom, the City will pay or cause to be paid all filing, 
registration and recording fees incident to such filing, registration and recording, and all expenses 
incident to the preparation, execution and acknowledgment of such instruments of further 
assurance, and all federal or state fees and other similar fees, duties, imposts, assessments and 
charges arising out of or in connection with the execution and delivery of such instruments of 
further assurance.  In the event that the Bank Note shall at any time be lost or destroyed, then upon 
the execution and delivery by the Bank to the City of a lost bank note affidavit, which shall include 
a representation by the Bank that it is unable to account for or locate the Bank Note (the “Original 
Bank Note”) and an indemnification by the Bank to protect the City from liability arising under 
the Original Bank Note, the City shall duly execute and deliver a replacement Bank Note (the 
“Replacement Bank Note”) which shall be identical to the Original Bank Note.  The form of lost 
bank note affidavit to be provided by the Bank shall be mutually satisfactory to counsel for the 
Bank and counsel for the City. 

Section 5.05. Right of Entry; Communication with Accountant. 

(a) The City shall permit the agents or representatives of the Bank during 
normal business hours and, at any time a Default does not exist, upon reasonable prior 
notice, to enter the premises of the City, or any parts thereof, to examine and copy the 
City’s financial and corporate books, records and accounts, and to discuss the affairs, 
finances, business and accounts of the City with the City’s officers, board members, 
employees and agents. 



 

37 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(b) (i)  At any time that a Default exists, the City authorizes the Bank to 
communicate directly with its Accountant, and authorizes and shall instruct those 
accountants to communicate with, disclose and make available to, the Bank, any and all 
financial statements and other supporting financial documents, schedules and information 
relating to the City with respect to the business, results of operations and financial condition 
and other affairs of the City; and 

(ii) at any time that no Default exists, the City shall upon receipt of 
written notice from the Bank, made with reasonable prior notice, instruct and 
authorize its Accountant to jointly with the City communicate with, disclose and 
make available to, the Bank, any and all financial statements and other supporting 
financial documents, schedules and information relating to the City with respect to 
the business, results of operations and financial condition and other affairs of the 
City. 

Section 5.06. Payment of Obligations; Removal of Liens.  The City will pay (a) all 
Debts and obligations of the City in accordance with the terms thereof, (b) all amounts payable by 
it hereunder and under the Related Documents in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof and 
(c) any assessments or other governmental charges as the same respectively become due, all taxes, 
assessments (general or special) and governmental charges of any kind whatsoever that may be at 
any time lawfully assessed or levied against or with respect to any of its or their property or any 
interest thereon; provided that the City may withhold payment of sums described under subpart 
(c) where (i) the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate 
proceedings, (ii) the City has set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in 
accordance with GAAP and (iii) the failure to make payment pending such contest could not result 
in a Material Adverse Effect.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City will pay and discharge any 
and all lawful claims for labor, materials or supplies which, if unpaid, might become a Lien on the 
Funds pledged to pay the Bank Debt Service or the Notes. 

Section 5.07. Incorporation of Covenants. 

(a) The covenants of the City set forth in the CP Ordinance and each of the 
other Related Documents to which the City is a party, as well as related defined terms 
contained therein, are hereby incorporated by reference herein with the same effect as if 
each and every such provision were set forth herein in its entirety for the benefit of the 
Bank and shall be enforceable by the Bank against the City.  All such incorporated 
covenants shall be in addition to the express covenants contained herein and shall not be 
limited by the express covenants contained herein nor shall such incorporated covenants 
be a limitation on the express covenants contained herein.  To the extent that any such 
incorporated provision permits any Person to waive compliance with or consent to such 
provision or requires that a document, opinion, report or other instrument or any event or 
condition be acceptable or satisfactory to any Person, the waiver or consent or approval, as 
applicable, of the Bank shall be required under this Agreement and such compliance shall 
be waived, or such provision shall be consented to, only if it is waived or consented to, as 
the case may be, by the Bank and such document, opinion, report or other instrument shall 
be acceptable or satisfactory to the Bank.  No amendment to such covenants (or the defined 
terms relating thereto) made pursuant to any of the Related Documents shall be effective 



 

38 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

to amend such incorporated covenants without the written consent of the Bank.  
Notwithstanding the termination or expiration of any Related Document, the City shall, 
unless such Related Document has terminated or expired in accordance with its terms and 
has been replaced by a new Related Document, continue to observe the covenants therein 
until the termination of this Agreement. 

(b) The City shall diligently and in good faith pursue enforcement of each of 
the Related Documents to which it is a party against each of the other parties thereto and 
shall in particular and not in limitation of the foregoing cause the Paying Agent and the 
Dealer at all times to comply with the terms of the Related Documents to which they are a 
party. 

Section 5.08. Reserved. 

Section 5.09. Alternate Letter of Credit. 

(a) The City covenants to employ its best efforts to obtain, as of the 
Termination Date, an Alternate Letter of Credit to replace the Letter of Credit unless the 
City terminates as of such date the Commercial Paper Program. 

(b) The City agrees that any Alternate Letter of Credit will require, as a 
condition to the effectiveness of the Alternate Letter of Credit, that the provider of the 
Alternate Letter of Credit, or the City, will provide funds to the extent necessary, in addition 
to other funds available, on the date the Alternate Letter of Credit becomes effective, for 
the payment in full of all amounts owing under the Bank Note at par plus accrued interest.  
On such date all Required Payments owing to the Bank hereunder or under the Bank Note 
shall be paid in full to the Bank by the City. 

(c) The City shall not permit an Alternate Letter of Credit as described in 
subparagraph (a) to become effective with respect to less than all of the Notes without the 
prior written consent of the Bank. 

Section 5.10. Disclosure to Participants.  The City agrees to permit the Bank to disclose 
any information received by the Bank in connection herewith, including without limitation the 
financial information described in Section 5.02, to any assignees or Participants of the Bank in this 
Agreement without notice to or further consent from the City. 

Section 5.11. Maintenance of Existence.  The City will preserve and maintain its 
existence as a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Texas and maintain 
all rights and privileges necessary and desirable in the normal conduct of its business and in the 
performance of its obligations under the Related Documents to which it is a party.  The City will 
continue to conduct in the ordinary course the activities in which it is presently engaged. 

Section 5.12. Use of Proceeds.  The City shall (a) cause the proceeds from each Drawing 
made pursuant to the Letter of Credit and this Agreement to be used solely for the specific purpose 
set forth under the CP Ordinance and this Agreement and (b) use the proceeds of the Notes solely 
for the capital purposes set forth in an approved Fiscal Year budget or other approved planning 
documents, or as otherwise approved by the City Council of the City.  The City will not use the 



 

39 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

proceeds of the Notes or the proceeds from Drawings in a manner which violates Regulation U, as 
it may be amended or interpreted from time to time by the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System. 

Section 5.13. Issuance of Notes.  The City covenants and agrees to issue and sell Notes 
on the date and in the principal amount of maturing notes to the extent that there are not amounts 
otherwise available to reimburse the Bank for amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit by reason 
of such maturity.  The City shall obtain an opinion of nationally-recognized bond counsel to the 
effect that interest on all Notes shall be excluded from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes. 

Section 5.14. Reserved. 

Section 5.15. CUSIP Numbers.  The City shall at all times cause Notes and the Bank 
Note to be assigned a CUSIP Number. 

Section 5.16. Rating Maintenance.  The City covenants that at all times from and 
including the Date of Issuance until the defeasance or indefeasible payment in full of all Notes and 
the indefeasible payment in full of all Required Payments it will (a) maintain a published Obligor 
Rating from at least two of S&P, Moody’s and Fitch, (b) cause at least two of S&P, Moody’s and 
Fitch to assign short term ratings to the Notes and (c) maintain a published long-term rating on the 
Bank Note from Moody’s or Fitch. 

Section 5.17. Reserved. 

Section 5.18. Budget.  The City covenants to prepare and adopt a budget prior to the 
beginning of each Fiscal Year, which budget shall provide for appropriations at levels required to 
make all payments of principal, interest, fees, reserves and any other expenditures required or 
contemplated under the Related Documents, including all Bank Debt Service, and sufficient to pay 
in such Fiscal Year, to the extent the same becomes due in such Fiscal Year, the Required 
Payments under this Agreement and all debt service payments on all other principal and interest 
on any other outstanding Debt of the City. 

Section 5.19. Employee Benefit Plan Compliance.  The City shall, in a timely fashion, 
comply in all material respects with all requirements under any employee benefit plan in which 
the City or any of its employees participate 

Section 5.20. Right to Accelerate.  In the event that the City has entered into or shall, 
directly or indirectly, enter into or otherwise consent to any Bank Agreement, which such Bank 
Agreement includes the right to accelerate the payment of the principal of or interest on any series 
of bonds or Debt upon the occurrence of an event of default under terms more favorable than those 
provided herein, the Bank shall be deemed to have the right to accelerate the payment of all 
amounts owed under the Bank Note (and all other obligations due and owing hereunder) under the 
same terms and conditions set forth under any such Bank Agreement.  If requested by the Bank, 
the City shall promptly enter into an amendment to this Agreement to include such provision, 
provided that the Bank shall maintain the benefit of such provision even if the City fails to provide 
such amendment. The release, termination or other discharge of such other documentation which 
provides for acceleration of any bonds or Debt shall be effective to amend, release, terminate or 



 

40 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

discharge (as applicable) such provision as incorporated by reference herein without the consent 
of the Bank. 

Section 5.21. Dealer.  The City shall at all times cause a Dealer acceptable to the Bank to 
be in place, under a Dealer Agreement in form and substance acceptable to the Bank and the City 
agrees that any Dealer (or any parent of the Dealer) must have minimum capital of $500,000,000 
and shall be rated at least “A-” (or its equivalent) by S&P or Fitch or “A3” (or its equivalent) by 
Moody’s.  The Dealer Agreement shall contain at all times a provision or provisions under which 
the Dealer shall covenant to: (i) not resign except upon sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to the 
Bank, (ii) use its best efforts to place the Notes, and (iii) place the Notes at rates up to and including 
the maximum rate permitted under the CP Ordinance without regard to the rate payable to the 
Bank.  If at any time the Dealer shall fail to perform its duties or shall fail to place the Notes for a 
period of thirty (30) consecutive days, the City shall, at the direction of the Bank, appoint a 
successor Dealer who shall be acceptable to the Bank. 

Section 5.22. Compliance with Contracts.  The City will neither take nor omit to take 
any action under any Other Obligation if the effect of such act or failure to act would in any manner 
impair or adversely affect the ability of the City to pay the Required Payments. 

ARTICLE VI 
 

NEGATIVE COVENANTS AND COVENANTS ANCILLARY THERETO 

The City covenants and agrees that until the principal of and interest on the Notes and all 
Required Payments have been indefeasibly paid in full and all other obligations of the City under 
this Agreement or with respect to the Bank Note have been paid and performed and the Bank shall 
have no further obligation or liability under or in respect of the Letter of Credit: 

Section 6.01. Amendments.  The City shall not amend, modify or supplement, nor agree 
to any amendment or modification of, or supplement to, any of the Related Documents or consent 
to, or permit or suffer to occur any action, course of dealing or omission which results in, or is 
equivalent to, an amendment, supplementation, termination or, modification of any of the Related 
Documents, without obtaining the prior written consent of the Bank and any such amendment, 
supplementation, termination or modification made or entered into in violation of this Section shall 
be deemed a nullity and of no force and effect.  The City shall not take any action, nor cause the 
Paying Agent to take any action under any of the Related Documents, which is inconsistent with, 
or could reasonably be expected to impair, the City’s obligations, or the rights of the Bank under 
this Agreement or any of the other Related Documents including, without limitation, any right or 
remedy of the Bank upon an Event of Default, the City’s obligations to make payments to the Bank 
under Article II of this Agreement, or the Pledge. 

Section 6.02. Preservation of Existence, Etc.  The City will not directly or indirectly 
liquidate, wind up, terminate, reorganize, dissolve, merge or consolidate with any other Person (or 
suffer any liquidation, winding up, termination, reorganization or dissolution), or form or acquire 
any subsidiary (other than in the ordinary course of business as conducted as of the Closing Date), 
nor shall it sell, lease, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of (in a single transaction or a series of 
transactions) all or substantially all of its property. 



 

41 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Section 6.03. Certain Information.  The City shall cause the Dealer not to include in an 
offering document or circular or reoffering supplement for the Notes any information concerning 
the Bank that is not supplied in writing, or otherwise approved in writing, by the Bank expressly 
for inclusion therein. 

Section 6.04. Paying Agent; Dealer.  The City shall not remove the Paying Agent or the 
Dealer or appoint a successor to the Paying Agent or the Dealer without the written consent of the 
Bank, not to be unreasonably withheld, and the City shall contractually require that the resignation 
or removal of any Paying Agent or Dealer (including each successor thereto) shall only be effective 
upon the appointment of a successor acceptable to the Bank and the acceptance of such 
appointment by such successor; provided that any successor Paying Agent or Dealer (or any parent 
of the Paying Agent or Dealer) must have minimum capital of $500,000,000 and shall be rated at 
least “A-” (or its equivalent) by S&P or Fitch or “A3” (or its equivalent) by Moody’s.  The City 
shall provide the Bank written notice of any change in the identity of the Paying Agent or Dealer 
upon becoming aware of the same.  Upon written notice from the Bank that the Paying Agent or 
the Dealer is failing to perform its respective duties in the manner contemplated by the CP 
Ordinance or the other Related Documents, the City shall replace or cause to be replaced the 
Paying Agent or the Dealer, as the case may be, with a successor acceptable to the Bank.  If the 
position of Paying Agent or Dealer becomes vacant, the City shall promptly appoint a successor 
which is reasonably acceptable to the Bank. 

Section 6.05. Accounting Methods; Fiscal Year; Entity Classification.  The City will 
not adopt, permit or consent to any change in accounting practices other than as required by GAAP 
and will not adopt, permit or consent to any change in its Fiscal Year or take (or permit to be taken) 
any action that results in a change to its entity classification for U.S. federal income tax purposes. 

Section 6.06. Exempt Status.  The City shall not take any action or omit to take any 
action, respectively, that, if taken or omitted, respectively, could cause any revocation or adverse 
modification of its federal income tax exempt status or which would cause the interest on the Notes 
to be included in the gross income of the Owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation 
under the Code. 

Section 6.07. Defeasance.  The City will not defease, nor allow the defeasance of, the 
Notes without (i) procuring a Verification Report and providing a copy thereof to the Bank and 
(ii) contemporaneously paying all Required Payments and satisfying all obligations of the City 
hereunder. 

Section 6.08. Reserved. 

Section 6.09. Reserved. 

Section 6.10. No Sovereign Immunity; Waiver of Related Defenses.  To the fullest 
extent permitted by applicable law, the City hereby waives any exemption or immunity, whether 
on the basis of sovereign immunity or any similar legal or equitable principle, doctrine or rule of 
law and whether now or at any time hereafter arising, of the City with respect to its contractual 
obligations under this Agreement and the other Related Documents or with respect to any of its or 
their revenues, assets or property (irrespective of their use or intended use), from (a) jurisdiction, 



 

42 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(b) liability, suit or other legal or equitable remedy for the amounts due and payable under the 
Notes, this Agreement or any of the other Related Documents or the performance of any of its 
other obligations hereunder or thereunder, and (c) enforcement of any judgment, order or decree 
to which it or its revenues, assets or property may be made subject.  The City further hereby 
irrevocably agrees not to assert or to otherwise obtain the benefit of, in any civil action or other 
legal proceeding in any court of competent jurisdiction brought to enforce or collect upon the 
obligations of the City under this Agreement, the Bank Note, the other Related Documents or in 
respect of the Transactions, (i) any defense to personal jurisdiction, and (ii) any defense against 
relief by writ of mandamus for the performance of its obligations. 

Section 6.11. Material Contracts. 

(a) The City covenants to perform each of its obligations and covenants under 
each of the Material Contracts and to enforce the material covenants and obligations of the 
respective contracting party to each Material Contract and not to consent, except with the 
prior written consent of the Bank, to any waiver of the timely performance of any material 
covenant by the respective contracting party thereto. 

(b) Furthermore, the City covenants not to consent to or permit the amendment, 
cancellation, termination, non renewal, non continuation or rescission of, except with the 
prior written consent of the Bank, any Material Contract, nor to otherwise take or fail to 
take any action required or permitted to be taken by it under or in connection with a 
Material Contract, provided, however, that the City shall not be in breach of this subsection 
(b) to the extent that, in the case of any such cancellation, termination, non renewal, non 
continuation or rescission or other action or omission, such occurrence would not and could 
not reasonably be expected to (x) expose the City to any materially greater risks, costs or 
liabilities, or (y) impair or adversely affect the ability of the City to pay all Contracts and 
Bonds and to pay the Bank Note and the other Required Payments. 

Section 6.12. Incurrence of Bonds and Contracts.  The City shall not issue or enter into, 
as the case may be, any Bonds or Contracts (a) except in compliance with all requirements of this 
Agreement and (b) during any time that a Default exists hereunder or under any Related Document. 

Section 6.13. Reserved. 

Section 6.14. Investment of Funds.  The City shall cause all moneys held in the Funds 
established under the CP Ordinance to be invested in Permitted Investments.  The City shall not 
after the Date of Issuance supplement or otherwise modify or amend (except by the removal of 
one or more investments which are Permitted Investments as of the Date of Issuance) the list of 
Permitted Investments without the prior written consent of the Bank in its discretion. 

Section 6.15. Hedge Agreements.  The City will not enter into any Hedge Agreement 
hedging or otherwise relating to the Notes, the Bank Note or this Agreement without the prior 
written consent of the Bank. 

Section 6.16. Transactions with Affiliates.  The City certifies that it currently has no 
Affiliates.  If Affiliates of the City were established in the future, except as permitted in Section 
6.19 below, the City will not sell, lease or otherwise transfer any of its respective property to, or 



 

43 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property from, or otherwise engage in any other 
transactions with, any Affiliates, except in the ordinary course of business at prices and on terms 
and conditions not less favorable to the City than could be obtained on an arm’s length basis from 
unrelated third parties. 

Section 6.17. Investment Policy.  The City shall maintain its Investment Policy dated 
January 20, 2015 (the “Investment Policy”), as submitted to the Bank, in compliance with 
Applicable Law.  In the case of any amendment, the City shall provide the Bank with an updated 
Investment Policy. 

Section 6.18. [Reserved]. 

Section 6.19. Tax Covenants.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 
absent an opinion of Special Counsel that the exclusion from gross income of interest with respect 
to the Notes will not be adversely affected for federal income tax purposes, the City covenants to 
comply with all applicable requirements of the Code necessary to preserve such exclusion from 
gross income and specifically covenants, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, as 
follows: 

(a) Private Activity.  The City will not take or omit to take any action or make 
any use of the proceeds of the Notes or of any other moneys or property which would cause 
the Notes to be “private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 141 of the Code. 

(b) Arbitrage.  The City will make no use of the proceeds of the Notes or of 
any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, or take or omit to take any action 
which would cause the Notes to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of Section 148 
of the Code. 

(c) Federal Guarantee.  The City will make no use of the proceeds of the Notes 
or take or omit to take any action that would cause the Notes to be “federally guaranteed” 
within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code. 

(d) Information Reporting.  The City will take or cause to be taken all 
necessary action to comply with the informational reporting requirements of Section 149(e) 
of the Code. 

(e) Hedge Bonds.  The City will make no use of the proceeds of the Notes or 
any other amounts or property, regardless of the source, or take any action or refrain from 
taking any action that would cause the Notes to be considered “hedge bonds” within the 
meaning of Section 149(g) of the Code unless the City takes all necessary action to assure 
compliance with the requirements of Section 149(g) of the Code to maintain the exclusion 
from gross income of interest on the Notes for federal income tax purposes. 

(f) Miscellaneous.  The City will take no action, or omit to take any action, 
inconsistent with the expectations stated in any Tax Certificate executed with respect to the 
Notes and will comply with the covenants and requirements stated therein and incorporated 
by reference herein. 



 

44 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

ARTICLE VII 
 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT 

Section 7.01. Events of Default.  The occurrence of any of the following events shall 
constitute an “Event of Default”: 

(a) Failure of the City to pay or cause to be paid when due any amount owed 
by the City under this Agreement or the Bank Note; 

(b) Failure of the City to observe or perform the covenants set forth in any of 
Sections 5.02, 5.03, 5.06, 5.09, 5.11, 5.12, 5.13, 5.16, 5.17, 5.21, 5.22, 6.01, 6.02, 6.04, 
6.06, 6.07, 6.10, 6.11, 6.12 and 6.15; 

(c) Failure of the City to observe or perform any covenant, condition or 
provision of this Agreement (other than as specified in (a) or (b) above) and such failure 
remains uncured 10 Business Days after the earlier of (i) a senior officer of the City having 
knowledge of such breach or (ii) written notice of such failure from the Bank to the City 
and the Paying Agent, or failure to observe or perform any covenant, condition or provision 
contained in any Related Document and, in the case of any covenant incorporated by 
reference pursuant to Section 5.07 hereof which is not a payment or financial covenant, 
after the expiration of any applicable grace period contained in the relevant Related 
Document; 

(d) Any representation or warranty made or deemed made by or on behalf of 
the City in this Agreement or any other Related Document or in any amendment of, or 
waiver under, this Agreement or other Related Document, or in any certificate, financial 
statement or other document furnished by or on behalf of the City pursuant to or in 
connection with this Agreement or any of the other Related Documents shall have been 
inaccurate or incomplete in any material respect when made or deemed to have been made; 

(e) The occurrence and continuation of a default, event of default or termination 
event under the CP Ordinance or the Notes or any of the other Related Documents, 
irrespective of whether said default, event of default or termination event is declared, 
undeclared or has been waived under the terms of such respective document; 

(f) Any Bond or Contract shall not be paid when and as the same shall become 
due and payable (whether by scheduled maturity, required prepayment, acceleration, 
demand or otherwise); 

(g) (i) Failure by the City to make any payment (whether of principal, interest 
or other amount) due in respect of (x) any Debt owed to the Bank or any Affiliate of the 
Bank, or (y) any other Debt having an aggregate outstanding principal amount in excess of 
$5,000,000 (measured in the case of any Hedge Agreement, by the City’s Exposure 
thereunder), in any such case, as and when the same shall become due and provided that 
any applicable notice or grace period shall not apply; or (ii) the occurrence or existence of 
a default or event of default (other than a payment default) or other similar condition by or 
on the part of the City, under any Other Obligation evidencing, issuing, securing or relating 



 

45 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

to such Debt described in (i) and continuance of such default or event of default or similar 
condition beyond the period of grace, if any, allowed with respect thereto, which results in 
such Debt becoming, or being capable of becoming, due and payable prior to its scheduled 
maturity and regardless of whether any such right is exercised (or, with respect to any 
Hedge Agreement, an event which results in such Hedge Agreement being terminated early 
or being capable of being terminated early, other than in the case of an optional termination 
exercised by the City and without liability for payment by the City of any Settlement 
Amount); 

(h) The entry or filing of one or more judgments or orders or of any similar 
decrees or decisions for the payment of money which, individually or in the aggregate, 
equals or exceeds $15,000,000 (each, a “Judgment”) shall be rendered against the City or 
against any of its or their respective properties or assets and (x) such Judgment shall be 
undischarged, unstayed or unbonded for a period of 60 consecutive days, or (y) any action 
shall be taken by a judgment creditor to attach, execute or levy upon any revenues or assets 
of the City to enforce any such Judgment; 

(i) The occurrence of an Event of Insolvency with respect to the City; 

(j) (i) one hundred twenty (120) days after the long-term unenhanced Obligor 
Rating shall be reduced below “Baa1” by Moody’s or below “BBB+” by S&P or Fitch, (ii) 
the long-term unenhanced Obligor Rating shall be withdrawn, suspended or reduced below 
“Baa3” by Moody’s or “BBB-” by S&P or Fitch, or (iii) the City shall no longer have an 
Obligor Rating from S&P or Moody’s;  

(k) This Agreement, any other Related Document or any provision of this 
Agreement or any of the other Related Documents shall cease to be valid and binding on 
the City or a Governmental Authority with jurisdiction to rule on the validity of this 
Agreement or any other Related Document shall so find, announce or rule, or the City or 
any Person on its behalf shall (i) contest the validity or enforceability of the Notes, the 
Bank Note, this Agreement or any other Related Document or any provision of this 
Agreement or any such other Related Document, (ii) deny that the City has any further 
liability under one or more provisions of the Bank Note, this Agreement or any of the other 
Related Documents or (iii) seek an adjudication that (y) this Agreement or the Bank Note 
or (z) a provision of this Agreement or the Bank Note or of any other Related Document 
relating to, or the absence or invalidity of which could adversely affect, the security for the 
Notes or the Bank Note or the City’s ability to pay the Bank Note or any other Required 
Payments, or the Notes or perform its obligations under this Agreement or any of the other 
Related Documents or the rights and remedies of the Bank, is not valid and binding on the 
City; 

(l) Any funds or accounts established or continued under any of the Related 
Documents shall become subject to any writ, judgment, warrant or attachment, execution 
or similar process; 

(m) (i) any Lien created by this Agreement or any of the other Related 
Documents in favor of any Owner or the Bank, at any time and for any reason (except as 



 

46 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

expressly permitted to be released by the terms of such governing document) shall not 
constitute a valid and perfected Lien or shall fail to have the priority required by this 
Agreement or such other Related Documents or, except as permitted under the CP 
Ordinance or this Agreement, the City shall so assert in writing, (ii) any legislation is 
enacted, repealed, reenacted, amended or otherwise modified, and such repeal, enactment, 
reenactment, amendment or modification, in the opinion of the Bank, has a Material 
Adverse Effect or (iii) any rescission of or amendment to or any other action under or in 
connection with any legislation, law or regulation relating to the Pledge which would (A) 
materially reduce the amount of the ad valorem tax revenues or the allocation of the ad 
valorem tax revenues to the payment of the Bank Note or the other Required Payments or 
the Notes or (B) impair or adversely affect the rights or security of the Owners or the Bank, 
under the CP Ordinance or this Agreement; 

(n) An event or condition (separately or in the aggregate with other events or 
conditions) occurs which in the judgment of the Bank results in, or could reasonably be 
expected to result in, a Material Adverse Change; 

(o) A repudiation by the City of the payment when due of the principal of or 
interest on any Debt of the City; or 

(p) (i) The breach by the City of any material covenant of the Dealer Agreement 
or the Paying Agent Agreement, respectively, or (ii)(A) the breach by the Dealer of any 
material covenant of the Dealer Agreement or (B) the breach by the Paying Agent of any 
material covenant of the Paying Agent Agreement or (C) the suspension or termination by 
the Dealer of its obligations under the Dealer Agreement and, in any such case described 
under (A), (B) or (C), the failure of the City, within thirty (30) days after written direction 
by the Bank, to either cause such breach to be cured or to replace such Dealer or Paying 
Agent, respectively, with a successor acceptable to the Bank in accordance with Section 
6.04 hereof. 

Section 7.02. Rights and Remedies. 

(a) If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing, the Bank may, in its sole 
discretion: 

(i) notify the Paying Agent and the City that an Event of Default has 
occurred and is continuing, 

(ii) (A) deliver to the Paying Agent a notice in the form of Schedule I to 
the Letter of Credit (a “No Issuance Notice”) stating that on the maturity date for 
the last Note to mature which was issued prior to the delivery of such No Issuance 
Notice and upon the Bank’s honoring Drawings under the Letter of Credit with 
respect to such Notes, the Letter of Credit shall terminate and be returned to the 
Bank, and any Notes issued after such No Issuance Notice shall constitute Excluded 
Notes, (B) deliver to the Paying Agent a Restricted Issuance Notice and thereafter 
Notes issued in a principal amount in excess of the principal amount of Notes 
maturing on the date such Notes are issued shall constitute Excluded Notes, or (C) 



 

47 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

deliver a notice to the Paying Agent stating that an Event of Default has occurred 
hereunder, directing that no additional Notes be issued, and stating that the Letter 
of Credit will terminate 10 days after the Paying Agent’s receipt of such notice, and 
any Notes issued after such notice shall constitute Excluded Notes, 

(iii) at any time subsequent to any notice under subpart (ii) and if the 
Bank has not already directed such action, the Bank may give notice to the City 
declaring the principal of the Bank Note, and the accrued interest thereon, to be 
immediately due and payable, 

(iv) by notice to the City, declare the entire unpaid principal and interest 
amount of any advances outstanding as a result of any Drawing (including any 
Term Amortization) together with accrued interest thereon, and all other amounts 
owing under the Bank Note or this Agreement, to be, whereupon the same shall 
become, immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or 
other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the City; provided that 
in the case of any of the Events of Default specified in Section 7.01(i) or 7.01(p) 
above, without any notice to the City or any other Person or any other act by the 
Bank, the principal amount of any advances outstanding as a result of any Drawing 
(including any Drawing thereafter occurring), together with accrued interest with 
respect thereto, and all other Required Payments owing to the Bank, and the Bank 
Note, shall be immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest 
or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the City, 

(v) (A) cure any default, event of default or event of nonperformance 
under this Agreement or under any of the Related Documents (in which event the 
City shall reimburse the Bank therefor pursuant to Section 2.11 hereof), (B) 
exercise its banker’s lien, or right of set off, (C) proceed to protect its right by suit 
in equity, action at law or other appropriate proceedings, whether for specific 
performance of any covenant or agreement of the City herein contained or in the 
exercise of any power or remedy granted to the Bank under any of the Related 
Documents, (D) exercise its rights under the Pledge and exercise any right it or the 
Paying Agent may have under the CP Ordinance or the Paying Agent Agreement 
to take any action, including without limitation any right it or the Paying Agent may 
have to direct or cause the Paying Agent to collect, foreclose, marshal, dispose of 
or otherwise realize on the Funds, and all of the ad valorem tax revenues of the City 
pursuant to and in compliance with the Related Documents, to cause the payment 
of ad valorem tax revenues and amounts on deposit in the Funds and payment to 
the Bank, and to otherwise direct or control the enforcement of remedies and 
proceedings taken under the Related Documents, and foreclose, marshal, dispose 
of and otherwise realize on any other collateral of the City pledged hereunder or 
under the Related Documents, on such terms and in such manner as the Bank may 
determine, or (E) exercise any other rights or remedies available under any Related 
Document, any other agreement or at law or in equity, 

(b) The rights and remedies of the Bank specified herein are for the sole and 
exclusive benefit, use and protection of the Bank, and the Bank is entitled, but shall have 



 

48 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

no duty or obligation to the City, the Paying Agent, the Owners of the Notes or any other 
Person, (i) to exercise or to refrain from exercising any right or remedy reserved to the 
Bank hereunder, or (ii) to cause the Paying Agent or any other Person to exercise or to 
refrain from exercising any right or remedy available to it under any of the Related 
Documents. 

(c) From and after the occurrence of an Event of Default, all amounts owing to 
the Bank hereunder and the Bank Note shall bear interest at the Default Rate. 

Section 7.03. No Waiver; Remedies.  No failure on the part of the Bank to exercise, and 
no delay in exercising, any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of such right; nor 
shall any single or partial exercise of any right under this Agreement preclude any other further 
exercise of such right or the exercise of any other right.  The remedies herein provided are 
cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law or equity. 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

NATURE OF OBLIGATIONS; INDEMNIFICATION 

Section 8.01. Obligations Absolute.  The obligations of the City to pay all Required 
Payments under this Agreement and the other Related Documents shall be absolute, unconditional 
and irrevocable, notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement or any other Related 
Document, and shall not be subject to any right of setoff, recoupment or counterclaim against the 
Bank or any Participant and shall be paid and performed strictly in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement under all circumstances whatsoever.  Until the principal of and interest on the 
Notes and all Required Payments including the repayment of all Drawings, have been indefeasibly 
paid in full and all other obligations of the City hereunder and under the Related Documents have 
been performed and discharged, the City waives and covenants not to assert any right of setoff or 
recoupment against its obligation to make all payments of principal, interest and all other Required 
Payments due hereunder and under the other Related Documents in the amounts and at the times 
required hereby and thereby, and shall make such payments without abatement, diminution, 
deduction, counterclaim or defense for any reason, including, without limitation, in the following 
circumstances: 

(a) any lack of validity or enforceability of the Letter of Credit or any of the 
Related Documents; 

(b) any amendment or waiver of any provision, term or condition of any of the 
Related Documents; 

(c) any failure of any portion of the Project to be delivered, constructed or 
completed, any defects, malfunctions, breakdowns or infirmities in the Project, any 
accident, condemnation, destruction or unforeseen circumstances, or any damage, 
destruction or condemnation of the Project or any part thereof or any acts or circumstances 
that may constitute failure of consideration or commercial frustration of purpose, any 
change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America or of the State, or any 
political subdivision of either thereof; 



 

49 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(d) the existence of any dispute with, or any claim, right of setoff or 
recoupment, defense or other rights which the City may have at any time against, the 
Paying Agent, any beneficiary or any transferee of the Letter of Credit (or any Persons for 
whom the Paying Agent, any such beneficiary or any such transferee may be acting), the 
Bank (other than the defense of payment to the Bank in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement), any Participant or any other Person, whether in connection with this 
Agreement, the Related Documents or any transaction contemplated thereby or any 
unrelated transaction; 

(e) any statement or any other document presented under the Letter of Credit 
proving to be forged, fraudulent, invalid or insufficient in any respect or any statement 
therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect whatsoever; 

(f) payment by the Bank under the Letter of Credit against presentation of a 
sight draft or certificate which does not comply with the terms of the Letter of Credit; and 

(g) any other event or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar to any 
of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of this Section, constitute a legal or 
equitable discharge of, or provide a right of setoff or recoupment against, the City’s 
obligations hereunder or under any of the other Related Documents. 

Section 8.02. Continuing Obligation.  All covenants, agreements, representations and 
warranties made by the City in this Agreement and in the certificates or other instruments delivered 
in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered to have been relied upon by 
the Bank and shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the issuance of the Letter 
of Credit and any Drawings under the Letter of Credit, regardless of any investigation made by the 
Bank or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Bank may have had notice or knowledge of any 
Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and 
shall continue in full force and effect as long as the Notes or any Required Payments remain 
outstanding and unpaid.  The obligations of the City under this Agreement shall survive the 
expiration or termination of the Letter of Credit and continue until the date upon which all amounts 
due and owing to the Bank hereunder and under the Bank Note shall have been indefeasibly paid 
in full; provided, however, that the obligations of the City pursuant to Article II and Article VIII 
and Sections 10.14 and 10.15 hereof shall survive any expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

Section 8.03. Liability of the Bank.  With respect to the Bank, the City assumes any and 
all risks with respect to the acts or omissions of each of the Paying Agent, the Dealer, any transferee 
of the Letter of Credit and any other Person in connection with its or their use of the Letter of 
Credit or of any amounts made available by the Bank thereunder.  Neither the Bank, its Affiliates 
nor any Participant nor any of their respective officers, directors, employees or agents shall be 
liable or responsible for any of the following: (a) the use that may be made of the Letter of Credit 
or any amounts made available by the Bank thereunder or for any acts or omissions of the Paying 
Agent, the City, the Dealer or any other Person in connection with the Letter of Credit or the use 
of its proceeds; (b) any of the acts, omissions, agreements, circumstances or conditions covered 
by the indemnification provided in Section 8.04 hereof; (c) any act or omission of the Bank; (d) 
the validity, sufficiency or genuineness of documents, or of any endorsement(s) thereon, even if 
such documents should in fact prove to be in any or all respects invalid, insufficient, fraudulent or 



 

50 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

forged; (e) payment by the Bank against presentation of documents which do not comply with the 
terms of the Letter of Credit, including failure of any documents to bear any reference or adequate 
reference to the Letter of Credit; or (f) any other circumstances whatsoever in making or failing to 
make payment under the Letter of Credit; provided, that, the City shall have a claim against the 
Bank, and the Bank shall be liable to the City, to the extent, but only to the extent, of any direct, 
actual damages, but expressly not for any lost profits or any incidental, consequential, special, 
indirect or punitive damages (the right to recover or receive lost profits, incidental, consequential, 
special, indirect or punitive damages being hereby waived), suffered by the City and not required 
to be mitigated by the City, which direct, actual damages are determined by a final and 
nonappealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction to have been directly caused by (i) 
the Bank’s willful misconduct or gross negligence in determining whether documents presented 
under the Letter of Credit comply with the terms thereof or (ii) the Bank’s willful failure to pay 
under the Letter of Credit after the presentation to it by the Paying Agent of a draft and certificate 
strictly complying with the terms and conditions thereof; provided, however, that the maximum 
amount of damages recoverable by the City as provided above is expressly limited to the Stated 
Amount.  In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, the Bank may accept documents 
that appear on their face to be in order, without responsibility for further investigation, regardless 
of any notice or information to the contrary. 

Section 8.04. Indemnification; Taxes, Etc.  To the extent permitted by law and in 
addition to any and all rights of reimbursement, indemnification, subrogation or any other rights 
pursuant hereto or under law or equity, the City hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless each of the Bank, its Affiliates, each Participant and each of the respective officers, 
directors, employees and agents of the foregoing Persons (each an “Indemnified Party”) from and 
against any and all claims, damages, losses, liabilities, reasonable costs or expenses whatsoever 
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees) that an Indemnified Party may incur (or which may be 
claimed against an Indemnified Party by any Person whatsoever) that arises out of or in connection 
with any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Related Documents, including, 
without limitation, (i) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of any material fact 
contained or incorporated by reference in the Offering Memorandum or any other Offering 
Memorandum or document used in connection with the Notes or the Letter of Credit, or in any 
supplement or amendment thereof, or the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material 
fact necessary to make such statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they are or 
were made, not misleading or the failure to deliver the Offering Memorandum or any other 
Offering Memorandum or document to any offeree or purchaser of Notes (but excluding the Bank 
Disclosure or equivalent disclosure information relating to the Bank included in such other 
Offering Memorandum or document and provided in writing by the Bank for inclusion therein); 
(ii) the execution and delivery or transfer of, or payment or failure to pay under the Letter of Credit; 
(iii) the issuing, offering, sale, remarketing or resale of the Notes; (iv) the proposed or actual use 
of the proceeds of the Notes or of any amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit; (v) the untruth or 
material inaccuracy of any warranty or representation undertaken or given by the City in this 
Agreement or any Related Document or in any certificate furnished hereunder or thereunder or the 
breach or nonperformance by any Person of any covenant of this Agreement or any other Related 
Document; (vi) any act or omission of the City or any imposition arising from, burden imposed 
by, violation of, or failure to comply with, any Applicable Law by the City; (vii) any Taxes or 
Other Taxes; or (viii)(A) any patent or latent condition of or any real property, land or structure 
owned, leased or occupied by the City, (B) the construction, reconstruction, improvement, use, 



 

51 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

occupancy, conduct or management of or any work or anything whatsoever done or omitted to be 
done in or about any real property, land or structure owned, leased or occupied by the City or (C) 
any accident, injury or damage whatsoever to any person occurring in or about any real property, 
land or structure owned, leased or occupied by the City; provided, in each case, that the City shall 
not be required to indemnify the Bank for any claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs or expenses 
to the extent, but only to the extent, directly caused by (1) the willful misconduct or gross 
negligence of the Bank or (2) the Bank’s willful failure to pay under the Letter of Credit after the 
presentation to it by the Paying Agent of a draft and certificate strictly complying with the terms 
and conditions of the Letter of Credit, to the extent that there has been a final and nonappealable 
judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction that such claims, damages, losses, liabilities, costs 
and expenses were directly caused by the willful misconduct or gross negligence of the Bank.  If 
any proceeding shall be brought or threatened against an Indemnified Party by reason of or in 
connection with the events described in (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v), (vi), (vii) or (viii), such Indemnified 
Party shall promptly notify the City in writing and the City shall assume the defense thereof, 
including the employment of counsel and the payment of all costs of litigation.  The City will not 
settle or compromise any such action or claim without the prior written consent of the relevant 
Indemnified Party if the settlement or compromise would require any act or admission by such 
Indemnified Party or any of its Affiliates, or impose any cost or expense on the Indemnified Party 
or its Affiliates or impose any limitation on the business or future actions of the Indemnified Party 
or its Affiliates.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, an Indemnified Party shall have the right 
to employ its own counsel and to determine its own defense of such action in any such case, but 
the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnified Party unless (x) 
the employment of such counsel has been authorized in writing by the City or (y) the City, after 
due notice of the action, shall not have employed counsel to have charge of such defense, in either 
of which events the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel for such Indemnified Party shall be 
borne by the City.  The City shall not be liable for any settlement of any such action effected 
without its consent.  Nothing under this Section 8.04 shall or shall be construed to limit the City’s 
payment obligations under Article II. 

The provisions of this Section 8.04 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the 
payment in full of the Notes and the obligations of the City thereunder and hereunder. 

Section 8.05. Facsimile Documents.  At the request of the City, the Letter of Credit 
provides that Drawings thereunder may be presented to the Bank by, among other methods, 
facsimile.  The City acknowledges and assumes all risks relating to the use of such facsimile 
demands for payment and agrees that its obligations under this Agreement and the Related 
Documents shall remain absolute, unconditional and irrevocable as provided in Section 8.01 above 
if the Bank honors such facsimile demands for payment. 

ARTICLE IX 
 

TRANSFER, REDUCTION OR REINSTATEMENT OF LETTER OF CREDIT 

Section 9.01. Transfer, Reduction and Reinstatement.  The Letter of Credit may be 
transferred, reduced and reinstated in accordance with the provisions set forth therein. 



 

52 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

ARTICLE X 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.01. Right of Setoff.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Bank and 
its Affiliates may, at any time and from time to time, without notice to the City or any other Person 
(any such notice being expressly waived), set off and appropriate and apply, against and on account 
of, any obligations and liabilities of the City to the Bank or its Affiliates, whether or not arising 
under or connected with this Agreement or the Related Documents and without regard to whether 
or not the Bank shall have made any demand therefor and although such obligations and liabilities 
may be contingent or unmatured and regardless of currency, place of payment or booking office 
thereof, any and all deposits (general or special, including but not limited to Debt evidenced by 
certificates of deposit, but not including trust accounts) and any other Debt or other payment 
obligation at any time held or owing by the Bank or its Affiliates to or for the credit or the account 
of the City, whether or not arising under or connected with this Agreement or the Related 
Documents, whether or not matured, whether or not contingent and regardless of the currency, 
place of payment or booking office thereof.  The rights of the Bank under this Section are in 
addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which the Bank may have 
at law or in equity. 

Section 10.02. Amendments and Waivers; Remedies Cumulative.  No amendment or 
waiver of any provision of this Agreement nor any consent to any departure by the City from any 
such provision shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed by the 
Bank.  Any such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the 
specific purpose for which given.  In the event any covenant or agreement contained in this 
Agreement should be breached by the City and thereafter waived by the Bank, such waiver shall 
be limited to the particular breach so waived for the specific period set out in such waiver and such 
waiver shall not constitute a waiver of such breach for any other period and shall not waive any 
other or similar breach hereunder.  Specifically and not in limitation of the foregoing, this 
Agreement may not be amended or modified by course of dealing, oral acknowledgement or 
agreement or by any writing, unless it is a writing which is expressly stated to constitute an 
amendment of this Agreement and is signed by an authorized officer of the Bank, and Authorized 
Representative.  The rights and remedies of the Bank hereunder are cumulative and are not 
exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have. 

Section 10.03. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by 
different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but 
all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. 

Section 10.04. Notices.  All notices, requests, demands, directions and other 
communications (collectively “notices”) under the provisions of this Agreement shall be in writing 
(including facsimile communication), unless otherwise expressly permitted hereunder, and shall 
be properly addressed and sent by registered or certified mail or by express courier for next 
Business Day delivery and shall be deemed received as follows: (a) if by registered or certified 
mail, five (5) days after mailing; (b) if by express courier for next Business Day delivery, on the 
next Business Day; and (c) if by facsimile, when confirmation of transmission is obtained if prior 
to 5:00 p.m. local time on a Business Day, and otherwise, on the next Business Day; provided that 



 

53 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

service of a notice prescribed by any applicable statute shall be considered complete when the 
requirements of that statute are met.  Notices by electronic mail (e-mail) shall not constitute notice 
under this Agreement and are only to be used in addition to notice given as prescribed under (a), 
(b) or (c) of this Section 10.04.  All notices shall be sent to the applicable party at the following 
address or in accordance with the last unrevoked written direction from such party to the other 
parties hereto:   

if to the City, addressed to the City at: 
 

City of Garland, Texas 
200 N. Fifth Street 
Garland, Texas 75040 
Attention: Matt Watson, Finance Director  
Telephone: 972-205-2355 
Facsimile: 972-205-2810 
E-Mail: mwatson@garlandtx.gov 

 
or if to the Bank, addressed to if at: 
 

For Administrative Matters: 
 
Barclays Capital Inc. 
Municipal Finance - Liquidity 
745 7th Ave, 19th Floor 
New York, NY  10019 
Attention: R. Cassandra Bolz 
Telephone: (212) 526-3974 
 

and, with respect to the Letter of Credit: 
 

Barclays Bank PLC 
745 7th Ave 
New York, NY  10019 
Attention: Letter of Credit Department 
Telephone: (212) 320-7534 or (212) 320-7537 

 
With a copy to: 
 

Barclays Capital Inc. 
Municipal Finance - Liquidity 
745 7th Ave, 19th Floor 
New York, NY  10019 
Attention: R. Cassandra Bolz 
Telephone: (212) 526-3974 

 
or if to the Paying Agent, addressed to it at: 
 



 

54 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

U.S. Bank National Association 
Corporate Trust Services 
100 Wall Street, Suite 600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: Wendy Kumar, Corporate Trust Services 
Telephone: 212-951-8651 
E-Mail: wendy.kumar@usbank.com 

 
or if to the Dealer, addressed to it at: 
 

 
 

Section 10.05. Severability.  Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited, 
unenforceable or not authorized in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to 
the extent of such prohibition, unenforceability or nonauthorization without invalidating the 
remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity, enforceability or legality of such provision 
in any other jurisdiction. The parties shall endeavor, in good faith negotiations, to replace the 
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions with valid provisions, the economic effect of which 
comes as close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions. 

Section 10.06. GOVERNING LAW.  THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO 
BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND TOGETHER WITH ANY DISPUTES OR 
CONTROVERSIES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE 
GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE 
LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW, WITHOUT 
REGARD TO CHOICE OF LAW RULES OTHER THAN NEW YORK GENERAL 
OBLIGATIONS LAW SECTION 5-1401 (OR ANY SUCCESSOR STATUTE THERETO); 
PROVIDED THAT THE OBLIGATIONS AND RIGHTS OF THE CITY AND LEGAL 
AUTHORITY AND CAPACITY OF THE CITY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE 
GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE 
OF TEXAS. 

Section 10.07. Service of Process.  The City and the Bank also irrevocably consent to the 
service of any and all process in any such action or proceeding by the mailing of copies of such 
process to the respective address set forth for such party in Section 10.04.  The City and the Bank 
agree that a final judgment in any suit, action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be 
enforced in appropriate jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by 
law.  All mailings under this Section 10.07 shall be by certified mail, return receipt requested. 

Nothing in this Section 10.07 shall affect the right of the Bank to serve legal process in any 
other manner permitted by law or affect the right of the Bank to bring any suit, action or proceeding 
against the City or its property in the courts of any other jurisdiction. 

Section 10.08. Headings.  Section headings in this Agreement are included herein for 
convenience of reference only and shall not have any effect for purposes of interpretation or 
construction of the terms of this Agreement. 



 

55 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Section 10.09. Participations.  The City acknowledges and agrees that the Bank may 
participate all or any portion of its obligations under the Letter of Credit and the obligations of the 
City under the Bank Note and under this Agreement and any other Related Documents 
(collectively, the “Participated Obligations”) to other financial institutions and waives any notice 
of such participations; provided that no Participant shall be entitled to receive (nor shall the Bank 
be entitled to receive on behalf of any Participant) any greater payment under Section 2.07 than 
the Bank would have been entitled to receive without regard to any such participation unless any 
such participation is made with the express written consent of the City.  The City agrees to provide 
to the Bank, promptly upon request, a copy of the most recent financial information concerning 
the City in connection with any such participation or prospective participation.  The Bank may 
disclose to any Participants or prospective Participants any information or other data or material 
in the Bank’s possession relating to this Agreement, the Offering Memorandum or any other 
Related Document, without the consent of or notice to the City.  The City further acknowledges 
and agrees that upon any such participation the Participants will become owners of a pro rata 
portion of the Participated Obligations and the City waives any right of setoff it may at any time 
have against the Bank or any Participant with regard to the Participated Obligations.  The grant of 
any participation interest in the Participated Obligations shall not impair the Bank’s obligation to 
honor Drawings made in accordance with the express terms of the Letter of Credit. 

Section 10.10. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure 
to the benefit of the City, the Bank and their respective successors, endorsees and assigns, except 
that the City shall not assign, transfer or delegate all or any portion of its rights or obligations 
hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank.  The Bank may grant interests in its rights 
hereunder as provided in Section 10.09; provided, however, that no such grant shall affect the 
obligations of the Bank under the Letter of Credit.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Agreement, the Bank may at any time pledge or grant a security interest in all or any portion of its 
rights (including, without limitation, rights to payment under this Agreement) to secure obligations 
of the Bank, including any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank, 
without notice to or consent of the City; provided that no such pledge or grant of a security interest 
shall release the Bank from any of its obligations hereunder, as the case may be, or substitute any 
such pledgee or grantee for the Bank as a party hereto, as the case may be. 

Section 10.11. Complete and Controlling Agreement.  This Agreement and the other 
Related Documents completely set forth the agreements between the Bank and the City and 
supersede all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements and contracts, both written 
and oral, between the Bank, and the City relating to the issuance of the Letter of Credit and all 
matters set forth herein and in the Related Documents. 

Section 10.12. Waiver of Rule of Construction.  The City hereby waives any and all 
provisions of law to the effect that an ambiguity in a contract or agreement should be interpreted 
against the party responsible for its drafting. 

Section 10.13. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.  TO THE FULLEST EXTENT 
PERMITTED BY LAW, THE CITY AND THE BANK EACH HEREBY KNOWINGLY, 
VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE ANY RIGHTS THEY MAY HAVE TO A 
TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LITIGATION (WHETHER AS CLAIM, COUNTER 
CLAIM, AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OR OTHERWISE) BASED HEREON, OR ARISING OUT 



 

56 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS AGREEMENT, OR ANY COURSE OF 
CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS (WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN) OR 
ACTIONS OF THE CITY OR THE BANK.  THE CITY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES 
THAT IT HAS RECEIVED FULL AND SUFFICIENT CONSIDERATION FOR THIS 
PROVISION AND RECOGNIZES AND AGREES THAT THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL 
INDUCEMENT FOR THE BANK ENTERING INTO THIS AGREEMENT AND ISSUING 
THE LETTER OF CREDIT.  THE CITY REPRESENTS AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT 
HAS REVIEWED THIS PROVISION WITH ITS LEGAL COUNSEL AND THAT IT HAS 
KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVED ANY JURY TRIAL RIGHTS IT MAY HAVE 
FOLLOWING CONSULTATION WITH SUCH LEGAL COUNSEL. 

Section 10.14. Payments Set Aside.  To the extent that any payment by or on behalf of the 
City is made to the Bank, or the Bank exercises its right of setoff, and such payment or the proceeds 
of such setoff or any part thereof is subsequently invalidated, declared to be fraudulent or 
preferential, set aside or required (including pursuant to any settlement entered into by the Bank 
in its discretion) to be repaid to a trustee, receiver or any other party, in connection with any 
proceeding under any Debtor Relief Law or otherwise, then to the extent of such recovery, the 
obligation or part thereof originally intended to be satisfied shall be revived and continued in full 
force and effect as if such payment had not been made or such setoff had not occurred. 

Section 10.15. Usury.  If notwithstanding the application of Section 2.03 of this 
Agreement, Applicable Law shall be interpreted by a court of competent jurisdiction to render 
usurious any amount or amounts payable to the Bank under this Agreement or under the Notes, or 
contracted for, charged or received by the Bank with respect to the obligations of the City 
hereunder or under the Notes, or if any acceleration or optional or extraordinary prepayment results 
in the City having paid any interest (together with any Charges) in excess of that permitted by 
Applicable Law, then it is the Bank’s express intent that all excess amounts theretofore collected 
by the Bank shall be credited against the principal balance of the City’s obligations to the Bank 
and the provisions of this Agreement and the other Related Documents shall immediately be 
deemed reformed and the amounts thereafter collectible hereunder and thereunder modified, 
without the necessity of the execution of any new documents, so as to comply with the Applicable 
Law, but so as to permit the recovery of the fullest amount otherwise called for hereunder or 
thereunder.  All sums paid or agreed to be paid to the Bank, which may be characterized as interest 
under Applicable Law shall, to the extent permitted thereby, be amortized, prorated, allocated, and 
spread throughout the full stated term of the Notes or other obligations of the City until payment 
in full so that the rate or amount of interest on account of such obligations does not exceed the 
Maximum Lawful Rate from time to time in effect and applicable to such obligations for so long 
as the obligations are outstanding. 

Section 10.16. Extension.  At any time not earlier than one hundred eighty (180) days, and 
not later than ninety (90) days, prior to the Stated Expiration Date, the City may by written notice 
to the Bank request that the Stated Expiration Date of the Letter of Credit and of this Agreement 
be extended on terms and conditions to be mutually agreed to by the City and the Bank.  The Bank 
may, in its sole and absolute discretion, decide to accept or reject any such proposed extension and 
no extension shall become effective unless the Bank shall have consented thereto in writing within 
thirty (30) days of the Bank’s receipt of such written notice.  The Bank’s consent shall be 
conditioned upon the preparation, execution and delivery of documentation in form and substance 



 

57 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

satisfactory to the Bank and its counsel.  The Bank’s failure to so respond to a requested extension 
of the Stated Expiration Date shall constitute the Bank’s denial of such request.  If the Stated 
Expiration Date is extended, the City shall, except as otherwise agreed to in writing by the Bank, 
be deemed to have made the representations and warranties contained herein on and as of the date 
on which the Stated Expiration Date is so extended. 

Section 10.17. Electronic Signature; Electronically Signed Document.  For purposes 
hereof, “electronic signature” means a manually signed original signature that is then transmitted 
by electronic means; “transmitted by electronic means” means sent in the form of a facsimile or 
sent via the Internet as a pdf (portable document format) or other replicating image attached to an 
e mail message; and “electronically signed document” means a document transmitted by electronic 
means and containing, or to which there is affixed, an electronic signature.  The parties agree that 
the electronic signature of a party to this Agreement (or any amendment or supplement of this 
Agreement) shall be as valid as an original signature of such party and shall be effective to bind 
such party to this Agreement.  The parties agree that any electronically signed document (including 
this Agreement) shall be deemed (a) to be “written” or “in writing,” (b) to have been signed, and 
(c) to constitute a record established and maintained in the ordinary course of business and an 
original written record when printed from electronic files. Such paper copies or “printouts”, if 
introduced as evidence in any judicial, arbitral, mediation or administrative proceeding, will be 
admissible as between the parties to the same extent and under the same conditions as other original 
business records created and maintained in documentary form.  Neither party shall contest the 
admissibility of true and accurate copies of electronically signed documents on the basis of the 
best evidence rule or as not satisfying the business records exception to the hearsay rule. 

Section 10.18. No Advisory or Fiduciary Responsibility.  In connection with all aspects 
of the transactions contemplated hereby (including in connection with any amendment, waiver or 
other modification hereof or of any other Related Document), the City acknowledges and agrees 
that: (a)(i) any arranging, structuring and other services regarding this Agreement provided by the 
Bank and any of its Affiliates are arm’s length commercial transactions between the City, on the 
one hand, and the Bank and its Affiliates, on the other hand, (ii) the City has consulted its own 
legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent it has deemed appropriate, and (iii) the 
City is capable of evaluating, and understands and accepts, the terms, risks and conditions of the 
transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Related Documents; (b)(i) the Bank and each 
of its Affiliates is and has been acting solely as a principal and has not been, is not, and will not be 
acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary for the City or any other Person and (ii) neither the Bank 
nor any of its Affiliates has any obligation to the City with respect to the Transactions, except 
those obligations expressly set forth herein; and (c) the Bank and each of its Affiliates may be 
engaged in a broad range of transactions that involve interests that differ from those of the City, 
and neither the Bank nor any of its Affiliates has any obligation to disclose any of such interests 
to the City.  To the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, the City hereby waives and releases 
any claims that it may have against the Bank and each of its Affiliates with respect to any breach 
or alleged breach of agency or fiduciary duty in connection with any aspect of any transaction 
contemplated hereby. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 



 

58 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

  



 

59 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

[Signature Page to Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Letter of Credit 
Reimbursement Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective officers thereunto 
duly authorized as of the date first above written. 

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 
 

 

[Signatures continued on next page] 

 

 



 

 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

[Signature Page to Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement] 

BARCLAYS BANK PLC 
 
 
 
By       
Name: R. Cassandra Bolz 
Title: Authorized Signatory for and on behalf 
Barclays Bank PLC 
 
 

 

 

 



 

 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT A 
 

FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT 

 

 



 

Page1 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

April __, 2021 
**U.S. $55,547,946 

BARCLAYS BANK PLC 

IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT NO. SB-03979 

April __, 2021 

U.S. Bank National Association 
Corporate Trust Services 
100 Wall Street 
Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: Wendy Kumar 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

At the request and for the account of the City of Garland, Texas (the “City”), a political 
subdivision and home rule municipal corporation of the State of Texas, pursuant to the Letter of 
Credit Reimbursement Agreement by and between us and the City dated as of April __, 2021 (as 
amended or supplemented from time to time pursuant to its terms, the “Reimbursement 
Agreement”), we hereby establish this Irrevocable Letter of Credit (the “Letter of Credit”) in your 
favor as Paying Agent (the “Paying Agent”) under the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement dated 
April __, 2021, between the City and you, as Paying Agent (as it may be further amended or 
supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms, the “Paying Agent Agreement”), for 
the benefit of the owners of the above-referenced commercial paper notes (the “Notes”) issued, 
executed and delivered pursuant to the Texas Government Code, Chapter 1371, as amended (the 
“Act”) and the Ordinance adopted by the City on April __, 2021, as the same may be amended and 
supplemented (the “CP Ordinance”), in accordance with the following terms and conditions. 

1. Expiration.  This Letter of Credit automatically shall expire on the Expiration 
Date.  As used herein, “Expiration Date” shall mean 5:00 p.m., New York City time (except as 
otherwise specified in the following subparagraphs) on the earliest of: 



 

Page 2 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(a) April ___, 2024 (the “Stated Expiration Date”); 

(b) the date on which we receive an appropriately completed certificate from 
the Paying Agent in the form of Exhibit D hereto that the principal amount of and interest 
with respect to all of the Notes has been paid in full or deemed paid in full in accordance 
with the provisions of the CP Ordinance; 

(c) the date on which an Alternate Letter of Credit has become effective as 
provided under Section 4.03 of the CP Ordinance, in substitution for this Letter of Credit, 
and we have received an appropriately completed certificate from the Paying Agent in the 
form of Exhibit E hereto; or 

(d) the first to occur of (i) the date which is ten (10) days after you have received 
written notice from us (a “Final Drawing Notice”) in the form of Schedule III stating that 
an Event of Default has occurred under the Reimbursement Agreement and directing that 
you make a Final Drawing (as defined in paragraph 5) hereunder, pursuant to a draft and 
certificate for Final Drawing in the form of Exhibit B, whereby you shall draw an amount 
hereunder equal to the principal of and accrued interest to maturity on all Outstanding 
Notes in the manner provided herein and in the notice in the form of Schedule III or (ii) the 
date, following receipt of such notice in the form of Schedule III, upon which the Paying 
Agent has made such Final Drawing under this Letter of Credit and the proceeds of the 
Drawing have been distributed to the Paying Agent. 

In the event the Expiration Date shall not be a Business Day, then this Letter of Credit shall 
expire on the next preceding Business Day. 

2. Stated Amount.  The maximum aggregate amount available under this Letter of 
Credit shall be $55,547,946, which amount as from time to time reduced and reinstated as provided 
in Paragraphs 3 and 4 is hereinafter referred to as the “Stated Amount.” Of the Stated Amount, up 
to $50,000,000 is available for the payment of the unpaid principal of the Notes (the “Principal 
Portion”) and up to $5,547,946 is available for the payment of the unpaid interest accrued with 
respect to the Notes (the “Interest Portion”) for the immediately preceding two hundred seventy 
(270) days, calculated at a rate of 15% per annum based on a year of 365 or 366 days, as applicable.  
On each date on which payment is to be made on the Notes secured by this Letter of Credit you 
may submit a Drawing (as defined in paragraph 5 hereof) to us as provided in paragraph 6 hereof 
in an amount equal to the lesser of (1) the Stated Amount or (2) the amount of principal and interest 
due on the Notes maturing on the date for which the Drawing is requested. 

3. Reductions in the Stated Amount.  The Stated Amount shall be reduced 
automatically from time to time as follows: 

(a) Upon our honoring of a Drawing hereunder, the Stated Amount shall be 
reduced by an amount equal to the amount of such Drawing. 

(b) Upon our receipt of your certificate in the form of Exhibit C hereto 
appropriately completed, the Stated Amount shall be reduced by an amount equal to the 
amount specified in such certificate. 



 

Page 3 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

Upon such a reduction, we may require you to return the original of this Letter of Credit and to 
accept in substitution hereof a substitute Letter of Credit for a Stated Amount reflecting such 
reduction, but otherwise identical in form and substance to this Letter of Credit. 

4. Reinstatement. 

(a) Reductions under Paragraph 3(a) with respect to any Drawing in accordance 
with a draft and certificate in the form of Exhibit A hereto properly completed and 
presented prior to the delivery to you of a No Issuance Notice in the form of Schedule I 
hereto shall be reinstated automatically to the extent we receive reimbursement for the 
amounts so drawn.  Any such automatic reinstatement shall be in an amount equal to the 
amount of such reimbursement.  We will advise the Paying Agent of such reinstatement 
and the amount thereof upon request. 

(b) Reductions under Paragraph 3(a) with respect to any Drawing in accordance 
with a draft and certificate in the form of Exhibit B hereto or a Drawing in the form of 
Exhibit A hereto following the delivery to you of a No Issuance Notice in the form of 
Schedule I hereto shall not be subject to reinstatement. 

(c) Reductions under Paragraph 3(b) shall not be subject to reinstatement. 

5. Documents To Be Presented.  Funds under this Letter of Credit are available to 
you, against a draft and certificate purported to be signed by you in the form of Exhibit A hereto 
(each, a “Maturity Drawing”) or Exhibit B hereto (the “Final Drawing”) appropriately completed 
(Maturity Drawings and the Final Drawing are herein individually referred to as a “Drawing” and 
collectively referred to as “Drawings”). 

6. Method and Notice of Presentment.  Each Drawing and any other certificate or 
notice required or permitted to be provided to us hereunder, shall be in writing and dated the date 
of presentation and, in the case of each Drawing and the certificate in the form of Exhibit E, shall 
be delivered to us by facsimile; and, in all other cases, shall be delivered to us at the address stated 
in this paragraph, in person, by first class registered or certified mail or by an express delivery 
service.  A Drawing (and any certificate in the form of Exhibit E) shall be presented on or after the 
date of this Letter of Credit during our business hours on a Business Day on or prior to the 
Expiration Date at our office at Barclays Bank PLC, New York Branch, 745 Seventh Avenue, New 
York, NY 10019, Attn: Letters of Credit Department, or at such other address or facsimile number 
as we may notify you in writing from time to time.  As used herein, “Business Day” means any 
day other than (a) a day on which banks located in any of the cities in which the principal office 
of any of the Paying Agent, the Dealer (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement) or the Bank 
is located are required or authorized by law to close, (b) a day on which the New York Stock 
Exchange is closed, or (c) a day on which the payment system of the Federal Reserve System is 
not operational.  For purposes of this definition, the Bank’s principal office shall be that office of 
the Bank at which Drawings are to be presented under this Letter of Credit and the Paying Agent’s 
principal office shall be its respective office as designated in the Paying Agent Agreement. 



 

Page 4 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

7. Time and Method for Payment. 

(a) If a Drawing is made by you in strict conformity with the terms and 
conditions of this Letter of Credit, we will honor the Drawing if such Drawing is received 
by us prior to 10:00 a.m. on a Business Day, not later than 1:00 p.m. on such Business Day 
or such later date as you may specify in such Drawing.  If a Drawing is received by us on 
a day which is not a Business Day or is received after 10:00 a.m. on a Business Day, such 
Drawing shall be deemed to have been received by us on the next Business Day, and we 
will honor such Drawing by 1:00 p.m. on the Business Day on which the Drawing is 
deemed to have been received by us; provided in any case that the Business Day on which 
a Drawing is requested to be honored by us in accordance with the terms of this Paragraph 
7 is on or prior to the Expiration Date.  All times referenced herein are as of New York 
City time. 

(b) Unless otherwise agreed, payment under this Letter of Credit shall be made 
by Fedwire in immediately available funds to U.S. Bank National Association, ABA #091-
000-022; Account # 1731-0185-1827; Attn: Rosalyn Callender; Ref: City of Garland Ser 
2015 CP.  For the purposes of determining compliance with the times for payment specified 
in (a) above, payment shall be deemed to have been made by us when we have delivered 
appropriate wire transfer instructions to an appropriate Federal Reserve Bank. 

(c) All payments made by the Bank under this Letter of Credit shall be made 
with the Bank’s own funds. 

8. Other Documents in the case of a Substitution.  You agree to provide to us a duly 
completed certificate in the form of Exhibit F hereto upon the substitution of an Alternate Letter 
of Credit for this Letter of Credit as set forth in Paragraph 1(c) hereof; and you agree that each 
such certificate shall be provided (x) on the same day as any Drawing is made upon this Letter of 
Credit in connection with the substitution or (y) if no Drawing is made, on the effective date of 
such substitution. 

9. Transferability.  This Letter of Credit is transferable in its entirety, but not in part, 
to any transferee who has succeeded you as Paying Agent under the Paying Agent Agreement and 
the CP Ordinance and may be successively transferred.  Transfer of the drawing rights under this 
Letter of Credit to such transferee shall be effected by (a) your presentation to us of the original of 
this Letter of Credit, including all amendments, if any, accompanied by a certificate in the form of 
Exhibit F hereto and (b) our transfer of this Letter of Credit (i) by endorsement on the original 
Letter of Credit or (ii) by issuance of a substitute Letter of Credit made out in favor of such 
transferee but otherwise identical in form and substance to this Letter of Credit. 

10. Governing Law and Practices.  This Letter of Credit is issued subject to the 
International Standby Practices (1998), International Chamber of Commerce, Publication No. 590 
(the “ISP 98”).  This Letter of Credit shall be deemed made under the laws of the State of New 
York, including Article 5 of the Uniform Commercial Code, and as to matters not addressed by 
the ISP 98 shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New 
York and applicable U.S. Federal law. 



 

Page 5 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

11. Irrevocability.  This Letter of Credit shall be irrevocable. 

12. No Negotiation.  A Drawing under this Letter of Credit shall be presented directly 
to us by you or by any transferee who has succeeded you as Paying Agent under the Paying Agent 
Agreement and the CP Ordinance and shall not be negotiated to or by any third party. 

13. Excluded Notes.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Letter of Credit, no 
Drawing under this Letter of Credit may be made with respect to any (a) any Notes issued after 
the Expiration Date or maturing after the fifth calendar day prior to the Stated Expiration Date, (b) 
any Notes issued after your receipt of any No Issuance Notice in the form of Schedule I hereto or 
a Final Drawing Notice in the form of Schedule III hereto, in either case, from us and prior to your 
receipt of written notice from us that such No Issuance Notice or Final Drawing Notice, as 
applicable, is rescinded and (c) any Notes issued in a principal amount in excess of the principal 
amount of Notes maturing on the date such Notes are issued after your receipt of any Restricted 
Issuance Notice, in the form of Schedule II hereto from us and prior to your receipt of written 
notice from us that such Restricted Issuance Notice is rescinded, (d) any Note registered in the 
name of, or to the best of your knowledge held for the account or benefit of, the City, or any 
Affiliate of the City, or a Person who is a guarantor of any of the obligations of the City in 
connection with the Notes, and (e) any Notes from and after the date we receive notice from the 
Paying Agent in the form of Exhibit D hereto that payment or provision for payment of all the 
Notes has been made (Notes described in any of (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) being referred to as 
“Excluded Notes”). 

14. Address for Communications.  Communications with respect to this Letter of 
Credit shall be in writing and shall be addressed to us at the address referenced in Paragraph 6, 
specifically referring thereon to our Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. New York Branch, 745 
Seventh Avenue, New York, NY 10019, Attn: Letters of Credit Department SB-03979.  At the 
time any such communications or Drawings are sent, copies of such communications or Drawings 
shall also be sent by facsimile to us at Barclays Bank PLC, (212) 412-5011; provided, however, 
that the failure to send such copies shall not affect our obligations hereunder.  Communications 
with respect to the Paying Agent shall either be sent by first class registered or certified mail or 
express courier service, properly addressed and prepaid, or physically delivered to the address set 
forth on the first page of this Letter of Credit. 

15. Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the other paragraphs of this 
Letter of Credit, as used herein, (a) “Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person 
directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Person (and 
“control” (including “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the power, directly 
or indirectly, to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, 
whether through the ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise), and (b) “Alternate 
Letter of Credit” means a direct pay letter of credit or other credit facility satisfying the 
requirements of the CP Ordinance and which is accepted by the Paying Agent in substitution for 
this Letter of Credit, and (c) “Business Day” has the meaning assigned thereto in Paragraph 6 of 
this Letter of Credit, and (d) “Outstanding Notes” means, as of the time in question, all Notes 
executed and delivered under the CP Ordinance except Notes canceled or required to be canceled, 
Notes with respect to which all liability of the City shall have been discharged in accordance with 
the requirements of the CP Ordinance, and Notes in substitution for which other Notes have been 



 

Page 6 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

authenticated and delivered under the CP Ordinance, and (e) “Person” means an individual, a 
corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint venture, a trust, a business trust, a limited liability 
company or any other entity or organization, including a governmental or political subdivision or 
an agency or instrumentality thereof. 

16. Complete Agreement.  This Letter of Credit, including Exhibits A through F 
hereto and Schedules I, II and III hereto, sets forth in full the terms of our undertaking.  Reference 
in this Letter of Credit to other documents or instruments is for identification purposes only and 
any such reference (including, without limitation, the use herein of terms defined in the 
Reimbursement Agreement) shall not modify, amend, amplify, limit or otherwise affect the terms 
of our undertaking or cause such documents or instruments to be deemed incorporated herein. 

17. U.S. Government Sanctions.  The Paying Agent and the City are advised that the 
U.S. Government has in place certain sanctions against certain countries, individuals, entities, and 
vessels.  Barclays Bank PLC and its Affiliates are prohibited from engaging in transactions or 
other activities within the scope of applicable sanctions. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 

 

  



 

Page 7 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

We hereby agree with you to honor your Drawings presented in strict compliance with the 
terms and conditions of this Letter of Credit. 

 
Very truly yours, 
 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 

 

 

  



 

Page 8 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT A 

DRAFT AND CERTIFICATE FOR MATURITY DRAWING 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas| 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of U.S. Bank National Association (the “Paying 
Agent”), hereby certifies to Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), with reference to Irrevocable Letter 
of Credit No. SB-03979 (the “Letter of Credit”; any capitalized term used herein and not defined 
shall have its respective meaning as set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in favor 
of the Paying Agent, that: 

1. The Paying Agent is the Paying Agent under the Paying Agent Agreement and is 
making this demand for payment of the principal of and interest on the above-referenced Notes in 
accordance with their terms, which amount is payable on [_____] (the “Payment Date”). 

2. The following amounts are owed on Notes maturing on the Payment Date 
[complete as appropriate] 

(a) $[_______________] constitutes the principal of Notes; and 

(b) $[_______________] constitutes interest with respect to Notes. 

3. Demand is hereby made under the Letter of Credit for $[__________], which 
amount does not exceed the lesser of (i) the sum of the amounts specified in (2)(a) and (b) above 
and (ii) the Stated Amount. 

4. The amount demanded hereunder does not include any amount payable with respect 
to an Excluded Note as described in Paragraph 13 of the Letter of Credit. 

5. The proceeds hereof shall be deposited in the Note Payment Fund (as defined in the 
Paying Agent Agreement) and shall be applied solely to the payment of Notes in accordance with 
Section 2.10 of the CP Ordinance and Section 8 of the Paying Agent Agreement. 

6. (a)  Payment of this demand for payment is requested on or before 1:00 p.m., New 
York, New York time, on the later of (i) the Payment Date (or if the Payment Date is not a Business 
Day, the next succeeding Business Day) and (ii) the Business Day on which this Drawing is 
received or deemed to have been received by the Bank in accordance with paragraph 7(a) of the 
Letter of Credit. 

(b) Payment of this demand for payment shall be made in accordance with the 
payment instructions provided in paragraph 7(b) of the Letter of Credit. 



 

Page 9 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

7. Drawn under Barclays Bank PLC Irrevocable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit No. SB-
03979: Pay the amount of [$_____________] in interest with respect to the Notes as certified 
above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Paying Agent has executed and delivered this Certificate 
as of the ____ day of ________, 20__. 

 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Paying 
Agent 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 

 

 

  



 

Page 10 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT B 

DRAFT AND CERTIFICATE FOR FINAL DRAWING 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of U.S. Bank National Association (the “Paying 
Agent”), hereby certifies to Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), with reference to Irrevocable Letter 
of Credit No. SB-03979 (the “Letter of Credit”; any capitalized term used herein and not defined 
shall have its respective meaning as set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in favor 
of the Paying Agent, that: 

The Paying Agent is the Paying Agent under the Paying Agent Agreement and is making 
this Drawing for amounts sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Notes outstanding 
at their respective maturity in accordance with the CP Ordinance.  Payment for this demand for 
payment shall be made on _____________ (the “Payment Date”). 

1. We are in receipt of the written notice from you described in paragraph 1(d) of the 
Letter of Credit. 

2. The following amounts will be due and owing on the Notes currently outstanding 
at the respective maturity dates thereof: [complete as appropriate] 

(a) $[____________________] constitutes the principal of Notes; and 

(b) $[____________________] constitutes interest with respect to Notes. 

3. Demand is hereby made under the Letter of Credit for $[_______], which amount 
does not exceed the lesser of the sum of the amounts specified in 2(i) and (ii) above and the Stated 
Amount. 

4. The amount demanded hereunder does not include any amount payable with respect 
to an Excluded Note as described in Paragraph 13 of the Letter of Credit. 

5. The proceeds hereof shall be deposited in the Note Payment Fund (as defined in the 
Paying Agent Agreement) and shall be applied solely to the payment of Notes in accordance with 
Section 2.10 of the CP Ordinance and Section 8 of the Paying Agent Agreement. 

6. (a) Payment of this demand for payment is requested on or before 1:00 p.m., New 
York, New York time, on the later of (i) the Payment Date (or if the Payment Date is not a Business 
Day, the next succeeding Business Day) and (ii) the Business Day on which this Drawing is 
received or deemed to have been received by the Bank in accordance with paragraph 7(a) of the 
Letter of Credit. 



 

Page 11 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

(b) Payment of this demand for payment shall be made in accordance with the 
payment instructions provided in paragraph 7(b) of the Letter of Credit. 

7. The Letter of Credit shall be returned to the Bank upon our receipt of payment of 
this demand for payment and no additional amounts shall be drawn under the Letter of Credit. 

Drawn under Barclays Bank PLC Irrevocable Direct-Pay Letter of Credit No. SB-03979: 
Pay the amount of [$_______] in principal of the Notes as certified above. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Paying Agent has executed and delivered this Certificate 
as of the ____ day of ________, 20__. 

 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Paying 
Agent 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 

 

 

  



 

Page 12 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT C 

CERTIFICATE REGARDING REDUCTION OF STATED AMOUNT 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of U.S. Bank National Association (the “Paying 
Agent”), hereby certifies to Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), with reference to Irrevocable Letter 
of Credit No. SB-03979 (the “Letter of Credit”; any capitalized term used herein and not defined 
shall have its respective meaning as set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in favor 
of the Paying Agent, that: 

1. The City has instructed the Paying Agent to reduce the Stated Amount of the Letter 
of Credit. 

2. The Principal Portion shall be reduced by $[__________] and the Interest Portion 
shall be reduced by $[__________] which is 270 days’ interest at 15% per annum (based on a year 
of 365 days) on the amount of the reduction in the Principal Portion. 

3. Pursuant to paragraph 3 of the Letter of Credit, the Stated Amount shall be reduced 
automatically by $[ ], such reduction to be allocated so that the Principal Portion and the Interest 
Portion of the Stated Amount are reduced by the amounts stated in paragraph 2, upon receipt by 
the Bank of this Certificate. 

4. The Stated Amount, as so reduced, is at least equal to the outstanding principal 
amount of the Notes plus 270 days’ interest thereon at 15% per annum (based on a year of 365 
days). 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Paying Agent has executed and delivered this Certificate 
as of the ____ day of ______________, 20__. 

 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Paying 
Agent 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 

  



 

Page 13 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT D 

TERMINATION CERTIFICATE—DEFEASANCE/PAYMENT 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of U.S. Bank National Association (the “Paying 
Agent”), hereby certifies to Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), with reference to Irrevocable Letter 
of Credit No. SB-03979 (the “Letter of Credit”; any capitalized term used herein and not defined 
shall have its respective meaning as set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in favor 
of the Paying Agent, as follows: 

We hereby instruct you [to terminate the Letter of Credit as the principal amount of and 
interest on all Outstanding Notes, other than Excluded Notes, has been paid or provision for such 
payment in full is deemed to have been made by the deposit of cash or eligible securities and all 
of the Outstanding Notes, other than Excluded Notes, have been defeased in accordance with 
Section 6.06 of the CP Ordinance.] [to terminate the Letter of Credit as the principal amount of 
and interest on all Outstanding Notes, other than Excluded Notes, has been paid in full in 
accordance with the CP Ordinance.] [that the Letter of Credit shall terminate on [_________] and 
that cash or eligible securities sufficient to pay the principal amount of and interest on all 
Outstanding Notes, other than Excluded Notes, has been deposited in accordance with Section 
6.06 of the CP Ordinance.] 

[The original Letter of Credit, including all amendments, if any, is attached hereto and 
being surrendered to you herewith.] 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Paying Agent has executed and delivered this Certificate 

as of the ____ day of ________, 20__. 

 
U.S. Bank National Association, as Paying 
Agent 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 

 

  



 

Page 14 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT E 

TERMINATION CERTIFICATE—ALTERNATE LETTER OF CREDIT 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

The undersigned, a duly authorized officer of U.S. Bank National Association (the “Paying 
Agent”), hereby certifies to Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), with reference to Irrevocable Letter 
of Credit No. SB-03979 (the “Letter of Credit”; any capitalized term used herein and not defined 
shall have its respective meaning as set forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in favor 
of the Paying Agent, as follows: 

In accordance with the terms of the CP Ordinance, we hereby confirm the termination of 
the Letter of Credit for the reason that the conditions precedent to the acceptance of an Alternate 
Letter of Credit under Section 4.03 of the CP Ordinance have been satisfied, all demands for 
payment under the Letter of Credit for Notes (other than Excluded Notes) have been paid in 
accordance with the provisions of the Letter of Credit and the Alternate Letter of Credit has become 
effective under the CP Ordinance in substitution for the Letter of Credit. 

The original Letter of Credit, including all amendments, if any, is attached hereto and being 
surrendered to you herewith. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Paying Agent has executed and delivered this Certificate 
as of the ____ day of ________, 20_. 

 
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Paying 
Agent 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 

 

 

  



 

Page 15 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT F 

NOTICE OF TRANSFER 

[DATE] 

Barclays Bank PLC 
745 Seventh Avenue 
New York, NY 10019 
Attention:  Letter of Credit Department 
 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

For value received, the undersigned beneficiary hereby irrevocably transfers to: 

_______________________________________________ 
(Name of Transferee) 

_______________________________________________ 
(Address) 

all rights of the undersigned beneficiary to draw under the above Letter of Credit in its entirety.  
Any capitalized term used herein and not defined shall have its respective meaning as set forth in 
Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 issued by you in connection with the above-referenced Notes. 

By this transfer, all rights of the undersigned beneficiary in such Letter of Credit are 
transferred to the transferee and the transferee shall have the sole rights as beneficiary thereof, 
including sole rights relating to any amendments, whether increases or extensions or other 
amendments and whether now existing or hereafter made.  All amendments are to be advised 
directly to the transferee without necessity of any consent of or notice to the undersigned 
beneficiary. 

By its signature below the undersigned transferee acknowledges that it has duly succeeded 
as Paying Agent under the CP Ordinance. 

The original Letter of Credit, including all amendments, if any, is returned herewith and 
we ask you to notify the transferee in such form as you deem advisable of this transfer and of the 
terms and conditions of the Letter of Credit. 



 

Page 16 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

 Yours very truly, 
  
  
SIGNATURE AUTHENTICATED: U.S. Bank National Association 
  
  
  
       By       
(Authorized Signature) Name       
 Title       
  
  
  
 ACKNOWLEDGED: 
  
  
 [TRANSFEREE] 
  
  
  
 By       
 Name       
 Title       
  
  
  

 

 

  



 

Page 17 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT G 

NOTICE OF EXTENSION 

[DATE] 

U.S. Bank National Association, 
as Paying Agent 
Corporate Trust Services 
100 Wall Street 
Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: Wendy Kumar 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, a duly authorized signatory of Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”), hereby 
advises you, with respect to the above-referenced Irrevocable Letter of Credit (the “Letter of 
Credit”; any capitalized term used herein and not defined shall have its respective meaning as set 
forth in the Letter of Credit) issued by the Bank in your favor, that: 

1. At the request and for the account of the City of Garland, Texas, we hereby extend 
the date referenced in paragraph 1(a) of the Letter of Credit (as such date may have been extended 
previously from time to time) to 

2. Except as specifically provided in paragraph (1) above, all of the terms and 
conditions of the Letter of Credit remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 

3. This Notice of Extension is an integral part of the Letter of Credit. 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 

  



 

Page 18 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed and delivered this Notice of 
Extension as of the ____ day of _________, ____. 

 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 
 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       
 

 

  



 

Page 19 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

SCHEDULE I 

FORM OF NO ISSUANCE NOTICE 

[DATE] 

U.S. Bank National Association 
Corporate Trust Services 
100 Wall Street 
Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: Wendy Kumar 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, pursuant to the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement between 
Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”) and the City of Garland, Texas dated as of April __, 2021 (as 
amended or supplemented from time to time pursuant to its terms, the “Reimbursement 
Agreement”), hereby notifies you as Paying Agent for the above-referenced Notes (the “Notes”) 
that an Event of Default, as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement, has occurred.  Unless this 
notice is subsequently rescinded by the undersigned in writing, all Notes issued after your receipt 
of this notice shall be “Excluded Notes” as defined in the above-referenced Letter of Credit (the 
“Letter of Credit”) issued for your benefit as Paying Agent for the Notes.  On the maturity date of 
the last maturing Note issued prior to your receipt of this notice and upon payment of all amounts 
drawn under the Letter of Credit with respect to such Notes, the Letter of Credit shall be returned 
to the undersigned for cancellation. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this No Issuance Notice as of 
the____ day of __________, 20__. 

 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       

  



 

Page 20 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

SCHEDULE II 

FORM OF RESTRICTED ISSUANCE NOTICE 

[DATE] 

U.S. Bank National Association 
Corporate Trust Services 
100 Wall Street 
Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: Wendy Kumar 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, pursuant to the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement between 
Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”) and the City of Garland, Texas dated as of April __, 2021 (as 
amended or supplemented from time to time pursuant to its terms, the “Reimbursement 
Agreement”), hereby notifies you as Paying Agent for the above-referenced Notes (the “Notes”) 
that an Event of Default, as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement, has occurred.  Unless this 
notice is subsequently rescinded by the undersigned in writing, all Notes issued after your receipt 
of this notice in a principal amount in excess of the principal amount of Notes maturing on such 
date of issuance shall be “Excluded Notes” as defined in the above-referenced Letter of Credit 
issued for your benefit as Paying Agent for the Notes. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Restricted Issuance Notice 
as of the ____ day of ________, 20_. 

 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       

 

  



 

Page 21 of Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

SCHEDULE III 

FORM OF FINAL DRAWING NOTICE 

[DATE] 

U.S. Bank National Association 
Corporate Trust Services 
100 Wall Street 
Suite 1600 
New York, New York 10005 
Attention: Wendy Kumar 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

The undersigned, pursuant to the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement between 
Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”) and the City of Garland, Texas dated as of April __, 2021 (as 
amended or supplemented from time to time pursuant to its terms, the “Reimbursement 
Agreement”), hereby notifies you as Paying Agent for the above-referenced Notes (the “Notes”) 
that an Event of Default, as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement, has occurred.  Unless this 
notice is subsequently rescinded by the undersigned in writing, you are directed to make a Final 
Drawing under the above-referenced Letter of Credit (the “Letter of Credit”) issued for your 
benefit as Paying Agent for the Notes within two (2) Business Days of your receipt of this notice 
and all Notes issued after your receipt of this notice shall be “Excluded Notes” as defined in the 
Letter of Credit.  You are further notified that the Letter of Credit shall terminate on the date which 
is ten (10) days after your receipt of this notice. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Final Drawing Notice as of 
the ____ day of ________, 20_. 

 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       

 



 

1 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF PAYING AGENT’S LETTER 

April __, 2021 

Barclays Bank PLC 

Re: Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit No. SB-03979 

Dear Ladies and/or Gentlemen: 

We refer to the above referenced Irrevocable Transferable Direct Pay Letter of Credit (the 
“Letter of Credit”) issued pursuant to the Letter of Credit Reimbursement Agreement dated April 
__, 2021 (the “Reimbursement Agreement”) by and among the City of Garland (the “City”), and 
Barclays Bank PLC 

We have read and understand our obligations under the Reimbursement Agreement.  We 
hereby further agree to provide notice to you in the form of Exhibit E to the Letter of Credit when 
so instructed by the City or when payment for all of the Notes has been made pursuant to the CP 
Ordinance.  Subject to the terms and conditions of the CP Ordinance and the Paying Agent 
Agreement regarding performance of the duties set forth therein by the Paying Agent, we agree to 
perform our duties set forth in Article II of the Reimbursement Agreement and the Letter of Credit. 

Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings given to 
such terms in the Reimbursement Agreement. 

Very truly yours, 

 

[Signature on next page] 

 

 



 

2 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

[Signature Page to Letter of Paying Agent] 

 
U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as 
Paying Agent 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       

 

 



 

 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT C 

COMPLIANCE WITH LAW DISCLOSURES 

None 

 



 

1 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 

To: Barclays Bank PLC (the “Bank”) 

This Compliance Certificate is furnished pursuant to that certain Letter of Credit 
Reimbursement Agreement dated April __, 2021, (as amended, modified, renewed or extended 
from time to time, the “Agreement”) by and among the City of Garland (the “City”) and the Bank.  
Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used in this Compliance Certificate have the 
meanings ascribed thereto in the Agreement. 

THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CERTIFIES THAT: 

1. I am the _____________ of the City; 

2. This Compliance Certificate is provided with respect to the [Fiscal Quarter/Fiscal 
Year] ending on [______________] (the “Relevant Period”). 

3. I have reviewed the terms of the Agreement and I have made, or have caused to be 
made under my supervision, a detailed review of the transactions and conditions of the City during 
the Relevant Period; and 

4. The examinations described in paragraph 3 did not disclose, and I have no 
knowledge of, the existence of any condition or event which constitutes a Default or Event of 
Default during or at the end of the Relevant Period or as of the date of this Compliance Note, 
except as set forth below. 

Described below are the exceptions, if any, to paragraph 4 by listing, in detail, the nature 
of the condition or event, the period during which it has existed and the action which the City has 
taken, is taking, or proposes to take with respect to each such condition or event: 

             

             

             

             

5. In accordance with Section 5.02 of the Agreement, I certify on behalf of the City 
the following as of , 20_ for the Relevant Period: 

(a) Annex attached hereto sets forth financial data and computations 
evidencing the City’s compliance with the above covenants of the Agreement, all of which 
data and computations are true, complete and correct. 

6. [OTHER REPORTING ITEMS, INCLUDING 5.02(C)(IV), AS APPLICABLE]. 



 

2 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

The foregoing certifications, together with any financial data and computations provided 
herewith, are made and delivered this ____ day of __________, ____. 

 
CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
 
 
By       
Name       
Title       

 

 



 

1 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

EXHIBIT E 

FORM OF BANK NOTE 

CUSIP NUMBER: [_______] 

$50,000,000 
City of Garland, Texas 

General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes 
Series 2021 

Barclays Bank PLC 
New York, New York 

For value received, CITY OF GARLAND (the “City”), promises to pay to the order of 
BARCLAYS BANK PLC (the “Bank”), the lesser of (a) $55,547,946 and (b) the unpaid aggregate 
principal and interest amounts due and owing to the Bank under that Letter of Credit 
Reimbursement Agreement dated as of April __, 2021 (the “Reimbursement Agreement”) by and 
among the City and the Bank.  The City promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount 
of this Bank Note on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the Reimbursement 
Agreement.  All such payments of principal and interest shall be made in lawful money of the 
United States in immediately available funds to the Bank as provided in the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 

All Principal Drawings and Term Amortizations made by the Bank, the maturities thereof 
and all repayments of the principal thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer 
hereof, appropriate notations to evidence the foregoing information with respect to each such 
Principal Drawing and Term Amortization then outstanding shall be endorsed by the Bank on the 
schedule attached hereto, or on a continuation of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; 
provided, however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement shall 
not affect the obligations of the City hereunder or under the Reimbursement Agreement. 

This Note is secured by and entitled to all the benefits of the Reimbursement Agreement 
and the other Related Documents.  Reference is made to the provisions of Article II of the 
Reimbursement Agreement as well as Sections 8.01, 8.02, 10.14, 10.15 and the other provisions 
thereof relating to the payment of Bank Debt Service and such provisions are incorporated by 
reference herein.  Whenever an event of default under the Reimbursement Agreement shall have 
occurred and, as a result thereof, the principal owing thereunder and interest accrued thereon, shall 
have been declared to be immediately due and payable, the unpaid principal amount of and accrued 
interest on this Note and all other amounts payable hereunder shall also be due and payable on the 
date of such acceleration, provided that the annulment of a declaration of acceleration shall also 
constitute an annulment of any corresponding declaration of acceleration with respect to this Note. 

This Note shall be subject to mandatory and optional prepayment in accordance with the 
provisions of the Reimbursement Agreement. 

Each payment of principal of and any premium and interest on this Note shall at all times 
be sufficient to pay when due the total amount of principal (whether at maturity or upon 



 

2 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

acceleration) or prepayment price of, and interest payable under this Note (whether at mandatory 
or optional prepayment, maturity or upon acceleration) and such other amounts required by the 
Reimbursement Agreement. 

All payments hereunder shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America 
in immediately available funds.  The obligation of the City to make payments hereunder shall be 
absolute and unconditional and the City shall make such payments without abatement, diminution 
or deduction regardless of any cause or circumstances whatsoever including, without limitation, 
any defense, set-off, recoupment or counterclaim which the City may have or assert against the 
Bank, the Paying Agent, the Dealer or any other person. 

The City hereby promises to pay all costs of collection and fees in the event of a default of 
this Note including, without limitation, reasonable arbitration, paralegals’, attorneys’ and experts’ 
fees and expenses, whether incurred without the commencement of a suit, in any trial, arbitration, 
or administrative proceeding, or in any appellate or bankruptcy proceeding. 

The City hereby waives presentment, notice of prepayment or acceleration, notice of 
dishonor and protest and all other notices, except for such notices (if any) of Default required to 
be given under the Related Documents, protest, diligence in collecting or bringing suit against the 
City or any other party liable hereon and waives all rights to the benefit of any moratorium, 
reinstatement, marshaling, forbearance, valuation, stay, extension, redemption, appraisement, and 
exemption now provided, or which may hereafter be provided by the Constitution and laws of the 
United States of America and of any state thereof, both as to itself and in and to all of its property, 
real and personal, against the enforcement and collection of the obligations evidenced by this Note.  
The City further agrees to any and all extensions, renewals, modifications, partial payments, 
substitutions of evidence of indebtedness, and the taking or release or impairment of any collateral 
with or without notice before or after demand by the Bank for payment hereunder. 

The failure of the holder hereof to exercise any of its rights hereunder in any particular 
instance shall not constitute a waiver of the same or any other right in that or any subsequent 
instance.  Time is of the essence for this Note and all of the City’s obligations hereunder. 

This Note shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their 
respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.  The Bank’s interests in and rights 
under this Note are freely assignable, in whole or in part, by the Bank.  In addition, nothing in this 
Note or any of the other Related Documents shall prohibit the Bank from pledging or assigning 
this Note or any interest herein to any Federal Reserve Bank.  The City shall not assign its rights 
and interest hereunder without the prior written consent of the Bank, and any attempt by the City 
to assign without the Bank’s prior written consent is null and void.  Any assignment shall not 
release the City from its obligations hereunder and under the other Related Documents. 

Capitalized terms used in this Bank Note and not defined herein shall have the meaning 
assigned in the Reimbursement Agreement and the CP Ordinance. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature and authentication on following pages] 

  



 

3 
DM_US 177190911-4.071370.0847 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has issued this Bank Note and caused the same to be 
signed by its Mayor and attested by its City Secretary. 

  
Attested: CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
  
  
By       By       
Name       Name       
Title       Title       
  

 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 C-1 

Exhibit C 
 

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT AGREEMENT 

 
 

 



101703816.3/1001148150 

ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT AGREEMENT 

This Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, dated as of April 20, 2021 (the “Agreement”), 
is by and between the City of Garland, Texas, a municipal corporation duly organized and existing 
under the laws of the State of Texas (the “City”) and U.S. Bank National Association, a national 
banking association with trust powers duly organized and existing under the  laws of the United 
States of America and authorized to do business in the State of Texas (the “Issuing and Paying 
Agent”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the City has duly authorized and provided for the issuance of “City of Garland, 
Texas, General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021” in an aggregate principal 
amount not to exceed $50,000,000 (the “Commercial Paper Notes”) pursuant to an ordinance 
adopted by the City on April 20, 2021, as amended from time to time (the “Ordinance”), and, in 
conjunction with the issuance and sale of such securities for and on behalf of the City, the Issuing 
and Paying Agent has agreed to act (i) as depository for the safekeeping of such Commercial 
Paper Notes, (ii) as issuing agent on behalf of the City in connection with the issuance of such 
Commercial Paper Notes, including making drawings under the Letter of Credit (as hereinafter 
described) to make such payments, (iii) as paying agent to undertake certain obligations to make 
payments in respect of the Commercial Paper Notes, and (iv) as a registrar in relation to the 
registration, payment, transfer, and exchange of the Commercial Paper Notes; now, therefore, 
the City and the Issuing and Paying Agent hereby mutually agree as follows: 

Section 1. Appointment of Agent.  The City hereby appoints the Issuing and Paying 
Agent and the Issuing and Paying Agent hereby agrees to act, on the terms and conditions 
specified herein and in the Ordinance, as custodian and issuing and paying agent for the 
Commercial Paper Notes.  Additionally, the selection and appointment of the Issuing and Paying 
Agent to serve as Paying Agent/Registrar for the Commercial Paper Notes is hereby confirmed, 
and the City covenants and agrees to keep and maintain at the office of the Issuing and Paying 
Agent set forth in Section 12(b) hereof so long as the Issuing and Paying Agent serves such 
function of Paying Agent/Registrar appropriate books and records (the “Registration Books”) 
relating to the registration, payment, transfer and exchange of the Commercial Paper Notes, all 
as provided herein and in accordance with such reasonable rules and regulations as the Issuing 
and Paying Agent as Paying Agent/Registrar may prescribe.  For purposes of satisfying the 
requirements of Texas Government Code, Section 1203.021(b)(2), as amended, the City 
designates itself as a “registrar” and shall maintain a copy of the Registration Books within the 
State of Texas. 

The Commercial Paper Notes will initially be issued in book-entry form (“Book-Entry 
Notes”) with the aggregate of all such obligations evidenced by Master Notes (“Master Notes”) in 
substantially the form set forth in the Ordinance.  Pursuant to the Ordinance, the City may elect 
to terminate issuing the Commercial Paper Notes in book-entry form in which case they shall be 
issued in certificated form evidenced by individual certificates (“Certificated Notes”).  The 
Commercial Paper Notes will be sold through such commercial paper dealer or dealers as the 
City shall have selected and identified to the Issuing and Paying Agent in writing from time to time 
(the “Dealer”).  The Dealer currently is Barclays Capital Inc. 

To provide credit support for the payment of principal of and interest due on Commercial 
Paper Notes, the City has entered that certain Reimbursement Agreement by and between the 
City and Barclays Bank PLC (the “Credit Provider”), dated as of _______, 2021 (the 



101703816.3/1001148150 2 

“Reimbursement Agreement”) pursuant to which the Credit Provider has issued its irrevocable 
direct pay letter of credit (the “Letter of Credit”).  In the Ordinance, the City has reserved the right 
to change the bank providing a credit facility or a liquidity facility with respect to the Commercial 
Paper Notes, which change is subject to the notice provisions set forth in the Ordinance and 
herein.  Prior to the effective date of any substitute credit or liquidity facility, all Commercial Paper 
Notes issued that are secured by the then-existing credit or liquidity facility, including the Letter of 
Credit, shall have matured or appropriate provisions shall have been made for their payment at 
maturity.  As covenanted in the Ordinance, while any Commercial Paper Notes are outstanding, 
the City will maintain credit or liquidity facilities with one or more banks in amounts such that, 
assuming that all then outstanding Commercial Paper Notes were to become due and payable 
immediately, the amount available for borrowing under such facilities would be sufficient at that 
time to pay principal of and interest on all Commercial Paper Notes. 

Section 2. Book-Entry-Only System.  Pursuant to Section 2.02 of the Ordinance, the 
City has determined initially to issue the Commercial Paper Notes in book-entry-only form through 
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) for delivery and settlement of the Commercial Paper 
Notes.  The City shall provide the Issuing and Paying Agent and DTC an executed Book-Entry-
Only Municipal Tax-Exempt Commercial Paper (TECP) (Master Note) Letter of Representations 
(the “Letter of Representations”) and the Issuing and Paying Agent shall provide to DTC an 
executed Exhibit A to the existing U.S. Bank National Association Money Market Instrument 
Certificate Agreement (the “Certificate Agreement”), and either or both the City and the Issuing 
and Paying Agent shall provide such other appropriate agreements, that establish or will establish, 
among other things, the procedures to be followed by the Issuing and Paying Agent in connection 
with the issuance and custody of the Commercial Paper Notes in book-entry form.  The Issuing 
and Paying Agent and the City agree to comply with the relevant portions of DTC’s Commercial 
Paper Issuing and Paying Agent Manual and the DTC Same Day Settlement System Rules 
(collectively, the “DTC Rules”).  The City’s obligations under the Commercial Paper Notes issued 
in book-entry form shall be evidenced by Master Notes substantially in the form attached to the 
Letter of Representations or other such agreement with DTC. 

Section 3. Supply of Commercial Paper Notes.  The City will from time to time, and 
prior to the date that Commercial Paper Notes are first issued, furnish the Issuing and Paying 
Agent with an adequate supply of Commercial Paper Notes, which shall be Master Notes and/or 
Certificated Notes, as the City in its sole and absolute discretion considers appropriate.  Book-
Entry Notes shall be represented by one or more Master Notes, which shall be executed by 
manual or facsimile signature by an Authorized Representative (as hereafter defined) in 
accordance with the Letter of Representations.  Certificated Notes shall be serially numbered and 
shall have been executed by manual or facsimile signature of an Authorized Representative, with 
the principal amount, payee, date of issue, maturity date, amount of interest (if an interest-bearing 
Commercial Paper Note), and maturity value left blank.  Pending receipt of instructions pursuant 
to this Agreement, the Issuing and Paying Agent will hold the Commercial Paper Notes in 
safekeeping for the account of DTC in accordance with the requirements of the Certificate 
Agreement or other such agreement prescribed by DTC and, in the event Certificated Notes are 
used, for the account of the City in accordance with its customary practice.  The Certificated Notes 
shall be printed on a manifold that will produce one original and three non-negotiable copies. 

Section 4. Authorized Representatives.  From time to time, the City will furnish the 
Issuing and Paying Agent with a certificate or certificates, substantially in the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit A, certifying the incumbency and specimen signatures of officers or agents of the City 
authorized to execute Commercial Paper Notes on behalf of the City by manual or facsimile 
signature and/or to take other action hereunder on behalf of the City (each an “Authorized 



101703816.3/1001148150 3 

Representative”).  Until the Issuing and Paying Agent receives a subsequent incumbency 
certificate of the City, it shall be entitled to conclusively rely upon the last such certificate delivered 
to the Issuing and Paying Agent for purposes of determining the Authorized Representatives.  The 
Issuing and Paying Agent shall not have any responsibility to the City to determine by whom or 
by what means a facsimile signature may have been affixed on the Commercial Paper Notes, or 
to determine whether any facsimile or manual signature resembles the specimen signature(s) 
filed with the Issuing and Paying Agent by a duly authorized officer of the City.  Any Commercial 
Paper Notes bearing the manual or facsimile signature of a person who is an Authorized 
Representative on the date such signature is affixed shall be binding on the City after the 
authentication thereof by the Issuing and Paying Agent notwithstanding that such person shall 
have died or shall have otherwise ceased to hold his office on the date such Commercial Paper 
Note is countersigned or delivered to the Issuing and Paying Agent. 

Section 5. Completion, Authentication, and Delivery of Commercial Paper Notes.  (a) 
Instructions for the issuance of Commercial Paper Notes (the “Instructions”) will be given via 
SPANS (the “System”), as such System is substantially described herein in Section 6, if available, 
or in writing (which may be by facsimile or electronic message) either by an Authorized 
Representative, or by any officer or employee of a Dealer who has been designated by an 
Authorized Representative in writing to the Issuing and Paying Agent as a person authorized to 
give such Instructions hereunder (each an “Authorized Dealer Representative”), provided that 
Instructions may be given in writing if the System is unavailable or is inoperative, and provided 
further that the Issuing and Paying Agent will not issue Commercial Paper Notes in an amount 
that would cause the total amount of the Commercial Paper Notes previously issued and currently 
outstanding (after taking into account the Commercial Paper Notes paid or to be paid on such 
proposed issuance date) plus interest to accrue thereon plus the amount of any unpaid Drawing 
(as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement) made pursuant to the Letter of Credit to exceed 
the Initial Stated Amount (as defined in the Reimbursement Agreement) and that would mature 
less than five (5) calendar days prior to the expiration of the Letter of Credit.  Provided, that should 
there be any extension of the Letter of Credit, the Issuing and Paying Agent shall be given written 
notice of such extension within ten (10) Business Days of the agreement upon such extension 
and the Paying Agent shall provide notice of such extension to the Dealer within five (5) Business 
Days of the Paying Agent’s receipt of such notice.  Upon receipt of Instructions as described in 
this Section, the Issuing and Paying Agent will withdraw the necessary Commercial Paper Note(s) 
from safekeeping and, in accordance with such Instructions, shall, (i) in the case of Book-Entry 
Notes, cause the issuance of such Book-Entry Notes in the manner set forth in, and take such 
other actions as are required by, the Letter of Representations and the Certificate Agreement, or 
other such agreement, or, (ii) in the case of Certificated Notes: 

(1) complete each Certificated Note as to principal amount (which shall 
not be less than $100,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess of such 
amount or which, collectively with the outstanding Commercial Paper Notes (in any 
form) will not exceed $50,000,000 in principal), payee, date of issue, maturity date 
(which shall not be more than 270 days from the date of issue), amount of interest 
(calculated at a rate of interest that shall never exceed the maximum interest rate 
allowed by Texas Government Code, Chapter 1204, as amended, and which 
statutory maximum interest rate is, as of the date of this Agreement, a net effective 
interest rate of fifteen percent (15.00%) per annum), and maturity value; and 

(2) manually countersign each Certificated Note by any one of the 
Issuing and Paying Agent’s officers or employees who are duly authorized and 
designated for such purpose; and 



101703816.3/1001148150 4 

(3) deliver the Certificated Note(s) to the appropriate Dealer or its agent 
within the Borough of Manhattan and the State of New York, which delivery shall 
be against receipt for payment as herein provided or as otherwise provided in such 
Instructions.  (If such instructions do not provide for such receipt, such Dealer shall 
nevertheless pay the purchase price for the Certificated Note(s) (in accordance 
with Section 7 hereof.))  Of the three (3) non-negotiable copies of each Commercial 
Paper Note, two shall be retained by the Issuing and Paying Agent and one shall 
be sent promptly to the City. 

(b) Instructions given via the System must be entered by 11:00 A.M., New York time, 
for physical issuance and 11:00 A.M., New York time, for book-entry issuance, and Instructions 
delivered in writing (which may be by facsimile or electronic message) must be received by the 
Issuing and Paying Agent by 11:00 A.M., New York time, if the Commercial Paper Note(s) are to 
be delivered the same day.  The City understands and agrees that the Issuing and Paying Agent 
shall have no obligation to act on Instructions, deliver Commercial Paper Notes, or take any other 
action on any day that the Issuing and Paying Agent is not open for business. 

(c) The City understands that although the Issuing and Paying Agent has been 
instructed to deliver Commercial Paper Notes against payment, delivery of Certificated Notes will, 
in accordance with the custom prevailing in the commercial paper market, be made before receipt 
of payment in immediately available funds.  Therefore, once the Issuing and Paying Agent has 
delivered a Certificated Note to a Dealer or its agent as provided in Section 5(a)(3) hereof, the 
City shall bear the risk that a Dealer or its agent fails to remit payment for the Certificated Note to 
the Issuing and Paying Agent.  It is understood that each delivery of Commercial Paper Notes 
hereunder shall be subject to the payment, clearance, and settlement rules of the New York 
Clearing House Association L.L.C. in effect at the time of such delivery. 

(d) If the Issuing and Paying Agent, at its option, acts upon Instructions transmitted 
after the times specified in Section 5(b) hereof on the day on which the Instructions are to be 
operative, the City understands and agrees that (i) such Instructions shall be acted upon, on a 
best efforts basis, by the Issuing and Paying Agent pursuant to the custom and practice of the 
commercial paper market, and (ii) the Issuing and Paying Agent makes no representations or 
warranties that the issuance and delivery of any Commercial Paper Note(s) pursuant to Section 
5 hereof shall be completed prior to the close of business on the issue date specified in the 
Instructions. 

Section 6. The SPANS System of Instruction Transmittal.  The City is granted a 
personal, non-transferable and nonexclusive right to use the reporting communication service 
SPANS (“SPANS”) to receive information from the Issuing and Paying Agent.  The City, by 
separate agreement between the City and the Dealer may authorize the Dealer (in each case 
other than the Issuing and Paying Agent) to directly access SPANS for the purposes of obtaining 
reports with respect to the Commercial Paper Notes. 

The City acknowledges that (a) some or all of the services utilized in connection with 
SPANS are furnished by Open Information System (“OIS”) and the Issuing and Paying Agent, (b) 
SPANS is provided to the City “AS IS” without warranties or representations of any kind 
whatsoever by OIS or the Issuing and Paying Agent, and (c) SPANS is proprietary and confidential 
property disclosed to the City in confidence and only on the terms and conditions and for the 
purposes set forth in this Agreement. 



101703816.3/1001148150 5 

By this Agreement, the City acquires no title, ownership or sublicensing rights whatsoever 
in SPANS or in any trade secret, trademark, copyright or patent of the Issuing and Paying Agent 
or OIS now or to become applicable to SPANS.  The City may not transfer, sublicense, assign, 
rent, lease, convey, modify, translate, convert to a programming language, decompile, 
disassemble, recirculate, republish or redistribute SPANS for any purpose without the prior written 
consent of the Issuing and Paying Agent and, where necessary, OIS. 

To permit the use by the City of SPANS to obtain reports with respect to the Commercial 
Paper Notes, the Issuing and Paying Agent will supply the City with an identification number and 
initial passwords.  From time to time thereafter, the City may change its passwords directly 
through SPANS.  To the extent permitted by law, the City will keep all information relating to its 
identification number and passwords strictly confidential and will be responsible for the 
maintenance of adequate security over its customer identification number and passwords.  For 
security purposes, the City should change its passwords at least once a year. 

Section 7. Accounts and Funds; Proceeds of Sale of the Commercial Paper Notes.  
Contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and for the purposes of 
this Agreement, the City will establish with the Issuing and Paying Agent pursuant to Section 2.09 
of the Ordinance a clearing account designated as the “City of Garland, Texas General Obligation 
Note Clearance Account” (the “Note Clearance Account”).  As set forth in the Ordinance, at the 
close of business on each Payment Date (as defined in the Ordinance), the City shall cause to be 
credited to the Note Clearance Account proceeds received from the sale of Commercial Paper 
Notes or Bonds (“Proceeds”) and, to the extent needed, Available Tax Revenues (as defined in 
the Ordinance), the amount required pursuant to Section 2.09 of the Ordinance.  
Contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, and for the purposes of 
this Agreement, the City will establish with the Issuing and Paying Agent pursuant to Section 2.10 
of the Ordinance for the benefit of the City, the Credit Provider, and the holder of any Commercial 
Paper Note, a “City of Garland, Texas General Obligation Note Payment Interest and Sinking 
Fund” (the “Note Payment Fund”).   

In accordance with the Dealer Agreement (currently between the Dealer and the City and 
dated as of ________, 2021, but meaning any Dealer Agreement as may be entered into from 
time to time by the City and a Dealer and with respect to the Commercial Paper Notes), by 9:30 
A.M., New York time, on the date that Commercial Paper Notes are maturing and new 
Commercial Paper Notes are to be issued to pay the principal of and, to the extent necessary, 
interest on the maturing Commercial Paper Notes (if such date is a Business Day and if not then 
on the next corresponding Business Day), the Dealer or its agent shall either (i) confirm in writing 
to the Issuing and Paying Agent and the City the sale of Commercial Paper Notes (to an investor 
other than the Dealer or to the Dealer) and shall cause the Issuing and Paying Agent’s account 
with DTC (or the Issuing and Paying Agent’s account, if the Issuing and Paying Agent does not 
have or ceases to have an account with DTC) to be credited in an amount equal to the proceeds 
of the sale of the Commercial Paper Notes, or (ii) provide written notice to the Issuing and Paying 
Agent and the City of the Dealer’s inability to sell any or all of the Commercial Paper Notes 
intended to be issued, sold and delivered that day. 

The Issuing and Paying Agent shall, in response to the confirmation in (i) in the preceding 
paragraph of this Section 7 and the Instructions, issue Commercial Paper Notes as set forth in 
Section 5 hereof (or pursuant to any succeeding procedures which may be developed and agreed 
to by the parties) or shall, under the circumstances described in (ii) in the preceding paragraph of 
this Section 7, above, submit a draw request to the Credit Provider as set forth in the Letter of 
Credit and in Section 8(b) hereof.  



101703816.3/1001148150 6 

On each day on which a Dealer or its agent receives Commercial Paper Notes (whether 
through the facilities of DTC in the manner set forth in the Letter of Representations, or other 
agreement relating to the book-entry-only system, or by delivery in accordance with 
Section 5(a)(3) hereof), the Issuing and Paying Agent, upon receipt of funds from the Dealer, shall 
deposit the Proceeds in immediately available funds to the credit of the Note Clearance Account.  
As set forth in the Ordinance, Proceeds (net of all expenses and costs of sale and issuance) and 
other amounts credited to the Note Clearance Account pursuant to the Ordinance shall be applied 
by the Issuing and Paying Agent for any or all of the following purposes, in the following order 
(such application to be made on the date the applicable amount is due) : (i) first, to reimburse the 
Credit Provider for Drawings under the Letter of Credit to pay the principal of and interest on the 
Commercial Paper Notes on such date, (ii) second, to repay any Bank Debt Service (to the extent 
not paid in clause (i)), and (iii) third, to pay any other Required Payments to the Credit Provider.  
Proceeds not withdrawn from the Note Clearance Account and expended as provided in (i) 
through (iii) above minus any moneys remaining in the Note Clearance Account as a result of an 
owner’s failure to present a Commercial Paper Note for payment at maturity shall, on the next 
Business Day following the Payment Date (as defined herein), be transferred and deposited to 
the “City of Garland, General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021, Note 
Construction Account” (the “Note Construction Account”) (created and established pursuant to 
the Ordinance) and used and applied by the City in accordance with the provisions of the 
Ordinance.  Provided, that the foregoing sequence shall not apply to the City’s initial issuance of 
Commercial Paper Notes (“Initial Draw”); such Proceeds of such Initial Draw (net of all expenses 
and costs of sale and issuance) shall be immediately transferred and deposited to the City’s Note 
Construction Account.  Proceeds deposited to the Note Clearance Account and allocated to the 
repayment of Drawings made under the Letter of Credit shall be separately accounted for in a 
subaccount within the Note Clearance Account hereby created and to be known as the “Credit 
Account” and shall be held therein uninvested until such amounts are disbursed for the repayment 
of any Drawing. 

Section 8. Payment of Matured Commercial Paper Notes.  (a) Pursuant to a timely 
transmitted demand for payment (as described in the Letter of Credit and in Section 8(b) hereof), 
and by 1:00 P.M., New York time, on the date that any Commercial Paper Notes are scheduled 
to mature, the Credit Provider shall have transferred to the Issuing and Paying Agent for deposit 
in the Note Payment Fund in immediately available funds an amount at least equal to the principal 
amount of and accrued interest on the Commercial Paper Notes maturing on such date.  When 
any matured Commercial Paper Note is presented to the Issuing and Paying Agent for payment 
by a nominee of DTC pursuant to the Certificate Agreement, the payment of the principal thereof 
and interest thereon shall be made from and charged to the Note Payment Fund to the extent 
funds sufficient to effect such payment are available in said account. 

(b)  While the Commercial Paper Notes are secured by the Letter of Credit, the Issuing 
and Paying Agent shall make timely payments of the principal of and interest due on the 
Commercial Paper Notes from funds available in the Note Payment Fund received from Drawings 
made under the Letter of Credit for the purpose of paying principal of and interest on maturing 
Commercial Paper Notes. In connection with the timely payment of the principal of and interest 
on the maturing Commercial Paper Notes, the Issuing and Paying Agent acting as the agent of 
the City, shall make demands for payment under the Letter of Credit before 10:00 a.m., New York 
time on or before such Payment Date in accordance with the Letter of Credit, which payments by 
the Credit Provider are referred to therein and herein as “Drawings,” in strict conformity with the 
Letter of Credit, to enable the Credit Provider to provide funds by 1:00 p.m., New York time on or 
before each date any Commercial Paper Notes are to mature (the “Payment Date”). All Drawings 
received under the Letter of Credit pursuant to any demand for payment thereunder shall be 



101703816.3/1001148150 7 

deposited into the Note Payment Fund and applied solely to the payment of the principal amount 
of and interest accrued on the maturing Commercial Paper Notes.  Funds representing any 
Drawing made under the Letter of Credit and deposited to the Note Payment Fund shall be 
maintained in the Credit Account.  After receipt of a Notice of No Issuance (as such term is defined 
in the Letter of Credit and attached in the form of Schedule I of the Letter of Credit) the Issuing 
and Paying Agent will not complete, authenticate and deliver any Commercial Paper Notes 
pursuant to Section 5 hereof unless and until the Issuing and Paying Agent receives a notice 
rescinding such Notice of No Issuance.  Furthermore, upon receipt of a Final Drawing Notice (as 
such term is defined in the Letter of Credit and attached as Schedule III of the Letter of Credit), 
the Issuing and Paying Agent shall immediately make a demand for payment under the Letter of 
Credit for the purpose of paying principal of and interest on the outstanding Commercial Paper 
Notes and will not complete, authenticate or deliver any Commercial Paper Notes after the receipt 
of the Final Drawing Notice 

(c) Pursuant to Section 2.10 of the Ordinance, monies in the Note Payment Fund shall 
remain uninvested.  Moneys in the Note Clearance Account shall be invested pursuant to Section 
2.09 of the Ordinance. 

(d) The Issuing and Paying Agent shall have no obligation to pay, at maturity, the 
amount referred to in this Section 8 unless sufficient funds have been received by the Issuing and 
Paying Agent in collected funds.  If the Issuing and Paying Agent, at its sole option, makes any 
such payment that results in an overdraft in any account of the City, the amount of such overdraft 
shall be considered a loan to the City (a “Sufficiency Advance”).  The City agrees to pay the 
Issuing and Paying Agent on demand interest on any Sufficiency Advance made at the rate 
charged by the Credit Provider for Drawings made by the Credit Provider under the Letter of 
Credit until the City (or the Issuing and Paying Agent acting as the City’s agent) can secure a 
Drawing under the Letter of Credit or the City otherwise makes arrangements to repay the 
Sufficiency Advance. 

Section 9. Reliance on Instructions.  Except as otherwise set forth herein, the Issuing 
and Paying Agent shall incur no liability in acting hereunder upon written, facsimile, or electronic 
message Instructions contemplated hereby, including but not limited to Instructions received in 
connection with the issuance of Commercial Paper Notes, which the recipient thereof reasonably 
believed in good faith to have been given by an Authorized Representative or an Authorized 
Dealer Representative, as the case may be.  In addition, in the event that the City currently or in 
the future utilizes a trading system that produces issuance instructions that do not include 
signatures or initials, the Issuing and Paying Agent may conclusively rely upon such instructions 
absent such signatures or initials. 

Section 10. Cancellation of Commercial Paper Notes.  After payment of any matured 
Book-Entry Note, the Issuing and Paying Agent shall annotate its records to reflect the face 
amount of Book-Entry Notes outstanding in accordance with the Letter of Representations.  In the 
event Certificated Notes are issued, the Issuing and Paying Agent will in due course cancel and 
destroy Certificated Note(s) presented for payment and furnish the City with an affidavit of 
cancellation and destruction.  Promptly upon the written request of the City, the Issuing and 
Paying Agent agrees to cancel and return to the City all unissued Commercial Paper Notes in its 
possession at the time of such request. 

Section 11. Substitution of Letter of Credit.  The City hereby agrees to provide written 
notice to the Issuing and Paying Agent of the proposed substitution of the Letter of Credit not less 
than 45 days in advance of such proposed substitution.  The Issuing and Paying Agent hereby 



101703816.3/1001148150 8 

agrees to send written notice of such proposed substitution of the Letter of Credit and the effective 
date of such substitution by first class mail to all owners of any outstanding Notes to be secured 
by such substitute Letter of Credit, DTC, and the Dealer within 30 days of the receipt of such 
notice from the City.  A substitution of the Letter of Credit will not be effective until the City obtains 
a confirmation of no rating change from the rating agencies then providing a rating on the 
Commercial Paper Notes. 

Section 12. Notices; Addresses.  (a)  All communications by or on behalf of the City or 
a Dealer, relating to the completion, delivery, or payment of the Commercial Paper Note(s) are to 
be directed to the Issuing and Paying Agent’s Commercial Paper Issuance Unit of the Corporate 
Trust Division (or such other department or division which the Issuing and Paying Agent shall 
specify in writing to the City and the Dealer), which address information and telephone/facsimile 
numbers are provided in Section 12(b), below.  The City will send all Commercial Paper Notes to 
be completed and delivered by the Issuing and Paying Agent to its Commercial Paper Issuance 
Unit of the Corporate Trust Division (or such other department or divisions the Issuing and Paying 
Agent shall specify in writing to the City), which address information and telephone/facsimile 
numbers are provided in Section 12(b), below.  The Issuing and Paying Agent will advise the City 
and the Dealer from time to time in writing of the individuals generally responsible for the 
administration of this Agreement and will from time to time certify incumbency and specimen 
signatures of officers or employees authorized to countersign Commercial Paper Notes. 

(b) Notices and other communications hereunder, including issuance Instructions, 
shall (except to the extent otherwise expressly provided) be in writing (which may be by facsimile) 
and shall be addressed as follows, or to such other address as the party receiving such notice 
shall have previously specified to the party sending such notice: 

if to the City, at: 

concerning daily issuance of Commercial Paper Notes: 

City of Garland, Texas 
200 North Fifth 
Garland, Texas 75040 
Attention:  Matt Watson, Finance Director 
Telephone Number: (972) 205-2355 
Facsimile Transmission Number: (972) 205-2810 
 

if to the Issuing and Paying Agent, at: 

concerning daily issuance of Commercial Paper Notes and all other matters: 

U.S. Bank National Association 
Corporate Trust Services 
Attn: Wendy Kumar  
100 Wall Street 
Suite 600 
New York, New York 10005 
Telephone Number:  (212) 951-8561 
Facsimile Transmission Number:  (212) 509-3384 

 



101703816.3/1001148150 9 

if to the Credit Provider, at: 

Barclays Bank PLC 
745 7th Avenue, 19th Floor 
New York, NY  10019 
Attention:  Cassandra Bolz 
Telephone Number:  (212) 526-3974 
Facsimile Transmission Number:  (212) ____-_______ 
 
 

(c) Reasonable notice shall be given by the City to each and every rating agency then 
rating the Commercial Paper Notes of: the issuance of Commercial Paper Notes; the adoption or 
execution of any amendment to the Ordinance, the Reimbursement Agreement, Letter of Credit, 
or this Agreement; any change in any party to the Reimbursement Agreement, the Dealer 
Agreement or this Agreement or the addition of any Dealer; any termination or extension of the 
Letter of Credit or the substitution of the Letter of Credit with another credit facility or facilities; and 
any full or partial defeasance of Commercial Paper Notes made in accordance with the 
Ordinance.  As of the date of this Agreement, the rating agencies rating or expected to be rating 
the Commercial Paper Notes are as follows: 

Fitch, Inc. 
One State Street Plaza 
New York, New York 10004 
Attention: Municipal Structured Finance 
Telephone Number:   212/908-0689 
Facsimile Transmission Number: 212/480-4421 
 
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a Standard &  
Poor’s Financial Services LLC business 
500 N. Akard, Suite 3200 
Dallas, Texas  75201 
Telephone Number:   214/871-1401 
Facsimile Transmission Number: 214/871-1409 

Notices shall be deemed delivered when received at the address(es) specified above.  For 
purposes of this paragraph, “when received” shall mean actual receipt (i) of an electronic 
communication by a telex machine, telecopier or issuance system specified in or pursuant to this 
Agreement; or (ii) of a written communication sent via facsimile or hand-delivered at the office 
specified in or pursuant to this Agreement. 

Section 13. Additional Information.  Upon the request of the City given at any time and 
from time to time, the Issuing and Paying Agent shall promptly provide the City with information 
with respect to the Commercial Paper Note(s) issued and paid hereunder.  Such request shall be 
in written form and, to the extent known by the City, shall include the serial number, principal 
amount, date of issue, maturity date and amount of interest, if any, of each Commercial Paper 
Note which has been issued or paid by the Issuing and Paying Agent and for which the request 
is being made. 

Section 14. Liability.  Neither the Issuing and Paying Agent nor any of the Issuing and 
Paying Agent’s officers, employees, or agents shall be liable for any losses, damages, liabilities, 
or costs suffered or incurred by the City as a result of (a) the Issuing and Paying Agent’s having 



101703816.3/1001148150 10 

executed Instructions, (b) the Issuing and Paying Agent’s improperly executing or failing to 
execute any Instructions because of unclear Instructions, failure of communications media, or any 
other circumstances beyond the Issuing and Paying Agent’s control, (c) the actions or inaction of 
DTC, any agent or any broker, dealer, cosignee, or agent not selected by the Issuing and Paying 
Agent, or (d) any other acts or omissions of the Issuing and Paying Agent (or any of its agents or 
correspondents) relating to this Agreement or the transactions or activities contemplated hereby, 
except in the case of negligence or willful misconduct as determined by the final judgment of a 
court of competent jurisdiction within the State of Texas, no longer subject to appeal or review.  
The Issuing and Paying Agent’s duties and obligations and those of its officers and employees 
shall be determined by the express provisions of this Agreement, the Letter of Representations, 
and the Certificate Agreement (or other agreement executed in connection with the book-entry 
only system, including the documents referred to in such agreements), and they shall not be liable 
except for the performance of such duties and obligations as are specifically set forth herein and 
therein, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into any such document against 
them.  Neither the Issuing and Paying Agent nor any of its officers or employees shall be required 
to ascertain whether any issuance or sale of Commercial Paper Note(s) (or any amendment or 
termination of this Agreement) has been duly authorized or is in compliance with any other 
agreement to which the City is a party (whether or not the Issuing and Paying Agent is a party to 
such other agreement). 

Section 15. INDEMNIFICATION.  TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, THE CITY 
AGREES TO INDEMNIFY AND DEFEND AND HOLD THE ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT 
AND ITS OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AND AGENTS HARMLESS FROM AND 
AGAINST ALL LIABILITIES, CLAIMS AND SUITS (REGARDLESS OF THEIR MERIT), 
DAMAGES, LOSSES, PENALTIES, STAMP AND OTHER SIMILAR TAXES, JUDGMENTS, 
COSTS, AND EXPENSES (INCLUDING REASONABLE LEGAL FEES AND EXPENSES) 
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THEIR ACTIONS OR 
INACTION IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT THEY ARE 
CAUSED BY THE ISSUING AND PAYING AGENT OR ITS OFFICERS, AGENTS, OR 
EMPLOYEES, OR THEIR NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT.  THIS INDEMNITY 
SHALL SURVIVE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

Section 16. Benefit of Agreement.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties 
hereto and the Credit Provider, and no other person shall acquire or have any right under or by 
virtue hereof. 

Section 17. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated at any time by either the 
Issuing and Paying Agent or the City by fifteen (15) days prior written notice to the other.  If no 
successor issuing and paying agent shall have been selected by the City and accepted its 
appointment within fifteen (15) days after the giving of such notice of termination, the Issuing and 
Paying Agent may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor.  
Unless and until a successor issuing and paying agent is appointed, the Issuing and Paying Agent 
shall continue to perform all of its duties and functions under this Agreement.  All rights, duties, 
and obligations of the Issuing and Paying Agent under the Ordinance, the Reimbursement 
Agreement, and this Agreement will be assigned to the successor.  Such termination shall not 
affect the respective liabilities of the parties hereunder arising prior to such termination.  Upon an 
early termination of this Agreement, the Issuing and Paying Agent agrees to promptly transfer 
and deliver the Reimbursement Agreement and the Letter of Credit, together with the other 
pertinent, documents, books and records relating to the Commercial Paper Notes, to the 
successor issuing and paying agent designated and appointed by the City. 



101703816.3/1001148150 11 

Section 18. Governing Law.  This Agreement is to be delivered and performed in, and 
shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights of the parties shall be governed 
by, the laws of the State of Texas; provided, however, that the Issuing and Paying Agent’s 
obligations, rights, protections, immunities, and indemnities hereunder shall be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, and as applicable, both 
the Issuing and Paying Agent and the City shall fully comply with the operating circulars of the 
Federal Reserve Bank, federal laws and regulations as amended, New York Clearing House 
Rules, the DTC Rules, and general commercial bank practices applicable to commercial paper 
issuance and payment, funds transfer, and related activities. 

Section 19. Fees and Expenses.  The Issuing and Paying Agent shall receive fees from 
the City for acting as Issuing and Paying Agent and as Registrar hereunder in such amounts as 
the Issuing and Paying Agent and the City shall agree to from time to time in writing.  The City will 
pay or reimburse the Issuing and Paying Agent upon receipt of the Issuing and Paying Agent’s 
invoice for all reasonable expenses, disbursements, and advances incurred or made by the 
Issuing and Paying Agent in good faith and in accordance with any of the provisions hereof or any 
other documents executed in connection herewith (including the reasonable expenses and 
disbursements of its counsel and of all persons not regularly in its employ).  The City’s obligations 
under this Section 19 to compensate the Issuing and Paying Agent and to pay or reimburse the 
Issuing and Paying Agent for reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances made in good 
faith shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

Section 20. Legal Counsel.  The Issuing and Paying Agent may consult with legal 
counsel and the written advice or any opinion of legal counsel shall be full and complete 
authorization and protection with respect to any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Issuing 
and Paying Agent hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon. 

Section 21. Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City represents and 
warrants as follows: 

(a) The Ordinance is in full force and effect, and, accordingly, the City has taken all 
necessary action and has full power to enter into this Agreement and to issue and deliver the 
Commercial Paper Notes; 

(b) This Agreement when executed and the Commercial Paper Notes when issued in 
accordance with the Instructions or otherwise pursuant to the terms of this Agreement will be 
legal, valid, and binding obligations of the City, enforceable against the City in accordance with 
their terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganization, moratorium, 
other laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors’ rights and to general equity 
principals, and any other laws including judge-made law generally or specifically applicable to the 
City which may limit the obligations of the City under the Ordinance, the Reimbursement 
Agreement, or this Agreement; 

(c) This Agreement and the consummation of the transactions herein contemplated 
will not result in a breach or violation of, conflict with or constitute a default under any law, 
regulation, order, judgment, agreement or instrument to which the City is a party or by which the 
City or any of its property is bound; 

(d) There are no consents, authorizations, or approvals of, or filings with, any Federal 
or State government authority (other than the City) required in connection with the issuance or 
sale by the City of the Commercial Paper Notes or the performance of its obligations thereunder 



101703816.3/1001148150 12 

except as may be required under state securities laws and those which have already been 
obtained or made or will be obtained or made prior to the initial delivery of the Commercial Paper 
Notes; 

(e) There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity or 
before or by any court, public board or body pending or, to the best knowledge of the City, 
threatened against of affecting the City wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would 
adversely affect the validity of the Commercial Paper Notes and this Agreement, or any other 
agreement or instrument to which the City is a party and which has been executed in connection 
with the issuance of the Commercial Paper Notes; 

(f) Each Commercial Paper Note or other obligation issued under this Agreement will 
be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended; and 

(g) Each Instruction by the City to issue Commercial Paper Notes under this 
Agreement shall be deemed a representation and warranty by the City as of the date thereof that 
the representations and warranties herein are true and correct as if made on and as of such date. 

Section 22. Rights of the Issuing and Paying Agent.   

(a) In the absence of bad faith on the part of the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Issuing 
and Paying Agent may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements and the correctness of 
the opinions expressed therein, upon any certificates or opinions furnished to the Issuing and 
Paying Agent which conform to the requirements of this Agreement. 

(b) The Issuing and Paying Agent shall not be liable for any error of judgment made 
in good faith by an officer or officers of the Issuing and Paying Agent, unless it shall be 
conclusively determined by a court of competent jurisdiction located within the State of Texas that 
the Issuing and Paying Agent was negligent in ascertaining the pertinent facts. 

(c) None of the provisions of this Agreement shall require the Issuing and Paying 
Agent to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise to incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in 
the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if 
it shall have reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or indemnity 
satisfactory to it against such risk or liability is not assured to it.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
nothing (other than the limitation of the Initial Stated Amount) shall prevent the Issuing and Paying 
Agent from making a demand for payment pursuant to Section 8(b) hereof to the extent necessary 
to have sufficient moneys on deposit in the Note Payment Fund to pay when due interest on or 
principal of maturing Commercial Paper Notes (it being understood that the Issuing and Paying 
Agent shall have no liability in connection with its timely delivery of such demand for payment). 

(d) The Issuing and Paying Agent may conclusively rely and shall be fully protected in 
acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, 
consent, order, approval, paper, or other document believed by it to be genuine and to have been 
signed or presented by the proper party or parties. 

(e) Whenever in the administration of the provisions of this Agreement the Issuing and 
Paying Agent shall deem it necessary or desirable that a matter be proved or established prior to 
taking or suffering any action to be taken hereunder, such matter (unless other evidence in respect 
thereof be herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence of negligence or bad faith on the 
part of the Issuing and Paying Agent, be deemed to be conclusively proved and established by a 



101703816.3/1001148150 13 

certificate signed by an Authorized Representative or Authorized Dealer Representative, as the 
case may be, and delivered to the Issuing and Paying Agent, and such certificate, in the absence 
of any negligence or bad faith on the part of the Issuing and Paying Agent, shall be full warrant to 
the Issuing and Paying Agent for any action taken, suffered, or omitted by it under the provisions 
of this Agreement upon the faith thereof. 

(f) The Issuing and Paying Agent shall not be bound to make any investigation into 
the facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, 
notice, request, consent, order, approval, or other paper or document. 

(g) Except as set forth in Section 8(c) hereof, the Issuing and Paying Agent shall have 
no obligation to invest and reinvest any cash held by it.  It is agreed and understood that the 
Issuing and Paying Agent may earn fees associated with the investments referenced in Section 
8(c) hereof, which overnight repurchase agreements secured solely by direct obligations of the 
United States of America the Issuing and Paying Agent may select at its discretion.  In no event 
shall the Issuing and Paying Agent be deemed an investment manager or advisor in respect of 
any selection of investments hereunder.  In no event shall the Issuing and Paying Agent be liable 
for the selection of investments or for investment losses incurred thereon.  The Issuing and Paying 
Agent shall have no liability in respect of losses incurred as a result of the liquidation of any 
investment prior to its stated maturity. 

(h) The Issuing and Paying Agent may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder 
or perform any duties hereunder either directly or, by or through agents, custodians or nominees 
appointed with due care.  Provided, however, if the City shall have given its prior approval of the 
agent, custodian or nominee selected by the Issuing and Paying Agent, such approval not 
unreasonably withheld or delayed, the Issuing and Paying Agent shall not be responsible for any 
willful misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent, custodian or nominee so appointed.  
Provided further, that if the City shall not have given its prior approval of the agent, custodian or 
nominee selected by the Issuing and Paying Agent, the Issuing and Paying Agent shall not be 
responsible for any willful misconduct or gross negligence on the part of any agent, custodian or 
nominee so appointed. 

(i) Any corporation into which the Issuing and Paying Agent may be merged or 
converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any corporation resulting from any merger, 
conversion or consolidation to which the Issuing and Paying Agent shall be a party, or any 
corporation succeeding to the business of the Issuing and Paying Agent shall be the successor 
of the Issuing and Paying Agent hereunder without the execution or filing of any paper with any 
party hereto or any further act on the part of the parties hereto except when an instrument of 
transfer or assignment is required by law to effect such succession.  Further provided that in any 
case in which any of the herein described events of succession would foreseeably result in any 
cessation, temporary or permanent, of the Issuing and Paying Agent’s (or any successor entity’s) 
ability to perform any of the trusts or powers or duties of the Issuing and Paying Agent (or of any 
successor entity) under this Agreement, then in such case written notice shall be transmitted to 
the City prior to any such reasonably foreseeable cessation of ability as herein described as would 
give the City fair opportunity to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 17 hereof. 

(j) The City (for itself and any person or entity claiming through it) hereby releases, 
waives, discharges, exculpates and covenants not to sue the Issuing and Paying Agent for any 
action taken or omitted under this Agreement except to the extent caused by the Issuing and 
Paying Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. 



101703816.3/1001148150 14 

(k) In no event shall the Issuing and Paying Agent be liable for any failure or delay in 
the performance of its obligations hereunder because circumstances beyond the Issuing and 
Paying Agent’s control, including but not limited to, acts of God, flood, war (whether declared or 
undeclared), terrorism, fire, riot, embargo, government action, including any laws, ordinances, 
regulations or the like which would restrict or prohibit the provision of the services contemplated 
by this Agreement. 

(l) Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in no event shall the 
Issuing and Paying Agent be liable for special, indirect or consequential loss or damage of any 
kind whatsoever (including but not limited to lost profits), even if the Issuing and Paying Agent 
has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless of the form of action. 

(m) The Issuing and Paying Agent shall be entitled to conclusively assume, without 
any independent inquiry or investigation on its part, that the maximum rate of interest allowed by 
Texas Government Code, Chapter 1204, as amended, and which statutory maximum interest rate 
is, as of the date of this Agreement, a net effective interest rate of fifteen percent (15.00%) per 
annum is unchanged unless the City shall notify the Issuing and Paying Agent in writing pursuant 
to Section 12 herein that such statutory maximum rate has been changed or modified under 
applicable law. 

Section 23. Identifying Information.  To help the government fight the funding of 
terrorism and money laundering activities, Federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, 
verify, and record information that identifies each person who opens an account. For a non-
individual person such as a business entity, a charity, a trust, or other legal entity, the issuing and 
Paying Agent requires documentation to verify its formation and existence as a legal entity. The 
Issuing and Paying Agent may ask to see financial statements, licenses, identification and 
authorization documents from individuals claiming authority to represent the entity or other 
relevant documentation.  The parties acknowledge that a portion of the identifying information set 
forth herein is being requested by the Issuing and Paying in connection with the USA Patriot Act, 
Pub.L.107-56, and each agrees to provide any additional information requested by the Issuing 
and Paying Agent in connection with the Issuing and Paying Agent or any other legislation or 
regulation to which the Issuing and Paying Agent is subject, in a timely manner. 

Section 24. No Boycott of Israel.  The Issuing and Paying Agent hereby verifies that it 
and its parent company, wholly- or majority-owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates, if any, do not 
boycott Israel and, to the extent this Agreement is a contract for goods or services, will not boycott 
Israel during the term of this Agreement.  The foregoing verification is made solely to comply with 
Section 2271.002, Texas Government Code, as amended, and to the extent such Section does 
not contravene applicable Federal law.  As used in the foregoing verification, “boycott Israel” 
means refusing to deal with, terminating business activities with, or otherwise taking any action 
that is intended to penalize, inflict economic harm on, or limit commercial relations specifically 
with Israel, or with a person or entity doing business in Israel or in an Israeli-controlled territory, 
but does not include an action made for ordinary business purposes.  The Issuing and Paying 
Agent understands “affiliate” to mean an entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with the Issuing and Paying Agent and exists to make a profit. 

Section 25. Contracts With Companies Engaged in Business With Iran, Sudan or 
Foreign Terrorist Organizations Prohibited.  The Issuing and Paying Agent represents that neither 
it nor any of its parent company, wholly- or majority-owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates is a 
company identified on a list prepared and maintained by the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts 



101703816.3/1001148150 15 

under Section 2252.153 or Section 2270.0201, Texas Government Code, and posted on any of 
the following pages of such officer’s internet website: 

https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/sudan-list.pdf, 
https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/iran-list.pdf, or 
https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/fto-list.pdf. 

The foregoing representation is made solely to comply with Section 2252.152, Texas 
Government Code, and to the extent such Section does not contravene applicable Federal law 
and excludes the Issuing and Paying Agent and each of its parent company, wholly- or majority-
owned subsidiaries, and other affiliates, if any, that the United States government has affirmatively 
declared to be excluded from its federal sanctions regime relating to Sudan or Iran or any federal 
sanctions regime relating to a foreign terrorist organization.  The Issuing and Paying Agent 
understands “affiliate” to mean any entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under common 
control with the Issuing and Paying Agent and exists to make a profit. 

Section 26. Miscellaneous.   

(a) The City agrees that the Commercial Paper Notes issued or presented hereunder 
shall be denominated in United States dollars.  The City further agrees that payment of any and 
all amounts due pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement shall be made solely in United States 
dollars. 

(b) Under no circumstances shall funds representing Drawings made under the 
Reimbursement Agreement be used for any other purpose or retained by the Issuing and Paying 
Agent for any reason, such funds to be used only for the purpose of paying principal and interest 
due on Commercial Paper Notes. 

(c) This Agreement may not be assigned by the City and may not be modified or 
amended or supplemented except by a writing or writings duly executed by the duly authorized 
representatives of the City and the Issuing and Paying Agent. 

(d) This Agreement, the Ordinance, and the Reimbursement Agreement contain the 
entire understanding and agreement among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.  
All prior agreements, understandings, representations, statements, promises, inducements, 
negotiations, and undertakings and all existing contracts previously executed among said parties 
with respect to said subject matter are superseded hereby.  The City agrees to deliver to the 
Issuing and Paying Agent, prior to or concurrently with the first issuance of any amount of 
Commercial Paper Notes, an executed copy of each of the Ordinance and the Reimbursement 
Agreement. 

(e) With respect to all references herein to nouns, insofar as the context requires, the 
singular form shall be deemed to include the plural, and the plural form shall be deemed to include 
the singular. 

 

 

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank] 



101703816.3/1001148150 S-1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day 
and year first above written. 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Issuing and Paying Agent and Registrar 
 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________ 

Title: _____________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[signature page to Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement relating to 
City of Garland, Texas General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021] 

  



101703816.3/1001148150 S-2 

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
       Mayor 

Attest: 
 

______________________________ 
City Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[signature page to Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement relating to 
City of Garland, Texas General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021] 



101703816.3/1001148150 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE 

THE STATE OF TEXAS   
 
COUNTIES OF DALLAS, COLLIN 
AND ROCKWALL 
 
CITY OF GARLAND 
 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

I certify that the persons listed below have been designated pursuant to the ordinance (the 
“Ordinance”) authorizing the issuance of $50,000,000 City of Garland, Texas, General Obligation 
Commercial Paper Notes, Series 2021 (the “Notes”), to act as Authorized Representative in 
connection with the issuance, sale and delivery of any Notes pursuant to the Ordinance and the 
carrying out of any matters relating to the Notes and any and all of the Reimbursement 
Agreement, the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement and the Dealer Agreement (all as defined 
in the Ordinance). 

Authorized Representative 

Name:  Scott LeMay 
Title:  Mayor 

Signature:      

Designees of Authorized Representative 

Name     Specimen Signature 

Bryan Bradford         
City Manager 

________          
Assistant City Manager 

Matthew Watson        
Finance Director 

___________________________________ 
City Secretary, City of Garland, Texas 

Dated: _____________________ 



 

101704175.3/1001148150 D-1 

Exhibit D 
 

DEALER AGREEMENT 

 
 

 



 

1 
 

 $[______] 
 CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
 GENERAL OBLIGATION COMMERCIAL PAPER NOTES, [SERIES 2021] 

COMMERCIAL PAPER DEALER AGREEMENT 
 
 [_____], 2021 
 
 
 
City of Garland, Texas 
200 North Fifth 
Garland, Texas 75040 
 
Dear Ladies & Gentlemen: 
 

This Agreement confirms the agreement among the undersigned, (“Barclays Capital  
Inc.” or the “Dealer”) and the City of Garland, Texas (the “Issuer”) for the Dealer to act as 
exclusive dealer in connection with the execution and delivery of the Issuer’s $[_____] 
General Obligation Commercial Paper Notes, [Series 2021] (the “Notes”).  The Notes are 
to be executed and delivered under and pursuant to an ordinance adopted by the Issuer on 
[______], 2021 (the “Ordinance“) and will be authenticated by U.S. Bank National 
Association (the “Paying Agent”), pursuant to an Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement by 
and between the Issuer and the Paying Agent.  All terms used herein and not defined herein 
shall have the meanings specified in the Ordinance. 
 

The Notes are to be executed and delivered for the purposes described in the 
Ordinance.  The aggregate principal amount of the Notes that may be outstanding at any 
one time and the aggregate amount of interest to maturity with respect to such Notes are 
limited as provided in the Ordinance.  The holders from time to time of the Notes will be 
entitled to the benefits of a liquidity facility issued by Barclays Bank PLC(the “Bank”) 
under and pursuant to a Direct Pay Letter of Credit, dated as of [,2021] (the “LOC”), by 
and between the Issuer and the Bank and a Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of [____, 
2021] (the “Reimbursement Agreement”), by and between the Issuer and the Bank.  This 
Agreement, the Ordinance, the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, the LOC and the 
Reimbursement Agreement are hereinafter referred to as the “Issuer Documents”. 

 
The Issuer agrees and acknowledges that: (i) with respect to the engagement of the 

Dealer by the Issuer, including in connection with the purchase, sale and offering of the 
Notes, and the discussions, conferences, negotiations and undertakings in connection 
therewith, the Dealer (a) is and has been acting as a principal and not an agent or fiduciary 
of the Issuer, and (b) is not acting as a municipal or other advisor or expert to the Issuer, 
including, without limitation, with respect to the determination of the offering price of the 
Notes, and such relationship between the Issuer, on the one hand, and the Dealer, on the 



 

2 
 

other, is entirely and solely commercial, based on arms-length negotiations; (ii) the Issuer 
has consulted its own legal, financial and other advisors to the extent it has deemed 
appropriate; (iii) the Dealer and their respective affiliates may have interests that differ 
from those of the Issuer and (iv) this Agreement expresses the entire relationship between 
the parties hereto. The Issuer hereby waives any claims that the Issuer may have against 
the Dealer with respect to any breach of fiduciary duty in connection with the purchase and 
sale of the Notes. 

The Issuer will, to the extent required by Rule 15c2-12 referenced in the Ordinance,  
undertake to provide annual reports and notices of certain events pursuant to the 
requirements of said Rule 15c2-12. 

 
 

1. Appointment of Dealer; Basic Responsibilities of Dealer.  (a) 
Subject to the terms and conditions herein contained, the Issuer  hereby appoints the Dealer, 
and the Dealer hereby accepts such appointment, as exclusive dealer for the Issuer in 
connection with the offering, issuance and sale of the Notes. 
 

(b) In its capacity as dealer, the Dealer shall exercise its commercially 
reasonable efforts to solicit purchases of the Notes, on such terms and conditions, including 
maturity dates and interest rates, as may prevail from time to time in the tax-exempt 
commercial paper market.  The Dealer and the Issuer agree that any Notes which the Dealer 
may purchase or for which the Dealer may arrange the sale, will be purchased or sold on 
the terms and conditions and in the manner provided in this Agreement, the Ordinance, and 
the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement.  The Dealer agrees that it shall not purchase or 
arrange the sale of any Notes following the receipt by it of written notice from the Issuer 
pursuant to the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement instructing it not to issue Notes, until 
such time as such instruction is revoked by written notice from the Issuer.   
 

(c) The Dealer, in its individual capacity, may in good faith buy, sell, 
own, hold and deal in any of the Notes, including, without limitation, any Notes offered 
and sold by the Dealer pursuant to this Agreement, and may join in any action which any 
owner of the Notes may be entitled to take with like effect as if it did not act in any capacity 
hereunder. The Dealer may sell any of the Notes at prices above or below par, at any time. 
The Dealer, in its individual capacity, either as principal or agent, may also engage in or 
be interested in any financial or other transaction with the Issuer and may act as depositary, 
account party, or agent for any committee or body of owners of the Notes or other 
obligations of the Issuer as freely as if it did not act in any capacity hereunder. 

(d)  It is understood and agreed that the Dealer's responsibilities hereunder 
will include (i) the soliciting of purchases of Notes from investors that customarily 
purchase commercial paper or tax-exempt securities in large denominations, (ii) effecting 
and processing such purchases, (iii) causing the furnishing, by mail or otherwise (at the 
Issuer's expense), of such materials as are described in Section 4 hereof, (iv) billing and 



 

3 
 

receiving payment for Notes purchases, and (v) performing such other related functions as 
may be requested by the Issuer and agreed to by the Dealer. 

(e) It is understood and agreed by all parties hereto that the Dealer is only 
obligated hereunder to use its commercially reasonable efforts to solicit indications of 
interest on the part of purchasers of the Notes and is not acting as an underwriter of the 
Notes. 

(f) While the Dealer has and shall have no obligation to purchase the Notes 
from the Issuer or to arrange any sale of the Notes for the account of the Issuer, the parties 
hereto agree that in any case where the Dealer purchases Notes from the Issuer, or arranges 
for the sale of Notes by the Issuer, such Notes will be purchased or sold by the Dealer in 
reliance on the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Issuer 
contained herein or made pursuant hereto and on the terms and conditions and in the 
manner provided herein and in the Ordinance and the Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement. 

(g) The Dealer agrees that it will stop soliciting purchases of Notes upon 
receipt of a notice from the Bank of an Immediate Termination Event pursuant to Section 
[7.03] of the [ Reimbursement Agreement]. 

 
2. The Notes.  (a) As more fully described in the Ordinance, the Notes 

shall be issued by the Issuer in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $[_______] 
outstanding at any time.  No Notes may be outstanding after [_____], 20__.   Each of the 
Notes will be issuable in minimum denominations of $100,000 and integral multiples of 
$1,000 in excess of such amount and will have maturities of not more than 270 days from 
their respective dates of execution and delivery.  The Notes may be executed and delivered 
in registered form, without coupons.  The Notes will be issued as interest-bearing 
obligations, maturing at such times as an Authorized Representative (as defined in the 
Ordinance) may designate upon authorizing the issuance thereof.  Principal of and interest 
with respect to the Notes will be payable at maturity in immediately available funds at the 
offices of the Issuing and Paying Agent in The City of New York, New York. 

 
(b) The Notes shall be book-entry notes evidenced by one or more master 

notes (each, a “Master Note”) registered in the name of The Depository Trust Company 
(“DTC”) or its nominee, in the form or forms annexed to the Issuing and Paying Agency 
Agreement. The Notes will be issued as [interest-bearing obligations] maturing at such 
times as an Approving Officer may designate upon authorizing the issuance thereof. The 
Dealer shall pay for the Notes, if any, purchased by the Dealer or sold by the Dealer in 
immediately available funds in the manner provided for in the Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement on the Business Day such Notes are delivered to the Dealer. 



 

4 
 

(c) Not later than [1:00 p.m.], New York, New York time on the date of each 
transaction, the Dealer shall (i) confirm each transaction, if any, made with or arranged by 
Dealer and/or (ii) notify the Issuer and the Issuing and Paying Agent of the difference, if 
any, between the amount of maturing Notes, together with the interest payment due 
thereon, and the amount of Notes which the Dealer has arranged to sell or has agreed to 
purchase (the “Difference”). Such confirmation or notification shall be delivered 
electronically or by telephone to the Issuer and the Issuing and Paying Agent in the Dealer’s 
customary manner. 

(d) The Issuer shall reimburse the Dealer for the Difference, if any, pursuant 
to the terms and conditions and in the manner provided in the Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement. 

(e) On or before [12:30 p.m.], New York City time, on each day on which 
Notes, are to be executed and delivered, the Dealer will notify an Approving Officer (as 
defined in the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement) and the Issuing and Paying Agent of 
the confirmed terms of the final maturities, prices and interest rates at which the Dealer has 
purchased and/or will arrange the sale of the Notes (as applicable), and the Dealer shall 
provide the Issuer with any other information required for the Issuer or the Dealer to record 
[and deliver] such Notes. Such amounts and terms and conditions shall be subject to the 
approval of an Approving Officer. The receipt by the Dealer of such indications of interest 
from potential purchasers of Notes shall not constitute legal and binding commitments of 
such purchasers, and the giving by the Dealer of notice of such indications of interest from 
potential purchasers of Notes pursuant to this paragraph shall not constitute, or be 
construed as constituting, notice of the receipt by the Dealer of legal and binding 
commitments of such purchasers. 

(f) As long as the terms of the Notes conform to the direction from the 
Issuer in any standing letter of instructions then in effect, the Dealer shall not be 
required to obtain additional direction or confirmation from the Issuer. In the 
absence of any standing letter of instructions, the Issuer must confirm the terms of 
the transactions proposed by the Dealer. Pursuant to [Section [6] hereof, the Dealer 
shall only be obligated to purchase or arrange the sale of any Notes when it has agreed 
to purchase or arrange the sale of such Notes and the Issuer has agreed thereto in 
accordance with the provisions of this Section.3. Furnishing of Offering Materials. 

3. Furnishing of Offering Materials.  (a) The Issuer agrees to pay the 
cost of as many copies as the Dealer may reasonably request of the offering materials 
(including materials referred to therein or incorporated by reference therein, if any) 
approved by the Issuer and the Dealer for provision to purchasers or prospective purchasers 
of the Notes, including any amendments or supplements thereto which may be prepared 
from time to time in accordance with this Agreement (such materials, the “Offering 
Materials”). 



 

5 
 

(b) The Offering Materials and their contents (other than any information 
concerning the Dealer and provided by the Dealer in writing expressly for inclusion in the 
Offering Materials (the “Dealer Information”)) shall be the sole responsibility of the Issuer. 
The Issuer authorizes the Dealer to distribute the Offering Materials as determined by the 
Dealer. 

(c) As promptly as practicable, but in no event more than 90 days following 
receipt by the Issuer of the annual audited financial statements of the Issuer for each fiscal 
year ending September 30, the Issuer shall update the Offering Materials to include such 
financial statements. The Offering Materials shall be annually revised in the same manner 
and within the same period as described in this Section 3(c). 

(d) If, during and prior to such time as any Offering Materials are used in 
connection with the offering and sale of the Notes, any event or condition relating to or 
affecting the Issuer shall occur which might materially adversely affect the properties, 
business, condition (financial or other) or results of operations of the Issuer or the ability 
of the Issuer to perform its obligations under and in respect of this Agreement, the Notes, 
the Ordinance, the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, the LOC or the Reimbursement 
Agreement, or which may cause the Offering Materials then in effect to include an untrue 
statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make 
the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, 
not misleading, the Issuer will promptly (but in any event prior to any subsequent issuance 
of Notes hereunder) notify the Dealer of the circumstances and details of such event or 
condition. If, as a result of such event or condition or any other event or condition, it is 
necessary or advisable, in the opinion of the Dealer, to amend or supplement such Offering 
Materials in light of such event or condition, the Issuer will forthwith cooperate with the 
Dealer in the prompt preparation of a supplement to such Offering Materials, in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Dealer, which will so amend or supplement such Offering 
Materials. 

(e) In addition, the Issuer shall from time to time furnish to the Dealer such 
information as the Dealer may reasonably request, including, without limitation, any press 
releases or material provided by the Issuer to any national securities exchange or rating 
agency, regarding (i) the Issuer’s operations and financial condition, (ii) the due 
authorization and execution of the Notes and (iii) the Issuer’s ability to pay the Notes as 
they mature. 

 4. Financial Statements.  (a) As long as the Notes are outstanding and Barclays 
Capital Inc. is the Dealer, the Issuer shall deliver to the Dealer within  210 days after the 
end of each of its fiscal years, the audited financial statements of the Issuer.   
 

(b) Simultaneously with the furnishing thereof to the Bank, the Issuer 
shall furnish to the Dealer all financial statements, reports and information required to be 
furnished to the Bank pursuant to Section [5.07] of the [Reimbursement Agreement]. 



 

6 
 

 
5. Representations, Warranties and Covenants of the Issuer. 

The Issuer hereby represents, warrants and covenants to the Dealer that: 

(a) the Ordinance is in full force and effect and has not been modified or 
amended since adoption and the Issuer is a home rule city of the State of 
Texas, duly organized and validly existing under the applicable laws of such 
jurisdiction, and has full power and authority to execute and deliver the 
Issuer Documents; 

(b) it is empowered to issue the Notes, to enter into and to perform its 
obligations under the Issuer Documents and to carry out and consummate 
all transactions contemplated hereby and by the other Issuer Documents; 

(c) the making and performance by the Issuer of the Issuer Documents and the 
Notes have been duly authorized by all necessary action of the Issuer and 
the Issuer Documents constitute, and the Notes when duly issued, 
authenticated and delivered as provided in the Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement will constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations of the Issuer 
enforceable against the Issuer in accordance with their respective terms, 
except as enforceability may be limited by general principles of equity 
(regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding in equity or at 
law) or by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium 
or similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally; 

(d) The Issuer will take all such action as the Dealer may reasonably request to 
ensure that each offer and each sale of the Notes will comply with any 
applicable state Blue Sky laws; 

(e) no approval, permit, consent, authorization or order of any court or any 
governmental or public agency, authority or person not already obtained 
(other than any approvals that may be required under the “blue sky” laws of 
any jurisdiction) is required with respect to the Issuer in connection with the 
issuance and sale of the Notes or the execution and delivery by the Issuer 
of, or in the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under, the Issuer 
Documents or the Notes and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated by the Issuer Documents; 

(f) the Issuer is not now and has not ever been in breach of or in default under 
any applicable law or administrative regulation of the State of Texas or the 
United States, or any applicable judgment or decree or any trust agreement, 
loan agreement, bond, note, resolution, ordinance, agreement or other 
instrument to which the Issuer is a party or is otherwise subject, the 



 

7 
 

consequence of which or the correction of any of which materially and 
adversely affects the operations of the Issuer as of [_____]. 2021 ; 

(g) the adoption by the Issuer of the Ordinance and the making and performance 
by the Issuer of the other Issuer Documents and the Notes do not and will 
not conflict with or result in a breach or violation of any of the terms or 
provisions of, or constitute a default under, any resolution, indenture, deed 
of trust, mortgage commitment, agreement or other instrument to which the 
Issuer is a party or by which the Issuer is bound, or any constitutional 
provision, existing law, administrative regulation, court order or consent 
decree to which the Issuer or its property is subject; 

(h) except as otherwise described in the Offering Memorandum (as defined in 
the Ordinance), there is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation 
at law or in equity, before or by any court, governmental agency, public 
board or body, pending or, to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned, 
threatened against or affecting the Issuer and, to the best of the knowledge 
of the undersigned, there is no basis therefor, (i) which in any way questions 
the powers of the Issuer or the validity of the Issuer Documents or the Notes,  
(ii) wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would materially and 
adversely affect the transactions contemplated by the Issuer Documents or 
the Notes, or would in any way affect adversely the validity or 
enforceability of the Issuer Documents or the Notes, or (iii) would in any 
way affect adversely the validity or enforceability of the Issuer Documents 
or the Notes;  

(i) any information relating to the Issuer and the Notes furnished by the Issuer 
pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to the Offering 
Memorandum, does not and will not include any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the 
statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 
made, not misleading; 

(j) except as previously disclosed, the Issuer has not failed during the previous 
five years to comply with any previous undertakings in a written continuing 
disclosure contract or agreement under Rule 15c2-12;  

(k) Any certificate authorized by the Issuer, signed by any authorized official 
or officials of the Issuer and delivered to the Dealer shall be deemed a 
representation by the Issuer to the Dealer as to the statements made therein; 

(l) The Issuer will take all actions within its control necessary to maintain the 
exclusion of interest on the Notes from the gross income of the holders 
thereof for Federal income tax purposes; 



 

8 
 

(m) The Issuer will not permit to become effective any amendment to or 
modification of the Ordinance or the Issuer Documents which could 
reasonably be expected to adversely affect the interest of the holder of any 
Notes then outstanding. The Issuer will give the Dealer notice of any 
proposed amendment to or modification of the Ordinance or the Issuer 
Documents prior to the effective date thereof; 

(n) The Issuer will not be in default of any of its obligations hereunder, under 
the Notes or under the Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement, at any time 
that any of the Notes are outstanding The Issuer will immediately notify the 
Dealer, either by writing mailed in accordance with Section 10 or by email 
communication, telecopier or by another electronic, facsimile or 
telecommunications means for receiving notices approved in advance by 
the Dealer (“Electronic Means”), of the occurrence of any event affecting 
the power of the Issuer to issue Notes, the due authorization and execution 
of the Notes, the corporate existence of the Issuer, or the financial condition 
and affairs of the Issuer or which would otherwise render untrue or 
misleading in any material respect any material fact in any document 
pertaining to the Issuer and its affairs which was provided by the Issuer to 
the Dealer in connection with the issuance, purchase and sale of the Notes; 

(o) The Issuer will provide the Dealer by Electronic Means with copies of any 
amendments of or extensions to any credit or liquidity facility supporting 
the Notes and copies of any substitute credit or liquidity facility, in any such 
case within one (1) day of the execution of any such documentation. 

(p) Each (a) delivery of a Note to the Dealer or to a person whose purchase of 
such Note was arranged by the Dealer or (b) amendment or supplement of 
the Offering Memorandum shall constitute a representation and warranty 
by the Issuer, as of the date hereof, that both before and after giving effect 
to such issuance, and after giving effect to such amendment or supplement, 
the representations of the Issuer in Section 4 are true and correct on and as 
of such date with the same effect as if made on and as of such date;  and 

(q) the Issuer will cooperate with the Dealer in arranging for the qualification 
of the Notes for sale and the determination of their eligibility for investment 
under the laws of such jurisdictions as the Dealer may designate and will 
use its best efforts to continue such qualifications in effect so long as the 
Notes are being offered by the Dealer; provided, however, that the Issuer 
will not be required to execute a special or general consent to service of 
process or qualify to do business in connection with action taken under this 
subsection. 



 

9 
 

Each delivery of a Note to the Dealer or to a person whose purchase of such Note 
was arranged by the Dealer shall constitute a representation and warranty by the 
Issuer, as of the date thereof, that (i) the representations and warranties of the Issuer 
in this Section 4 are true and correct on and as of such date with the same effect as 
if made on and as of such date, (ii) the Notes issued on such date have been duly 
and validly issued and delivered in accordance with the Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement,  (iii) the Issuer has complied or will comply, as the case may be, with 
all covenants contained in this Agreement, (iv) the Issuer is not in default of any of 
its obligations hereunder, under the Notes, the LOC, the Reimbursement 
Agreement or the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement and (v) since the date of 
the Offering Memorandum, there has been no material adverse change in the 
condition (financial or otherwise), operations or business prospects of the Issuer 
which has not been disclosed to the Dealer in writing.  The Issuer shall not cause to 
be issued any Note unless such representations and warranties are true and correct. 

6. Conditions To Dealer’s Obligations.  The obligations of the Dealer under 
this Agreement have been undertaken in reliance on, and shall be subject to, the due 
performance by the Issuer of its obligations and agreements to be performed hereunder and 
to the accuracy of and compliance with the respective representations, warranties, 
covenants and agreements of the Issuer contained herein, in each case on and as of the date 
of delivery of this Agreement and on and as of each date on which Notes are to be issued.  
The obligations of the Dealer hereunder with respect to each date on which Notes are to be 
issued are also subject, in the discretion of the Dealer, to the following further conditions 
precedent: 
 

(a) The Issuer Documents shall be in full force and effect and the Notes 
to be issued on such date shall have the full benefits of all of the foregoing, and there shall 
be in full force and effect such additional resolutions, agreements, instruments and 
certificates (including such certificates as may be required by Norton Rose Fulbright 
L.L.P., Bond Counsel, regarding the exclusion from gross income of interest on the Notes 
from federal income tax) and such opinions of counsel, which resolutions, agreements, 
certificates and opinions of counsel shall be satisfactory in form and substance to Norton 
Rose Fulbright L.L.P., Bond Counsel, and there shall have been taken in connection 
therewith and in connection with the issuance of the Notes all such action as shall, in the 
opinion of the aforesaid Bond Counsel, be necessary in connection with the transactions 
contemplated hereby. 
 

(b) There shall have been no material adverse change in the properties, 
business, condition (financial or other) or results of operations of the Issuer or the Bank 
since the date of the Offering Memorandum; and no Event of Default (as such term is 
defined in the Ordinance, the LOC or the Reimbursement Agreement) shall have occurred 
and be continuing and no event shall have occurred and be continuing which with the 
passage of time or giving of notice or both, would constitute such an Event of Default. 
 



 

10 
 

(c) On or prior to the first date on which Notes are to be sold pursuant to 
the terms of the Ordinance and this Agreement, the Dealer shall have received: 
 

(i) executed copies of the Reimbursement Agreement and the 
Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement; a transcript of all proceedings relating 
to the authorization of the Notes will be provided for federal income tax 
purposes following the issuance of the Notes, satisfactory in form and 
substance to the Dealer;  

 
(ii) Prior to the issuance of any book-entry Notes represented by a 

Master Note registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, a copy of the 
executed Letter of Representations among the Issuer, the Issuing and Paying 
Agent and DTC and of the executed Master Note;  

 
(iii) opinions dated such date of (a)Norton Rose Fulbright LLP , Bond 

Counsel, (b) McDermott Will & Emory LLP , United States counsel to the 
Bank, and (c) foreign counsel to the Bank (each such opinion to be in form 
and substance as previously agreed to by each such counsel and the Dealer); 

 
(iv) Confirmation of the then current rating assigned to the Notes by 

each nationally recognized statistical rating organization then rating the 
Note; 

   (v) a certificate of the Issuer, executed by any duly authorized 
official of the Issuer, dated such date, as to the accuracy of and compliance 
with the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Issuer 
contained in the Ordinance on and as of such date, which certificate may state 
that the certifications therein set forth are to the best knowledge and belief of 
such official; 

 
(vi) a certificate of the Issuer, executed by any duly authorized 

official of the Issuer, dated such date, as to the accuracy of and compliance 
with the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the Issuer 
contained in the LOC and the Reimbursement Agreement on and as of such 
date, which certificate may state that the certifications therein set forth are to 
the best knowledge and belief of such official; 

 
(vii) a certificate of the Bank, executed by a duly authorized 

representative of the Bank, dated such date, as to the correctness of 
information concerning the Bank which is contained in the Offering 
Memorandum; 

 
(viii) a certificate of the Issuer executed by any duly authorized 

official of the Issuer, dated on or prior to such date, as to the correctness of 



 

11 
 

information concerning the Issuer which is contained in the Offering 
Memorandum; 

 
(ix) copies of all documents required by, and delivered pursuant to, 

[Section 4.01] of the Reimbursement Agreement; and 
 

(x) copies of such other documents, certificates and opinions as the 
Dealer shall have reasonably requested. 

 
7. Term and Termination of this Agreement.  (a) This Agreement 

shall become effective upon execution by the Dealer and the Issuer and may be canceled 
by the Dealer or the Issuer (with notification to the Bank) at any time on written notice.  To 
be effective, such written notice must be given no less than 30 days prior to such 
cancellation date with a copy to the Paying Agent and the Bank; provided, however, that 
upon the mutual agreement of the Dealer, the Bank, and the Issuer, such written notice may 
be given fewer than 30 days prior to such cancellation date.  The Issuer will use its best 
efforts to notify S&P Global Ratings,, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Fitch, Inc.(in 
the manner prescribed by Section 10(e) hereof) of the termination of this Agreement and 
any change in the dealer for the Notes. 
 

(b) In addition, Barclays Capital Inc. may terminate its obligations under this 
Agreement or, at its option, may temporarily suspend its obligations hereunder at any time 
by notifying the Issuer and the Bank in writing or by telegram, telex or other electronic 
communication of its election to do so if: 
 

(i)  Legislation shall be favorably reported by a committee of the House of 
Representatives or the Senate of the United States or be introduced by committee by 
amendment or otherwise in, or be enacted by, the House of Representatives or the Senate 
or be recommended by the President of the United States to the Congress of the United 
States for passage by the Congress of the United States, or a decision by a court established 
under Article III of the Constitution of the United States, or the Tax Court of the United 
States, shall be rendered, or a ruling, regulation or order of the Treasury Department of the 
United States or the Internal Revenue Service or any other governmental entity having 
jurisdiction over the subject matter shall be made or proposed, having the purpose or effect 
of imposing federal income taxation, or any other event shall have occurred which results 
in the imposition of federal income taxation, upon interest received on the Notes; 
 

(ii)  Legislation shall be favorably reported by a committee of the House of 
Representatives or the Senate of the United States, or shall be introduced by committee by 
amendment or otherwise, or be introduced by the House of Representatives or the Senate 
or shall be recommended by the President of the United States to the Congress of the United 
States for passage by the Congress of the United States, or a decision by a court of the 
United States shall be rendered, or a stop order, ruling, regulation or official statement by, 
or on behalf of, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or other 



 

12 
 

governmental agency having jurisdiction of the subject matter should be made or proposed, 
to the effect that the offering or sale of obligations of the character of the Notes, as 
contemplated hereby, is or would be in violation of any provision of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended and as then in effect (the “Securities Act”), or the Securities Act of 1934 
as amended and as then in effect, or that the Ordinance shall be required to be qualified 
under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended and as then in effect, or with the purpose 
or effect of otherwise prohibiting the offering for sale of obligations of the character of the 
Notes, or the Notes as contemplated hereby, without registration under the Securities Act 
or qualification of the Ordinance under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended; 
 

(iii)  Any information shall have become known which, in the Dealer’s reasonable 
opinion, makes untrue any statement of a material fact contained in the Offering 
Memorandum prepared as provided in Section 3 hereof, or causes the Offering 
Memorandum prepared as provided in Section 3 hereof, as supplemented or amended, to 
contain any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made therein, in the light of the circumstance under which they 
were made, not misleading; 
 

(iv)  Except as provided in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section, any legislation, 
resolution, ordinance, rule or regulation shall be introduced in, or be enacted by, any 
governmental body, department or agency of the United States or of the State of Texas, or 
a decision by any court of competent jurisdiction within the United States or the State of 
Texas shall be rendered, which, in the Dealer’s reasonable opinion, materially adversely 
affects the marketability of the Notes; 
 

(v)  Additional material restrictions not in force as of the date hereof shall have been 
imposed upon trading in securities similar to the Notes by any governmental authority or 
by any national securities exchange which, in the Dealer’s reasonable opinion, materially 
adversely affect the marketability of the Notes; 
 

(vi) Any governmental authority shall impose, as to the Notes, or obligations of the 
character of the Notes, any material restrictions not now in force, or increase materially 
those now in force which, in the Dealer’s reasonable opinion, materially adversely affect 
the marketability of the Notes; 
 

(vii)  A banking moratorium shall have been established by United States federal, 
or New York State authorities; 
 

(viii) The rating of the Notes shall have been downgraded to a rating below “A-1” 
by S&P Global Ratings, , or below “F1” by Fitch, Inc., or any such rating agency shall 
withdraw any ratings it may have in effect with respect to the Notes; 
 

(ix)  A war involving the United States shall have been declared, or any existing 
conflict involving the armed forces of the United States shall have escalated, or any other 



 

13 
 

national or international emergency relating to the effective operation of government of the 
financial community shall have occurred (or any existing national or international 
emergency shall have escalated), which, in the Dealer’s reasonable opinion, materially 
adversely affects the marketability of the Notes; 
 

(x)  Any event, including, without limitation, the bankruptcy or default of any issuer 
of, or obligor on tax-exempt securities, shall have occurred which, in the Dealer’s 
reasonable opinion, makes the marketing of the securities of the character of the Notes 
impossible over an extended period of time; 
 

(xi)  The Ordinance, the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, the LOC or the 
Reimbursement Agreement shall cease to be in full force and effect  or shall have been 
amended, modified or supplemented except as agreed to by the Dealer; 
 

(xii) An Event of Default under the Ordinance, the Issuing and Paying Agent 
Agreement, the LOC or the Reimbursement Agreement shall have occurred and be 
continuing; 
 

(xiii) A Non-Issuance Instruction shall have been given and remain in effect under 
the [Reimbursement Agreement]; 

 
(xiv) A general suspension of trading in securities on the New York Stock Exchange 

or any other national securities exchange or the establishment of minimum or maximum 
prices on any such national securities exchange shall have occurred;  

 
(xv) A material disruption in securities settlement, commercial banking, payment 

or clearance services applicable to the Notes shall have occurred which, in the Dealer’s 
reasonable opinion, materially adversely affects the ability to effect the settlement, 
payment or clearance of the Notes; 

 
(xvi) There shall have occurred since the date of this Agreement any materially 

adverse change in the affairs or financial condition of the Issuer, except for changes which 
the Offering Memorandum discloses are expected to occur; 

 
(xvii) Any one or more of the Issuer’s representations and warranties under Section 

4 is not true and correct; or 

(xviii) The Issuer has breached one or more of its covenants, agreements, or 
obligations under Section 4 hereof 

 
 

8. Payment of Fees and Expenses.  (a) In consideration of the services 
to be performed by the Dealer under this Agreement, the Issuer agrees to pay to the Dealer 



 

14 
 

a fee in the amount of the product of (i) 0.04% divided by 365 or 366, as appropriate, and 
(ii) the sum of the principal amounts of the Notes outstanding on each day during the billing 
period (to which reference is made in the next succeeding sentence).  It is understood and 
agreed that (i) payment of such fee shall be made by the Issuer quarterly upon receipt of an 
invoice therefor from the Dealer, and (ii) the obligation of the Issuer to pay such fee shall 
survive the termination or cancellation of this Agreement to the extent that such obligation 
related to Notes outstanding prior to such termination or cancellation. 
 

(b) All reasonable expenses and costs of the Dealer in effecting the 
authorization, preparation, issuance, offering, delivery and sale of the Notes (including, 
without limitation, the expenses and costs of the preparation, printing, photocopying, 
execution and delivery of the Notes, the Offering Memorandum, any Supplement thereto, 
the LOC, Reimbursement Agreement, the Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement, this 
Agreement and all other agreements and documents contemplated hereby and thereby, 
including amendments, modifications and supplements to any such agreements and 
documents at any time during the term of this Agreement) shall be paid or reimbursed by 
the Issuer, unless and to the extent that such expenses and costs are paid out of or 
reimbursed from the proceeds of the Notes. 

 
9. Indemnity. To the extent permitted by law, the Issuer shall 

indemnify and hold harmless the Dealer and each director, trustee, partner, member, 
officer, official or employee thereof and each person, if any, who controls the Dealer (each 
herein called a “Controlling Person”) within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities 
Act (any such person being herein sometimes called an “Indemnified Party”), against any 
and all losses, claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several,  (including, without limitation, 
fees and disbursements of counsel) or judgments of whatever kind or nature (or actions in 
respect thereof) (each “a Claim”), (i) to which any such Indemnified Party may become 
subject, under statute or regulation, at law or in equity or otherwise, insofar as such losses, 
claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon 
any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact set forth in the Offering 
Memorandum or any amendment or supplement thereto or arise out of or are based upon 
the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein 
or which is necessary to make the statements made therein not misleading in any material 
respect, in light of the circumstances under which they were made and considering (1) the 
purpose for which such information was supplied in the offering of the Notes to qualifying 
investors (which term is defined in the Offering Memorandum) pursuant to the disclosure 
documents (which includes the Offering Memorandum and any amendments and 
supplements thereto and replacements thereof), and (2) the presence of the LOC and the 
Reimbursement Agreement, but the Issuer will not be liable in any such case to the extent 
that any such loss, claim, damage or liability (including legal counsel fees and expenses) 
arises out of or is based upon any such untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or 
omission or alleged omission made or incorporated in the disclosure documents (x) in 
reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Issuer by the 
Dealer specifically for use in the disclosure documents or (y) any information contained in 



 

15 
 

the disclosure documents relating to the Bank, the LOC or the Reimbursement Agreement, 
and (ii) to the extent of the aggregate amount paid in any settlement of any litigation 
commenced or threatened arising from a claim based upon any such untrue statement or 
alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission if such settlement is effected with 
the written consent of the Issuer (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld).  The 
Issuer will not be liable to the Dealer in any case to the extent that any loss, claim, damage 
or liability (including legal counsel fees and expenses) arises out of or is based upon any 
untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission which is made 
to investors by the Dealer but is not contained, made or incorporated in the disclosure 
documents. 

An Indemnified Party shall, promptly after the receipt of notice of a written 
threat of the commencement of any action against such Indemnified Party in respect of 
which indemnification may be sought against the Issuer, notify the Issuer in writing of the 
commencement thereof.  Failure of the Indemnified Party to give such notice shall reduce 
the liability of the Issuer by the amount of damages attributable to the failure of the 
Indemnified Party to give such notice to the Issuer, but the omission to notify the Issuer of 
any such action shall not relieve the Issuer from any liability that it may have to such 
Indemnified Party otherwise than under this Section.  In case any such action shall be 
brought against an Indemnified Party and such Indemnified Party shall notify the Issuer of 
the commencement thereof, the Issuer may, or if so requested by such Indemnified Party 
shall, participate therein or assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably 
satisfactory to such Indemnified Party and the Issuer (it being understood that, except as 
hereinafter provided, the Issuer shall not be liable for the expenses of more than one counsel 
representing the Indemnified Parties in such action), and after notice from the Issuer to 
such Indemnified Party of an election so as to assume the defense thereof, the Issuer shall 
not be liable to such Indemnified Party under this Section for any legal or other expenses 
subsequently incurred by such Indemnified Party in connection with the defense thereof 
other than reasonable costs of investigation; provided, however, that unless and until the 
Issuer assumes the defense of any such action at the request of such Indemnified Party, the 
Indemnified Party shall have the right to participate at its own expense in the defense of 
any such action.  If the Issuer shall not have employed counsel to have charge of the defense 
of any such action or if an Indemnified Party shall have reasonably concluded that there 
may be defenses available to it and/or other Indemnified Parties that are different from or 
additional to those available to the Issuer (in which case the Issuer shall not have the right 
to direct the defense of such action on behalf of such Indemnified Party) or to other 
Indemnified Parties, legal and other expenses, including the expense of separate counsel, 
incurred by such Indemnified Party shall be borne by the Issuer. 

 
In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in circumstances in which 

the indemnification provided for in this Section 9 is held to be unavailable or insufficient 
to hold harmless the Dealer for any Claim, although applicable in accordance with the 
terms of this Section, the Issuer shall contribute to the aggregate costs incurred by the 
Dealer in connection with any Claim in the proportion of the respective economic interests 



 

16 
 

of the Issuer and the Dealer; provided, however, that such contribution by the Issuer shall 
be in an amount such that the aggregate costs incurred by the Dealer do not exceed the 
aggregate of the commissions and fees earned by the Dealer hereunder with respect to the 
issue or issues of Notes to which such Claim relates. The respective economic interests 
shall be calculated by reference to the aggregate proceeds to the Issuer of the Notes issued 
hereunder and the aggregate commissions and fees earned by the Dealer hereunder for the 
applicable calendar year. 

10. Miscellaneous.  (a) All notices, demands and formal actions under 
this Agreement shall be in writing and mailed, telecopied or delivered to: 
 

The Dealer: 
 

Barclays Capital Inc. 
745 Seventh Avenue, 2nd Floor 
New York, New York 10019 
Attention:  Short-Term Municipal Products-Manager 
Telephone: (212) 528-1011 
Facsimile Transmission Number:  (646) 758-1870 
 

 With a copy to: 
 

Barclays Capital Inc. 
745 Seventh Avenue, 19th Floor 
New York, New York 10019 
Attention:  Public Finance – Short Term Products 
Telephone: (212) 526-2093 
Facsimile Transmission Number:  (646) 758-1905 

 
The Issuer: 

 
City of Garland 
200 North Fifth 
Garland, Texas 75040 
Attention: Director of Financial Services 
Telephone: (972) 205 2355 
Facsimile Transmission Number: (972) 205 2810 

The Bank: 

Barclays Bank PLC   
[_____] 

With copies to: 



 

17 
 

[_____] 

And: 

[_____] 

provided, however, that all notices pursuant to, or contemplated by, the provisions of 
Section 1 of this Agreement shall be given by telephonic communication between or among 
authorized representatives of the parties to this Agreement and shall be confirmed in 
writing and mailed, telecopied or delivered to such parties on the later of the Business Day 
following the settlement, if any, of the respective transactions to which such notices relate 
or the Business Day following the telephonic communication.  The Dealer and the Issuer 
may, by notice given under this Agreement, designate other addresses to which subsequent 
notices, requests, reports or other communications shall be directed; 
 

(b) Any certificate authorized by the Issuer, signed by any authorized 
official or officials of the Issuer and delivered to the Dealer, shall be deemed a 
representation by the Issuer to the Dealer as to the statements made therein; 
 

(c) This Agreement will inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the 
Issuer and the Dealer and their respective successors and assigns, and will not confer any 
rights upon any other person, partnership, association or corporation other than the 
Indemnified Parties and the Bank.  The term “successors” and   “assigns” shall not include 
any purchaser of any of the Notes merely because of such purchase; 
 

(d) All of the representations, warranties and covenants of the Issuer and 
the Dealer in this Agreement shall remain operative and in full force and effect, regardless 
of (i) any investigation made by or on behalf of the Dealer or (ii) delivery of any payment 
for any Notes hereunder; 
 

(e) The Dealer shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to notify S&P 
Global Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Fitch, Inc., of any modification of or 
amendment to this Agreement.  Notice shall be sent by first class mail, postage prepaid; 
 

(f) Section headings have been inserted in this Agreement as a matter of 
convenience of reference only, and it is agreed that such section headings are not a part of 
this Agreement and will not be used in the interpretation of any provisions of this 
Agreement; 
 

(g) If any provision of this Agreement shall be held or deemed to be or 
shall, in fact, be invalid, inoperative or unenforceable as applied in any particular case in 
any jurisdiction or jurisdictions, or in all jurisdictions, because it conflicts with any 
provisions of any constitution, statute, or rule of public policy, or for any other reason, such 



 

18 
 

circumstances shall not have the effect of rendering the provision in question invalid, 
inoperative or unenforceable in any other case or circumstance, or of rendering any other 
provision or provisions of this Agreement invalid, inoperative or unenforceable to any 
extent whatever; 
 

(h) This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 
which shall be regarded as an original and all of which constitute one and the same 
document. This Agreement may be delivered by the exchange of signed signature pages by 
facsimile transmission or by e-mail with a pdf copy attached, and any printed or copied 
version of any signature page so delivered shall have the same force and effect as an 
originally signed version of such signature page;(i) This Agreement shall be governed by 
and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Texas. EACH OF THE DEALER 
AND THE ISSUER WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUIT, 
ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE 
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY; and 

 
(j)  This Agreement is not assignable by either party hereto without the 

written consent of the other party; provided, however, that the Dealer may assign its rights 
and obligations under this Agreement to any affiliate of the Dealer so long as such affiliate 
is otherwise permitted to perform such obligations under all applicable federal and state 
banking and securities laws, rules and regulations. 

 
 
  



 

19 
 

Execution Page 
 
  
 
 
 

BARCLAYS CAPITAL INC. 
 
 
 

By:   
 
 
 
  

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 
 
 
 

By:   
          Mayor 

 
 
 

By:    
          City Secretary 
 

 



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 12.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Use of Eminent Domain Authority for Property Related to Construction of Fire

Station No. 1
Submitted By: Brad Neighbor, City Attorney 

Summary of Request/Problem
Garland Voters approved Proposition B, an authorization for the City to issue general obligation
bonds for, among other things, the acquisition of property for the location and construction of a
new fire station #1 complex. The new fire station will be located on an area of land east of First
Street, north of Avenue D and south of Avenue B. This area has been commonly referred to as
“the Triangle.”  Because the City does not already own all the property upon which the project
will be constructed, the City has engaged in an effort to acquire the property. The City has been
able to negotiate with most of the property owners in the Triangle to acquire the necessary
property interests. However, the City has not been able to successfully negotiate a final
purchase price with all property owners, although it continues to pursue negotiated acquisitions.
If these negotiations are unsuccessful, we may need to seek to add additional properties to a
future resolution.   

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Council is requested to approve a resolution authorizing the acquisition of the property rights
described in the proposed resolution.  The City has been able to negotiate with most property
owners in the Triangle to acquire the necessary property interests.  However, the City has not
been able to successfully negotiate a final purchase price with two owners, one owning two
properties in the Triangle and the other owning three parcels.  The owners are named in the
proposed resolution. A single resolution may be adopted for all of the units of property to be
condemned if: (1) the motion to approve is made in a manner specified in the Texas
Government Code; and (2) the minutes of the meeting reflect that the vote applies to all of the
units of property to be condemned.  State law requires particular wording to be used in a motion
to adopt a resolution authorizing the initiation of condemnation proceedings.  The City Attorney
will provide in written form the appropriate wording of the motion.

The motion and resolution will authorize the acquisition of property interests in the following
properties located in Garland, Dallas County, Texas:

406 Ford, being Lot 10, in Block E, of the 1st Installment Coopers Addition, an Addition to the
City of Garland, Dallas County, Texas according to the Map thereof recorded in Volume 7, page
423 of the Map Records of Dallas County, Texas;



 
410 Ford, being Lot 9, in Block E, of the 1st Installment Coopers Addition, an Addition to the
City of Garland, Dallas County, Texas according to the Map thereof recorded in Volume 7, page
423 of the Map Records of Dallas County, Texas;
 
441 Ford, being Lot 1, Block D, of the 1st Installment Coopers Addition, an Addition to the City
of Garland, Dallas County, Texas according to the Map thereof recorded in Volume 7, page 423
of the Map Records of Dallas County, Texas;

414 Hicks – Lot 6, in Block H, of the 2nd Installment Coopers Addition, an Addition to the City of
Garland, Dallas County, Texas, according to the Map thereof recorded in Volume 7, page 443,
of the Map Records of Dallas County, Texas;

Attachments
Triangle Condemantion RESO 



RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS FINDING AND 

DETERMINING THAT THE PUBLIC NECESSITY AND CONVENIENCE REQUIRE 

THE ACQUISITION OF VARIOUS PROPERTY RIGHTS LOCATED EAST OF FIRST 

STREET, NORTH OF AVENUE D AND SOUTH OF AVENUE B, IN THE CITY OF 

GARLAND, TEXAS SITUATED IN THE 1ST INSTALLMENT COOPERS ADDITION, 

IN THE CITY OF GARLAND, COUNTY OF DALLAS, TEXAS, SAID PROPERTY 

INTERESTS BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BELOW; PROVIDING 

AUTHORIZATIONS TO ACQUIRE SUCH PROPERTY RIGHTS BY PURCHASE OR 

CONDEMNATION AND MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS PERTAINING THERETO; 

PROVIDING FURTHER AUTHORIZATIONS AS MAY BE NECESSARY TO CARRY 

OUT THE PURPOSES OF THIS RESOLUTION; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

WHEREAS, the City of Garland, (“Garland”), has found and determined 

the need to acquire property rights necessary to construct a fire 

station complex, which will necessitate the acquisition of 

property in an area east of First Street, North of Avenue D and 

South of Avenue B(“Project”); 

WHEREAS, public convenience and necessity requires acquisition of 

the properties described below (referred to collectively as the 

“Properties”), which exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference, for the construction, operation, and 

maintenance of the Project; 

WHEREAS, Garland is required to make an initial offer as defined 

by, and in compliance with, Texas Property Code §21.0111 (“Initial 

Offer”), and a bona fide offer, as defined by, and in compliance 

with, Texas Property Code §21.0113 (“Final Offer”) to acquire the 

Properties for public use from the Property Owners (as hereinafter 

defined) voluntarily before beginning the acquisition of the 

Properties through a condemnation proceeding; 

WHEREAS, the Properties are located in the City of Garland, Dallas 

County, Texas as described below, and the fee owners of the  

Properties are as follows: 

 Sam Vanna: 406, 410 and 441 Ford – Lots, 9 and 10 in Block E, 

of the 1st Installment Coopers Addition, an Addition to the City 

of Garland, Dallas County, Texas according to the Map thereof 

recorded in Volume 7, page 423 of the Map Records of Dallas County, 

Texas; and Lot 1, in Block D of the 1st Installment Coopers 

Addition, an Addition to the City of Garland, Dallas County, Texas 

according to the Map thereof recorded in Volume 7, page 423 of the 

Map Records of Dallas County, Texas; 



Amount Offered: $71,500; 

 

   Thurman A. Ridge; Herman Winston Ridge; Rary Ruth Ridge 

Williams; Garry Allen Williams; Cynthia Ridge; Pamela Ridge; 

Curtis Ridge, Jr.; Laresa Ridge; Zelda Gail Ridge; Jasmine Ridge; 

Desean Ridge; Jayden Ridge; Deshundra Ridge; Damien Ridge; Anthony 

Jackson; and Devante Jackson – 414 Hicks – Lot 6, in Block H, of 

the 2nd Installment Coopers Addition, an Addition to the City of 

Garland, Dallas County, Texas, according to the Map thereof 

recorded in Volume 7, page 443, of the Map Records of Dallas 

County, Texas; 

    Amount Offered:  $31,000; 

(collectively, “Property Owners”) 

WHEREAS, an independent professional appraisal report of the each 

of the Properties has been submitted to the City as required by 

Chapter 21 of the Texas Property Code, and the City Manager or his 

designee has established a certain amount determined to be just 

compensation for the Properties based on the appraisal and fair 

market value of the Properties and any applicable fees necessary 

to acquire the Properties; 

WHEREAS, Garland, through agents or representatives employed by or 

contracted with Garland, has entered into good faith negotiations 

with the owners of the Properties in order to acquire necessary 

property rights on the Properties for the Project, and has been 

unsuccessful in acquiring the necessary property rights on the  

Properties; and 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the enactment of this Resolution, 

Garland authorized the initiation of eminent domain proceedings to 

acquire property rights to the Properties at a public meeting by 

a record vote, and the notice for the public meeting included all 

required information, including the consideration of the use of 

eminent domain to condemn property as an agenda item; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GARLAND, TEXAS: 

 

 

Section 1 

That Garland, its staff, and its attorneys are specifically 

authorized to purchase property rights of the Properties; that the 

public convenience and necessity requires the acquisition of 



easement rights on the Properties for the public purpose of the 

Project; that Garland has made a good faith effort to negotiate a 

voluntary acquisition of easement rights on the Properties; that 

it appears to Garland that further negotiations to purchase 

easement rights on the Properties voluntarily would be futile; 

that the public necessity requires the condemnation of Properties 

for the Project; and that Garland, its staff, and its attorneys 

are hereby authorized and directed to institute proceedings in 

eminent domain against the owners of the Properties, and against 

all other owners, lienholders, or holders of an interest in the  

Properties, in order to acquire easement rights on the Properties. 

 

Section 2 

That Garland, its staff, and its attorneys are hereby authorized 

to do all things necessary and proper to carry out the intent and 

purpose of this Resolution, including determination of the 

property rights that are proper and necessary for the Project. 

 

Section 3 

 

It is the intent of the City Council that this Resolution authorize 

the City Manager and City Attorney, or their designees, to perform 

all steps necessary to obtain the Properties necessary for the 

Project, whether through negotiation or condemnation, including 

the expenditure of funds. 

 

 

Section 4 

It is the intent of the City Council that this Resolution authorize 

the condemnation of all property required for the construction, 

improvement, maintenance and reconstruction of a fire station 

complex on the property in an area east of First Street, North of 

Avenue D and South of Avenue B located in the City, to serve the 

public and citizens of the City. 

Section 5 

 

If it is determined that there are scrivener errors in the 

descriptions contained herein or if later surveys contain more 

accurate revised descriptions, the City Attorney or his designee 

is authorized to have such errors corrected or revisions made 

without the necessity of obtaining a new City Council Ordinance 

authorizing condemnation of the corrected or revised property. 

 



 

Section 6 

 

Following an award by the Special Commissioners or a judgment of 

a court of competent jurisdiction on appeal from a Special 

Commissioners’ award, the City Manager or his designee, is hereby 

authorized to make payment in an amount not to exceed the Special 

Commissioners’ award or the judgment of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, to enable the City to take possession of the  

Properties without further action of the City Council.  However, 

nothing contained herein shall be interpreted to limit the spending 

authority of the City Manager granted by Council Resolution or 

Policy. It is the intent of the City Council that this Resolution 

grants the City Manager the authority, in addition to the authority 

granted by Council policy, to settle disputes related to the value 

of the Properties.   

 

 

Section 7 

That this Resolution shall take effect immediately from and after 

its adoption. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the _____ day of April, 2021. 

        

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 

 

_____________________________ 

       Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

City Secretary   



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 13.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Naaman School Road Condemnation
Submitted By: Brad Neighbor, City Attorney 

Summary of Request/Problem
Naaman School Road (from Brand to S.H. 78 / Lavon Drive) is currently a two-lane asphalt
street. It is being reconstructed to a four-lane divided roadway with curbs, which requires
additional land/right-of-way.”  Because the City does not already own all the property upon
which the project will be constructed, the City has engaged in an effort to acquire the property. 
While, for the most part, the effort has been successful, the City has been unable to acquire all
the property needed. 

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
Council is requested to approve a resolution authorizing the acquisition of the property rights
described in the proposed resolution.  The City has been able to negotiate with most of the
affected property owners to acquire the necessary property interests.  However, the City has not
been able to successfully negotiate a final purchase price with one owner.  The owner is named
in the proposed resolution. State law requires particular wording to be used in a motion to adopt
a resolution authorizing the initiation of condemnation proceedings.  The City Attorney will
provide in written form the appropriate wording of the motion.

The motion and resolution will authorize the acquisition of property interests in the following
properties located in Garland, Dallas County, Texas:

227 E. Brand Road and 229 E. Brand, being All the certain tracts being situated in the Onofre
Alvarado Survey, Abstract No. 2, Page 55, tract 22, ACS 0.19 and tract 36, ACS 0.2875, Dallas
County, Texas.

Attachments
N School Condemnation 



RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS FINDING AND 

DETERMINING THAT THE PUBLIC NECESSITY AND CONVENIENCE REQUIRE 

THE ACQUISITION OF VARIOUS PROPERTY RIGHTS LOCATED NEAR NAAMAN 

SCHOOL ROAD, IN THE CITY OF GARLAND, COUNTY OF DALLAS, TEXAS, SAID 

PROPERTY INTERESTS BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BELOW; 

PROVIDING AUTHORIZATIONS TO ACQUIRE SUCH PROPERTY RIGHTS BY 

PURCHASE OR CONDEMNATION AND MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS 

PERTAINING THERETO; PROVIDING FURTHER AUTHORIZATIONS AS MAY 

BE NECESSARY TO CARRY OUT THE PURPOSES OF THIS RESOLUTION; 

AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

WHEREAS, the City of Garland, (“Garland”), has found and determined 

the need to acquire property rights necessary for the expansion of 

Naaman School Road (from Brand to S.H. 78/Lavon Drive)(“Project”); 

WHEREAS, public convenience and necessity requires acquisition of 

the properties described below (referred to collectively as the 

“Properties”), which exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference, for the construction, operation, and 

maintenance of the Project; 

WHEREAS, Garland is required to make an initial offer as defined 

by, and in compliance with, Texas Property Code §21.0111 (“Initial 

Offer”), and a bona fide offer, as defined by, and in compliance 

with, Texas Property Code §21.0113 (“Final Offer”) to acquire the 

Properties for public use from the Property Owner (as hereinafter 

defined) voluntarily before beginning the acquisition of the 

Properties through a condemnation proceeding; 

WHEREAS, the Properties are located in the City of Garland, Dallas 

County, Texas as described below, and the fee owner of the  

Properties are as follows: 

 Leon Flanagan: 227 E. Brand Road and 229 E. Brand, being All 

the certain tracts being situated in the Onofre Alvarado Survey, 

Abstract No. 2, Page 55, tract 22, ACS 0.19 and tract 36, ACS 

0.2875, Dallas County, Texas; 

Amount Offered: $178,250; 

(“Property Owner”) 

WHEREAS, an independent professional appraisal report of the  

Properties has been submitted to the City as required by Chapter 

21 of the Texas Property Code, and the City Manager or his designee 

has established a certain amount determined to be just compensation 



for the Properties based on the appraisal and fair market value of 

the Properties and any applicable fees necessary to acquire the 

Properties; 

WHEREAS, Garland, through agents or representatives employed by or 

contracted with Garland, has entered into good faith negotiations 

with the owner of the Properties in order to acquire necessary 

property rights on the Properties for the Project, and has been 

unsuccessful in acquiring the necessary property rights on the  

Properties; and 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the enactment of this Resolution, 

Garland authorized the initiation of eminent domain proceedings to 

acquire property rights to the Properties at a public meeting by 

a record vote, and the notice for the public meeting included all 

required information, including the consideration of the use of 

eminent domain to condemn property as an agenda item; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

GARLAND, TEXAS: 

 

Section 1 

That Garland, its staff, and its attorneys are specifically 

authorized to purchase property rights of the Properties; that the 

public convenience and necessity requires the acquisition of 

easement rights on the Properties for the public purpose of the 

Project; that Garland has made a good faith effort to negotiate a 

voluntary acquisition of easement rights on the Properties; that 

it appears to Garland that further negotiations to purchase 

easement rights on the Properties voluntarily would be futile; 

that the public necessity requires the condemnation of Properties 

for the Project; and that Garland, its staff, and its attorneys 

are hereby authorized and directed to institute proceedings in 

eminent domain against the owners of the Properties, and against 

all other owners, lienholders, or holders of an interest in the  

Properties, in order to acquire easement rights on the Properties. 

 

Section 2 

That Garland, its staff, and its attorneys are hereby authorized 

to do all things necessary and proper to carry out the intent and 

purpose of this Resolution, including determination of the 

property rights that are proper and necessary for the Project. 

 



 

Section 3 

 

It is the intent of the City Council that this Resolution authorize 

the City Manager and City Attorney, or their designees, to perform 

all steps necessary to obtain the Properties necessary for the 

Project, whether through negotiation or condemnation, including 

the expenditure of funds. 

 

 

Section 4 

It is the intent of the City Council that this Resolution authorize 

the condemnation of all property required for expansion of Naaman 

School Road (from Brand to S.H. 78/Lavon Drive), to serve the 

public and citizens of the City. 

 

Section 5 

 

If it is determined that there are scrivener errors in the 

descriptions contained herein or if later surveys contain more 

accurate revised descriptions, the City Attorney or his designee 

is authorized to have such errors corrected or revisions made 

without the necessity of obtaining a new City Council Ordinance 

authorizing condemnation of the corrected or revised property. 

 

 

Section 6 

 

Following an award by the Special Commissioners or a judgment of 

a court of competent jurisdiction on appeal from a Special 

Commissioners’ award, the City Manager or his designee, is hereby 

authorized to make payment in an amount not to exceed the Special 

Commissioners’ award or the judgment of a court of competent 

jurisdiction, to enable the City to take possession of the  

Properties without further action of the City Council.  However, 

nothing contained herein shall be interpreted to limit the spending 

authority of the City Manager granted by Council Resolution or 

Policy. It is the intent of the City Council that this Resolution 

grants the City Manager the authority, in addition to the authority 

granted by Council policy, to settle disputes related to the value 

of the Properties.   

 

 

 



Section 7 

That this Resolution shall take effect immediately from and after 

its adoption. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this the _____ day of April, 2021. 

        

CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS 

 

_____________________________ 

       Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________ 

City Secretary   



GARLAND
PLANNING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 14. a.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde - Zoning (District 5)
Submitted By: Nabiha Ahmed, Development Planner 

REQUEST
Approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7
(SF-7) District.
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District.

LOCATION
1544 Flores Drive

OWNER
Nemesio Vasquez

PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
On March 22, 2021 the Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended
denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.
 
The Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended denial of a Specific Use
Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.
 
The Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended denial of a Detail Plan
for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District. 



STAFF RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the proposed Guest House conform to the GDC maximum square
footage requirement, thus eliminating the need for a Planned Development (PD) District.
Therefore, staff recommends:
 
Denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses; and
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House Use on a property zoned
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.
 
Approval of a Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District,
subject to conformance with the Garland Development Code (GDC) maximum square footage
requirement for Guest Houses.

BACKGROUND
This site is zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and is developed with a single-family dwelling.
The applicant intends to build a Guest House. The Guest House, if approved, would be located
behind the primary house. The proposed Guest House requires a Specific Use Provision.
Additionally, the applicant requests to establish a Planned Development (PD) District to exceed
the maximum building area for a Guest House.

SITE DATA
The lot is approximately 0.415 acres in size with approximately ninety (90) lineal feet of frontage
along Flores Drive. The property has access from Flores Drive.

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING
The subject property is zoned Single-Family (SF-7) District which allows single-family residential
use. The Single-Family Residential districts are intended to provide for development of primarily
low-density detached, single-family residences on a variety of lot sizes, churches, schools, and
public parks in logical, livable, and sustainable neighborhoods. Further, the SF-7 District allows
a Guest House with approval of a Specific Use Provision through a public hearing by Plan
Commission and City Council.

CONSIDERATIONS
Detail Plan: The applicant proposes a 698-square foot Guest House, to be located behind
the primary house.  The primary house is 1,309 square feet.

The Garland Development Code (GDC) defines Guest House as an incidental, on-site
dwelling unit that is either attached or detached from the primary residential structure, is
used for temporary occupancy by guests or relatives of the owners of the property, is not
for rent, is incidental to the main structure (the building area does not exceed thirty (30)
percent of the floor area of the main structure), and is not involved in the conduct of a
business.

Per the definition, the Guest House area cannot exceed more than thirty (30%) percent of
the primary structure footprint. Therefore, the maximum area allowed is 393 square feet.

1.



The applicant requests to deviate from the maximum requirement and allow the Guest
House to be 698 square feet. 
 
Parking: The GDC establishes a parking ratio of one (1) space for the Guest House and
two (2) enclosed spaces for the proposed single-family home. The site plan (Exhibit C in
the Plan item) shows a total of three (3) parking spaces. The driveway to the northeast will
be paved to meet technical requirements.
 

2.

Building Design: The design of the building complies with the applicable building design
regulations of GDC.
 

3.

Specific Use Provision: The applicant requests a Specific Use Provision to be valid for
an indefinite time period.
 

4.

Summary Table: 5.

Development
Standards

Required
(maximum allowed) Proposed Applicant’s

Justification

Building Area 393 SF 698 SF

The applicant
contends there is
usable space and
would like to build a
larger Guest House
for relatives.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan designates this
site for Traditional Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found throughout
Garland and provide areas for low to moderate density single-family detached residential
housing.
 
Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience retail (goods and services), office
space, and public services. Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural style and
scale with adjacent residential development. Non-residential uses are typically located at the
intersection of local streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-residential uses are
within walking distance of the neighborhoods they serve and include minimal on-site parking.

COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES
The properties to the north, east, south and west are zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and
they are developed with single-family detached homes.

Attachments
Z 21-02 Location Map 
Z 21-02 Exhibit B 
Z 21-02 R&M - Zoning 
Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde Responses 
Z 21-02 Staff Presentation 





LA
ME

SA
 D

R

FLORES DR

BE
LIT

A D
R

S F - 7S F - 7

Zoning Map Z 21-02 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 60 120 Feet

1 inch = 89 feet



EXHIBIT B 

 

PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 
 
 

ZONING FILE Z 21-02 
 

1544 Flores Drive 
 
I. Statement of Purpose: The purpose of this Planned 

Development is to approve a Detail Plan for a Guest 

House. 

 

II. Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development shall 
not affect any regulation found in the Garland 

Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 

provided herein. 
 

III. General Regulations: All regulations of the Single-

Family-7 (SF-7) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 

the Garland Development Code are included by reference 

and shall apply, except as otherwise specified by this 

ordinance. 

 

IV. Development Plans: 
 

Detail Plan: Development shall be in general 

conformance with the Detail Plan labeled Exhibit C 

through Exhibit D. In the event there is conflict 

between the approved Detail Plan and the Specific 

Regulations below, the Specific Regulations shall 

apply.  

 
 V. Specific Conditions: 
  

A. Permitted Uses: Land Uses are permitted as in the 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.  

 

B. Building Area: The maximum building area for the 

Guest House shall be 700 square feet. 

 

C. Site Plan: The site layout, building placement, 

parking shall be in general conformance with the 

approved Site Plan labeled Exhibit C. 

 

D. Elevations: Building Elevations shall be in general 
conformance with the elevations labeled Exhibit D.  

 

 

 

 
 
 



PD/SUP Requirements 
Zoning File 21-02 

Page 2 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 
 
 

 
SPECIFIC USE PROVISION CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 21-02 
 

1544 Flores Drive 
 
 

I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Specific 
Use Provision is to allow a Guest House. 

 
II. Statement of Effect:  This Specific Use Provision 

shall not affect any regulations found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 

to the adoption of this ordinance, except as 
specifically provided herein. 
 

III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Single-
Family-7 (SF-7) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 

the Garland Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are 
included by reference and shall apply, except as 

otherwise specified by this ordinance. 
 

V. Development Plans: 
 

Site Layout: The site shall be in general conformance 
with the approved Site Plan and Elevations labeled 

Exhibit C and Exhibit D. In the event of conflict 
between the conditions and the site plan, the written 
conditions listed below are to apply. 

 
 

IV. Specific Use Provision: 
 

E. SUP Time Period: The Specific Use Provision for a 
Guest House shall be in effect for an indefinite 

time period. 

 

 

 

 
 



REPORT & MINUTES 
 
 
 
P.C. Meeting, March 22, 2021  

 
 Consideration of the application of Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde, 

requesting approval of a Change in Zoning from Single Family-7 
(SF-7) District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Single 

Family-7 Uses. This property is located at 1544 Flores Drive. 
(District 5) (File Z 21-02 - Zoning) 
 
Nabiha Ahmed, Development Planner, presented the staff report. 
  
There was discussion between the Plan Commission and staff 
regarding the proposed design and composition, living area square 
footage, and the proposed guest house. 
 
The applicant speakers included: Rodolfo Herrera, 1544 Flores 
Drive, Garland, Texas, and Rodolfo Armani Herrera 2802 Jordan 
Valley Road, Dallas, Texas.   
 
There was discussion with Mr. Herrera and the Plan Commission 
regarding the proposed design and composition, living area square 
footage, and use of the proposed guest house. 
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Welborn to close the public 
hearing and open for discussion. Seconded by Commissioner 
Williams. Motion carried: 9 Ayes, 0 Nays  
 
There was discussion among the Commissioners. 
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Welborn to deny the request. 
Seconded by Commissioner Williams. Motion carried: 
7 Ayes, 2 Nays from Commissioner Jenkins and Ott.  

 



16
00

16
04

16
08

16
12

16
08

16
04

16
00

15
48

15
44

15
40

15
36

15
32 15
28

15
24

15
20

16
13

16
09

16
05 16
01

15
47

15
43 15
39

15
35

15
31

3000

3004

3008

15
36

15
40

15
44

15
48

3016

3020

3017

3021

3025

3029

3033

3037

3016

3020

3024

3028

3032

3036

3040

3017

3021

3025

3029

3033

3016

3020

3024

3028

AXE DR

FLORES DR

LA
ME

SA
 D

R

CO
RT

EZ
 D

R

BE
LIT

A D
R

AN
ITA

 DR

SS
0 8 - 3 10 8 - 3 1

S  8 4 - 6 6S  8 4 - 6 6

S F - 7S F - 7

S  1 1 - 0 3S  1 1 - 0 3

C RC R

S F - 7S F - 7

N ON O

Zoning Map Z 21-02 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 120 240 Feet

1 inch = 176 feet
INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

        1544 Flores Drive

TAllmend
Pencil







Z 21-02

The applicant proposes an approximately 700 square-

foot Guest House to be located behind the primary 

house. 

[Planned Development, Specific Use Provision and Plan for a Guest 

House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.]

City Council Meeting

April 20, 2021



CASE INFORMATION

Location: 1544 Flores Drive

Applicant: Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde

Owner:     Nemesio Vasquez

Acreage: 0.415 acres

Zoning: Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District

Z 21-02



CITYWIDE LOCATION MAP

Z 21-02



LOCATION MAP

Z 21-02



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Z 21-02



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

▪ The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 
Comprehensive Plan designates this site for Traditional 
Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found 
throughout Garland and provide areas for low to moderate 
density single-family detached residential housing.

▪ Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience 
retail (goods and services), office space, and public services. 
Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural style 
and scale with adjacent residential development. Non-
residential uses are typically located at the intersection of local 
streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-
residential uses are within walking distance of the 
neighborhoods they serve and include minimal on-site parking.

Z 21-02



PHOTOS

Z 21-02



SITE PLAN

Z 21-02

Proposed 

Guest 

House

Existing 

Primary 

Structure



BUILDING ELEVATIONS

Z 21-02



BUILDING ELEVATIONS

Z 21-02



SUMMARY TABLE

Z 21-02

Development 

Standards

Required (maximum 

allowed)

Proposed Applicant’s

Justification

Building Area 393 SF 698 SF The applicant 

contends they have 

usable space and

would like to build a 

larger Guest House 

for relatives.



CONSIDERATION

The applicant’s requests the Specific Use 

Provision to be in effect for an indefinite time 

period.

Z 21-02



STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Single-
Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.

Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House Use 
on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.

Approval of a Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District, subject to conformance with 
the GDC maximum square footage requirement for Guest 
Houses. 

Z 21-02



PLAN COMMISSION 

RECOMMENDATION

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Change in 
Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned 
Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
Uses.

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Specific Use 
Provision for a Guest House Use on a property zoned 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Plan for a 
Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
District. 

Z 21-02



GARLAND
PLANNING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 14. b.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde - Specific Use Provision (District 5)
Submitted By: Nabiha Ahmed, Development Planner 

REQUEST
Approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7
(SF-7) District.
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District.

LOCATION
1544 Flores Drive

OWNER
Nemesio Vasquez

PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
On March 22, 2021 the Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended
denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.
 
The Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended denial of a Specific Use
Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.
 
The Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended denial of a Detail Plan
for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District. 



STAFF RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the proposed Guest House conform to the GDC maximum square
footage requirement, thus eliminating the need for a Planned Development (PD) District.
Therefore, staff recommends:
 
Denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses; and
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House Use on a property zoned
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.
 
Approval of a Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District,
subject to conformance with the Garland Development Code (GDC) maximum square footage
requirement for Guest Houses.

BACKGROUND
This site is zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and is developed with a single-family dwelling.
The applicant intends to build a Guest House. The Guest House, if approved, would be located
behind the primary house. The proposed Guest House requires a Specific Use Provision.
Additionally, the applicant requests to establish a Planned Development (PD) District to exceed
the maximum building area for a Guest House.

SITE DATA
The site contains approximately 0.415 acres with approximately ninety (90) lineal feet of
frontage along Flores Drive. The property has access from Flores Drive.

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING
The subject property is zoned Single-Family (SF-7) District which allows single-family residential
use. The Single-Family Residential districts are intended to provide for development of primarily
low-density detached, single-family residences on a variety of lot sizes, churches, schools, and
public parks in logical, livable, and sustainable neighborhoods. Further, the SF-7 District allows
a Guest House with approval of a Specific Use Provision through a public hearing by Plan
Commission and City Council.

CONSIDERATIONS
Detail Plan: The applicant proposes a 698-square foot Guest House, to be located behind
the primary house.  The primary house is 1,309 square feet.

The Garland Development Code (GDC) defines Guest House as an incidental, on-site
dwelling unit that is either attached or detached from the primary residential structure, is
used for temporary occupancy by guests or relatives of the owners of the property, is not
for rent, is incidental to the main structure (the building area does not exceed thirty (30)
percent of the floor area of the main structure), and is not involved in the conduct of a
business.

Per the definition, the Guest House area cannot exceed more than thirty (30%) percent of
the primary structure footprint. Therefore, the maximum area allowed is 393 square feet.

1.



The applicant requests to deviate from the maximum requirement and allow the Guest
House to be 698 square feet. 
 
Parking: The GDC establishes a parking ratio of one (1) space for the Guest House and
two (2) enclosed spaces for the proposed single-family home. The site plan (Exhibit C in
the Plan item) shows a total of three (3) parking spaces. The driveway to the northeast will
be paved to meet technical requirements.
 

2.

Building Design: The design of the building complies with the applicable building design
regulations of GDC.
 

3.

Specific Use Provision: The applicant requests a Specific Use Provision to be valid for
an indefinite time period.
 

4.

Summary Table: 5.

Development
Standards

Required
(maximum allowed) Proposed Applicant’s

Justification

Building Area 393 SF 698 SF

The applicant
contends there is
usable space and
would like to build a
larger Guest House
for relatives.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan designates this
site for Traditional Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found throughout
Garland and provide areas for low to moderate density single-family detached residential
housing.
 
Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience retail (goods and services), office
space, and public services. Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural style and
scale with adjacent residential development. Non-residential uses are typically located at the
intersection of local streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-residential uses are
within walking distance of the neighborhoods they serve and include minimal on-site parking.

COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES
The properties to the north, east, south and west are zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and
they are developed with single-family detached homes.

Attachments
Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde (Specific Use Provision) Attachments 
Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde Responses 
Z 21-02 Staff Presentation 



LA
ME

SA
 D

R

FLORES DR

BE
LIT

A D
R

S F - 7S F - 7

Zoning Map Z 21-02 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 60 120 Feet

1 inch = 89 feet



EXHIBIT B 

 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 21-02 
 

1544 Flores Drive 
 
I. Statement of Purpose: The purpose of this Planned 

Development is to approve a Detail Plan for a Guest 

House. 

 
II. Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development shall 

not affect any regulation found in the Garland 

Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 

III. General Regulations: All regulations of the Single-

Family-7 (SF-7) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 

the Garland Development Code are included by reference 

and shall apply, except as otherwise specified by this 

ordinance. 

 
IV. Development Plans: 

 

Detail Plan: Development shall be in general 

conformance with the Detail Plan labeled Exhibit C 

through Exhibit D. In the event there is conflict 

between the approved Detail Plan and the Specific 

Regulations below, the Specific Regulations shall 

apply.  

 
 V. Specific Conditions: 
  

A. Permitted Uses: Land Uses are permitted as in the 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.  

 

B. Building Area: The maximum building area for the 

Guest House shall be 700 square feet. 

 

C. Site Plan: The site layout, building placement, 

parking shall be in general conformance with the 

approved Site Plan labeled Exhibit C. 

 

D. Elevations: Building Elevations shall be in general 
conformance with the elevations labeled Exhibit D.  

 

 

 

 
 
 



PD/SUP Requirements 
Zoning File 21-02 
Page 2 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 
 
 

 
SPECIFIC USE PROVISION CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 21-02 
 

1544 Flores Drive 
 
 

I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Specific 
Use Provision is to allow a Guest House. 
 

II. Statement of Effect:  This Specific Use Provision 
shall not affect any regulations found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to the adoption of this ordinance, except as 
specifically provided herein. 
 

III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Single-
Family-7 (SF-7) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 
the Garland Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are 
included by reference and shall apply, except as 

otherwise specified by this ordinance. 

 

V. Development Plans: 
 

Site Layout: The site shall be in general conformance 
with the approved Site Plan and Elevations labeled 
Exhibit C and Exhibit D. In the event of conflict 
between the conditions and the site plan, the written 
conditions listed below are to apply. 
 

 
IV. Specific Use Provision: 
 

E. SUP Time Period: The Specific Use Provision for a 
Guest House shall be in effect for an indefinite 

time period. 

 

 

 
 

 



REPORT & MINUTES 
 
 
 
P.C. Meeting, March 22, 2021  
 
 Consideration of the application of Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde, 

requesting approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on 
a property zoned Single Family-7 (SF-7) District. This property is 
located at 1544 Flores Drive. (District 5) (File Z 21-02 - Specific Use 
Provision) 
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Welborn to deny the request. 
Seconded by Commissioner Williams. Motion carried: 
7 Ayes, 2 Nays from Commissioner Jenkins and Ott.  

 



16
00

16
04

16
08

16
12

16
08

16
04

16
00

15
48

15
44

15
40

15
36

15
32 15
28

15
24

15
20

16
13

16
09

16
05 16
01

15
47

15
43 15
39

15
35

15
31

3000

3004

3008

15
36

15
40

15
44

15
48

3016

3020

3017

3021

3025

3029

3033

3037

3016

3020

3024

3028

3032

3036

3040

3017

3021

3025

3029

3033

3016

3020

3024

3028

AXE DR

FLORES DR

LA
ME

SA
 D

R

CO
RT

EZ
 D

R

BE
LIT

A D
R

AN
ITA

 DR

SS
0 8 - 3 10 8 - 3 1

S  8 4 - 6 6S  8 4 - 6 6

S F - 7S F - 7

S  1 1 - 0 3S  1 1 - 0 3

C RC R

S F - 7S F - 7

N ON O

Zoning Map Z 21-02 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 120 240 Feet

1 inch = 176 feet
INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

        1544 Flores Drive

TAllmend
Pencil







Z 21-02

The applicant proposes an approximately 700 square-

foot Guest House to be located behind the primary 

house. 

[Planned Development, Specific Use Provision and Plan for a Guest 

House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.]

City Council Meeting

April 20, 2021



CASE INFORMATION

Location: 1544 Flores Drive

Applicant: Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde

Owner:     Nemesio Vasquez

Acreage: 0.415 acres

Zoning: Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District

Z 21-02



CITYWIDE LOCATION MAP

Z 21-02



LOCATION MAP

Z 21-02



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Z 21-02



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

▪ The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 
Comprehensive Plan designates this site for Traditional 
Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found 
throughout Garland and provide areas for low to moderate 
density single-family detached residential housing.

▪ Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience 
retail (goods and services), office space, and public services. 
Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural style 
and scale with adjacent residential development. Non-
residential uses are typically located at the intersection of local 
streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-
residential uses are within walking distance of the 
neighborhoods they serve and include minimal on-site parking.

Z 21-02



PHOTOS

Z 21-02



SITE PLAN

Z 21-02

Proposed 

Guest 

House

Existing 

Primary 

Structure



BUILDING ELEVATIONS

Z 21-02



BUILDING ELEVATIONS

Z 21-02



SUMMARY TABLE

Z 21-02

Development 

Standards

Required (maximum 

allowed)

Proposed Applicant’s

Justification

Building Area 393 SF 698 SF The applicant 

contends they have 

usable space and

would like to build a 

larger Guest House 

for relatives.



CONSIDERATION

The applicant’s requests the Specific Use 

Provision to be in effect for an indefinite time 

period.

Z 21-02



STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Single-
Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.

Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House Use 
on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.

Approval of a Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District, subject to conformance with 
the GDC maximum square footage requirement for Guest 
Houses. 

Z 21-02



PLAN COMMISSION 

RECOMMENDATION

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Change in 
Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned 
Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
Uses.

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Specific Use 
Provision for a Guest House Use on a property zoned 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Plan for a 
Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
District. 

Z 21-02



GARLAND
PLANNING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 14. c.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde - Detail Plan (District 5)
Submitted By: Nabiha Ahmed, Development Planner 

REQUEST
Approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7
(SF-7) District.
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District.

LOCATION
1544 Flores Drive

OWNER
Nemesio Vasquez

PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
On March 22, 2021 the Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended
denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.

The Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended denial of a Specific Use
Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.

The Plan Commission, by a vote of seven (7) to two (2), recommended denial of a Detail Plan
for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District. 



 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the proposed Guest House conform to the GDC maximum square
footage requirement, thus eliminating the need for a Planned Development (PD) District.
Therefore, staff recommends:
 
Denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses; and
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House Use on a property zoned
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.
 
Approval of a Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District,
subject to conformance with the Garland Development Code (GDC) maximum square footage
requirement for Guest Houses.

BACKGROUND
This site is zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and is developed with a single-family dwelling.
The applicant intends to build a Guest House. The Guest House, if approved, would be located
behind the primary house. The proposed Guest House requires a Specific Use Provision.
Additionally, the applicant requests to establish a Planned Development (PD) District to exceed
the maximum building area for a Guest House.

SITE DATA
The site contains approximately 0.415 acres with approximately ninety (90) lineal feet of
frontage along Flores Drive. The property has access from Flores Drive.

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING
The subject property is zoned Single-Family (SF-7) District which allows single-family residential
use. The Single-Family Residential districts are intended to provide for development of primarily
low-density detached, single-family residences on a variety of lot sizes, churches, schools, and
public parks in logical, livable, and sustainable neighborhoods. Further, the SF-7 District allows
a Guest House with approval of a Specific Use Provision through a public hearing by Plan
Commission and City Council.

CONSIDERATIONS
Detail Plan: The applicant proposes a 698-square foot Guest House, to be located behind
the primary house.  The primary house is 1,309 square feet.

The Garland Development Code (GDC) defines Guest House as an incidental, on-site
dwelling unit that is either attached or detached from the primary residential structure, is
used for temporary occupancy by guests or relatives of the owners of the property, is not
for rent, is incidental to the main structure (the building area does not exceed thirty (30)
percent of the floor area of the main structure), and is not involved in the conduct of a
business.

1.



Per the definition, the Guest House area cannot exceed more than thirty (30%) percent of
the primary structure footprint. Therefore, the maximum area allowed is 393 square feet.
The applicant requests to deviate from the maximum requirement and allow the Guest
House to be 698 square feet. 
 
Parking: The GDC establishes a parking ratio of one (1) space for the Guest House and
two (2) enclosed spaces for the proposed single-family home. The site plan (Exhibit C in
the Plan item) shows a total of three (3) parking spaces. The driveway to the northeast will
be paved to meet technical requirements.
 

2.

Building Design: The design of the building complies with the applicable building design
regulations of GDC.
 

3.

Specific Use Provision: The applicant requests a Specific Use Provision to be valid for
an indefinite time period.
 

4.

Summary Table: 5.

Development
Standards

Required
(maximum allowed) Proposed Applicant’s

Justification

Building Area 393 SF 698 SF

The applicant
contends there is
usable space and
would like to build a
larger Guest House
for relatives.

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan designates this
site for Traditional Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found throughout
Garland and provide areas for low to moderate density single-family detached residential
housing.
 
Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience retail (goods and services), office
space, and public services. Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural style and
scale with adjacent residential development. Non-residential uses are typically located at the
intersection of local streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-residential uses are
within walking distance of the neighborhoods they serve and include minimal on-site parking.

COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES
The properties to the north, east, south and west are zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and
they are developed with single-family detached homes.

Attachments
Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde (Plan) Attachments 
Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde Responses 
Z 21-02 Staff Presentation 





LA
ME

SA
 D

R

FLORES DR

BE
LIT

A D
R

S F - 7S F - 7

Zoning Map Z 21-02 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 60 120 Feet

1 inch = 89 feet



SITE PLAN

scale: 1'-0" = 30'-0"

F

.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING One Story House1544 Flores DrGarland, TX 75041 (1,309 SQ.FT.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVER'D PORCH (51 SQ.FT.)

AutoCAD SHX Text
20' Front Setback 

AutoCAD SHX Text
6' Sideyard Setback 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLA VISTA 2LOT 53

AutoCAD SHX Text
6' Sideyard Setback 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed10'x18'ParkingSpaceConcrete for guest house

AutoCAD SHX Text
Exist. Concrete Driveway

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed Concrete walkway

AutoCAD SHX Text
ProposedGuess House698 Sq.Ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLORES DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
Fence

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' Rear Setback 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Used for temporaryoccupancy by guests.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Existing concreteParkingSpace1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Existing concreteParkingSpace2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONE STORY HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING  HOUSE (Living area 1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
1,309 SQ.FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
698 SQ.FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. COVERED PORCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL COVERED AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,058 SQ.FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SQUARE FOOTAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOTE SIZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
18,112 SQ.FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
% OF LOTOF LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
11 %

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOTAL LIVING AREA

AutoCAD SHX Text
2,007 SQ.FT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP. GUESS HOUSE (Living area 2)

AutoCAD SHX Text
51 SQ.FT.

file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
N

file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
W

file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
S

file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
E

file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
NW

file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
SW

file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
SE

file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
NE

file:///www.linecad.com
file:///www.linecad.com
AutoCAD SHX Text
VICINITY MAPFOR REFERENCE ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
SitePlan

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=30'

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet

AutoCAD SHX Text
Name Sheet

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT ADDRESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  BUILD BUILD THIS STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  HOMEOWNER, AND ALL HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  AND ALL AND ALL  ALL ALL CONTRACTORS OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  ENGINEERING SERVICES, ENGINEERING SERVICES,  SERVICES, SERVICES, HVAC, AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  STATE, AND LOCAL STATE, AND LOCAL  AND LOCAL AND LOCAL  LOCAL LOCAL CODES AND RESTRICTIONS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER ANY PART OF THESE PLANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  BECAUSE OF THE BECAUSE OF THE  OF THE OF THE  THE THE VARIANCE IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  ANY DAMAGES DUE TO ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  DAMAGES DUE TO DAMAGES DUE TO  DUE TO DUE TO  TO TO ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  LOCAL BUILDING CODES LOCAL BUILDING CODES  BUILDING CODES BUILDING CODES  CODES CODES PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION.THE PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ONCE. ANY COPYING, ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ANY COPYING, ANY COPYING,  COPYING, COPYING, TRACING, OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  TO PROSECUTION UNDER TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PROSECUTION UNDER PROSECUTION UNDER  UNDER UNDER COPYRIGHT LAWS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Projects

AutoCAD SHX Text
Custom Homes

AutoCAD SHX Text
info.civilprohomes@gmail.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEL. (214) 545-4534

AutoCAD SHX Text
1544 Flores DrGarland, TX 75041

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLA VISTA 2LOT 53

AutoCAD SHX Text
02/08/2021

clay

clay
Driveway will be paved per City Standards

nahmed
Text Box
EXHIBIT C



F

.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST - RIGTH  ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENERGY STAR SHINGLESOR COMP. SHINGLESW/ RADIANT BARRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMN WOOD6"X6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.O. PLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAM 2-2"X12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
:12

AutoCAD SHX Text
See detail "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
See detail "A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUND FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH - REAR ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/8"= 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENERGY STAR SHINGLESOR COMP. SHINGLESW/ RADIANT BARRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.O. PLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUND FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HOUSE REFERENCE  

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/8"= 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUND FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
:12

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ENERGY STAR SHINGLESOR COMP. SHINGLESW/ RADIANT BARRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST.SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETAIL ''A''

AutoCAD SHX Text
ECCLL666COLUNM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DETAIL ''B''DETAIL ''B''

AutoCAD SHX Text
RPBZ Retrofit POST BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed  ElevationPlan

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/8"=1'=0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet

AutoCAD SHX Text
Name Sheet

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT ADDRESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  BUILD BUILD THIS STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  HOMEOWNER, AND ALL HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  AND ALL AND ALL  ALL ALL CONTRACTORS OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  ENGINEERING SERVICES, ENGINEERING SERVICES,  SERVICES, SERVICES, HVAC, AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  STATE, AND LOCAL STATE, AND LOCAL  AND LOCAL AND LOCAL  LOCAL LOCAL CODES AND RESTRICTIONS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER ANY PART OF THESE PLANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  BECAUSE OF THE BECAUSE OF THE  OF THE OF THE  THE THE VARIANCE IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  ANY DAMAGES DUE TO ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  DAMAGES DUE TO DAMAGES DUE TO  DUE TO DUE TO  TO TO ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  LOCAL BUILDING CODES LOCAL BUILDING CODES  BUILDING CODES BUILDING CODES  CODES CODES PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION.THE PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ONCE. ANY COPYING, ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ANY COPYING, ANY COPYING,  COPYING, COPYING, TRACING, OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  TO PROSECUTION UNDER TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PROSECUTION UNDER PROSECUTION UNDER  UNDER UNDER COPYRIGHT LAWS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Projects

AutoCAD SHX Text
Custom Homes

AutoCAD SHX Text
info.civilprohomes@gmail.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEL. (214) 545-4534

AutoCAD SHX Text
1544 Flores DrGarland, TX 75041

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLA VISTA 2LOT 53

AutoCAD SHX Text
02/08/2021

nahmed
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



-

F

.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH- FRONT ELEVATION FRONT ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
See detail "B"

AutoCAD SHX Text
See detail "A"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEAM 2-2"X12"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENERGY STAR SHINGLESOR COMP. SHINGLESW/ RADIANT BARRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.O. PLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLUMN WOOD6"X6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUND FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
DETAIL ''A''

AutoCAD SHX Text
ECCLL666COLUNM CAP

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST - LEFT ELEVATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENERGY STAR SHINGLESOR COMP. SHINGLESW/ RADIANT BARRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROP.SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
T.O. PLATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIN. FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
:12

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUND FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STAIRS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP ROOF

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
 DETAIL ''B''DETAIL ''B''

AutoCAD SHX Text
RPBZ Retrofit POST BASE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING HOUSE REFERENCE  

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale: 1/8"= 1'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
GROUND FLOOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
:12

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING ENERGY STAR SHINGLESOR COMP. SHINGLESW/ RADIANT BARRIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXIST.SIDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
Proposed  ElevationPlan

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/8"=1'=0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
Sheet

AutoCAD SHX Text
Name Sheet

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT ADDRESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
THESE PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD PLANS ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD ARE INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD INTENDED TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD TO PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD PROVIDE BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD BASIC CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD CONSTRUCTION INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD INFORMATION NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD NECESSARY TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD TO SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD SUBSTANTIALLY BUILD  BUILD BUILD THIS STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL STRUCTURE. THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL THESE PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL PLANS MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL MUST BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BE VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL VERIFIED AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL AND CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL CHECKED BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BY THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL THE BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL BUILDER, HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  HOMEOWNER, AND ALL HOMEOWNER, AND ALL  AND ALL AND ALL  ALL ALL CONTRACTORS OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, OF THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, THIS JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, JOB PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, TO CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, CONSTRUCTION. BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, BUILDER SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, SHOULD OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, OBTAIN COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES, COMPLETE ENGINEERING SERVICES,  ENGINEERING SERVICES, ENGINEERING SERVICES,  SERVICES, SERVICES, HVAC, AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL AND STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL STRUCTURAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL BEFORE BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL BEGINNING CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL CONSTRUCTION OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL OF ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL ANY KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL KIND. NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL NOTE: ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL ALL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL FEDERAL, STATE, AND LOCAL  STATE, AND LOCAL STATE, AND LOCAL  AND LOCAL AND LOCAL  LOCAL LOCAL CODES AND RESTRICTIONS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER ANY PART OF THESE PLANS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREAT CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE CARE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE AND EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE EFFORT HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE HAVE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE GONE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE INTO THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE CREATION OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE OF THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE THESE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE BLUEPRINTS. HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE HOWEVER, BECAUSE OF THE  BECAUSE OF THE BECAUSE OF THE  OF THE OF THE  THE THE VARIANCE IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO IN GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO GEOGRAPHIC LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO LOCATIONS, CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO CIVIL PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO PROJECTS. WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO WILL NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO NOT ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO ASSUME LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO LIABILITY FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO FOR ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  ANY DAMAGES DUE TO ANY DAMAGES DUE TO  DAMAGES DUE TO DAMAGES DUE TO  DUE TO DUE TO  TO TO ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OMISSIONS, OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OR DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES DEFICIENCIES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES ON THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES THESE PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES PLANS. OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES OWNER/BUILDER MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES MUST COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES COMPLY WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES WITH LOCAL BUILDING CODES  LOCAL BUILDING CODES LOCAL BUILDING CODES  BUILDING CODES BUILDING CODES  CODES CODES PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF CONSTRUCTION.THE PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, PURCHASE OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, OF THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THESE PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, PLANS ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, ENTITLES THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THE BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, BUYER TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, TO CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, CONSTRUCT THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, THIS HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, HOUSE ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING, ONLY ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ONCE. ANY COPYING, ONCE. ANY COPYING,  ANY COPYING, ANY COPYING,  COPYING, COPYING, TRACING, OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER OR ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER ALTERING OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER OF THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER THESE PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER PLANS IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER IS NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER NOT PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER PERMITTED. VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER VIOLATORS WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER WILL BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER BE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER SUBJECT TO PROSECUTION UNDER  TO PROSECUTION UNDER TO PROSECUTION UNDER  PROSECUTION UNDER PROSECUTION UNDER  UNDER UNDER COPYRIGHT LAWS.

AutoCAD SHX Text
Civil Projects

AutoCAD SHX Text
Custom Homes

AutoCAD SHX Text
info.civilprohomes@gmail.com

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEL. (214) 545-4534

AutoCAD SHX Text
1544 Flores DrGarland, TX 75041

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLA VISTA 2LOT 53

AutoCAD SHX Text
02/08/2021

nahmed
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



REPORT & MINUTES 
 
 
 
P.C. Meeting, March 22, 2021  
 
 Consideration of the application of Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde, 

requesting approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House. This 
property is located at 1544 Flores Drive. (District 5) (File Z 21-02 
- Plan) 

  
Motion was made by Commissioner Welborn to deny the request. 
Seconded by Commissioner Williams. Motion carried: 
7 Ayes, 2 Nays from Commissioner Jenkins and Ott.  

 



16
00

16
04

16
08

16
12

16
08

16
04

16
00

15
48

15
44

15
40

15
36

15
32 15
28

15
24

15
20

16
13

16
09

16
05 16
01

15
47

15
43 15
39

15
35

15
31

3000

3004

3008

15
36

15
40

15
44

15
48

3016

3020

3017

3021

3025

3029

3033

3037

3016

3020

3024

3028

3032

3036

3040

3017

3021

3025

3029

3033

3016

3020

3024

3028

AXE DR

FLORES DR

LA
ME

SA
 D

R

CO
RT

EZ
 D

R

BE
LIT

A D
R

AN
ITA

 DR

SS
0 8 - 3 10 8 - 3 1

S  8 4 - 6 6S  8 4 - 6 6

S F - 7S F - 7

S  1 1 - 0 3S  1 1 - 0 3

C RC R

S F - 7S F - 7

N ON O

Zoning Map Z 21-02 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 120 240 Feet

1 inch = 176 feet
INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

        1544 Flores Drive

TAllmend
Pencil







Z 21-02

The applicant proposes an approximately 700 square-

foot Guest House to be located behind the primary 

house. 

[Planned Development, Specific Use Provision and Plan for a Guest 

House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.]

City Council Meeting

April 20, 2021



CASE INFORMATION

Location: 1544 Flores Drive

Applicant: Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde

Owner:     Nemesio Vasquez

Acreage: 0.415 acres

Zoning: Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District

Z 21-02



CITYWIDE LOCATION MAP

Z 21-02



LOCATION MAP

Z 21-02



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Z 21-02



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

▪ The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 
Comprehensive Plan designates this site for Traditional 
Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found 
throughout Garland and provide areas for low to moderate 
density single-family detached residential housing.

▪ Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience 
retail (goods and services), office space, and public services. 
Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural style 
and scale with adjacent residential development. Non-
residential uses are typically located at the intersection of local 
streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-
residential uses are within walking distance of the 
neighborhoods they serve and include minimal on-site parking.

Z 21-02



PHOTOS

Z 21-02



SITE PLAN

Z 21-02

Proposed 

Guest 

House

Existing 

Primary 

Structure



BUILDING ELEVATIONS

Z 21-02



BUILDING ELEVATIONS

Z 21-02



SUMMARY TABLE

Z 21-02

Development 

Standards

Required (maximum 

allowed)

Proposed Applicant’s

Justification

Building Area 393 SF 698 SF The applicant 

contends they have 

usable space and

would like to build a 

larger Guest House 

for relatives.



CONSIDERATION

The applicant’s requests the Specific Use 

Provision to be in effect for an indefinite time 

period.

Z 21-02



STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Denial of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Single-
Family-7 (SF-7) Uses.

Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House Use 
on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.

Approval of a Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District, subject to conformance with 
the GDC maximum square footage requirement for Guest 
Houses. 

Z 21-02



PLAN COMMISSION 

RECOMMENDATION

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Change in 
Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned 
Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
Uses.

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Specific Use 
Provision for a Guest House Use on a property zoned 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.

 Denial, with a seven (7) to two (2) vote, of a Plan for a 
Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) 
District. 

Z 21-02



GARLAND
PLANNING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 14. d.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. - SUP (District 6)
Submitted By: Kimberly Hopkins, Development Planner 

REQUEST
Approval of Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.
 
Approval of a Plan for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.

LOCATION
1600 South Jupiter Road

OWNER
EcoLab

PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
On March 22, 2021 the Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), recommended
approval of a Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN)
District.
 
The Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), recommended approval of a Plan for a
High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Approval of a Specific Use Provision and Plan for a High Risk Use. The proposed operation will
continue to be reviewed by the Fire Marshall’s Office and is required to comply with the
proposed conditions and requirements of the applicable Fire and Building codes.

BACKGROUND
This property and abutting properties to the north and south were part of the Raytheon site. The
former improvements were demolished and industrial buildings, parking and landscaping were
built to for the purpose of new business operations.
 
The applicant, representing EcoLab, proposes to receive, store and distribute hand sanitizer in
and out of the existing building at 1600 South Jupiter Road.  



SITE DATA
The subject property is developed with an approximately 216,335 square-foot industrial
building. The site contains approximately 11.947 acres with approximately 620 lineal feet of
frontage along South Jupiter Road.

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING
The subject property is zoned Industrial (IN) District which provides for a wide range of industrial
uses that are generally not compatible adjacent to residential neighborhoods, and may or may
not be compatible with some nonresidential uses. Such uses include manufacturing,
processing, assembling, research and development, and warehousing and distribution. The
Industrial (IN) District also accommodates support services for industrial development such as
office, commercial, personal and professional services, and limited retail activities. The
Industrial (IN) District regulations are designed to ensure compatibility among the various uses
allowed in the district, and to protect adjacent non-industrial development from potentially
incompatible uses and conditions.
 
The applicant is proposing to receive, store and distribute hand sanitizer in an existing building.
There is no manufacturing at this facility.

CONSIDERATIONS
Specific Use Provision 

The applicant proposes to operate a High Risk Use within an existing 216,335 square-foot
building. The applicant will receive, store and distribute hand sanitizer in and out of the
existing building.   
 

1.

The facility would operate Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 12:30 a.m.
 

2.

Parking is in compliance with the Garland Development Code (GDC). Additional parking is
not required for the High Risk Use.
 

3.

Landscaping currently exists on the site. Neither a building expansion nor a parking lot
expansion is proposed with this request; therefore, new landscaping compliance is not
triggered by this request. 
 

4.

High Risk Uses are defined by the Garland Development Code as any use which is
determined to be of special health or safety hazard due to excessive and/or toxic fumes,
smoke, gas, or dust; noise; vibration; or danger from fire, explosion or radiation and
involves materials meeting the “degree of hazard-4” criteria of the Uniform Fire Code.
 

5.

The Fire Department and Building Inspections Department have reviewed the request and
have no objections with it being approved subject to compliance with all Fire and Building
Codes. The subject property is required to have an annual inspection by the Fire
Department.
 

6.

The applicant is requesting approval of the Specific Use Provision: “until September 30,
2029 which is the length of EcoLab’s current lease for this facility at 1600 South Jupiter
Road”.

7.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Industry Center for the
subject property. Industry Centers provide a cluster of trade and industry that cumulatively
employ large numbers of people. Operations may include such elements as semi-truck traffic,
loading docks, and visible outdoor storage. Overall, the architecture, character, scale, and
intensity should be compatible with adjacent development types. Industry Centers range in
scale and intensity based on the surrounding vicinity and may consist of one or more buildings.
This development type includes a variety of primary and secondary uses that support the
industry employment sector. This proposal contributes to the industry employment sector as the
functional activity proposed is a warehouse (receive and store products) and shipping
(distribution) use.

COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES
The subject site is surrounded by properties that are primarily zoned Industrial (IN) District. In
addition, the property to the west is zoned Light Commercial (LC) District and is developed with
restaurants and a fitness gym. The properties to the east, north and south are zoned Industrial
(IN) District and are developed with distribution and manufacturing companies.
 
To the east of this site at 3330 Marquis Road is a property approved in 2020 for High Risk Use
for storage and bottling of ethyl alcohol-based hand sanitizer. Another High Risk Use, located at
3301 Miller Road, was approved in 2015 for fuel storage tanks in conjunction with a truck freight
terminal. The nearest residential use is 3,800 feet (approximately ¾ of a mile) to the north along
Jupiter Road.

Attachments
Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. (Zoning) Attachments 
Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Responses 
Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Staff Presentation 



S J
UP

ITE
R 

RD

RE
SE

RV
E S

T

MARQUIS DR

MARQUIS DR

SECURITY ST

CAVALIER DR

DIVIDEND DR

S  0 9 - 1 7S  0 9 - 1 7

I NI NL CL C

S  2 0 - 1 8S  2 0 - 1 8

S  0 1 - 4 4S  0 1 - 4 4 S  1 5 - 1 4S  1 5 - 1 4

Zoning Map Z 21-03 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 200 400 Feet1 inch = 285 feet



 

EXHIBIT B 

EXHIBIT B 
 
 

SPECIFIC USE PROVISION CONDITIONS 
 
 

ZONING FILE Z 21-03 
 

1600 South Jupiter Road  
 

 
 
I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Specific 

Use Provision is to allow a High Risk Use on a 
property zoned Industrial (IN) District. 

 
II.  Statement of Effect:  This Specific Use Provision 

shall not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the 

Industrial (IN) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 
the Garland Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are 
included by reference and shall apply, except as 
otherwise specified by this ordinance. 

 
IV. Development Plans: Development is to be in general 

conformance with the approved site plan and elevations 
labeled Exhibits C and D. In the event of conflict 
between the conditions and development plans, the 
conditions listed below are to apply. 

 
V. Conditions: 
 

 

A. The High Risk Use authorized by this Specific Use 
Provision shall consist of Hand Sanitizer 80% 

Alcohol Antiseptic stored in a separate storage room 

from other materials in the facility. No other 

product or any greater volume of such product may be 

stored on the subject property without an amendment 

to this Specific Use Provision. All operations 

conducted under this Specific Use Provision shall 

comply fully with all applicable local, State, and 

Federal laws and regulations, including permitting 

and inspections requirements.  The operator of the 

permitted premises shall, on no less than an annual 

basis, provide access to the Garland Fire Department 

for purpose of inspection to determine compliance.  

The operator of the permitted premises shall keep 

and maintain documentation of the most recent annual 

inspection(s) on the premises; this documentation 



SUP Requirements 
Zoning File 21-03 
Page 2 

EXHIBIT B 

must be produced to the City of Garland upon 

request. 

 

B. The storage of chemicals shall be limited to the 
storage room shown in Exhibit C and Exhibit D.  

 

C. Time Period: The Specific Use Provision shall be in 
effect until September 30, 2029. 
 

 

 

 



REPORT & MINUTES 
 
 
 
P.C. Meeting, March 22, 2021  
 
 Consideration of the application of Alliance Architects, Inc., 

requesting approval of a Specific Use Provision for a High Risk Use 
on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District. This property is located at 
1600 South Jupiter Road. (District 6) (File Z 21-03 - Zoning) 

 
Kimberly Hopkins, Development Planner, presented the staff report. 

 
Chief Lovett provided spoke briefly regarding the applicant’s request 
and stated all items required by the City of Garland Fire Department 
have been addressed by the applicant.   

  
There was discussion with Chief Lovett and the Plan Commission 
regarding the fire suppression system, inspections, and product type. 
 
The applicant speakers included: Carlos deSaracho, 1600 N. Collins 
Boulevard, Suite 1000, Richardson, Texas, and Tom Fleming, 2525 
Carlisle Street, Apartment 1002, Dallas, Texas.     
 
Mr. deSaracho and Mr. Fleming were available for questions.  There 
were no questions of these applicants.  
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Williams to close the public 
hearing and approve the request per staff recommendation.  
Seconded by Commissioner Welborn. Motion carried: 9 Ayes, 0 
Nays  

 



330660 Feet
1 inch = 500 feetZoning Map Z 21-03

INDICATES AREA
OF REQUESTo

INDICATES
NOTIFICATION AREA

1600 South Jupiter Road



Comment Form
Case Z 21-03

Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xuat nhan. lu>u tru> va phan phoi mr&c ri>a tay trong mot
toa nha hien co rong 216.335 foot vuong. Dia diem nay nam 6> 1600 South Jupiter
Road. (Quan 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben dim-i

For/ A Favor / Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planning@garlandtx.gov; deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-90027 Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envie el formulario por correo electron ico a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacion en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envielo por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002./ Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va gu-i bieu
mau qua email to-i Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; hoac gu>i thur <Jen Thanh pho Garland, S6> Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Ti'tulo / Ten in va Tieu de
(Property Owner, Business Owner, Tenant, etc.)/(Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa. Inquilino. etc.) / (Chu so* hu-u
bat <J$ng san, Chu doanh nghiep, Ngutyi (hue, v.v.)

Your Property Address / La direccion de su propiedad / dia chi tai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Ohinh

Signature / Firma / Ch Q! ky Date / Fecha / Ngay



Comment Form Continued -
Case Z 21 -03

The statements below reflect my (our) opinion regarding the proposed request(s).

Las declaraciones a continuacion reflejan mi (nuestra) opinion con respecto a
las solicitudes propuestas.

Cac tuyen bo duyi day phan anh quan diem cua toi (chung toi) ve (cac) yeu
cau du'cxc de xuat

o-f-



Comment Form
Case Z 21-03

Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xult nhan, IUMJ tru> va phan phoi nu'6'c ru>a tay trong mot
toa nha hien co rong 216.335 foot vuong. Dja diem nay nam 6> 1600 South Jupiter
Road, Garland, Texas. (Quan 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben dtpo-i

For/A Favor/ Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planninq@qarlandtx.gov; deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002./ Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envie el formulario por correo electronic© a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacion en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envielo por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-90027 Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va gu>i bieu
mau qua email t6»i Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; hoac gu>i thu> den Thanh pho Garland, Sd> Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Tftulo / Ten in va Tieu de
(Property Owner, Business Owner, Tenant, etc.) / (Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa, Inquilino, etc.) / (Chu so hu-u
bat <36ng san, Chu doanh nghiep, Nguui thue, v.v.)

'?£/£ DMC&LD Of\. _
Your Property Address / La direccion de su propiedad / dja chi tai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Ohfnh

^ <&- ^-—- f -£ -£ / flPRfi*?lPM 1:3?
Signature / Firma / Ch 0 ky Date / Fecha / Ngay



Comment Form*•**

Case Z 21-03
Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xuat nh$n, liru tru> va phan phoi nipoc rira tay trong mpt
toa nha hi$n c6 rpng 216.335 foot vuong. Oia diem nay nam 6-1600 South Jupiter
Road. (Qu$n 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben diroi

For / A Favor / Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planning@garlandtx.gov: deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002 J Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envi'e el formulario por correo electronic© a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacidn en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envieio por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002 J Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va gu>i bieu
miu qua email to*i Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; ho$c gin thip den Thanh pho Garland, S6> Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

Klorm Shiatr-r \lP
Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Titulo / T§n in va Tieu
(Property Owner, Business Owner, Tenant, etc.) /(Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa, Inquilino, etc.) / (Chu sd h&u
b&t OQng sdn, Chu doanh nghi$p, Ngu&i thue, v.v.)

Your Property Address / La direcci6n de su propiedad / dia chi tai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Ohinh

Signature / Firma / Ch Oky T7 Date / Fecha / Ngay



Comment Form
Case Z 21 -03

Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xuat nhan, ILPU tru* va phan phoi nu'6'C ri>a tay trong mot
toa nha hien co rpng 216.335 foot vuong. Dja diem nay nam 6> 1600 South Jupiter
Road, Garland, Texas. (Quan 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben dip6»i

For / A Favor / Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planninq@garlandtx.gov; deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-90027 Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envie el formulario por correo electronico a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacion en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envielo por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002./ Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va guri bieu
mau qua email t<yi Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; hoac gm thu> den Thanh pho Garland, So- Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

is - /
Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Titulo / Ten in va Tieu de/
(Property Owner, Bus/ness Owner, Tenant, etc.) / (Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa, Inquilino, etc.) / (Chu sex hiru
bat dong san, Chu doanh nghi$p, Ngifai thue, v.v.)

Your Property Address / La direccion de su propiedad / dja crritai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

/ C-̂

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Otiinh

i
Sĵ rMure / Firma / Ch Q' ky / / D a * / FecKa / Ngay
^ / /



Comment Form Continued -
Case Z 21 -03

The statements below reflect my (our) opinion regarding the proposed request(s).

Las declaraciones a continuacion reflejan mi (nuestra) opinion con respecto a
las solicitudes propuestas.

Cac tuyen b6 dipo-i day phan anh quan diem cua toi (chung toi) ve (cac) yeu
cau dime de xuat

z.



Z 21-03

The applicant proposes to receive, store and distribute 
hand sanitizer in an existing building. 

[Approval of Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a property zoned 
Industrial (IN) District.

Approval of a Plan for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.] 

City Council Meeting

April 20, 2021



Z 21-03

Location: 1600 South Jupiter Road 

Applicant: Alliance Architects, Inc. 

Owner: EcoLab

Acreage: 11.947 acres

Zoning: Industrial (IN) District 



Z 21-03



Z 21-03



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Z 21-03



The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Industry Center 

for the subject property.  Industry Centers provide a cluster of trade and industry 

that cumulatively employ large numbers of people.  Operations may include such 

elements as semi-truck traffic, loading docks, and visible outdoor storage.  Overall, 

the architecture, character, scale, and intensity should be compatible with adjacent 

development types.  Industry Centers range in scale and intensity based on the 

surrounding vicinity and may consist of one or more buildings.  This development 

type includes a variety of primary and secondary uses that support the industry 

employment sector. This proposal contributes to the industry employment sector as 

the functional activity proposed is a warehouse (receive and store products) and 

shipping (distribution) use. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Z 21-03



Z 21-03



Z 21-03



SITE PLAN

Z 21-03



Z 21-03

FLOOR PLAN



The applicant requests the Specific Use Provision (SUP) to be in effect until 

September 30, 2029.

The applicant’s request is an SUP only.  No GDC deviations are being requested by 

the applicant. 

CONSIDERATION

Z 21-03



Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a High Risk Use. The proposed 

operation will continue to be reviewed by the Fire Marshall’s Office and is 

required to comply with the proposed conditions and requirements of the 

applicable Fire and Building codes.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Z 21-03



On March 22, 2021 the Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), 

recommended approval of a Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a 

property zoned Industrial (IN) District. 

The Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), recommended 

approval of a Plan for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) 

District. 

PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION

Z 21-03



Z 21-03



GARLAND
PLANNING REPORT

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 14. e.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. - Plan (District 6)
Submitted By: Kimberly Hopkins, Development Planner 

REQUEST
Approval of Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.
 
Approval of a Plan for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.

LOCATION
1600 South Jupiter Road 

OWNER
EcoLab

PLAN COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION
On March 22, 2021 the Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), recommended
approval of a Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN)
District.
 
The Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), recommended approval of a Plan for a
High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION
Approval of a Specific Use Provision and Plan for a High Risk Use. The proposed operation will
continue to be reviewed by the Fire Marshall’s Office and is required to comply with the
proposed conditions and requirements of the applicable Fire and Building codes.

BACKGROUND
This property and abutting properties to the north and south were part of the Raytheon site. The
former improvements were demolished and industrial buildings, parking and landscaping were
built to for the purpose of new business operations.

The applicant, representing EcoLab, proposes to receive, store and distribute hand sanitizer in
and out of the existing building at 1600 South Jupiter Road.  



SITE DATA
The subject property is developed with an approximately 216,335 square-foot industrial
building. The site contains approximately 11.947 acres with approximately 620 lineal feet of
frontage along South Jupiter Road.

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING
The subject property is zoned Industrial (IN) District which provides for a wide range of industrial
uses that are generally not compatible adjacent to residential neighborhoods, and may or may
not be compatible with some nonresidential uses. Such uses include manufacturing,
processing, assembling, research and development, and warehousing and distribution. The
Industrial (IN) District also accommodates support services for industrial development such as
office, commercial, personal and professional services, and limited retail activities. The
Industrial (IN) District regulations are designed to ensure compatibility among the various uses
allowed in the district, and to protect adjacent non-industrial development from potentially
incompatible uses and conditions.
 
The applicant is proposing to receive, store and distribute hand sanitizer in an existing building.
There is no manufacturing at this facility.

CONSIDERATIONS
Specific Use Provision 

The applicant proposes to operate a High Risk Use within an existing 216,335 square-foot
building. The applicant will receive, store and distribute hand sanitizer in and out of the
existing building.   
 

1.

The facility would operate Monday through Friday from 8:00 a.m. to 12:30 a.m.
 

2.

Parking is in compliance with the Garland Development Code (GDC). Additional parking is
not required for the High Risk Use.
 

3.

Landscaping currently exists on the site. Neither a building expansion nor a parking lot
expansion is proposed with this request; therefore, new landscaping compliance is not
triggered by this request. 
 

4.

High Risk Uses are defined by the Garland Development Code as any use which is
determined to be of special health or safety hazard due to excessive and/or toxic fumes,
smoke, gas, or dust; noise; vibration; or danger from fire, explosion or radiation and
involves materials meeting the “degree of hazard-4” criteria of the Uniform Fire Code.
 

5.

The Fire Department and Building Inspections Department have reviewed the request and
have no objections with it being approved subject to compliance with all Fire and Building
Codes. The subject property is required to have an annual inspection by the Fire
Department.
 

6.

The applicant is requesting approval of the Specific Use Provision: “until September 30,
2029 which is the length of EcoLab’s current lease for this facility at 1600 South Jupiter
Road”.

7.



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Industry Center for the
subject property. Industry Centers provide a cluster of trade and industry that cumulatively
employ large numbers of people. Operations may include such elements as semi-truck traffic,
loading docks, and visible outdoor storage. Overall, the architecture, character, scale, and
intensity should be compatible with adjacent development types. Industry Centers range in
scale and intensity based on the surrounding vicinity and may consist of one or more buildings.
This development type includes a variety of primary and secondary uses that support the
industry employment sector. This proposal contributes to the industry employment sector as the
functional activity proposed is a warehouse (receive and store products) and shipping
(distribution) use.

COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES
The subject site is surrounded by properties that are primarily zoned Industrial (IN) District. In
addition, the property to the west is zoned Light Commercial (LC) District and is developed with
restaurants and a fitness gym. The properties to the east, north and south are zoned Industrial
(IN) District and are developed with distribution and manufacturing companies.
 
To the east of this site at 3330 Marquis Road is a property approved in 2020 for High Risk Use
for storage and bottling of ethyl alcohol-based hand sanitizer. Another High Risk Use, located at
3301 Miller Road, was approved in 2015 for fuel storage tanks in conjunction with a truck freight
terminal. The nearest residential use is 3,800 feet (approximately ¾ of a mile) to the north along
Jupiter Road.

Attachments
Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. (Plan) Attachments 
Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Responses 
Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Staff Presentation 



S J
UP

ITE
R 

RD

RE
SE

RV
E S

T

MARQUIS DR

MARQUIS DR

SECURITY ST

CAVALIER DR

DIVIDEND DR

S  0 9 - 1 7S  0 9 - 1 7

I NI NL CL C

S  2 0 - 1 8S  2 0 - 1 8

S  0 1 - 4 4S  0 1 - 4 4 S  1 5 - 1 4S  1 5 - 1 4

Zoning Map Z 21-03 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 200 400 Feet1 inch = 285 feet



Khopkins
Text Box
EXHIBIT C



Khopkins
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



REPORT & MINUTES 
 
 
 
P.C. Meeting, March 22, 2021  
 
 Consideration of the application of Alliance Architects, Inc., 

requesting approval of a Plan for a High Risk Use. This property 
is located at 1600 South Jupiter Road. (District 6) (File Z 21-03 - 
Plan) 

 
  
Motion was made by Commissioner Williams to close the public 
hearing and approve the request per staff recommendation.  
Seconded by Commissioner Welborn. Motion carried: 9 Ayes, 0 
Nays  

 



330660 Feet
1 inch = 500 feetZoning Map Z 21-03

INDICATES AREA
OF REQUESTo

INDICATES
NOTIFICATION AREA

1600 South Jupiter Road



Comment Form
Case Z 21-03

Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xuat nhan. lu>u tru> va phan phoi mr&c ri>a tay trong mot
toa nha hien co rong 216.335 foot vuong. Dia diem nay nam 6> 1600 South Jupiter
Road. (Quan 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben dim-i

For/ A Favor / Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planning@garlandtx.gov; deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-90027 Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envie el formulario por correo electron ico a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacion en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envielo por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002./ Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va gu-i bieu
mau qua email to-i Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; hoac gu>i thur <Jen Thanh pho Garland, S6> Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Ti'tulo / Ten in va Tieu de
(Property Owner, Business Owner, Tenant, etc.)/(Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa. Inquilino. etc.) / (Chu so* hu-u
bat <J$ng san, Chu doanh nghiep, Ngutyi (hue, v.v.)

Your Property Address / La direccion de su propiedad / dia chi tai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Ohinh

Signature / Firma / Ch Q! ky Date / Fecha / Ngay



Comment Form Continued -
Case Z 21 -03

The statements below reflect my (our) opinion regarding the proposed request(s).

Las declaraciones a continuacion reflejan mi (nuestra) opinion con respecto a
las solicitudes propuestas.

Cac tuyen bo duyi day phan anh quan diem cua toi (chung toi) ve (cac) yeu
cau du'cxc de xuat

o-f-



Comment Form
Case Z 21-03

Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xult nhan, IUMJ tru> va phan phoi nu'6'c ru>a tay trong mot
toa nha hien co rong 216.335 foot vuong. Dja diem nay nam 6> 1600 South Jupiter
Road, Garland, Texas. (Quan 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben dtpo-i

For/A Favor/ Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planninq@qarlandtx.gov; deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002./ Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envie el formulario por correo electronic© a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacion en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envielo por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-90027 Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va gu>i bieu
mau qua email t6»i Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; hoac gu>i thu> den Thanh pho Garland, Sd> Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Tftulo / Ten in va Tieu de
(Property Owner, Business Owner, Tenant, etc.) / (Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa, Inquilino, etc.) / (Chu so hu-u
bat <36ng san, Chu doanh nghiep, Nguui thue, v.v.)

'?£/£ DMC&LD Of\. _
Your Property Address / La direccion de su propiedad / dja chi tai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Ohfnh

^ <&- ^-—- f -£ -£ / flPRfi*?lPM 1:3?
Signature / Firma / Ch 0 ky Date / Fecha / Ngay



Comment Form*•**

Case Z 21-03
Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xuat nh$n, liru tru> va phan phoi nipoc rira tay trong mpt
toa nha hi$n c6 rpng 216.335 foot vuong. Oia diem nay nam 6-1600 South Jupiter
Road. (Qu$n 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben diroi

For / A Favor / Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planning@garlandtx.gov: deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002 J Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envi'e el formulario por correo electronic© a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacidn en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envieio por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002 J Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va gu>i bieu
miu qua email to*i Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; ho$c gin thip den Thanh pho Garland, S6> Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

Klorm Shiatr-r \lP
Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Titulo / T§n in va Tieu
(Property Owner, Business Owner, Tenant, etc.) /(Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa, Inquilino, etc.) / (Chu sd h&u
b&t OQng sdn, Chu doanh nghi$p, Ngu&i thue, v.v.)

Your Property Address / La direcci6n de su propiedad / dia chi tai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Ohinh

Signature / Firma / Ch Oky T7 Date / Fecha / Ngay



Comment Form
Case Z 21 -03

Alliance Architects, Inc. proposes to receive, store, and distribute hand sanitizer
in an existing 216,335 square-foot building. This site is located at 1600 South
Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (District 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. propone recibir, almacenar y distribuir desinfectante para
manos en un edificio existente de 216,335 pies cuadrados. Este sitio esta ubicado en
1600 South Jupiter Road, Garland, Texas. (Distrito 6)

Alliance Architects, Inc. de xuat nhan, ILPU tru* va phan phoi nu'6'C ri>a tay trong mot
toa nha hien co rpng 216.335 foot vuong. Dja diem nay nam 6> 1600 South Jupiter
Road, Garland, Texas. (Quan 6)

Please Check One Below / Marque uno a continuacion / Vui long kiem tra mot ben dip6»i

For / A Favor / Dung

Against / En Contra / Khong

Please complete the following information and email the form to Planninq@garlandtx.gov; deliver to
the Planning Department at 800 Main Street Garland, TX; or mail to City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-90027 Por favor Complete la siguiente informacion
y envie el formulario por correo electronico a Planning@garlandtx.gov; entregar al Departamento de
Planificacion en 800 Main Street Garland, TX; o envielo por correo a City of Garland, Planning
Department, P.O. Box 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002./ Vui long dien day du thong tin sau va guri bieu
mau qua email t<yi Planning@garlandtx.gov; giao cho Phong Ke hoach tai 800 Main Street Garland,
TX; hoac gm thu> den Thanh pho Garland, So- Ke hoach, P.O. Hop 469002 Garland, TX 75406-9002.

is - /
Printed Name & Title / Nombre Impreso y Titulo / Ten in va Tieu de/
(Property Owner, Bus/ness Owner, Tenant, etc.) / (Dueno de la propiedad, Dueno de la empresa, Inquilino, etc.) / (Chu sex hiru
bat dong san, Chu doanh nghi$p, Ngifai thue, v.v.)

Your Property Address / La direccion de su propiedad / dja crritai san a

City, State / Estado de la Ciudad / Thanh bang

/ C-̂

Zip Code / Codigo postal / Ma B u Otiinh

i
Sĵ rMure / Firma / Ch Q' ky / / D a * / FecKa / Ngay
^ / /



Comment Form Continued -
Case Z 21 -03

The statements below reflect my (our) opinion regarding the proposed request(s).

Las declaraciones a continuacion reflejan mi (nuestra) opinion con respecto a
las solicitudes propuestas.

Cac tuyen b6 dipo-i day phan anh quan diem cua toi (chung toi) ve (cac) yeu
cau dime de xuat

z.



Z 21-03

The applicant proposes to receive, store and distribute 
hand sanitizer in an existing building. 

[Approval of Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a property zoned 
Industrial (IN) District.

Approval of a Plan for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) District.] 

City Council Meeting

April 20, 2021



Z 21-03

Location: 1600 South Jupiter Road 

Applicant: Alliance Architects, Inc. 

Owner: EcoLab

Acreage: 11.947 acres

Zoning: Industrial (IN) District 



Z 21-03



Z 21-03



COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Z 21-03



The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Industry Center 

for the subject property.  Industry Centers provide a cluster of trade and industry 

that cumulatively employ large numbers of people.  Operations may include such 

elements as semi-truck traffic, loading docks, and visible outdoor storage.  Overall, 

the architecture, character, scale, and intensity should be compatible with adjacent 

development types.  Industry Centers range in scale and intensity based on the 

surrounding vicinity and may consist of one or more buildings.  This development 

type includes a variety of primary and secondary uses that support the industry 

employment sector. This proposal contributes to the industry employment sector as 

the functional activity proposed is a warehouse (receive and store products) and 

shipping (distribution) use. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Z 21-03



Z 21-03



Z 21-03



SITE PLAN

Z 21-03



Z 21-03

FLOOR PLAN



The applicant requests the Specific Use Provision (SUP) to be in effect until 

September 30, 2029.

The applicant’s request is an SUP only.  No GDC deviations are being requested by 

the applicant. 

CONSIDERATION

Z 21-03



Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a High Risk Use. The proposed 

operation will continue to be reviewed by the Fire Marshall’s Office and is 

required to comply with the proposed conditions and requirements of the 

applicable Fire and Building codes.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION

Z 21-03



On March 22, 2021 the Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), 

recommended approval of a Specific Use Provision for High Risk Use on a 

property zoned Industrial (IN) District. 

The Plan Commission, by a vote of nine (9) to zero (0), recommended 

approval of a Plan for a High Risk Use on a property zoned Industrial (IN) 

District. 

PLAN COMMISSION 
RECOMMENDATION

Z 21-03



Z 21-03



GARLAND
CITY COUNCIL ITEM SUMMARY SHEET

   
City Council Regular Session Agenda 14. f.        
Meeting Date: 04/20/2021  
Item Title: Z 21-04 MVAH Partners - Zoning (District 8)
Submitted By: Nabiha Ahmed, Development Planner 

Summary of Request/Problem
The applicant requests postponement of this case to the May 18, 2021 Regular City Council
Meeting.

Recommendation/Action Requested and Justification
The City Council may consider postponement of this case to the May 18, 2021 Regular City
Council Meeting.


	Agenda
	AI_5179_Minutes April 6
	       ATT_Minutes April 6
	AI_5078_Design Services for Watson Park Improvements
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5113_Professional Services for Tuckerville Park Development
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5116_Common Area Paving at Skatepark
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5119_Construction Material Testing for Shiloh Road from IH 635 to Kingsley Road 
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	       ATT_Location Map
	AI_5123_GP&L Lookout Substation Capacitor Banks
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5128_Commercial Corridor Design Services
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5131_Transportation Maintenance & Operations Facility Renovation Construction Services
	       ATT_Bid Recap 1 of 3
	       ATT_Bid Recap 2 of 3
	       ATT_Bid Recap 3 of 3
	AI_5133_Access Controls for Police Property and Evidence Building
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5134_Landfill Bulldozer Rebuild
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5136_Replacement Vehicles for Parks and EWS Department 
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5137_Replacement Vehicles for GP&L and Parks Department
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5140_Gale Fields Recreation Center Construction Services
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5143_Downtown Garland Pedestrian Crossing Improvements
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5144_Roof Replacements for Gale Fields Recreation Center and Head Start Child Care Center
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5147_TMPA Keith Switch to Steep Hollow Transmission Line Conductor
	       ATT_Bid Recap
	AI_5170_Z 20-42 II Stephens Development, LLC (District 5)
	       ATT_Z 20-42 Ordinance
	       ATT_Z 20-42 Exhibit A
	       ATT_Z 20-42 Exhibit B
	       ATT_Z 20-42 Exhibit C
	       ATT_Z 20-42 Exhibit D
	Sheets and Views
	7 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L1) LEG
	3 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L2) TREE
	4 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L3) TREE
	5 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L4) TREE
	10 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L5) LAN
	1 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L6) LAN
	2 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L7) LAN
	6 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L8) Details
	8 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L9) Planting Specs
	9 Central Park Garland_LAN - (L10) Turf Specs


	       ATT_Z 20-42 Exhibit E
	Exhibit E2, GH_Journey_Booklet.pdf
	Exhibit E1, GH_Artistry_Booklet.pdf

	       ATT_Z 20-42 Exhibit F
	01 COVER
	02 SITE 1
	03 SITE 2
	04 PAV
	05 EX DAM
	06 PROP DAM
	07 WATER
	08 SEWER
	09 TREE
	10 LOTS
	11-20 LANDSCAPE

	AI_5132_Request for Development Assistance from Micropac Industries Inc.
	       ATT_Proposed Economic Development Incentive Agreement
	AI_5138_Use of CDBG Funding for the Demolition of 1922 Castle Drive in Partnership with GHFC
	       ATT_Castle Drive CDBG Agreement
	Section 1.       Scope of Services    CDBG funding will be used for the Demolition of 1922 Castle Drive  in a manner satisfactory to the City and consistent with any standards required by HUD as a condition of providing these funds.  Futur...
	Project:
	B. Level of Accomplishment
	1) Demolition of 1 commercial blighted structure
	Total                                             $211,000
	Mona Woodard, Manager        David Gibbons
	Grants Manager      Executive Director



	AI_5139_Partnership Agreement between GHFC and the City of Garland to Administer Donated GHFC Funding
	       ATT_GHFC Partnership Agreement 2021
	AI_5156_Naaman School Road Right of Way (ROW) and Land Acquisitions
	AI_5157_Fire Station 1 - Land Acquisition
	AI_5165_Request from Farmers Electric Cooperative for Utility Easement at 2900 Elm Grove Road
	       ATT_Easement Description
	       ATT_Easement Price Commitment
	       ATT_Cottonwood Creek Substation - FEC Easement at COG Property - Dedication Form Final
	AI_5167_Easements Related to the Hinton Landfill Gas-To-Energy Project
	AI_5171_General Obligation Commercial Paper Program, Series 2021
	       ATT_General Obligation CP Ordinance
	AI_5180_Use of Eminent Domain Authority for Property Related to Construction of Fire Station No. 1
	       ATT_Triangle Condemantion RESO
	AI_5181_Naaman School Road Condemnation
	       ATT_N School Condemnation
	AI_5150_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde - Zoning (District 5)
	       ATT_Z 21-02 Location Map
	       ATT_Z 21-02 Exhibit B
	       ATT_Z 21-02 RandM - Zoning
	       ATT_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde Responses
	ADP45AE.tmp
	(Điều quan trọng là bạn phải bao gồm địa chỉ tài sản, tên của bạn và địa chỉ gửi thư trong bất kỳ thư từ liên quan đến trường hợp này)
	(Các chương trình nghị sự cũng sẽ chứa thông tin bổ sung. Xem liên kết ở trên.) 

	ADP702B.tmp
	Comment Form
	Case Z 21-02
	Applicant Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde proposes an approximately 700 square-foot Guest House to be located behind the primary house. This site is located at 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (District 5)
	El solicitante Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde propone una casa de huéspedes de aproximadamente 700 pies cuadrados que se ubicará detrás de la casa principal. Este sitio está ubicado en 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (Distrito 5)
	Người nộp đơn Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde đề xuất một Nhà khách rộng khoảng 700 foot vuông nằm phía sau ngôi nhà chính. Trang web này nằm ở 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (Quận 5)



	       ATT_Z 21-02 Staff Presentation
	AI_5151_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde - Specific Use Provision (District 5)
	       ATT_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde (Specific Use Provision) Attachments
	       ATT_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde Responses
	ADP45AE.tmp
	(Điều quan trọng là bạn phải bao gồm địa chỉ tài sản, tên của bạn và địa chỉ gửi thư trong bất kỳ thư từ liên quan đến trường hợp này)
	(Các chương trình nghị sự cũng sẽ chứa thông tin bổ sung. Xem liên kết ở trên.) 

	ADP702B.tmp
	Comment Form
	Case Z 21-02
	Applicant Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde proposes an approximately 700 square-foot Guest House to be located behind the primary house. This site is located at 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (District 5)
	El solicitante Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde propone una casa de huéspedes de aproximadamente 700 pies cuadrados que se ubicará detrás de la casa principal. Este sitio está ubicado en 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (Distrito 5)
	Người nộp đơn Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde đề xuất một Nhà khách rộng khoảng 700 foot vuông nằm phía sau ngôi nhà chính. Trang web này nằm ở 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (Quận 5)



	       ATT_Z 21-02 Staff Presentation
	AI_5152_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde - Detail Plan (District 5)
	       ATT_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde (Plan) Attachments
	Z 21-02 All Exhibits.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-1 SITE
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-2.2 founda
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-2.2 founda (3)
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-3.1 FLOOR
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-3.2 FLOOR DTL
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-4 ELEVATIONS (2)
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-4 ELEVATIONS
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-5 ROOF PLAN
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-5 ROOF PLAN (2)
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-5.1 ROOF PLAN
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-6 ELEC PLAN
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-7 plumbing p

	Exhibit C.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-1 SITE
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-2.2 founda
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-2.2 founda (3)
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-3.1 FLOOR
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-3.2 FLOOR DTL
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-4 ELEVATIONS (2)
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-4 ELEVATIONS
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-5 ROOF PLAN
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-5 ROOF PLAN (2)
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-5.1 ROOF PLAN
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-6 ELEC PLAN
	1544 Flores dr - 8 1-2 X 11dwg-7 plumbing p




	       ATT_Z 21-02 Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde Responses
	ADP45AE.tmp
	(Điều quan trọng là bạn phải bao gồm địa chỉ tài sản, tên của bạn và địa chỉ gửi thư trong bất kỳ thư từ liên quan đến trường hợp này)
	(Các chương trình nghị sự cũng sẽ chứa thông tin bổ sung. Xem liên kết ở trên.) 

	ADP702B.tmp
	Comment Form
	Case Z 21-02
	Applicant Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde proposes an approximately 700 square-foot Guest House to be located behind the primary house. This site is located at 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (District 5)
	El solicitante Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde propone una casa de huéspedes de aproximadamente 700 pies cuadrados que se ubicará detrás de la casa principal. Este sitio está ubicado en 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (Distrito 5)
	Người nộp đơn Rodolfo V. Herrera Elizalde đề xuất một Nhà khách rộng khoảng 700 foot vuông nằm phía sau ngôi nhà chính. Trang web này nằm ở 1544 Flores Drive, Garland, Texas (Z 21-02) (Quận 5)



	       ATT_Z 21-02 Staff Presentation
	AI_5154_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. - SUP (District 6)
	       ATT_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. (Zoning) Attachments
	       ATT_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Responses
	       ATT_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Staff Presentation
	AI_5153_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. - Plan (District 6)
	       ATT_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. (Plan) Attachments
	       ATT_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Responses
	       ATT_Z 21-03 Alliance Architects, Inc. Staff Presentation
	AI_5159_Z 21-04 MVAH Partners - Zoning (District 8)

